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Notice to shareholders

NOTICE is hereby given that the Thirty Ninth Annual 
General Meeting of the Company will be held at 11.30 am 
Indian Standard Time (IST) on Wednesday, the 13th August 
2025 through Video Conference (VC) / Other Audio Visual 
Means (OAVM) to transact the following business:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.	 To receive, consider and adopt the audited financial 

statements including the consolidated financial 
statements of the Company for the financial year 
ended March 31, 2025, and the reports of the Board 
of Directors and Auditors thereon.

2.	 To declare Final Dividend.
3.	 To appoint a Director in place of Mr.Ajit Thomas 

(DIN:00018691), who retires by rotation and is 
eligible for re-appointment.

SPECIAL BUSINESS 

4.	 APPOINTMENT OF MANAGER
	 To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without 

modification(s), the following Resolution as a 
SPECIAL RESOLUTION:

	 RESOLVED  THAT  pursuant to the provisions 
of Sections 196, 197, 203 and other applicable 
provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) 
read with Schedule V to the Act and the Rules made 
thereunder, as amended from time to time, approval 
of the Members of the Company be and hereby 
accorded for appointment of  Mr.M.N.Satheesh 
Kumar, as Manager (Key Managerial Personnel) 
of the Company, to hold the office for a period of 1 
(One) year with effect from May 28, 2025 to May 27, 
2026 on a remuneration of Rs.2.50 Lakhs (Rupees 
Two lakh and Fifty Thousand) per month payable to 
him as per the aforesaid provisions of the Companies 
Act, w.e.f. May 28, 2025.

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the duties of the 
‘Manager’ so appointed above shall be the overall 
supervision of the functioning and manage affairs of 
the Company under the superintendence and control 
of the Board of Directors and to perform all other 
duties that the Board may delegate to the ‘Manager’ 
from time to time.

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in the event of 
absence or inadequacy of profits in any financial year 
during the tenure of the Manager, the remuneration 
payable shall be in accordance with the limits 
prescribed under Section II of Part II of Schedule 
V to the Act or any statutory modification(s) or re-
enactment(s) thereof.

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors 
of the Company be and is hereby authorized to 
vary, alter or modify the aforesaid remuneration 
within the overall limit specified under Section 197 
read with Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 
as may be agreed to by the Board of Directors and 
Mr.M.N.Satheesh Kumar.

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of 
Directors of the Company be and are hereby 
severally authorized to do all such acts, deeds and 
things, to enter into such agreement(s), deed(s) of 
amendment(s) or any such document(s), consider 
necessary, proper, expedient or incidental for the 
purpose of giving effect to this resolution.

5.	 APPOINTMENT OF SECRETARIAL AUDITOR
	 To consider and if thought fit, to pass with or without 

modification(s), the following Resolution as an 
ORDINARY RESOLUTION:

	 RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Section 204 of 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 9 of Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
personnel) 2014 and Regulation 24A of SEBI(Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 
Regulations, 2015 (including any statutory 
modification(s), enactment(s) or re-enactment(s) 
thereof, for the time being in force),based on 
recommendations of Audit Committee and Board 
of Directors, the approval of the shareholders be 
and is hereby accorded for the appointment of  
M/s. V Suresh  Associates, Practising Company 
Secretaries (FRN-P2016TN053700), Chennai as 
the Secretarial auditors of the Company for a term 
(audit period) of five consecutive financial years 
commencing from 2025-26 to 2029-30.

	 RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board be and is 
hereby authorised to do all acts and take all such 
steps as may be necessary, proper or expedient to 
give effect to this Resolution.

By order of the Board
For AVT Natural Products Limited

Place : Chennai	 P Mahadevan 
Date  : May 28, 2025	  Company Secretary & 

Compliance Officer

Registered office: 
60, Rukmani Lakshmipathy Salai, 

Egmore, Chennai – 600 008
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NOTES:
1.	 The Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA), vide its 

General Circular No. 20/2020 dated 5th May, 2020 
read with the subsequent circulars issued from 
time to time, the latest one being General Circular 
No. 09/2024 dated 19th September, 2024 (MCA 
Circulars) SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CFD-
PoD-2/P/CIR/2024/133 dated 3rd October, 2024 
(SEBI Circular) has permitted the Companies to 
conduct the Annual General Meeting (AGM) through 
Video Conferencing (VC) or Other Audio-Visual 
Means (OAVM) till 30th September, 2025. 

	 Accordingly, the 39th AGM of the Company will be 
held through VC / OAVM (e-AGM) and shareholders 
can attend and participate in the e-AGM through VC/ 
OAVM only. The deemed venue of the e-AGM will be 
registered office of the company.

2.	 In compliance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (the Act), SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
(Listing Regulations) and MCA Circulars, the 39th 
AGM of the Company shall be conducted through 
VC/OAVM. Central Depository Services (India) Ltd 
(CDSL) will be providing facilities in respect of: 
a.	 voting through remote e-voting; 
b.	 participation in the AGM through VC/ OAVM 

facility;
c.	 e-voting during the AGM. 

	 The procedure for participating in the meeting 
through VC/OAVM is explained below and is also 
available on the website of the Company

3.	 As the AGM would be conducted through VC / 
OAVM, the facility for appointment of Proxy by the 
Members is not available for this AGM. Hence, the 
Proxy Form and Attendance Slip including Route 
Map are not annexed to this Notice.

4.	 Institutional / Corporate Members are entitled 
to appoint authorised representatives to attend, 
participate at the AGM through VC / OAVM and cast 
their votes through e-voting. Institutional / Corporate 
Members are requested to send a scanned copy 
(PDF / JPEG format) of the Board Resolution 
authorising its representatives to attend and vote 
at the AGM, pursuant to Section 113 of the Act, to 
the Scrutinizer at vsassociates16@gmail.com and 
to avtnpl@avtnatural.com not later than 48 hours 
before the scheduled time of commencement of the 
Meeting.

5.	 In accordance with the circulars issued by MCA 
and SEBI, the Notice of the 39th AGM along with 
the Annual Report for the Financial Year 2024-25 is 
being sent by electronic mode to Members whose 
e-mail ids are registered with the Company or the 
Depository Participants (DPs).

6.	 Those Members who are holding shares in physical 
form and have not updated their e-mail ids with 
the Company, are requested to update the same 
by submitting a duly filled and signed Form ISR-1 
along with self-attested copy of the PAN Card, and 
self-attested copy of any document (e.g. Driving 
License, Voter Identity Card, Passport) in support of 
the address of the Member, to the Company / RTA.

	 Members holding shares in dematerialised (demat) 
mode are requested to register/update their e-mail 
ids with their relevant DPs. In case of any queries/ 
difficulties in registering the e-mail ids, Members 
may write to the Company/RTA.

7.	 The final dividend as recommended by the Board, 
if approved at this meeting, will be paid within 
30 days from the date of AGM to those members 
whose names appear in the Register of Members on  
August 06, 2025.

8.	 The Notice of the 39th AGM along with Annual Report 
for the FY 2024-25, is available on the website of 
the Company at www.avtnatural.com, on the website 
of Stock Exchanges i.e. BSE Limited and National 
Stock Exchange of India Limited and on the website 
of CDSL at www.cdslindia.com.

9.	 Physical copy of the Annual Report for the FY  
2024-25 (including the Notice of the 39th AGM) shall 
be sent only to those Members who specifically 
request for the same. Accordingly, Members who 
wish to obtain a physical copy of the Annual Report 
for the FY 2024-25, may write to the Company at 
avtnpl@avtnatural.com, requesting for the same by 
providing their holding details.

10.	 Details as required in Regulation 36(3) of the Listing 
Regulations and Secretarial Standard on General 
Meetings issued by the Institute of Company 
Secretaries of India, in respect of the Directors 
seeking appointment / re-appointment  at the 
AGM are provided in the Annual Report. Requisite 
declarations have been received from the Directors 
seeking appointment. The Independent Directors of 
the Company are not liable to retire by rotation.

11.	 Statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of the Act in 
respect of the Special Business and Regulation 17 
(1A) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations 2015 in respect of 
Special Resolution to be transacted at the meeting 
is annexed hereto. 

12.	 Documents referred to in the accompanying Notice 
of the 39th AGM and the Explanatory Statement shall 
be available at the Registered Office of the Company 
for inspection without any fee on all working days 
except Saturday, during normal business hours 
(9:00 A.M. to 5:00 P.M. (IST)).

13.	 During the AGM, the Register of Directors and 
Key Managerial Personnel and their Shareholding 
maintained under Section 170 of the Act and the 
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Register of Contracts or arrangements in which 
Directors are interested under Section 189 of the Act 
shall be available for inspection.

14.	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the Act 
read with Rule 20 of the Companies (Management 
and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended), 
Regulation 44 of the Listing Regulations (as 
amended) and applicable Circulars, the Company 
is pleased to provide to its Members, the facility 
to exercise their right to vote on the resolutions 
proposed to be passed at AGM by electronic means. 
For this purpose, the Company has entered into an 
agreement with CDSL, as the authorised agency 
for facilitating voting through electronic means. The 
facility of casting votes by Members using remote 
e-voting system as well as e-voting on the date of 
the AGM will be provided by CDSL.

15.	 Remote e-voting - Key Dates:

Cut-off date

The date, one day prior 
to the commencement 
of book closure, 
for determining the 
Members who are 
entitled to vote on the 
resolutions set forth in 
this Notice

Wednesday, 6th August 
2025

Book closure dates

Period during which the 
Register of Members 
and Share Transfer 
Books of the Company 
shall remain closed

Thursday, 7th August 
2025 to Wednesday, 
13th August 2025 (Both 
Days Inclusive)

Remote e-voting period

Period during which Members, as on the cut-off 
date, may cast their votes on electronic voting 
system from any location

Start Date & Time
9:00 AM (IST) on 
Sunday, 10th August 
2025 

End Date and Time
5:00 PM (IST) on 
Tuesday, 12th August 
2025

16.	 The voting rights of Members shall be in proportion 
to their share in the paid-up equity share capital of 
the Company as on the cut-off date. A person who is 
not a Member as on the cut-off date should treat this 
Notice of AGM for information purpose only.

17.	 The Company has appointed M/s. Cameo Corporate 
Services Limited, Chennai as its Registrar & Share 
Transfer Agent and depository interface of the 
Company with CDSL and NSDL. Shareholders 

intending to hold their shares in electronic form 
may approach their depository participants for 
dematerialisation of shares. Shareholders may send 
their shares for effecting transfers/ transmission to 
M/s. Cameo Corporate Services Limited.

18.	 Members are requested to notify immediately any 
change in their address to the company’s Share 
Transfer Agent, M/s. Cameo Corporate Services 
Limited, Subramanian Building, No. 1, Club House 
Road, Chennai- 600 002 in the case of physical 
holdings and to their respective Depository 
Participants in case of dematerialized shares.

19.	 Members are requested to lodge their e-mail ID’s 
along with their Name and Folio No. to Company’s 
Share Transfer Agent, M/s. Cameo Corporate 
Services Limited, ‘Subramanian Building’, No.1, 
Club House Road, Chennai - 600 002, Email :- 
investor@cameoindia.com to enable the Company 
to send all future communications including Annual 
Reports through electronic mode.

20.	 Members are requested to notify the Company’s Share 
Transfer Agent immediately of their bank account 
number and name of the bank and branch in the case 
of physical holdings, and to their respective Depository 
Participants in case of dematerialized shares, so 
that the payment of dividend when made through 
National Electronic Clearing Service (NECS), National 
Electronic Fund Transfer (NEFT), Direct Credit, 
Dividend Warrants etc., can be made without delay.

21.	 As per the provisions of Section 72 of the Act, 
the facility for making a nomination is available 
for the Members in respect of the shares held by 
them. Members who have not yet registered their 
nominations are requested to register the same by 
submitting Form No. SH- 13. If a Member desires 
to cancel the earlier nomination and record a fresh 
nomination, he may submit the same in Form No. 
SH-14. Members who are either not desiring to 
register for Nomination or would want to opt-out, 
are requested to fill out and submit Form No. ISR 
3. Members are requested to submit the said form 
to their DP in case the shares are held in electronic 
form and to the RTA in case the shares are held in 
physical form, quoting their folio number.

22.	 The format of the Register of Members prescribed 
by the MCA under the Act requires the Company 
/ Registrars and Share Transfer Agents to record 
additional details of Members, including their PAN 
details, e-mail address, bank details for payment 
of dividends, etc. Form No. ISR-1 for capturing 
additional details is available on the Company’s 
website. Members holding shares in physical  
form are requested to submit the filled-in Form  
No. ISR-1 to the RTA in physical mode. Members 
holding shares in electronic form are requested to 
submit the details to their respective DP only and not 
to the Company or RTA.
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23.	 Shareholders who have multiple folios in identical 
names or in joint names in the same order, are 
requested to intimate to the Company those folios, 
to enable the Company to consolidate all such 
shareholdings into one folio.

24.	 The equity shares of the company would continue 
to be listed on BSE Ltd and The National Stock 
Exchange of India Ltd. The Annual listing fee, as 
prescribed, has been paid to BSE & NSE.

25.	 Pursuant to provisions of Section 124 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, the Company has transferred 
the unpaid or unclaimed Final Dividend for the 
financial year 2016-17 and Interim Dividend for the 
Financial Year 2017-18 to the Investor Education 
and Protection Fund (IEPF) constituted by the 
Central Government. Final Dividend declared for the 
financial year 2017-18 remaining unpaid/unclaimed 
over a period of 7 years is liable to be transferred to 
the above fund during the year and no claim shall 
lie against the Company or the said Fund once it 
is transferred. Members are advised to claim the 
unpaid dividend, if any, immediately. 

26.	 Pursuant to Investor Education and Protection Fund 
Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) 
Amendment Rules, 2017 (“Rules”) notified by the 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs  on 28th February, 
2017, the Company is required to transfer all shares 
in respect of which dividend has not been paid or 
claimed for seven consecutive years to the IEPF. 
The shareholders are requested to claim the unpaid 
dividend amount(s) immediately, failing which their 
shares shall be transferred to the demat account of 
the  IEPF Authority as per the procedure stipulated 
in the Rules as amended from time to time. 

	 The Members / claimants whose shares, unclaimed 
dividend, sale proceeds of fractional shares etc. 
have been transferred to IEPF may claim the shares 
or apply for refund by making an application to IEPF 
Authority in Form IEPF 5 (available on www.iepf.
gov. in) along with requisite fee as decided by it from 
time to time. The Member / claimant can file only 
one consolidated claim in a Financial Year as per the 
IEPF Rules.

	 It is in the Member’s interest to claim any un-
encashed dividends and for future, opt for Electronic 
Clearing Service, so that dividends paid by the 
Company are credited to the Member’s account on 
time.

27.	 The members, who have not yet obtained the share 
certificates for the bonus shares issued by the 
Company in the year 2006 and 2013, are requested 
to approach the Company’s Share Transfer Agent 
and claim the same.

28.	 Members are requested to note that trading of 
Company’s shares through Stock Exchange is 
permitted only in demat form.  Further, the Securities 

and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) mandated that 
all the transfers of the shares in the physical form shall 
not be allowed after 31st March 2019.  Accordingly, 
members who have not yet converted their holdings 
into demat form may do so immediately for their own 
interest.

29.	 To prevent fraudulent transactions, members are 
advised to exercise due diligence and notify the 
Company of any change in address or demise of 
any member as soon as possible.  Members are also 
advised not to leave their demat account(s) dormant 
for long.  Periodic statement of holdings should be 
obtained from the concerned Depository Participant 
and holdings should be verified.

30.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) 
has mandated the submission of Permanent Account 
Number (PAN) by every participant in securities 
market. Members holding shares in electronic form 
are, therefore, requested to submit the PAN to 
their Depository Participants with whom they are 
maintaining their demat accounts. Members holding 
shares in physical form can submit their PAN details 
to the Share Transfer Agent or to the Company.

31.	 According to the Finance Act, 2020, dividend income 
will be taxable in the hands of the Shareholders 
w.e.f. April 1, 2020, and the Company is required to 
deduct tax at source (TDS) from the dividend paid to 
the Members at prescribed rates in the Income Tax 
Act, 1961 (‘the IT Act’). 

32.	 The facility for voting through e-voting system shall 
also be made available during the AGM. Members 
attending the AGM who have not cast their vote by 
remote e-voting shall be eligible to cast their vote 
through e-voting during the AGM. Members who 
have voted through remote e-voting shall be eligible 
to attend the AGM, however, they shall not be 
eligible to vote at the AGM. Members holding shares 
in physical form are requested to access the remote 
e-voting facility provided by the Company through 
CDSL e-voting system at www.evotingindia.com.

Voting facilities
	 In compliance with provisions of Section 108 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and Rule 20 of the Companies 
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 and 
Regulation 44 of the SEBI (Listing obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015, the 
Company is pleased to provide members facility 
to exercise their right to vote at the 39th  Annual 
General Meeting (AGM) by electronic means and 
the business may be transacted through e-Voting 
Services provided by Central Depository Services 
(India ) Limited (CDSL).

	 The facility for voting either through electronic voting 
system shall be made available at the meeting 
and members attending the meeting who have not 
already cast their vote by remote e-voting shall be 
able to exercise their right at the meeting.
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	 Members who have cast their vote by remote e-voting 
prior to the meeting may also attend the meeting but 
shall not be entitled to cast their vote again.

CDSL e-Voting System – For e-voting and Joining 
Virtual meetings
1.	 The general meetings of the companies shall be 

conducted as per the guidelines issued by the 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) vide Circular No. 
14/2020 dated April 8, 2020, Circular No.17/2020 
dated April 13, 2020 and Circular No. 20/2020 dated 
May 05, 2020 read with the subsequent circulars 
issued from time to time, the latest one being General 
Circular No. 09/2024 dated 19th September, 2024 
(MCA Circulars). The forthcoming AGM will thus be 
held through video conferencing (VC) or other audio 
visual means (OAVM).  Hence, Members can attend 
and participate in the ensuing AGM through VC/
OAVM.

2.	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the 
Companies (Management and Administration) 
Rules, 2014 (as amended) and Regulation 
44 of SEBI (Listing Obligations & Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations 2015 (as amended), 
and MCA Circulars dated April 08, 2020, April 13, 
2020 and May 05, 2020 read with the subsequent 
circulars issued from time to time, the latest one 
being General Circular No. 09/2024 dated 19th 
September, 2024 (MCA Circulars), the Company is 
providing facility of remote e-voting to its Members 
in respect of the business to be transacted at the 
AGM. For this purpose, the Company has entered 
into an agreement with Central Depository Services 
(India) Limited (CDSL) for facilitating voting through 
electronic means, as the authorized e-Voting’s 
agency. The facility of casting votes by a member 
using remote e-voting as well as the e-voting system 
on the date of the AGM will be provided by CDSL.

3.	 The Members can join the AGM in the VC/OAVM 
mode 15 minutes before and after the scheduled 
time of the commencement of the Meeting by 
following the procedure mentioned in the Notice. The 
facility of participation at the AGM through VC/OAVM 
will be made available to atleast 1000 members on 
first come first served basis. This will not include 
large Shareholders (Shareholders holding 2% 
or more shareholding), Promoters, Institutional 
Investors, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, the 
Chairpersons of the Audit Committee, Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee, Auditors etc. who are 
allowed to attend the AGM without restriction on 
account of first come first served basis.

4.	 The attendance of the Members attending the AGM 
through VC/OAVM will be counted for the purpose 
of ascertaining the quorum under Section 103 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

5.	 Pursuant to MCA Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 
08, 2020 read with the subsequent circulars issued 
from time to time, the latest one being General 
Circular No. 09/2024 dated 19th September, 2024 
(MCA Circulars) , the facility to appoint proxy 
to attend and cast vote for the members is not 
available for this AGM. However, in pursuance of 
Section 112 and Section 113 of the Companies Act, 
2013, representatives of the members such as the 
President of India or the Governor of a State or body 
corporate can attend the AGM through VC/OAVM 
and cast their votes through e-voting.

6.	 In line with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs (MCA) 
Circular No. 17/2020 dated April 13, 2020 read with 
the subsequent circulars issued from time to time, 
the latest one being General Circular No. 09/2024 
dated 19th September, 2024 (MCA Circulars), the 
Notice calling the AGM has been uploaded on 
the website of the Company at www.avtnatural.
com. The Notice can also be accessed from the  
websites of the Stock Exchanges i.e. BSE Limited  
and National Stock Exchange of India Limited  
at www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com 
respectively.  The AGM Notice is also disseminated 
on the website of CDSL (agency for providing the 
Remote e-Voting facility and e-voting system during 
the AGM) i.e. www.evotingindia.com.

7.	 The AGM has been convened through VC/OAVM 
in compliance with applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with MCA Circular No. 
14/2020 dated April 8, 2020 and MCA Circular No. 
17/2020 dated April 13, 2020 and MCA Circular 
No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020 read with the 
subsequent circulars issued from time to time, the 
latest one being General Circular No. 09/2024 dated 
19th September, 2024 (MCA Circulars).

8.	 In continuation to this Ministry’s General Circular 
No. 20/2020 dated 05.05.2020, General Circular No. 
02/2022 dated 05.05.2022 and General Circular No. 
10/2022 dated 28.12.2022 read with the subsequent 
circulars issued from time to time, the latest one being 
General Circular No. 09/2024 dated 19th September, 
2024 (MCA Circulars)  and after due examination, it 
has been decided to allow companies whose AGMs 
are due in the Year   2025, to conduct their AGMs 
through VC or OAVM on or before 30th September, 
2025 in accordance with the requirements laid down 
in Para 3 and Para 4 of the General Circular No. 
20/2020 dated 05.05.2020.
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THE INSTRUCTIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS FOR 
E-VOTING AND JOINING VIRTUAL MEETINGS ARE 
AS UNDER:

Step 1 :	 Access through Depositories CDSL/NSDL 
e-Voting system in case of individual    
shareholders holding shares in demat mode. 

Step 2 :	 Access through CDSL e-Voting system 
in case of shareholders holding shares 
in physical mode and non-individual 
shareholders in demat mode. 

(i)	 The voting period begins on 10th August 2025 
at 9.00 AM and ends on 12th August 2025 at 
5.00 PM. During this period shareholders’ of 
the Company, holding shares either in physical 
form or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-
off date 6th August 2025 may cast their vote 
electronically. The e-voting module shall be 
disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter.

(ii)	 Shareholders who have already voted prior to 
the meeting date would not be entitled to vote 
at the meeting venue.

(iii)	 Pursuant to SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/
CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated 09.12.2020, under 
Regulation 44 of Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, 
listed entities are required to provide remote 
e-voting facility to its shareholders, in respect 
of all shareholders’ resolutions. However, it 
has been observed that the participation by 
the public non-institutional shareholders/retail 
shareholders is at a negligible level. 

	 Currently, there are multiple e-voting service 
providers (ESPs) providing e-voting facility 
to listed entities in India. This necessitates 
registration on various ESPs and maintenance 
of multiple user IDs and passwords by the 
shareholders. 

	 In order to increase the efficiency of the voting 
process, pursuant to a public consultation, 
it has been decided to enable e-voting to 
all the demat account holders, by way of a 
single login credential, through their demat 
accounts/ websites of Depositories/ Depository 
Participants. Demat account holders would 
be able to cast their vote without having to 
register again with the ESPs, thereby, not 
only facilitating seamless authentication but 
also enhancing ease and convenience of 
participating in e-voting process. 

Step 1 :	 Access through Depositories CDSL/
NSDL e-Voting system in case of 
individual    shareholders holding shares 
in demat mode. 

(iv)		 In terms of SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/
CMD/CIR/P/2020/242 dated December 9, 

2020 on e-Voting facility provided by Listed 
Companies, Individual shareholders holding 
securities in demat mode are allowed to vote 
through their demat account maintained with 
Depositories and Depository Participants. 
Shareholders are advised to update their mobile 
number and email Id in their demat accounts in 
order to access e-Voting facility.

Pursuant to abovesaid SEBI Circular, Login method 
for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for Individual 
shareholders holding securities in Demat mode CDSL/
NSDL is given below:

Type of 
sharehold-

ers
Login Method

Individual 
Shareholders 
holding 
securities in 
Demat mode 
with CDSL 
Depository

1)	 Users who have opted for CDSL Easi 
/ Easiest facility, can login through their 
existing user id and password. Option will 
be made available to reach e-Voting page 
without any further authentication. The users 
to login to Easi / Easiest are requested to visit 
cdsl website www.cdslindia.com and click on 
login icon & My Easi New (Token) Tab.

2)	 After successful login the Easi / Easiest 
user will be able to see the e-Voting option 
for eligible companies where the evoting is 
in progress as per the information provided 
by company. On clicking the evoting option, 
the user will be able to see e-Voting page 
of the e-Voting service provider for casting 
your vote during the remote e-Voting period 
or joining virtual meeting & voting during 
the meeting. Additionally, there is also links 
provided to access the system of all e-Voting 
Service Providers, so that the user can 
visit the e-Voting service providers’ website 
directly.

3)	 If the user is not registered for Easi/
Easiest, option to register is available at cdsl 
website www.cdslindia.com and click on 
login & My Easi New (Token) Tab and then 
click on registration option.

4)	 Alternatively, the user can directly 
access e-Voting page by providing Demat 
Account Number and PAN No. from a 
e-Voting link available on  www.cdslindia.com 
home page. The system will authenticate the 
user by sending OTP on registered Mobile 
& Email as recorded in the Demat Account. 
After successful authentication, user will be 
able to see the e-Voting option where the 
evoting is in progress and also able to directly 
access the system of all e-Voting Service 
Providers.



8

I n d i v i d u a l 
Shareho ld -
ers holding 
securities in 
demat mode 
with NSDL 
Depository

1)	 If you are already registered for NSDL 
IDeAS facility, please visit the e-Services 
website of NSDL. Open web browser by typ-
ing the following URL: https://eservices.nsdl.
com either on a Personal Computer or on a 
mobile. Once the home page of e-Services 
is launched, click on the “Beneficial Owner” 
icon under “Login” which is available under 
‘IDeAS’ section. A new screen will open. You 
will have to enter your User ID and Password. 
After successful authentication, you will be 
able to see e-Voting services. Click on “Ac-
cess to e-Voting” under e-Voting services and 
you will be able to see e-Voting page. Click on 
company name or e-Voting service provider 
name and you will be re-directed to e-Voting 
service provider website for casting your vote 
during the remote e-Voting period or joining 
virtual meeting & voting during the meeting.

2)	 If the user is not  registered for IDeAS 
e-Services, option to register is available at 
https://eservices.nsdl.com.  Select “Register 
Online for IDeAS “Portal or click   at https://
eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/IdeasDirec-
tReg.jsp 

3)	 Visit the e-Voting website of NSDL. 
Open web browser by typing the following 
URL: https://www.evoting.nsdl.com/ either 
on a Personal Computer or on a mobile. 
Once the home page of e-Voting system is 
launched, click on the icon “Login” which is 
available under ‘Shareholder/Member’ sec-
tion. A new screen will open. You will have 
to enter your User ID (i.e. your sixteen digit 
demat account number hold with NSDL), 
Password/OTP and a Verification Code as 
shown on the screen. After successful au-
thentication, you will be redirected to NSDL 
Depository site wherein you can see e-Voting 
page. Click on company name or e-Voting 
service provider name and you will be redi-
rected to e-Voting service provider website 
for casting your vote during the remote e-Vot-
ing period or joining virtual meeting & voting 
during the meeting

4)	 For OTP based login you can click on 
https://eservices.nsdl.com/SecureWeb/evot-
ing/evotinglogin.jsp. You will have to enter 
your 8-digit DP ID,8-digit Client Id, PAN No., 
Verification code and generate OTP. Enter 
the OTP received on registered email id/
mobile number and click on login. After suc-
cessful authentication, you will be redirected 
to NSDL Depository site wherein you can see 
e-Voting page. Click on company name or 
e-Voting service provider name and you will 
be re-directed to e-Voting service provider 
website for casting your vote during the re-
mote e-Voting period or joining virtual meet-
ing & voting during the meeting.

I n d i v i d u a l 
Shareholders 
( h o l d i n g 
s e c u r i t i e s 
in demat 
mode) login 
through their 
Depos i t o r y 
Participants 
(DP)

You can also login using the login 
credentials of your demat account 
through your Depository Participant 
registered with NSDL/CDSL for e-Voting 
facility.  After Successful login, you will 
be able to see e-Voting option. Once 
you click on e-Voting option, you will be 
redirected to NSDL/CDSL Depository 
site after successful authentication, 
wherein you can see e-Voting feature. 
Click on company name or e-Voting 
service provider name and you will be 
redirected to e-Voting service provider 
website for casting your vote during the 
remote e-Voting period or joining virtual 
meeting & voting during the meeting.

Important note: Members who are unable to retrieve 
User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget User ID and 
Forget Password option available at abovementioned 
website.

Helpdesk for Individual Shareholders holding 
securities in demat mode for any technical issues 
related to login through Depository i.e. CDSL and 
NSDL

Login type Helpdesk details
Individual Shareholders 
holding securities in 
Demat mode with CDSL

Members facing any 
technical issue in login can 
contact CDSL helpdesk 
by sending a request 
at helpdesk.evoting@
cdslindia.com or contact at 
toll free no. 1800 21 09911

Individual Shareholders 
holding securities in 
Demat mode with NSDL

Members facing any 
technical issue in login can 
contact NSDL helpdesk 
by sending a request at 
evoting@nsdl.co.in or call 
at : 022 - 4886 7000 and 
022 - 2499 7000

Step 2 :	 Access through CDSL e-Voting system 
in case of shareholders holding shares 
in physical mode and non-individual 
shareholders in demat mode.

(v)	 Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual 
meetings for Physical shareholders and 
shareholders other than individual holding in 
Demat form.

1)	 The shareholders should log on to the e-voting 
website www.evotingindia.com.

2)	 Click on “Shareholders” module.
3)	 Now enter your User ID 

a.	 For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 
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b.	 For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 
Digits Client ID, 

c.	 Shareholders holding shares in Physical Form 
should enter Folio Number registered with the 
Company.

4)	 Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and 
Click on Login.

5)	 If you are holding shares in demat form and had 
logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted on an 
earlier e-voting of any company, then your existing 
password is to be used. 

6)	 If you are a first-time user follow the steps given 
below:

For Physical shareholders 
and other than individual 
shareholders holding shares 
in Demat.

PAN Enter your 10 digit alpha-
numeric *PAN issued by Income 
Tax Department (Applicable for 
both demat shareholders as 
well as physical shareholders)
•	 Shareholders who have 

not updated their PAN with 
the Company/Depository 
Participant are requested 
to use the sequence 
number sent by Company/
RTA or contact Company/
RTA.

Dividend Bank 
Details

 OR 

Date of Birth (DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details 
or Date of Birth (in dd/mm/
yyyy format) as recorded in 
your demat account or in the 
company records in order to 
login.
•	 If both the details are 

not recorded with the 
depository or company, 
please enter the member 
id / folio number in the 
Dividend Bank details field.

(vi)	 After entering these details appropriately, click on 
“SUBMIT” tab.

(vii)	 Shareholders holding shares in physical form will 
then directly reach the Company selection screen. 
However, shareholders holding shares in demat 
form will now reach ‘Password Creation’ menu 
wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their 
login password in the new password field. Kindly 
note that this password is to be also used by the 
demat holders for voting for resolutions of any 
other company on which they are eligible to vote, 
provided that company opts for e-voting through 

CDSL platform. It is strongly recommended not to 
share your password with any other person and take 
utmost care to keep your password confidential.

(viii)	For shareholders holding shares in physical form, 
the details can be used only for e-voting on the 
resolutions contained in this Notice.

(ix)	 Click on the EVSN for the relevant <Company 
Name> on which you choose to vote.

(x)	 On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION 
DESCRIPTION” and against the same the option 
“YES/NO” for voting. Select the option YES or NO 
as desired. The option YES implies that you assent 
to the Resolution and option NO implies that you 
dissent to the Resolution.

(xi)	 Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish 
to view the entire Resolution details.

(xii)	 After selecting the resolution, you have decided 
to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A confirmation box 
will be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, 
click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on 
“CANCEL” and accordingly modify your vote.

(xiii)	Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, 
you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

(xiv)	You can also take a print of the votes cast by clicking 
on “Click here to print” option on the Voting page.

(xv)	 If a demat account holder has forgotten the login 
password then Enter the User ID and the image 
verification code and click on Forgot Password & 
enter the details as prompted by the system.

(xvi)	There is also an optional provision to upload BR/
POA if any uploaded, which will be made available 
to scrutinizer for verification.

Additional Facility for Non – Individual Shareholders 
and Custodians –For Remote Voting only.

•	 •	 Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than 
Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodians are 
required to log on to www.evotingindia.com and 
register themselves in the “Corporates” module.

•	 A scanned copy of the Registration Form 
bearing the stamp and sign of the entity should 
be emailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.
com.

•	 After receiving the login details a Compliance 
User should be created using the admin login 
and password. The Compliance User would be 
able to link the account(s) for which they wish to 
vote on.

•	 The list of accounts linked in the login will be 
mapped automatically & can be delink in case 
of any wrong mapping.

•	 It is Mandatory that, a scanned copy of the 
Board Resolution and Power of Attorney 
(POA) which they have issued in favour of the 
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Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF 
format in the system for the scrutinizer to verify 
the same.

•	 Alternatively Non Individual shareholders 
are required mandatory to send the relevant 
Board Resolution/ Authority letter etc. together 
with attested specimen signature of the duly 
authorized signatory who are authorized to 
vote, to the Scrutinizer and to the Company at 
the email address viz; avtnpl@avtnatural.com, 
if they have voted from individual tab & not 
uploaded same in the CDSL e-voting system 
for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS ATTENDING 
THE AGM THROUGH VC/OAVM & E-VOTING DURING 
MEETING ARE AS UNDER:
1.	 The procedure for attending meeting & e-Voting 

on the day of the AGM is same as the instructions 
mentioned above for e-voting.

2.	 The link for VC/OAVM to attend meeting will 
be available where the EVSN of Company will 
be displayed after successful login as per the 
instructions mentioned above for e-voting.

3.	 Shareholders who have voted through Remote 
e-Voting will be eligible to attend the meeting. 
However, they will not be eligible to vote at the AGM.

4.	 Shareholders are encouraged to join the Meeting 
through Laptops / IPads for better experience.

5.	 Further shareholders will be required to allow 
Camera and use Internet with a good speed to avoid 
any disturbance during the meeting.

6.	 Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile 
Devices or Tablets or through Laptop connecting via 
Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss 
due to Fluctuation in their respective network. It is 
therefore recommended to use Stable Wi-Fi or LAN 
Connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

7.	 Shareholders who would like to express their views/
ask questions during the meeting may register 
themselves as a speaker by sending their request in 
advance atleast 5 days prior to meeting mentioning 
their name, demat account number/folio number, 
email id, mobile number at avtnpl@avtnatural.com. 
The shareholders who do not wish to speak during 
the AGM but have queries may send their queries 
in advance 5 days prior to meeting mentioning their 
name, demat account number/folio number, email 
id, mobile number at avtnpl@avtnatural.com.  These 
queries will be replied by the company suitably by 
email. 

8.	 Those shareholders who have registered themselves 
as a speaker will only be allowed to express their 
views/ask questions during the meeting.

9.	 Only those shareholders, who are present in the 

AGM through VC/OAVM facility and have not 
casted their vote on the Resolutions through remote 
e-Voting and are otherwise not barred from doing 
so, shall be eligible to vote through e-Voting system 
available during the AGM.

10.	 If any Votes are cast by the shareholders through the 
e-voting available during the AGM and if the same 
shareholders have not participated in the meeting 
through VC/OAVM facility, then the votes cast by 
such shareholders may be considered invalid as the 
facility of e-voting during the meeting is available 
only to the shareholders attending the meeting.

PROCESS FOR THOSE SHAREHOLDERS WHOSE 
EMAIL/MOBILE NO. ARE NOT REGISTERED WITH 
THE COMPANY/DEPOSITORIES.
1)	 For Physical shareholders- please provide necessary 

details like Folio No., Name of shareholder, scanned 
copy of the share certificate (front and back), PAN 
(self attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR 
(self attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) by 
email to Company/RTA email id.

2.	 For Demat shareholders -, Please update your email 
id & mobile no. with your respective Depository 
Participant (DP) 

3.	 For Individual Demat shareholders – Please update 
your email id & mobile no. with your respective 
Depository Participant (DP) which is mandatory 
while e-Voting & joining virtual meetings through 
Depository.

If you have any queries or issues regarding attending 
AGM & e-Voting from the CDSL e-Voting System, you 
can write an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or 
contact at toll free no. 1800 21 09911

All grievances connected with the facility for  
voting by electronic means may be addressed to  
Mr. Rakesh Dalvi, Sr. Manager, (CDSL, ) Central 
Depository Services (India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, 
Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill Compounds, N M Joshi 
Marg, Lower Parel (East), Mumbai - 400013 or send an 
email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or call  toll free 
no. 1800 21 09911.

General instructions

The Board of Directors has appointed  Mr. V. Suresh, 
Senior Partner, (Membership No. FCS 2969 and CP 
No.6032) of M/s. V. Suresh Associates, Practising 
Company Secretaries, Chennai  as the scrutinizer for 
conducting the Postal Ballot and e-voting process in a fair 
and transparent manner.
i)	 The Scrutinizer shall after the conclusion of voting 

at the general meeting, will first count the votes cast 
at the meeting and thereafter unblock the votes 
cast through remote e-voting in the presence of at 
least two witnesses not in the employment of the 
Company and make, not later than 2 working days 
from the conclusion of the meeting a consolidated 
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scrutinizer’s report of the total votes cast in favour or 
against, if any, to the Chairman or a person authorized 
by him in writing, who shall countersign the same 
and declare the result of the voting forthwith. The 
resolutions will be deemed have been passed on the 
AGM date subject to receipt of the requisite number 
or votes in favour of the resolutions.

ii)	 The results declared along with the Scrutinizer’s 
Report shall be placed on the Company’s website 
www.avtnatural.com and on the website of CDSL 
www.evotingindia.com immediately. The Company 
shall simultaneously forward the results to BSE 
Limited and NSE, where the shares of the Company 
are listed. The results shall also be displayed on the 
website of the Company. 

iii)	 The voting rights of shareholders shall be in 
proportion to their shares of the paid-up equity share 
capital of the Company as on 6th August 2025. A 
person who is not a Member as on the cut off-date 
should treat this Notice for information purposes 
only. 

iv)	 In terms of Regulation 36(3) of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, and applicable Secretarial 
Standards, the Details of Directors seeking re-
appointment at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting is given.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT

The explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102(1) of 
the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 17 (1A) of the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations 2015 forming part of the Notice. .

Item No. 4: Appointment of Manager

Mr.M.N.Satheesh Kumar, was appointed as the ‘Manager’ 
of the Company by the Board of Directors in their meeting 
held on 28th May 2025 for a period of one year from 28th 
May 2025 to 27th May 2026 under Section 203 (1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 on the terms of remuneration as 
mentioned in the resolution, subject to the approval of the 
members. 

Mr. Satheesh Kumar was associated with AVT Natural 
Products Ltd. from 1996 to 2021, beginning his journey 
as Vice President – Operations. Over the years, he rose 
through the leadership ranks, being promoted to Senior 
Vice President & Chief Operating Officer in June 2005, 
and subsequently to President & COO-Manager in April 
2012. In April 2017, he was appointed as the President 
& CEO, a role in which he served with distinction until 
his retirement in 2021. Post-retirement, he continued his 
association with the organization in an advisory capacity 
until 2024.

After completing his studies from BITS, Pilani and 
PGDBA, Satheesh started his Career as a Management 
Trainee with Chemical construction International in 1978, 

became a project manager in 1982 and rose to the 
position of Sr. Manager – Technical in 1986. During this 
time, he was instrumental in assisting & independently 
completing about 20 vegetable oil processing Projects in 
India & SE Asia.

In 1988, he joined TANCOF (Tamil Nadu Oil seeds 
Growers Federation), under the aegis of NDDB, becoming 
a part of the Prime Minister’s Technology Mission on Oil 
seeds. He served as the Plant Manager of two of their Oil 
seed Processing Plants in Tamil Nadu covering almost 
300 oil seeds grower’s Society. His responsibilities also 
included forming and managing Cooperative societies.

In 1993, he joined Goetze (India) Ltd, Vegetable oil division 
of ESCORTS group of companies as Profit Center Head. 
The unit was built under his leadership and brought it to 
profitability within 2 years.

A copy of the draft Agreement to be entered into with 
the ‘Manager’ is available at the Registered Office of 
the Company and is open for inspection in physical or 
in electronic form by the members during the specified 
business hours on any working day, and the copies 
thereof shall also be made available for physical or 
electronic form at the Registered office the Company and 
also at the meeting.

None of the Directors/ Key Managerial Personnel of the 
Company/ their relatives are, in any way, concerned or 
interested, financially or otherwise, in this Resolution.

The Board recommends the Special Resolution set out at 
Item No.4 of the Notice for approval by the shareholders.

Item No. 5: Appointment of Secretarial Auditor

M/s. V Suresh Associates, Practicing Company 
Secretaries is a distinguished professional services firm 
offering a comprehensive range of services related to 
corporate governance, compliance, and legal advisory 
with more than 20 years of standing. Experienced team of 
professionals assist businesses in maintaining regulatory 
compliance and adopting best practices in corporate 
governance. 

V Suresh Associates is a peer-reviewed unit 
(No.:6366/2025) by the Institute of Company Secretaries 
of India (ICSI). The firm provides services for ROC, NCLT, 
SEBI, RBI, Official Liquidator (OL), Stock Exchange 
compliances and advises on Company Law / SEBI /
Capital Market matters.

In terms of Regulation 24A of SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) (‘LODR’) Regulations, 
2015, The Board of Directors (the Board) at their meeting 
held on 28th May 2025 based on recommendation of the 
Audit Committee, have recommended to the shareholders 
to appoint M/s V Suresh Associates, Practising Company 
Secretaries (Unique Identification No. P2016TN053700) 
as Secretarial Auditors of the company for a term (audit 
period) of five consecutive financial years from 2025-26 
to 2029-30 (01.04.2025 to 31.03.2030). The proposed 
remuneration of Secretarial Auditor for Financial Year 
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2025-26 is Rs.1,00,000/- (Rupees One lakh only) plus 
GST, travel and out of pocket expenses, if any for issuing 
the Secretarial Audit Report. The remuneration for 
following four financial years (2026-27 to 2029-30) will be 
determined by the Board in due course on assessment 
of role and responsibilities as and when need arises. 
The said appointment is subject to the approval of the 
shareholders at this Annual General Meeting of the 
Company.

The Company has received consent and eligibility letter 
from the proposed auditor to act as the Secretarial Auditors 
of the Company, in accordance with the provisions of 
Regulation 24A of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and Section 
204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

None of the Directors/ Key Managerial Personnel of the 
Company/ their relatives are, in any way, concerned or 
interested, financially or otherwise, in this Resolution.

The Board recommends the Ordinary Resolution set out at 
Item No.5 of the Notice for approval by the shareholders.  

By order of the Board
For AVT Natural Products Limited

Place : Chennai	 P Mahadevan 
Date  : May 28, 2025	  Company Secretary & 

Compliance Officer

Registered office: 
60, Rukmani Lakshmipathy Salai, 

Egmore, Chennai – 600 008
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Disclosure  required  under Regulation 36(3) of the SEBl  (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 and Secretarial Standard-2 on General  Meetings  in respect Of a  Director seeking  re 
appointment in the Annual General Meeting:

Name Mr. Ajit Thomas
Director Identification Number 00018691
Date of Birth June 07, 1954
Nationality Indian
Date of appointment on the Board March 12, 1986
Relationship with other Directors He is the spouse of Mrs. Shanthi Thomas, Director and father of 

Mr. Rahul Thomas, Director
Qualification B.Sc (Statistics)
Expertise in specific functional areas He has nearly 43 years of experience in various fields of Business, 

Administration, Plantation, Management etc.
Directorships held in other Companies as on 
March 31, 2025 (excluding foreign companies)

Executive Chairman 

1.  A.V. Thomas and Company Limited

Chairman 

1.	 The Nelliampathy Tea and Produce Company Limited
2.	 Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited
3.	 The Midland Rubber and produce Company Limited
4.	 AVT McCormick Ingredients private Limited 
5.	 Midland Corporate Advisory Services Private Limited
6.	 Aspera Logistics Private Limited
7.	 Aspera Holdings Private Limited  

(formerly AVT Holdings Private Limited)

Director 
1. A.V. Thomas Leather & Allied products Private Limited 
2. A.V Thomas Investments Co. Limited 
3. Saksoft Limited 
4. AVT Gavia Foods Private Limited 

Membership of Committee of other Companies Audit Committee
Saksoft Limited – Member
Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited - Member
A.V.Thomas and Company Limited - Member

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Saksoft Limited – Member 
Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited - Member

Stakeholders Relationship committee
Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited - Chairman 
The Midland Rubber and produce Company Limited - Chairman 
The Nelliampathy Tea and Produce Company Limited - Chairman

CSR Committee
The Midland Rubber and produce Company Limited – Chairman
A.V.Thomas and Company Limited – Chairman

Number of shares held in the company 15,22,840 (1%)
Number of Board meetings attended during FY 
2024-25

Held : 5 
Attended : 5
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Your directors are pleased to present the Thirty Ninth 
Annual Report of the Company together with the Audited 
Accounts for the financial year ended March 31, 2025.

 FINANCIAL RESULTS
(Rs.in Crores)

Particulars 2024-25 2023-24
Income from Operations 519.22 503.31 
Other Income     17.28 12.18 
Total Income 536.50 515.50

Profit before tax for the year 51.76 62.71
Less : Provision for taxation   
Current Tax  12.87 16.50 
Deferred Tax   0.83 -0.16
Profit after tax 38.07 46.37
Add : Remeasurement of Post 
employment benefit obligations 
through OCI

0.49 -0.13

Add: Surplus brought forward 156.18 148.65
Less: Unrealised Fair Value 
          Gains not available for  
           appropriation

7.23 5.53

Total Amount available for 
dividend payout

187.50 189.35

Less :   
Interim Dividend 30% paid on 
Equity Shares

4.57 4.57

Tax on Interim Dividend      N.A N.A
Transfer to General Reserve 20.00 25.00
Final Dividend on Equity 
Shares

7.61 9.14

Tax on Final Dividend N.A N.A
Net Amount available for 
Dividend payout

155.32 150.64

Surplus carried forward to 
Balance Sheet

162.55 156.18 

Proposed dividend on equity shares has not been 
recognized as a distribution of profit in the current year’s 
accounts in accordance with the Indian Accounting 
Standard. 

OPERATIONS REVIEW

Total income increased by 4.07% to Rs.536.50 crores in 
2024-25 from Rs.515.50 crores.  The Profit after Tax for 
the year 2024-25 is Rs.38.07 crores (previous year 2023-

24 Rs. 46.37 crores), showing a decrease of 17.91%. 
With Fixed Assets of Rs.71.14 crores (previous year 
2024-25 Rs.80.41 crores), our Fixed Asset Turnover ratio 
is healthy at 7.30 % with Return on Sales stood at 11.13%.

DIVIDEND
Dividend Distribution Policy
Pursuant to Regulation 43A of Listing Regulations, the 
Board adopted a Dividend Distribution Policy, which had 
been placed on the website of the Company and can be 
accessed at the link: https://www.avtnatural.com/policies/

Declaration and payment of dividend

Your Directors are pleased to recommend a final dividend 
of Re0.40 per share (40%) with face value of Re.1/- each 
on Equity Share Capital, for the year ended 31.03.2025, 
amounting to Rs.609.14 Lakhs. During the year, the Board 
declared an Interim Dividend of Re.0.30 per share (30%) 
with face value of Re.1/- each, amounting to Rs.456.85 
Lakhs. The aggregate of dividend declared during the 
year was Re.1/-per share (70%) with face value of Re.1/- 
each amounting to Rs.1065.99 Lakhs.

TRANSFER TO GENERAL RESERVE
Your directors are pleased to transfer a sum of Rs.20 Crs. 
for the year 2024-25 (previous year Rs.25 Crs.) to the 
General Reserve.

FINANCE

Cash and bank balances as at 31st March 2025 was 
Rs.530.07 lakhs (previous year Rs.955.42 lakhs). The 
Company continues to focus on the judicious management 
of its working capital, receivables, inventories and other 
financial parameters and which were kept under strict 
check through continuous monitoring.

The outstanding term loan from Federal Bank Limited as 
on 31st March 2025 is Rs.4.95 crore, which is given in the 
note No.16 to the financial statements.

WINDMILL
The windmill of the Company located at Kokkampalayam 
village, Dharapuram Taluk, Erode District, Tamil Nadu 
generated 8,30,356 units of electricity in the year  
2024-25 against 8,49,811 units generated in 2023-24. The 
Company utilised the 7,68,111 units, generated as captive 
consumption during 2024-25 for its Sathyamangalam 
factory.

 BOARD MEETING

The Board of Directors met five times during the financial 
year. The details of the Board meeting are given in the 

Directors’ Report
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Corporate Governance report. The intervening gap 
between the meetings were within the period stipulated 
under the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015.

AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETING

The Audit Committee of the Company met four times 
during the current financial year. The details of the 
Audit Committee meetings are given in the Corporate 
Governance report. The intervening gap between the 
meetings were within the period stipulated under the 
Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEE, OR 
INVESTMENTS

The Company has not given any loans or guarantees 
covered under the provisions of section 186 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and Schedule V of the Securities 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 2015, except the 
‘Corporate Guarantee’ given on behalf of its wholly owned 
subsidiary companies viz., AVT Natural Europe Limited, 
London and to AVT Natural S.A. DE C.V., Mexico, which 
is given in the note No.37 to the financial statements.

The details of investments made by the Company are 
given in the note No.7 to the financial statements.

LISTING WITH STOCK EXCHANGES

The Company Shares are continued to be listed in both 
BSE Limited (BSE) and the National Stock Exchange of 
India Limited (NSE). The Company has paid listing fees 
up to 31st March 2025 to both the BSE Limited (BSE) and 
the National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE).

DSIR APPROVAL FOR IN-HOUSE R&D FACILITY AT 
SOUTH VAZHAKULAM AND BANGALORE

The approval by the Department of Scientific and Industrial 
Research (DSIR), New Delhi for the Company’s R&D 
facilities situated at South Vazhakulam, Aluva, Kerala and 
the Manchenahaili Village, Kasabe Hobari, Bangalore are 
valid upto 31.03.2025. The company has already applied 
for renewal with DSIR. The approval is pending till now.

MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS

There are no material changes or events that have 
occurred since the date of the Balance Sheet which could 
have any effect on the financial position of the Company

DIRECTORS & KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

During the year, Directors Mr.M.A Alagappan (w.e.f. 
24.07.2024) and Mr. P Shankar (w.e.f. 24.07.2024) were 
retired from the Directorship due to completion of their 
second term of five years as Independent Directors.

Mr.Habib Hussain, Director who was liable to retire by 
rotation during the 38th AGM held on August 09, 2024, 
doesn’t offer himself for re-appointment.

Mr.M.M.Venkatachalam and Mr.Ranganath N Krishna 
were inducted into the Board as Independent Directors 
with effect from July 25, 2024. Mr.Rahul Thomas 
was inducted into the Board as Non-Executive Non-
Independent Director with effect from June 12, 2024.

As on March 31, 2025, the Company has seven Non-
Executive Directors out of which four are Independent 
Directors.

i)	 Director retiring by rotation
	 In accordance with the provisions of Companies Act, 

2013 and the Articles of Association of the Company, 
Mr.Ajit Thomas, Director retires by rotation at the 
39th Annual General Meeting and being eligible, offer 
himself for re-appointment.

	 A resolution seeking shareholders’ approval along 
with other required details forms part of the Notice.

ii)	 Declaration from Independent Directors on 
Annual Basis

	 The Company has received necessary declarations 
from all the four Independent Directors of the Company 
under Section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 that the 
Independent Directors of the Company meet with the 
criteria of their Independence laid down in Section 149 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 25(8) of 
the SEBI (LODR) Regulations 2015.

iii)	 Key Managerial Personnel
	 As on March 31, 2025, the following were Key 

Managerial Personnel (“KMP”) of the Company as 
per Sections 2(51) and 203 of the Act.
•	 Mr. B Krishna Kumar, President & COO – 

Manager (Upto 31.03.2025) 
•	 Mr. A. Ramadas, Sr. Vice President and CFO 
•	 Mr. Sharon Josh, Company Secretary – (Upto 

21.07.2024)
•	 Mr. P Mahadevan, Company Secretary & 

Compliance Officer (from 12.11.2024) 

During the year under review, the non-executive directors 
of the Company had no pecuniary relationship or 
transactions with the Company, other than sitting fees, 
commission and reimbursement of expenses, if any.

PERFORMANCE OF SUBSIDIARY/JOINT VENTURE /
ASSOCIATES

a)	 AVT Natural SA DE C.V., Mexico (AVTN)
	 AVT Natural SA DE C.V, Mexico has been 

established with an aim to capture market for the 
Animal Nutritional products in South American 
market and other markets. 
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	 The paid-up capital of the Company as on 31st 
March 2025 is Mexican Peso (Mxn) 0.54 million 
and there is no change therein since then. AVTN is 
the marketing arm of your Company for the animal 
nutrition products.   The AVTN recorded sales of 
Rs.11.93 crores and Loss of Rs.1.85 crores, for the 
year 2024-25

b)	 AVT Natural Europe Limited,  UK  (AVTNEL)
	 The paid up capital of the Company as on 31st March 

2025 is Pound Sterling (GBP) 1.535 million and 
there is no change therein since then. AVTNEL is the 
marketing arm of your Company for de-caffeinated 
tea and instant tea. The AVTNEL recorded sales of 
Rs.122.18 crores (previous year Rs.108.62 crores) 
and profit of Rs.2.58 crores (previous year Rs.3.85 
crores) for the year 2024-25.

c)	 AVT Natural FZCO (AVT Dubai)
	 A wholly owned subsidiary was incorporated by the 

company on 28th March 2023 in Dubai for marketing 
the Animal nutrition products, food additives, cosmetic 
and nutraceutical ingredients with a paid up capital of 
AED 22,30,000. 

	 The AVT Natural FZCO recorded sales of Rs.37.95 
crores and profit of Rs.4.29 crores for the year 2024-25

Step down subsidiary Companies
	 AVT Natural Europe Limited, London has one wholly 

owned subsidiary AVT Natural North America Inc 

i)	 AVT Natural North America Inc
	 The paid up capital of the Company as on 31st March 

2025 is USD 60,000 and there is no change therein 
since. During the year, the company recorded sales 
of Rs.11.81 crores and profit of Rs.0.81 crores for 
the year 2024-25.

d)	 Accounts of subsidiaries
	 Pursuant to Section 136 of the Companies Act, 2013, 

a copy of the audited financial statements of AVT 
Natural Europe Ltd., AVT Natural S.A. DE C.V. and 
AVT Natural FZCO for the period ended 31.03.2025, 
shall be provided to any shareholder, free of cost 
on their request. The Audited financial statements 
are also available on the website of the Company. 
The Consolidated financial statements, audited by 
the statutory auditors of the Company, have been 
attached to this Report.

	 Pursuant to Section 129(3) of the Companies Act, 
2013, a statement containing the salient features of 
the financial statements of AVTN, AVTNE & its step-
down subsidiary and AVTFZCO in the prescribed 
Form AOC-1 is provided in the Page No. 147 of 
Annual report.

e)	 Joint Venture / Associate Company
	 The Company does not have any Joint Ventures / 

Associate Companies

f)	 Policy for determining material subsidiary
	 The Company has a Policy for determining Material 

Subsidiary, which is hosted on the Company website 
under the link www.avtnatural.com/investor_relations.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY, 
ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS 
AND OUTGO

The particulars prescribed by the section 134 (3) (m) of the 
Companies Act 2013, read with Rule 8 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014 relating to Conservation of Energy, 
Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange earnings and 
outgo are furnished in the Annexure-I to this Report.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 135 of the 
Companies Act 2013, a CSR Committee comprising 
Board of Directors was formed to recommend.

i.	 The policy on Corporate Social Responsibility 
(CSR) and

ii.	 Implementation of the CSR Projects  

Annual Report on CSR in the prescribed format is enclosed 
as Annexure - II. The CSR policy of the Company has 
been  uploaded on the web site: www.avtnatural.com /
investor_relations.

CONTENTS OF CSR POLICY

TThe Company’s CSR projects and programs will be the 
focus on the holistic development of host communities 
to create social, environmental and economic value to 
society.  

The Company will invest resources in any program such 
as skill development, infrastructure development, women 
empowerment, Promotion of Health Care, Old age homes 
/ day care facilities for Senior Citizens, Education, Swatch 
Bharath, and all other activities envisaged in the Schedule 
VII of the Companies Act 2013.

STATUTORY AUDITORS

Pursuant to section 139 and 142 of the Companies Act, 
2013, the members in their 36th Annual General Meeting 
held on 24.08.2022 appointed M/s. Suri & Co, Chartered 
Accountant (Firm Registration No.004283S) as the 
Statutory Auditors of the Company for a period of 5 years 
till the conclusion of the 41st Annual General Meeting. 
In view of the amendment to the Companies Act 2013 
notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs dated 7th May 
2018, no longer their appointment needs to be ratified by 
the Members.



17

AUDITORS’ REPORT

There are no qualifications or adverse remarks mentioned 
in the Auditors’ report. The notes to accounts, forming part 
of financial statements, are self-explanatory and need no 
further clarification

SECRETARIAL AUDITORS

Pursuant to Section 204 of Companies Act, 2013 read with 
Rule 9 of Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial personnel) 2014 and Regulation 24A of 
SEBI(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 
Regulations, 2015, the Board of Directors in their meeting 
held on May 28, 2025 approved the appointment of 

M/s.V Suresh & Associates as the Secretarial Auditor of the 
company for a period of 5 consecutive years w.e.f FY 2025-
26 based on the recommendations of the Audit Committee 
of the Company. The said appointment is subject to the 
approval of the shareholders at this Annual General Meeting 
of the Company.

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules 2014, 
the Company has appointed M/s. V Suresh Associates, 
Practicing Company Secretaries (C.P. No.6032), Chennai – 
600 018 to undertake the Secretarial Audit of the Company.

The Secretarial Audit Report in form MR-3, submitted by 
the Secretarial Auditors for the financial year 2024-25, is 
annexed to this report as Annexure III and forms an integral 
part of this Report.

During the year, the Company has complied with the 
Secretarial Standard -1 (SS-1) and Secretarial Standard -2 
(SS-2) issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs.

COST RECORDS & AUDIT REPORT

Cost Audit is not applicable to the Company as per the 
Companies (Cost Records & Audit) Rules, 2014, however, 
the cost records are maintained by the Company.

REPORTING OF FRAUD

The Auditors of the Company have not reported any  
fraud as specified under section 143 (12) of the Companies 
Act, 2013.

INSURANCE

The Company continues to carry adequate insurance for 
all assets, against unforeseeable perils.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All transactions entered with related parties for the year 
under review were at arm’s length basis and in the 
ordinary course of business and hence the provisions of 

Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not attracted. 
There were no related party transactions exceeding 10% 
of the annual consolidated turnover as per the last audited 
financial statements during the year.

Further, there were no material related party transactions 
during the year under review with the Promoters, Directors 
or Key Managerial Personnel or other designated 
persons which may have a potential conflict in the interest 
with Company at large. The disclosure of Related Party 
transactions to be provided under section 134 (3)(h) 
of the Companies Act 2013, read with Rule 8(2) of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 in Form AOC -2 is 
given in the Annexure IV, forming part of this report.

As per the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations 2015, all the related party 
transactions were placed before the Audit Committee and 
also the Board of Directors.  Prior approval of the Audit 
Committee was obtained on yearly / quarterly basis for 
the transactions entered with related parties, except with 
the wholly owned subsidiary Companies, whose accounts 
are consolidated with the Company. The transactions 
entered into pursuant to the omnibus approval so granted 
has been placed before the Audit Committee and the 
Board of Directors for their approval on a quarterly basis.

The Company has a Related Party Transaction policy and 
the same is hosted on the website of the Company under 
the link www.avtnatural.com/investor_relations.

SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY 
THE REGULATORS AND COURTS

There are no significant material orders passed by the 
Regulators / Courts which would impact the going concern 
status of the Company and its future operations.

ANNUAL RETURN

In terms of the requirements of Section 92(3) read with 
134(3)(a) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 the copy of the 
Annual Return in prescribed format is available on the 
website of the Company. www.avtnatural.com.

STATUTORY INFORMATION

The information required under section 197 (12) of the 
Companies Act 2013 read with rule 5 (1) of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial 
Personnel) Rules, 2014 in respect of the Company have 
been given in the Annexure V.

The information under section 197 of Companies Act 2013 
and pursuant to rule 5 (2) of the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, 
are given in the Annexure VI.
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The statement containing remuneration paid to 
employees and other details as required under Section 
197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 
5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration 
of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, is provided in a 
separate annexure forming part of this report. Further, the 
report and the accounts are being sent to the members 
excluding the aforesaid annexure. In terms of Section 136 
of the Act, the said annexure is open for inspection at the 
Company’s Registered Office during, business hours of 
all the working days of the Company, upto the date of 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Any member 
interested in obtaining a copy of the same may write to 
the Company Secretary and the same will be provided 
free of cost to the member.

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS

Your Company during the year under review, enjoyed 
cordial relationship with technicians/workers and 
employees at all levels.

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY
The Board on the recommendation of the Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee framed a policy for selection 
and appointment of Directors, Senior Management 
Personnel, Key Managerial Personnel and their 
remuneration etc. A copy of the policy is uploaded on the 
web site of the Company and the website link is www.
avtnatural. com/investor_relations.

VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY
The Company has a Vigil Mechanism / Whistle Blower 
Policy in place pursuant to Section 177 (9) of the 
Companies Act 2013 and as per the Regulation 22 of 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations 2015. The said policy is available on the 
website of the Company which can be accessed from the 
link - www. avtnatural.com During the year no instances 
of unethical behavior were reported.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to section 134(3)(n) of the Companies Act 
2013 and Regulation 21 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015, the Board 
of Directors has formed a Risk Management Committee 
to frame, implement and monitor the risk management 
plan. The Committee is responsible for reviewing the risk 
management plan and ensuring its effectiveness. The 
Committee considers the risks that impact mid to long-term 
objectives of the business, including those reputational in 
nature. The Audit Committee has additional oversight in 
the area of financial risks and controls. 

The company has a risk policy defining risk management 
governance model, risk assessment and prioritization 
process. The Risk Management Committee adopted a 

follow-up risk management framework to review and 
monitor the key risks and their mitigation measures 
periodically and provide an update to the Board on 
Company’s risks. The Audit Committee has an additional 
oversight on financial risks and controls.

ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL AUDIT AND INTERNAL 
FINANCIAL CONTROL

The Company has in place adequate Internal Audit and 
Internal Financial Controls with reference to the financial 
statements, which is evaluated by the Audit Committee as 
per Part C of Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015.

Apart from Statutory Audit, your Company, in compliance 
with Section 138 of the Companies Act, 2013, had engaged 
M/s Sundar Sridhar Srini, Chartered Accountants, I Floor, 
New No 9, Rajamannar Street, T.Nagar, Chennai – 600017 
as the Internal Auditors of the Company for the financial 
year 2024-25. Findings and observations of the Internal 
Auditors are discussed, and suitable corrective actions 
are taken as per the directions of the Audit Committee 
on an on-going basis to improve efficiency in operations.

The Company’s internal control systems are well 
established and commensurate with the nature of its 
business and the size and complexities of operations and 
adequate with reference to the financial statements as 
envisaged under the Companies Act, 2013.

Your directors endorse that during the year under review, 
there were no reportable material weaknesses in the 
present systems or operations of internal controls.

ENVIRONMENT AND SAFETY

The Company is conscious of the importance of 
environmentally clean and safe operations. The 
Company’s policy requires conduct of operations in 
such a manner, so as to ensure safety of all concerned, 
compliances environmental regulations and preservation 
of natural resources.

BOARD EVALUATION

The Board of Directors has made a formal annual 
evaluation of its own performance and that of its 
committees, individual Directors & CEO, pursuant to the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulation, 
2015. The evaluation was done based on the evaluation 
criteria formulated by Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee which includes criteria such as fulfilment 
of specific functions prescribed by the regulatory 
framework, adequacy of board meetings, attendance and 
effectiveness of the deliberations etc.
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Each Board member completed a questionnaire 
providing feedback on the functioning and overall level 
of engagement of the Board and its committees on the 
parameters such as the composition, execution of specific 
duties, contribution of new ideas/insights, quality, quantity, 
and timeliness of flow of information, deliberations at 
the meeting, independence / non-partisan approach in 
decision making etc.,

Independent Directors met on 12th February 2025  to review 
performance evaluation of Non-Independent Directors 
and the entire Board of Directors including the Chairman, 
Non-Executive Directors etc., The Independent Directors 
were satisfied with the overall functioning of the Board, 
flow of information to the Board, its various Committees 
and of the performance of other Non-executive Directors 
and the Chairman of the Board.

DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

The Company has adopted the Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) with effect from  1st April 2017, the 
Ind AS 115 with effect from 1st April 2018 & the Ind AS 
116 with effect from 1st April 2019 and all its financial 
statements are made according to the said standards. 
Further, in the preparation of the financial statements, 
the Company has followed the Accounting Standards 
referred to in Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
The significant accounting policies which are applied are 
set out in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

DEPOSIT FROM PUBLIC

The Company has not accepted any deposits from the 
public during the year under review. No amount on 
account of principal or interest on deposits from the public 
was outstanding as on March 31, 2025.

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY & SUSTAINABILITY 
REPORT

The Business Responsibility and Sustainability Report 
indicates the Company’s performance against the 
principles of the ‘National Guidelines on Responsible 
Business Conduct’. This would enable the Members 
to have an insight into Environmental, Social and 
Governance initiatives of the Company.

The Business Responsibility and Sustainability Report in 
compliance with the regulation 34(f) of the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 
2015 have been attached in the Annexure VII to this Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Your Company has taken adequate steps to adhere to 
all the stipulations laid down  in Regulation 27 read with 
Part E of Schedule II and Schedule V of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 

2015 on corporate Governance. The Management 
Discussion & Analysis Report, Report on Corporate 
Governance with Auditors’ Certificate on compliance with 
conditions of Corporate Governance have been Annexed 
IX to this Report.

DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT 
OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, 
PROHIBITION AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013

The Company has in place an Anti-Sexual Harassment 
Policy in line with the requirements of the Act and that 
an Internal Complaints Committee has been set up 
for redressal of complaints and that all employees 
(permanent, contractual, temporary, trainees) are covered 
under this policy.

During the year under review 
Number of complaints received in the year: Nil
Number of complaints disposed off during the year: Nil
Number of cases pending for more than 90 days: Nil
Number of Workshop or awareness Program: 
2 Workshops and 2 training Program
Nature of Action taken by the employer or District Officer: 
Nil

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

Statements in this Directors’ Report & Management 
Discussion and Analysis Report describing the Company’s 
objectives, projections, estimates, expectations, or 
predictions may be ‘forward looking statements’ within 
the meaning of applicable securities laws and regulations. 
Actual results could differ materially from those expressed 
or implied. Important factors that could make difference 
to the Company’s operations include raw material 
availability and its prices, cyclical demand and pricing in 
the Company’s principle markets, changes in Government 
regulations, Tax regimes, economic developments within 
India and the countries in which the Company conducts 
business and other ancillary factors.

During the year no application has been made and 
there are no proceeding pending as per Insolvency and 
Bankruptcy Code 2016.

The Company has not raised funds through preferential 
allotment or qualified institutions placement during the 
financial year 2024-25.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Pursuant to the requirement under Section 134 (3) (c) 
of the Companies Act, 2013, with respect to Directors’ 
Responsibility Statement, it is hereby confirmed that:

1.	 In the preparation of the accounts for the financial 
year ended 31st March 2025, the applicable 
accounting standards had been followed along with 
proper explanation relating to material departures;
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2.	 The Directors have selected such accounting policies 
and applied them consistently and made judgments 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as 
to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Company at the end of the financial year and of 
the profit of the Company for that period;

3.	 The Directors had taken proper and sufficient 
care for the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of this 
Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities;

4.	 The Directors have prepared the accounts for the 
financial year ended 31st March 2025 on a ‘going 
concern’ basis.

5.	 The directors have laid down internal financial 
controls to be followed by the Company and that 
such internal financial controls are adequate and are 
operating effectively.

6.	 The directors have devised proper system to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of all applicable laws 
and that such systems are adequate and operating 
effectively..
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CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY 
ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS 
AND OUTGO
The information under Section 134 (3) (m) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8 (3) of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 for the year ended 
March 31, 2025, is given here below and forms part of the 
Directors Report..

A.	 CONSERVATION OF ENERGY
	� AVT Natural Products Limited is committed to 

conserve energy in all our activities. The Company 
has been doing energy conservation projects for 
many years. During the financial year 2024-25 also 
the Company has taken steps to conserve energy.

	•		 Commissioned additional Sludge Dryer 
machine, which in turn dry the ETP wet sludge 
and taken to Boiler as fuel along with Coal and 
thereby saves 90 MT fuel at 3000 Kcal/kg.

•	 Replaced old conventional gearbox in Solvent 
extraction plant, with new energy efficient 
planetary gearbox and thus results the annual 
savings of 32,000 KWh. 

•	 Replaced 26 nos. conventional lamps with high 
efficiency LED lamps at Solvent Extraction 
Plant and Instant tea plant with annual savings 
of 9,000 KWh.

•	 Replaced 1 nos. of Old DX Air conditioner with 
Chilled water AHU of 4TR in the AHN plant 
results annual savings of 12500 KWh.

•	 Replaced two nos. of energy efficient pumps in 
Cooling water to BP and IT without affecting the 
flowrate and head thereby annual savings of 
72000 KWh 

•	 Provided VFD for BP cooling water pump to 
optimise the flow rate according to discharge 
temperature, resulting in an annual savings of 
24000 KWh. 

•	 Commissioned process RO plant to recover the 
pond water and utilize for process and Boiler 
thereby recovers 12500 KL water last FY.

•	 Started Power purchase through open access 
from Indian Energy exchange (IEX), after 
getting NOC from BESCOM at Tiptur. During 
the year we have consumed 8,28,000 KWh 
through renewable sources.

B.	 TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION

Research and Development (R & D)

Specific areas in which R&D is carried out by the 
Company:

	 A.	 Process improvements 

	 B.	 Marigold Hybrid Seed Development

	 C.	 New Product lines

	 D.	 New Business Segments & Divisions

Benefits derived from R&D efforts.
1.	 Process Improvements 
	 The company has invested in process improvements 

that bring about cost reductions and improved 
efficiencies in the manufacturing process. New 
technologies have resulted in novel extraction 
techniques that help differentiate products in the 
market.

2.	 Marigold Hybrid Seed Development:
	 The ongoing seed development program has 

yielded results with new varieties of hybrids. After 
thorough testing and screening a new hybrid has 
been commercialised. The seed development 
program allows the company to introduce higher 
yielding hybrids while also reducing our dependence 
on external seed suppliers.

3.	 New Product Lines:
	 We continue to invest in developing new products to 

add to the ingredient portfolio. Our R&D efforts have 
resulted in new offerings and customers for our tea 
and spice divisions. The company also developed 
and introduced new products for the animal health 
division, allowing us to make inroads with global 
customers. The strategic sales partnership with the 
global feed additive company also continued to grow 
with new products and offerings being developed in 
partnership..

4.	 New Business Segments & Divisions:
	 The company continued to foray into new business 

segments.  The clinical studies for the Derma-
cosmetic division have been completed and the 
manufacturing and marketing efforts have been 
initiated. The company successfully developed 
and completed a test marketing for the new Agri 
inputs division.  With the product portfolio finalized, 
the division will be officially launched in the 
coming financial year. The pre-clinical studies for 
applications in the Nutraceutical division have also 
been completed, with full-fledged clinical studies 
planned for the coming year. 

ANNEXURE – I
To the Directors’ Report
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	 Patents are being filed for new applications and 
formulations. These new business segments will 
continue to add value by leveraging our in-house 
capabilities and technologies. 

Future of Action:

1.	 Process Improvements 
	 New processes and technologies, that help to 

improve efficiencies and reduce cost, will continue 
to be an area of focus. Efforts on this front will keep 
us competitive and relevant in the market. We 
will work towards a more sustainable operations 
and manufacturing approach which is in line with 
changing trends and customer needs. We will also 
continue to incorporate new technologies that will 
enable us to introduce unique product offerings into 
the market.  

2.	 Marigold Hybrid Seed Development:
	 The hybrid development program will continue 

to focus on introducing new varieties of seeds.  
We will aim to identify markers responsible for 
desirable characteristics like yield and active 
content. The ongoing work in marker development 
will be the foundation for new hybrid developments. 
The company will continue pre-commercial trials 
for pipeline hybrids, while expanding the seed 
production and growing of the newly introduced  
Hybrids. 

3.	 New Ingredients & Product Lines:
	 In addition to developing new ingredients, we 

will expand our application of newly developed 
ingredients. The company will continue to generate 

more data for our product range and our focus will 
continue to move from product to solution-based 
selling. The company will continue to add product 
lines to its new divisions to expand the product 
portfolio and market reach. 

4.	 New Business Segments & Divisions:
	 The Animal Nutrition division will remain an area of 

strategic importance, with new product offerings, 
new markets, and new customers. Continued 
efforts will be taken to set the ground work for a 
long and sustainable business division. We will 
also invest in co-development efforts with our new 
strategic partner to expand product offerings. The 
company will work to standardize the manufacturing 
of the derma cosmetic ingredients and initiate 
the commercialization of its products. The Agri 
inputs business division will move beyond the test 
marketing phase and be commercialized in the 
coming year with a focus on the Indian market. 

5.	 Expenditure on R&D	 	    	        (in Rs.)

2023-24 2024-25
i Capital 37,98,411 4,33,726 
ii Recurring 14,68,54,857 10,86,82,942 

Total 15,06,53,268 10,91,16,668 

C.	F OREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO:
During the year under review foreign exchange 
earnings were Rs.457.11 crores (previous year  
Rs.459.13 crores) and foreign exchange outgo was 
Rs.129.57 crores (previous year Rs. 70.32 crores).
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 Annual Report on CSR Activities for Financial Year 2024-25

1.	 Brief outline on CSR Policy of the Company.

The amended CSR policy was approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting held on 30th June 2021 and has been 
uploaded on the Company’s web site. A gist of the programs that the Company can undertake under the CSR policy 
is mentioned below;

Web link http://www. http://avtnatural.com/policy.html

The Company has undertaken activities relating to the following areas for the Financial Year 2023-24.

i.	 Development of Skilling among various sections of society

ii.	 Enhancement of Water resources

iii.	 Development of Infrastructure

iv.	 Promotion of Health Care

v.	 Promotion of Education / Rural Sports and

vi.	 Activities envisaged in the Schedule VII of the Companies Act 2013. 

The activities and funding are monitored internally by the Company.

2.	 Composition of CSR Committee:

Sl. 
No. Name of Director Designation / Nature 

of Directorship

Number of meetings of 
CSR Committee held 

during the year

Number of meetings 
of CSR Committee 

attended during the year

1 Mr. P. Shankar * Chairman 
Independent Director 2 1

2 Mr. Ajit Thomas $
Chairman 

Non-Executive 
Director

2 2

3 Mr. Habib Hussain ** Member - Non-
Executive Director 2 1

4 Mrs. Kavitha Vijay # Member  
Independent  Director 1 1

5 Mr. Rahul Thomas ## 
Member  

Non-Executive 
Director

1 1

* Ceased to be an Independent Director on completion of his second term w.e.f 24.07.2024

** Ceased to be a Director due to retirement w.e.f 09.08.2024

$ Designated as Chairman of the Committee w.e.f 12.11.2024

# Included as Member in the Committee w.e.f 25.07.2024

## Included as Member in the Committee w.e.f 09.08.2024

3.	 Web-links

Composition of CSR committee https://www.avtnatural.com/investor-relations/

CSR Policy https://www.avtnatural.com/investor-relations/

CSR Projects approved by the Board https://www.avtnatural.com/investor-relations/

ANNEXURE – II
To the Directors’ Report
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4.	 Provide the executive summary along with web-link(s) of Impact Assessment of CSR Projects carried out in pursuance 
of sub-rule (3) of rule 8, if applicable. NOT APPLICABLE

5.	 a. 	 Average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) is Rs.8301.41 Lakhs

	 b.	 Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) is Rs. 166.03 Lakhs.

	 c.	 Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the previous financial years is Nil

	 d.	  Amount required to be set off for the financial year, if any: Rs.78,905

	 e.	 Total CSR obligation for the financial year (5b+5c-5d) is Rs.165.24 Lakhs

6.	 a. 	 Amount spent on CSR Projects (both Ongoing Project and other than Ongoing Project) Rs.166.14 Lakhs.

	 b.	 Amount spent in Administrative Overheads – 

	 c.	 Amount spent on Impact Assessment, if applicable – NOT APPLICABLE

	 d. 	 Total amount spent for the Financial Year [(a)+(b)+(c)] - Rs.166.14 Lakhs

	 e. CSR amount spent or unspent for the financial year

Total Amount Spent for 
the Financial Year.  

(in Rs.)

Amount Unspent (in Rs.)

Total Amount transferred to 
Unspent CSR Account as per 

section 135(6).

Amount transferred to any fund specified 
under Schedule VII as per second proviso to 

section 135(5).

Amount Date of 
transfer

Name of the 
Fund Amount Date of 

transfer

1,66,13,756 NIL NA NIL NIL NA

f.	 Excess amount for set-off, if any:

Sl. 
No. Particular Amount (in Rs.)

(i) Two percent of average net profit of the company as per section 135(5) 1,66,03,000

(ii) Total amount spent for the Financial Year 1,66,13,756

(iii) Excess amount spent for the financial year [(ii)-(i)] 10,756

(iv) Surplus arising out of the CSR projects or programmes or activities of the 
previous financial years, if any -

(v) Amount available for set off in succeeding financial years [(iii)-(iv)] 10,756

7.	 Details of Unspent Corporate Social Responsibility amount for the preceding three Financial Years – NIL
8.	 Whether any capital assets have been created or acquired through Corporate Social Responsibility amount spent in 

the Financial Year: NO
9.	 Specify the reason(s), if the company has failed to spend two per cent of the average net profit as per subsection (5) 

of section 135.- NIL,

KAVITHA VIJAY 	  AJIT THOMAS
Member	   	 Chairman  
CSR Committee 	 CSR Committee

Place : Chennai
Date : 28th May 2025
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ANNEXURE – III

Form No. MR-3
Secretarial Audit Report

For the Financial Year 2024-2025

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule No.9 of the Companies  
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members,
AVT Natural Products Limited
No. 60, Rukmani Lakshmipathy Salai,
Egmore, Chennai-600008

We have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance 
of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to 
good corporate practices by AVT Natural Products Limited 
(hereinafter called the Company). Secretarial Audit was 
conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable 
basis for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory 
compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.

Based on our verification of AVT Natural Products Limited 
books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and 
other records maintained by the Company and also the 
information provided by the Company, its officers, agents 
and authorized representatives during the conduct of 
secretarial audit, We hereby report that in our opinion, 
the Company has, during the audit period covering the 
financial year ended 31st March 2025, complied with the 
statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the 
Company has proper Board-processes and compliance-
mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and 
subject to the reporting made hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, 
forms and returns filed and other records maintained by 
AVT Natural Products Limited (“the Company”) for the 
financial year ended on 31st March 2025 according to the 
provisions of::
(i) 	 The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules 

made thereunder;
(ii) 	 The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 

(‘SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder;
(iii) 	 The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and 

Bye-laws framed thereunder;
(iv)	 Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the 

rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent 
of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct 
Investment and External Commercial Borrowings:-

(v)	 The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed 
under the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
Act, 1992 (‘SEBI Act’):
(a) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of 

India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;

(b) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 
2015; 

(c) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2018; (Not applicable)

(d) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat 
Equity) Regulations, 2021; (Not applicable)

(e) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Issue and Listing of Non-convertible Securities) 
Regulations, 2021; (Not applicable)

 (f) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer 
Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the 
Companies Act and dealing with client;(Not 
applicable)

(g) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2021; 
(Not applicable)

(h) 	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 2018; 
(Not applicable)

	 Other Laws specifically applicable to this 
Company is as follows:

(vi)	 Food Safety and Standards Act, 2006
(vii)	 Tea (Marketing) Control Order 2003
(viii)	Tea (Distribution & Export) Control Order, 2005
(ix)	 Legal Metrology Act, 2009

	 We have also examined compliance with the 
applicable clauses of the following:
(i)	 Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of 

Company Secretaries of India.
(ii) The Securities and Exchange Board of 

India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 subject to 
the following:

	 Both the Stock Exchanges, BSE & NSE 
imposed a fine of Rs.25,960/- (incl.GST) each 
on the Company for delay in appointment of 
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Company Secretary & Compliance Officer, 
which was subsequently paid by the company.

We have also examined compliance with the applicable 
clauses of the following:

(i)	 Secretarial Standards issued by The Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India.

(ii) The Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 subject to 
the following:

We further report that the Board of Directors of the 
Company is constituted with proper balance of Non-
Executive Directors, Independent Directors and a Women 
Director. There is no change in the composition of the 
Board of Directors during the period under review.

Adequate notice is given to all directors to schedule the 

Board Meetings, which is sent at least seven days in 
advance and a system exists for seeking and obtaining 
further information and clarifications on the agenda items 
before the meeting and for meaningful participation at the 
meeting.

We further report that there are adequate systems and 
processes in the company commensurate with the size 
and operations of the company to monitor and ensure 
compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and 
guidelines. 

For V Suresh Associates 
Practising Company Secretaries

	 V Suresh 
Senior Partner 
 FCS No. 2969  
 C.P.No. 6032 

Place: Chennai 	 Peer Review Cert. No: 6366/2025 
Date: 28th May 2025	 UDIN: F002969G000479302

To,

The Members 

AVT NATURAL PRODUCTS LIMITED

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter.
1.	 Maintenance of secretarial records is the 

responsibility of the management of the Company. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
secretarial records based on our audit.

2.	 We have followed the audit practices and processes 
as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance 
about the correctness of the contents of the 
Secretarial records. The verification was done on 
test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected 
in secretarial records. We believe that the processes 
and practices we followed provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

3.	 We have not verified the correctness and 
appropriateness of financial records and Books of 
Accounts of the Company.

4.	 Where ever required, we have obtained the 
Management representation about the compliance 
of laws, rules and regulations and happening of 
events etc.

5.	 The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and 
other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is 
the responsibility of management. Our examination 
was limited to the verification of procedures on test 
basis.

6.	 Due to the inherent limitations of an audit including 
internal, financial and operating controls, there is 
an unavoidable risk that some Misstatements or 
material non-compliances may not be detected, even 
though the audit is properly planned and performed 
in accordance with the Standards.

7.	 The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance 
as to the future viability of the Company nor of the 
efficacy or effectiveness with which the management 
has conducted the affairs of the Company.

								             
For V Suresh Associates 

Practising Company Secretaries

	 V Suresh 
Senior Partner 
 FCS No. 2969  
 C.P.No. 6032 

Place: Chennai 	 Peer Review Cert. No: 6366/2025 
Date: 28th May 2025	 UDIN: F002969G000479302

ANNEXURE TO SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT 



27

ANNEXURE – IV

Form No. AOC-2
(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of Section 134 of the Companies Act 2013  

and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the Company with related parties 
referred to in sub-section (1) of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arm’s length transactions 
under fourth proviso thereto:

1.	 Details of Contracts or arrangements or transactions 
	 not at arm’s length basis:
(a)	 Name(s) of the related party and nature of 

relationship
(b)	 Nature of contracts / arrangements / transactions
(c)	 Duration of the contracts / arrangements / 

transactions
(d)	 Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or 

transactions including the value, if any
(e)	 Justification for entering into such contracts or 

arrangements or transactions
(f)	 Date(s) of approval by the Board
(g)	 Amount paid as advances, if any
(h)	 Date on which the special resolution was passed in 

general meeting as required under the first proviso 
to Section 188

During the financial year, the Company has not entered 
into any contract / arrangement / transaction with its related 
parties which is not in ordinary course of business or at 
arm’s length basis. The Company has laid down policies 
and processes / procedures to ensure compliance with 
the applicable section in the Companies Act 2013 and the 
rules made thereunder. In addition, the same is reviewed 
by the Audit Committee

2.	 Details of material contracts or arrangement or 
transactions at arm’s length basis:

(a)	 Name(s) of the related party and nature of 
relationship

(b)	 Nature of contracts / arrangements / 
transactions

(c)	 Duration of the contracts / arrangements / 
transactions

(d)	 Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements 
or transactions including the value, if any

(e)	 Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any

(f)	 Amount paid as advances, if any

During the financial year, the transactions with related 
parties were entered on an arm’s length basis and in 
the ordinary course of business. No material contracts 
or arrangements or transactions were entered by the 
Company with any related parties

For and on behalf of the Board

Place: Chennai	 Ajit Thomas 
Date : 28th May 2025	 Chairman
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(1)	 Ratio of the remuneration of each Director / KMP to the median remuneration of all the employees of the Company in 
the financial year 2024-25

Median remuneration of the employees of the company for the financial year Rs.16,54,289/-

Percentage increase in the median remuneration of the employees in the financial year 14.90 %

Number of permanent employees on the rolls of the company as on 31st March 2025 357

(2)	 The percentage of increase in remuneration of each director, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Executive Officer, Company 
Secretary or Manager if any, in the financial year

Sl. 
No.

Name of the 
Director / KMP Designation

Remuneration during 
the year 2024-25 

(Rs. in Lakhs)

Percentage 
of increase 

remuneration during 
the year 2024-25

1 Mr.B.Krishna Kumar President & Manager       128.91    29.78

2 Mr.A.Ramadas Sr.Vice President & CFO         88.32     4.04

3 Mr.Sharon Josh * Company Secretary          4.26 -

4 Mr.P Mahadevan # Company Secretary          8.80 -

* Resigned from the company with effect from 21st July 2024 
# Joined the company with effect from 12th November 2024

(3)	 Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the 
last financial year and its comparison with the percentile increase in the managerial remuneration and justification 
thereof and point out if there are any exceptional circumstances for increase in the managerial remuneration:

	 There is 13.56 % increase in the salaries of employees other than managerial personnel and 16.91 % average 
increase in the salaries of managerial personnel during the year.

	 Justification for increase: The increase is in line with the industrial standards and the Company’s performance

(4)	 Affirmations: It is affirmed that the remuneration paid to the Key Managerial Personnel and other employees is as per 
the Remuneration Policy of the Company.

Note	:	 The calculation for median remuneration and average increase in remuneration is arrived at based on permanent  
	 employees of the Company in the regular rolls and gratuity amount not included in the remuneration.

ANNEXURE – V

(Pursuant to section 197(12) of the Companies, Act, 2013 read with rule 5(1) of the Companies  
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel), Rules 2014)

Part B : Statement of Disclosure pursuant to Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 [Read with Rule 5 (2) and 5 (3) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules 2014]

Mr.B.Krishna Kumar, President and Manager has resigned from the Company with effect from 31st March 2025 and the 
company has paid the remuneration including his final settlement for his service during the year was Rs.1,31,23,937/- 
(including Gratuity)

Other than above, during the year 2024-25, there were no employees who were in receipt of remuneration in the aggregate 
of not less than Rs.1,02,00,000/- per annum or employed for part of the year and were in receipt of remuneration in the 
aggregate of not less than Rs.8,50,000 per month.

ANNEXURE – VI

PARTICULARS OF REMUNERATION
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I.	 Details of the listed entity

1. Corporate Identity Number (CIN) of 
the Listed Entity

L15142TN1986PLC012780

2. Name of the Listed Entity AVT Natural Products Limited

3. Year of incorporation 1986

4. Registered office address No.60, Rukmani Lakshmipathy Salai, Egmore, Chennai 600 008

5. Corporate address No.60, Rukmani Lakshmipathy Salai, Egmore, Chennai 600 008

6. E-mail avtnpl@avtnatural.com

7. Telephone 044 28584147

8. Website www.avtnatural.com

9. Financial year for which reporting is 
being done

2024-25

10. Name of the Stock Exchange(s) 
where shares are listed

NSE & BSE

11. Paid-up Capital 15,22,84,000

12. Name and contact details (telephone, 
email address) of the person who may 
be contacted in case of any queries on 
the BRSR report.

Mr.A.Ramadas  
Senior Vice President & CFO 
avtnpl@avtnatural.com

13. Reporting boundary - Are the 
disclosures under this report made on 
a standalone basis (i.e. only for the 
entity) or on a consolidated basis (i.e. 
for the entity and all the entities which 
form a part of its consolidated financial 
statements, taken together).

Standalone

14. Name of assurance provider NA

15. Type of assurance obtained NA

II.	 Products / Services
16.	 Details of business activities (accounting for 90% of the turnover):

Sl No Description of Main Activity Description of Business 
Activity

% of Turnover of the  
entity

1 Manufacturing of Oleoresins, Spices Extract and 
Value-added teas. 

Manufacturing 95.34%

ANNEXURE – VII

BUSINESS RESPONSIBILITY & SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

SECTION A: GENERAL DISCLOSURES
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17.	 Products/Services sold by the entity (accounting for 90% of the entity’s Turnover):

S. 
No.

Product/Service NIC Code % of total Turnover 
contributed

1 Marigold Oleoresin 21009 37.10%
2 Spice Oleoresin 10795 27.17%
3 Instant & decaffeinated Tea 10791 25.17%
4 Botanical based feed additives 10809 5.89%

III.	  Operations
18.	 Number of locations where plants and/or operations/offices of the entity are situated:

Location Number of Plants Number of Offices Total
National 3 5 8
International 0 0 0

19.	 Markets served by the entity:
a.	 Number of locations

Location Number
National (No. of States) 13
International (No. of Countries) 35

b.	 What is the contribution of exports as a percentage of the total turnover of the entity? 
		  92.78%

c.	 A brief on types of customers.
		 AVT NPL manufactures plant extracts and natural ingredient solutions for various leading corporations in food, 

beverage, animal nutrition and nutraceuticals across the world.

IV.	 Employees
20.	 Details as at the end of Financial Year: 

a.	 Employees and workers (including differently abled):

S. 
No.

Particulars Total (A) Male Female
No (B) % (B/A) No (C ) % (C/A)

Employees
1 Permanent (D) 229 216 94% 13 6%
2 Other than Permanent (E) 5 4 80% 1 12%
3 Total Employees (D+E) 234 220 94% 14 6%

Workers
4 Permanent (F) 128 128 100% 0 0
5 Other than Permanent (G) 646 604 95% 42 5%
6 Total Workers (F+G) 774 732 95% 42 5%
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b.	 Differently abled Employees and workers: 

S. No. Particulars Total (A) Male Female
No (B) % (B/A) No (C ) % (C/A)

DIFFERENTLY ABLED EMPLOYEES
1 Permanent (D) - - - - -
2 Other than Permanent (E) - - - - -
3 Total Employees (D+E) - - - - -

DIFFERENTLY ABLED WORKERS
4 Permanent (F) - - - - -
5 Other than Permanent (G) - - - - -
6 Total Workers (F+G) - - - - -

21.	 Participation/Inclusion/Representation of women

Total (A) No. and percentage of Females
No. (B) % (A/B)

Board of Directors 7 2 28.57
Key Managerial Personnel 3 - -

22.	 Turnover rate for permanent employees and workers 
	 (Disclose trends for the past 3 years)

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24 FY 2022-23
Male Female Total Male Female Total Male Female Total

Permanent 
Employees 7% - 7% 5.28% 0.68% 5.96 5.20% 0.58% 5.78%-

Permanent Workers - - - 0.8% - 0.8% 0.83% - 0.83%

V.	 Holding, Subsidiary and Associate Companies (including joint ventures)
23.	  Names of holding / subsidiary / associate companies / joint ventures

S. 
No.

Name of the holding / 
subsidiary / associate 

companies / joint 
ventures (A)

Indicate whether 
holding/ Subsidiary/ 

Associate/ Joint 
Venture

% of shares held	 by 
listed entity

Does the entity 
indicated at column 

A, participate 
in the Business 
Responsibility 

initiatives of the listed 
entity? (Yes/No)

1 AVT Natural SA DE CV Subsidiary 100 NO
2 AVT Natural Europe Ltd Subsidiary 100 NO
3 AVT Natural FZCO Subsidiary 100 NO

VI.	 CSR Details
24.	 i. Whether CSR is applicable as per section 135 of Companies Act, 2013: YES
	 ii. Turnover (in Rs.)	 :	 519.22 Crores
	 iii. Net worth (in Rs.)	 :	 499.02 Crores
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VII.	 Transparency and Disclosures Compliances
25.	 Complaints/Grievances on any of the principles (Principles 1 to 9) under the National Guidelines on Responsible 

Business Conduct:

Stakehold-
er group 

from whom 
complaint is 

received

Grievance Re-
dressal Mech-
anism in Place 

(Yes/No)

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24

(If Yes, then pro-
vide web-link 
for grievance 

redress policy)

Number 
of com-
plaints 

filed 
during the 

year

Number of 
complaints 

pending 
resolution 
at close of 
the year

Remarks

Number of 
complaints 
filed during 

the year

Number of 
complaints 

pending 
resolution 
at close of 
the year

Remarks

Communities
Yes 

http://www.avt-
natural.com/

- - - - - -

Investors 
(other than 
sharehold-

ers)

NA - - - - - -

Shareholders
Yes As per SEBI 
Listing Regula-

tions
- - - 3 - -

Employees 
and workers

Yes, As per HR 
Policy - - - - - -

Customers

Yes Escalation 
mechanisms 
are defined in 

individual client 
contracts and 
addressed as 

per AVT Quality 
Policy.

- - - - - -

Value Chain 
Partners

Yes

https:// www.
avtnatural.com/  

wp-content/ 
uploads/2022/03/ 
whistle-blower-

policy. pdf

- - - - - -

Other 
(please  
specify)

NA - - - - - -

26.	 Overview of the entity’s material responsible business conduct issues
	 Please indicate material responsible business conduct and sustainability issues pertaining to environmental and 

social matters that present a risk or an opportunity to your business, rationale for identifying the same, approach to 
adapt or mitigate the risk along-with its financial implications, as per the following format .



33

S. No. Material	  issue 
identified

Indicate 
whether risk 

or Opportunity 
(R/O)

Rationale for 
identifying 
the risk / 

opportunity

In case  of 
risk, approach	

 to adapt or 
mitigate

Financial implications 
of the risk or 

opportunity (Indicate 
positive or negative 

implications)
NIL

SECTION B: MANAGEMENT AND PROCESS DISCLOSURES
	 This section is aimed at helping businesses demonstrate the structures, policies and processes put in place towards 

adopting the NGRBC (National Guidelines on Responsible Business Conduct) Principles and Core Elements.

P1 Businesses should conduct and govern themselves with integrity, and in a manner that is Ethical, 
Transparent and Accountable.

P2 Businesses should provide goods and services in a manner that is sustainable and safe.
P3 Businesses should respect and promote the well-being of all employees, including those in their value 

chains.
P4 Businesses should respect the interests of and be responsive to all its stakeholders.
P5 Businesses should respect and promote human rights.
P6 Businesses should respect and make efforts to protect and restore the environment.
P7 Businesses, when engaging in influencing public and regulatory policy, should do so in a manner that is 

responsible and transparent.
P8 Businesses should promote inclusive growth and equitable development.
P9 Businesses should engage with and provide value to their consumers in a responsible manner.

S 
No

Disclosure Ques-
tions

P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

Policy and management processes
1. a. Whether your en-

tity’s policy/policies 
cover each principle 
and its core elements 
of the NGRBCs. (Yes/
No)

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

b. Has the policy 
been approved by the 
Board? (Yes/No)

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

c. Web Link of the Pol-
icies, if available www. avtnatural.com/policies

2. Whether the entity has 
translated the policy 
into procedures. (Yes 
/ No)

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y

3. Do the enlisted pol-
icies extend to your 
Value chain partners? 
(Yes/No)

Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y
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4. Name of the nation-
al and international 
codes/certifications/
labels/ standards (e.g. 
Forest Stewardship 
Council, Fairtrade, 
Rainforest Alliance, 
Trustea) standards 
(e.g. SA 8000, 
OHSAS, ISO, BIS) 
adopted by your entity 
and mapped to each 
principle. PRABIN

Code 
of

Con-
duct,

SME-
TA

4 Pillar

Audit-
ed

ISO 
9001: 
2015

ISO 
14001: 
2015

ISO 
45001 
:2018

SME-
TA

4

Pillar

Audit-
ed

ISO 
9001: 
2015

SME-
TA

4

Pillar 
Audit-

ed

RFA, 
Fair 

Trade,

SME-
TA 4

Pillar 
Audit-

ed,

ISO 
14001: 
2015

ISO 
9001: 
2015

RFA FSSAI, 
RFA

5. Specific commitments, 
goals and targets set 
by the entity with de-
fined timelines, if any.

N N N N N N N N N

6. Performance of the en-
tity against the specific 
commitments, goals 
and targets along-with 
reasons in case the 
same are not met.

N N N N N N N N N

Governance, leadership and oversight
7. Statement by director responsible for the business responsibility report, highlighting ESG related challeng-

es, targets and achievements (listed entity has flexibility regarding the placement of this disclosure)
8. Details of the highest 

authority responsible 
For implementation 
and oversight of the 
Business Responsibil-
ity policy (ies).

Board of Directors

9. Does the entity have 
a specified Commit-
tee of the Board/ Di-
rector responsible for 
decision making on 
sustainability related 
issues? (Yes / No). If 
yes, provide details.

YES, 
Board of Directors
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10.	 Details of Review of NGRBCs by the Company:

Subject for 
Review

Indicate whether review was undertaken 
by Director / Committee  of  the  Board/ 

Any other Committee

Frequency 
(Annually/ Half yearly/ Quarterly/ Any other 

– please specify)
P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9 P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9

P e r f o r m a n c e 
against above 
policies and 
follow up  action

C C C B C B C B C Q Y H Y Y Y Y Q Y

C o m p l i a n c e  
with statutory 
r e q u i r e m e n t s 
of  relevance to 
the principles, 
and, rectification  
of  any Non-
compliances

Statutory Compliance Certificate on 
applicable laws is provided by the  

CEO to the Board of Directors. Quarterly

Has the entity carried out independent assessment/ evaluation of 
the working of its policies by an external agency? (Yes/No). If yes, 
provide name of the agency.

The company has not carried out independent 
assessment of the working of our policies by 

an external agency.

12.	 If answer to question (1) above is “No” i.e. not all Principles are covered by a policy, reasons to be stated

Questions P1 P2 P3 P4 P5 P6 P7 P8 P9
The entity does not consider the principles material to its business 
(Yes/No)

Not Applicable
The entity is not at a stage where it is in a position to formulate and 
implement the policies on specified principles (Yes/No)
The entity does not have the financial or/human and technical 
resources available for the task (Yes/No)
It is planned to be done in the next financial year (Yes/No)
Any other reason (please specify)

11.
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SECTION C: PRINCIPLE WISE PERFORMANCE DISCLOSURE

This section is aimed at helping entities demonstrate their performance in integrating the Principles and Core Elements with 
key processes and decisions. The information sought is categorized as “Essential” and “Leadership”. While the essential 
indicators are expected to be disclosed by every entity that is mandated to file this report, the leadership indicators may 
be voluntarily disclosed by entities which aspire to progress to a higher level in their quest to be socially, environmentally 
and ethically responsible.

PRINCIPLE 1:	Businesses should conduct and govern themselves with integrity, and in a manner that is Ethical, 
Transparent and  Accountable.

Essential Indicators
1.	 Percentage coverage by training and awareness programmes on any of the Principles during the financial year:

Segment Total number of 
training and awareness 

programmes held

Topics covered under the training and 
its impact

%age of persons 
in respective 

category covered 
by the awareness 

programmes

Board of Directors Business Ethics and 
Compliance Module Code of Conduct, Data Privacy, 100%

Key Managerial 
Personnel

Business Ethics and 
Compliance Module

Code of Conduct, Data Privacy, Prevention 
of Sexual Harassment, Integrity, Intellectual 
Property, Security Awareness

100%

Employees other 
than BoDs and 
KMPs

Business Ethics and 
Compliance Module

Code of Conduct, Good Manufacturing 
Practices & Food Safety Practices Data 
Privacy, Prevention of Sexual Harassment, 
Integrity, Intellectual Property, Security 
Awareness

100%

Workers Business Ethics and 
Compliance Module

Workplace Safety Awareness, Good 
Manufacturing Practices & Food Safety 
Practices, Environmental Awareness, 
Sexual Harassment, Code of Conduct

100%

2.	 Details of fines / penalties /punishment/ award/ compounding fees/ settlement amount paid in proceedings  
(by the entity or by directors / KMPs) with regulators/ law enforcement agencies/ judicial institutions, in the  
financial year, in the following format (Note: the entity shall make  disclosures on the basis of materiality as specified 
in Regulation  30 of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Obligations) Regulations, 2015 and as disclosed on the 
entity’s website):

Monetary
NGRBC 

Principle
Name of the 
regulatory/ 

enforcement

Amount (In INR) Brief of the 
Case

Has an appeal 
been

Penalty/ Fine
NILSettlement

Compounding fee
Non-Monetary

NGRBC  
Principle

Name of the 
regulatory/ 

enforcement 
agencies/ judicial 

institutions

Brief of the Case Has an 
appeal been 
preferred? 
(Yes/No)

Imprisonment
NIL

Punishment
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3.	 Of the instances disclosed in Question 2 above, details of the Appeal/ Revision preferred in cases where monetary or 
non-monetary action has been appealed.

Case Details Name of the regulatory/ enforcement agencies/ judicial institutions
NIL

4.	 Does the entity have an anti-corruption or anti-bribery policy? If yes, provide details in brief and if available, provide a 
web-link to the policy.

	 Yes.Code of Contuct policy is set out to define responsibilities in observing and upholding the Company’s position on 
bribery and corruption.

5.	 Number of Directors/KMPs/employees/workers against whom disciplinary action was taken by any law enforcement 
agency for the charges of bribery/ corruption:

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Directors

NIL NIL
KMPs
Employees
Workers

6.	 Details of complaints with regard to conflict of interest:

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Number Remarks Number Remarks

Number of complaints received in relation to 
issues of Conflict of Interest of the Directors

NIL
Number of complaints received in relation 
to issues of Conflict of Interest of the KMPs

7.	 Provide details of any corrective action taken or underway on issues related to fines /penalties / action taken by 
regulators/ law enforcement agencies/ judicial institutions, on cases of corruption and conflicts of interest.

	 NIL
8.	 Number of days of accounts payables ((Accounts payable *365) / Cost of goods/services procured) in the following 

format:

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
No. of days of accounts payable 113 113  

9.	 Open-ness of business
	 Provide details of concentration of purchases and sales with trading houses, dealers, and related parties along-with 

loans and advances & investments, with related parties, in the following format:

Parameter Metrices FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24

Concentration of 
Purchases

Purchases from trading houses as % of total 
purchases - -

Number of trading houses where purchases 
are made from - -

Purchases from top 10 trading houses as % of 
total purchases from trading houses - -
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Concentration of Sales

Sales to dealers / distributors as % of total sales - -
Number of dealers /distributors to whom sales 
are made - -

Sales to top 10 dealers / distributors as % of 
total sales to dealers /distributors - -

Share of RPTs in

Purchases (Purchases with related parties /
Total Purchases) 0.22% 0.65%

Sales (Sales to related parties / Total Sales) 0.13% 0.13%
Loans & advances (Loans & advances given to 
related parties / Total loans & advances) - -

Investments (Investments in related parties / 
Total Investments made) - 3.98%

LEADERSHIP INDICATORS
1.	 Awareness programmes conducted for value chain partners on any of the Principles during the financial year:

Total number of awareness 
programmes held

Topics / principles covered 
under the training

%age of value chain partners covered 
(by value of business done with 

such partners) under the awareness 
programmes

NIL

2.	 Does the entity have processes in place to avoid/ manage conflict of interests involving members of the Board? (Yes/
No)  If Yes, provide details of the same.

	 Yes, The Company receives an annual declaration from its Board of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel on 
the entities they are interested and ensures requisite approvals as required under the statute as well as Company’s 
policies are in place before transacting with such entities and individuals. 

PRINCIPLE 2: 	 Businesses should provide goods and services in a manner that is sustainable and safe.

Essential Indicators
1.	 Percentage of R&D and capital expenditure (capex) investments in specific technologies to improve the environmental 

and social impacts of product and processes to total R&D and capex investments made by the entity, respectively.

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24 Details of Improvements in Environment and Social 
Impacts

R & D 11.30 % 22.90%

The expense includes product innovations including 
utilization of spent streams to generate value added 
products. These developments bring in scope of reducing 
waste material disposal and products developed are used 
as Agri inputs for improved agricultural outturns.

Capex 16.70 % 57.90%
Capex includes investments in modern laboratory 
equipments which consumes less energy & better ease of 
operations.

2.	 (a)	 Does the entity have procedures in place for sustainable sourcing? Yes
(b)	 If yes, what percentage of inputs were sourced sustainably?  30% -40%

3.	 Describe the processes in place to safely reclaim your products for reusing, recycling and disposing at the end of life, 
for (a) Plastics (including packaging) (b) E-waste (c) Hazardous waste and (d) other waste.

	 Non degradable and degradable materials are disposed of as per the Waste disposal procedure in the stores 
department AFSM0706-ie supplied to authorized recycle vendors.

	 Hazardous waste, e-waste etc is disposed engaging Govt authorised recycling centers and used oil is disposed with 
PCB approved agency.
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4.	 Whether Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) is applicable to the entity’s activities (Yes / No). If yes, whether the 
waste collection plan is in line with the Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) plan submitted to Pollution Control 
Boards? If not, provide steps taken to address the same.

	 YES, it is applicable and the waste collection plan is in line with plan submitted to PCB.

Leadership Indicators
1.	 Has the entity conducted Life Cycle Perspective / Assessments (LCA) for any of its products (for manufacturing 

industry) or for its services (for service industry)? If yes, provide details in the following format? 

NIC Code Name of 
Product / 
Service

% of total 
Turnover 

contributed

Boundary for 
which the Life 

Cycle Perspective 
/ Assessment was 

conducted  

Whether 
conducted by 
independent 

external agency. 
(Yes/ No)

Results 
communicated 

in public domain 
(Yes/No)  If yes, 
provide the web-

link.  
Life Cycle analysis is not applicable to the company’s products.

2.	 If there are any significant social or environmental concerns and/or risks arising from production or disposal of your 
products / services, as identified in the Life Cycle Perspective / Assessments (LCA) or through any other means, 
briefly describe the same along-with action taken to mitigate the same. 

Name of Product / Service Description of the risk / concern Action Taken
Life Cycle analysis is not applicable to the company’s products.

3.	 Percentage of recycled or reused input material to total material (by value) used in production (for manufacturing 
industry) or providing services (for service industry). 

Indicate input material Recycled or re-used input material to total material
FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24

ETP sludge and Marigold Spent 
(MT) 5,196 4,431

4.	 Of the products and packaging reclaimed at end of life of products, amount (in metric tonnes) reused, recycled, and 
safely disposed, as per the following format: 	

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Re Used Recycled Safely 

Disposed
Re Used Recycled Safely 

Disposed
Plastic (including Packing 
material) - - 78 - - 82

E waste - - 0.21 - - 0.17
Hazardous Waste - 0.75 - - 0.81
Other Waste(Battery) - - 0.29 - - 0.31

5.	 Reclaimed products and their packaging materials (as percentage of products sold) for each product category.

Indicate product category Reclaimed products and their packaging materials as % of total products sold in 
respective category

NIL
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PRINCIPLE 3 : Businesses should respect and promote the well-being of all employees, including those in their value chains.

Essential IndicatOrs 

1.	 (a)   Details of measures for the well-being of employees: 

Category Total 
(A)

Health 
Insurance

Accident 
Insurance

Maternity 
benefits

Paternity 
benefits

Day Care 
facility

Number 
(B)

% 
(B/A)

Number 
(C)

% 
(C/A)

Number 
(D)

% 
(D/A)

Number 
(E)

% 
(E/A)

Number 
(F)

% 
(F/A)

Permanent Employees
Male 216 216 100% 216 100% - - - - - -
Female 13 13 100% 13 100% - - - - - -
Total 229 229 100% 229 100% - - - - - -

Other than Permanent employees
Male 4 4 100% 4 100% - - - - - -
Female 1 1 100% 1 100% - - - - - -
Total 5 5 100% 5 100% - - - - - -

(b)	 Details of measures for the well-being of workers: 

Category Total 
(A)

Health 
Insurance

Accident 
Insurance

Maternity 
benefits

Paternity 
benefits

Day Care 
facility

Number 
(B)

% 
(B/A)

Number 
(C)

% 
(C/A)

Number 
(D)

% 
(D/A)

Number 
(E)

% 
(E/A)

Number 
(F)

% 
(F/A)

Permanent Workers
Male 128 128 100% 128 100% - - - - - -
Female - - - - - - - - - - -
Total 128 128 100% 128 100% - - - - - -

Other than Permanent Workers
Male 604 604 100% 604 100% - - - - - -
Female 42 42 100% 42 100% - - - - - -
Total 646 646 100% 646 100% - - - - - -

(c)	 Spending on measures towards well-being of employees and workers (including permanent and other than permanent) 
in the following format – 

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Cost incurred on well-being measures as a % of total 
revenue of the company 0.90% 0.98%

2.	 Details of retirement benefits, for Current FY and Previous Financial Year. 

Benefits FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
No. of 

employees 
covered as 
a %  of total 
employees

No. of workers 
covered as 
a % of total 

workers

Deducted and 
deposited 
with the 
authority 
(Y/N/N.A.)

No. of 
employees 
covered as 

a  %  of total 
employees

No. of 
workers 

covered as 
a % of total 

workers

Deducted and 
deposited with 
the authority 

(Y/N/N.A.)

PF 100% 100% Y 100% 100% Y
Gratuity 100% 100% Y 100% 100% Y
ESI 64% 64% Y 62% 62% Y
Others - - - - - -
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3.	 Accessibility of workplaces
	 Are the premises / offices of the entity accessible to differently abled employees and workers, as per the requirements 

of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities Act, 2016? If not, whether any steps are being taken by the entity in this 
regard. No

4.	 Does the entity have an equal opportunity policy as per the Rights of Persons with Disabilities Act, 2016? If so, provide 
a web-link to the policy. No

5.	 Return to work and Retention rates of permanent employees and workers that took parental leave. 

Permanent employees Permanent workers
Gender Return to work 

rate
Retention rate Return to work 

rate
Retention rate

Male
NILFemale

Total

6.	 Is there a mechanism available to receive and redress grievances for the following categories of employees and 
worker? If yes, give details of the mechanism in brief. 	

Yes/No (If Yes, then give details of the mechanism in brief)
Permanent Workers Whistle Blower policy, Suggestion Box, Joint Forum or Trade 

Union, Grievance Committee
Other than Permanent Workers Whistle Blower policy, Suggestion Box, Joint Forum or Trade 

Union, Grievance Committee
Permanent Employees Whistle Blower policy, Suggestion Box,  Grievance Committee
Other than Permanent Employees Whistle Blower policy, Suggestion Box,  Grievance Committee

7.	 Membership of employees and worker in association(s) or Unions recognised by the listed entity:

Category FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total employees 
/ workers in re-

spective catego-
ry (A)

No. of 
employees 
/ workers in 
respective 
category, 

who are part 
of associ-
ation(s) or 
Union (B)

% (B / A) Total em-
ployees / 

workers in 
respective 
category 

(C)

No.	 of 
Employees / 
Workers  in 
respective 
category, 

who are part 
of associ-
ation(s) or 
Union (D)

% (D / C)

Total 
Permanent 
Employees

- - - - - -

-Male - - - - - -
-Female - - - - - -
Total 
Permanent 
Employees
-Male 125 125 100% 124 124 100%
-Female - - - - - -
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8.	 Details of training given to employees and workers: 

Category FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total 
(A)

On health & 
Safety measures

On Skill 
Upgradation

Total 
(D)

On health & 
Safety measures

On Skill 
Upgradation

No (B) % (B/A) No (C) % (C/A) No (E) % (E/D) No (F) % (F/D)
Employees

Male 216 216 100% 216 100% 178 178 100% 173 94%
Female 13 13 100% 13 100% 10 10 100% 9 100%
Total 229 229 100% 229 100% 188 188 100% 182 94%

Workers
Male 604 604 100% 604 100% 593 593 100% 593 100%
Female 42 42 100% 42 100% 30 30 100% 20 100%
Total 646 646 100% 646 100% 623 623 100% 623 100%

9.	 Details of performance and career development reviews of employees and worker:

Category FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total (A) No (B) % (B/A) Total (C) No (D) % (D/C)

Employees
Male 202 202 100% 178 178 100%
Female 13 13 100% 10 10 100%
Total 215 215 100% 188 188 100%

Workers
Male 125 125 100% 124 124 100%
Female - - - - - -
Total 125 125 100% 124 124 100%

10.	 Health and safety management system: 
a.	 Whether an occupational health and safety management system has been implemented by the entity? (Yes/ No). 

If yes, the coverage such system?
	 AVT NPL is certified for Occupational Health and safety management system, ISO-45001-2018, which covers all 

processing and non- processing areas including new projects.
b.	 What are the processes used to identify work-related hazards and assess risks on a routine and non-routine 

basis by the entity?
	 Hazard identification and assessment of risks and opportunities are identified for all routine and non-routine 

activities, infrastructure, equipment, materials substances, and physical condition of the workplace. Production, 
construction, maintenance, disposal, human factors are also addressed.

c.	 Whether you have processes for workers to report the work related hazards and to remove themselves from such 
risks. Yes 

	 Workers are encouraged to report all forms of unsafe acts, unsafe conditions and near-miss incidents using 
Safety Observation  Cards.  In addition to this formal channel, safety suggestions and observations can be 
communicated directly to the Safety Department through safety committee meetings or by informing superevisor.

	 To promote proavtive safety behavior, a reward system has been implemented to recoganize employees who 
report potential hazards or untoward incidents. This initiative aims to foster a culture of continous vigilance and 
shared responsiblity for a safer workplace.

d.	 Do the employees/ worker of the entity have access to non-occupational medical and healthcare services?  Yes
	 The company medical officer is accessible within the factory premises, offering consultations for employee health 

and well-being. This availability ensures prompt medical assistance for non-work-related concerns.
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11.	 Details of safety related incidents, in the following format:

Safety Incident/Number Category* FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) (per one million-person 
hours worked)

Employees Nil Nil
Workers Nil Nil

Total recordable work related injuries Employees Nil Nil
Workers Nil Nil

No. of fatalities Employees Nil Nil
Workers Nil Nil

High consequence work-related injury or ill-health (excluding 
fatalities)

Employees Nil Nil
Workers Nil Nil

	 *Including contract workforce
12.	 Describe the measures taken by the entity to ensure a safe and healthy work place.
	 The safety management system in this organization mainly focusses on 

a.	 Occupational Health and safety policy, 
b.	 Compliance to legal and other requirements, 
c.	 Process safety Management- Operational control procedures to address physical, chemical, biological, 

mechanical, psychosocial hazards. 
d.	 Emergency Planning and response
e.	 Safety training (Need identification and assessment) to all workers
f.	 Plant safety inspections, 
g.	 Safety committee meetings,
h.	 Incident reporting and investigations
i.	 Employee/contract worker consultation and participation
j.	 Permit to work system.
k.	 Management of change
l.	 Safety compliance audits
m.	 Pre-start up safety review.  
n.	 Safety manual, handbooks etc
o.	 Safety promotional activities
p.	 Safety Promotional activities- Communication and motivation
q.	 Corporate social responsibility.

13.	 Number of Complaints on the following made by employees and workers:

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Filed during 

the year
Pending 

resolution at 
the end of the 

year

Remarks Filed during 
the year

Pending 
resolution at 
the end of the 

year

Remarks

Working 
Conditions Nil
Health & Safety
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14.	 Assessments for the year:	

% of your plants and offices that were assessed (by entity or statutory 
authorities or third parties)

Health and safety practices 98 %
Working Conditions 100 %

15.	 Provide details of any corrective action taken or underway to address safety-related  incidents (if any) and on significant 
risks / concerns arising from assessments of health & safety practices and working conditions. 

S.No Incidents Corrective action
Accidents

1 Contact with chemical while doing maintenance work Chemical handling procedures modified.
2 During Change of Cleaning (COC) activity using hot water 

in the AHN-1 Plant, Contact with hot water injury reported 
due to a plastic hose slipping from the vessel

Plastic hoses replaced with hot water 
compatible hoses with cam lock mechanism.

Near miss incidents
1 Hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) spillage due to H2O2 transfer 

pipeline flange gasket failure
Gaskets replaced with chemical-resistant 
materials and PM schedule reviewed.

2 Concrete peeling and falling in operational areas of 
continuous plant -2

Protective coatings and replastering work 
carried out to safeguard the concrete and 
rebar from moisture and chemical exposure.

Leadership Indicators
1.	 Does the entity extend any life insurance or any compensatory package in the event of death of (A) Employees (B) 

Workers – YES
	 All the permanent and temporary employees / workers of Company are covered under the life insurance and personal 

accident insurance coverage.
2.	 Provide the measures undertaken by the entity to ensure that statutory dues have been deducted and deposited by 

the value chain partners.
	 AVT NPL monitors and tracks the compliance of value chain partners locally and centrally. Every month administration 

teams at each centre update the applicable, verified compliance documents in the company’s compliance tracking 
system for central monitoring. AVT NPL ensures that monthly statutory dues are remitted to respective authorities.

3.	 Provide the number of employees / workers having suffered high consequence work-related injury / ill-health / 
fatalities (as reported in Q11 of Essential Indicators above), who have been are rehabilitated and placed in suitable 
employment or whose family members have been placed in suitable employment: 

Total No. of affected employees /
workers

No. of employees/workers that are rehabilitated 
and placed in suitable employment or whose family 
members have been placed in suitable employment

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24 FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Employees

Nil
Workers

4.	 Does the entity provide transition assistance programs to facilitate continued employability and the management of 
career endings resulting from retirement or termination of employment? (Yes/ No)     Yes, as and when required.

5.	 Details on assessment of value chain partners: 

% of value chain partners (by value of business done 
with such partners) that were assessed

Health and safety practices -
Working Conditions -
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6.	 Provide details of any corrective actions taken or underway to address significant risks / concerns arising from 
assessments of health and safety practices and working conditions of value chain partners.

	 On the assessed value chain partners, we have not identified any significant risks / concerns arising from assessments 
of health and safety practices and working conditions.

PRINCIPLE 4: 	 Businesses should respect the interests of and be responsive to all its stakeholders.

Essential Indicators
1.	 Describe the processes for identifying key stakeholder groups of the entity.
	 Stakeholder engagement also helps to manage risks and opportunities in business operations. The key stakeholders 

identified in consultation with the company’s management are customers, employees, shareholders, academic 
institutions, staffing firms, other suppliers, technology partners and collaborators, industry bodies, governments, 
NGOs, local communities, regulators and society at large.

2.	 List stakeholder groups identified as key for your entity and the frequency of engagement with each stakeholder 
group.

Stakeholder 
Group

Whether 
identified as 
Vulnerable & 
Marginalized 

Group 

Channels of 
Communication 

(Email, SMS, 
Newspaper, 
Pamphlets, 

Advertisement, 
Community Meetings, 

Notice Board, 
Website), Other 

Frequency of 
engagement 

(Annually / half 
yearly / Quarterly/ 

others – please 
specify) 

Purpose and scope of 
engagement including 

key topics and concerns 
raised during such 

engagement.

Customers No Emails, customer visits, 
meetings and reviews

Continuous Understanding customer’s 
expectations and the 
gaps, if any in company’s 
product offerings.

Investors & 
Shareholders

No Press Release and 
emails

Quarterly : Results  
Continuous  : 
Website 
Annual : AGM

Educating the Investor 
community, Strategy   
for long term. Helping 
investors voice their 
concerns regarding 
the company policies, 
reporting strategy 
etc., Understanding 
shareholder expectation.

Union No Notices Need basis Discussions,  
Understanding employee 
concerns.

Employees No Monthly review 
meetings, Trainings, 
Conferences etc.,

Monthly and 
Annually

Career Management 
reviews; and Growth 
Prospects Learning 
opportunities 
Compensation  structures 
Building a safety culture 
and inculcating safe 
work practices among 
employees.

Governments, 
Local 
Communities, 
media, Society  
at large

No As needed Annually : Website 
Print media, Public 
Functions, CSR 
Activities

Good relationship with 
Government bodies, 
Partnering with Local 
bodies for upliftment of 
the society.
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Leadership Indicators
1.	 Provide the processes for consultation between stakeholders and the Board on economic, environmental, and social 

topics or if consultation is delegated, how is feedback from such consultations provided to the Board.
	 Stakeholder interactions result in the identification of large variety of issues important to the company. The Company 

then discuss with internal and external stakeholders, as well as its own judgment, to prioritize and arrive material 
topics with significant economic, environmental, or social impacts on business, reputation, and operations.

2.	 Whether stakeholder consultation is used to support the identification and management of environmental, and social 
topics (Yes / No). If so, provide details of instances as to how the inputs received from stakeholders on these topics 
were incorporated into policies and activities of the entity.

	 Yes, Suggestion from various forums and committees, such as Safety Committee, Employee welfare committee, 
Environment Protction Committee or taken in to account for identification and managemnt of environmental social 
topics.

3.	 Provide details of instances of engagement with, and actions taken to, address the concerns of vulnerable/ marginalized 
stakeholder groups.

	 The company has partnered directly with small  land holder famers across underdeveloped villages in Karnataka and 
Tamilnadu to cultivate marigold flowers.. This initiative focuses on empowering farmers with limited land holdings by 
provIding them with a consistent and reliable source of income. 

	 Beyond agricultural engagement, the company has lonched multiple infrastructure development projets in these 
communities as part of its Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) commitment. These projects are untertaken under 
the broader umbrella of the company’s rural development initatives, which aim to improve the stadard of living and 
support holistic community growth.

PRINCIPLE 5	  Businesses should respect and promote human rights.

Essential Indicators
1.	 Employees and workers who have been provided training on human rights issues and policy(ies) of the entity, in the 

following format: 

Category FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total (A) No of 

Employees 
/ Workers 

Covered (B)

% (B/A) Total (C) No of 
Employees 
/ Workers 

Covered (D)

% (D/C)

Employees
Permanent 229 229 100% 188 188 100%
Other than Permanent 5 5 100% 9 9 100%
Total Employees 234 234 100% 197 197 100%

Workers
Permanent 128 128 100% 124 124 100%
Other than Permanent 646 646 100% 499 499 100%
Total Employees 774 774 100% 623 623 100%

2.	 Details of minimum wages paid to employees and workers, in the following format:

Category FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total 
(A)

Equal To 
Minimum Wages

More than 
Minimum Wages

Total 
(D)

Equal To 
Minimum Wages

More than 
Minimum Wages

No (B) % (B/A) No (C) % (C /A) No (E) % (E/D) No (F) % (F /D)
Employees
Permanent

Male 216 - - 216 100% 178 - - 178 100%
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Female 13 - - 13 100% 10 - - 10 100%
Other Than 
Permanent

5 - - - - 7 7 - - -

Male 4 - - 4 100% 2 2 - - -
Female 1 - - 1 100% - - - - -

Workers
Permanent 128 - - 128 100% 124 - - 124 100%
Male 128 - - - - - - - - -
Female - - - - - - - - - -
Other Than 
Permanent 646 - - - - 499 - - 499 100%

Male 604 - - 604 100% 469 - - 469 100%
Female 42 - - 42 100% 30 - - 30 100%

3.	 Details of remuneration/salary/wages
a.	 Median remuneration / wages:

Male Female
Number Median remuneration/ 

salary/ wages of 
respective category

Number Median remuneration/ 
salary/ wages of 

respective category
Board of Directors 5 - 2 -
Key Managerial Personnel 3 88,31,735 - -
Employees other than BoD 
and KMP 215 7,06,800 13 7,79,832

Workers 130 5,89,170 - -

b.	 Gross wages paid to females as % of total wages paid by the entity, in the following format.

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Gross wages paid to females as % 
of total wages 2.27% 3.43%

4.	 Do you have a focal point (Individual/ Committee) responsible for addressing human rights impacts or issues caused 
or contributed to by the business?  Yes

5.	 Describe the internal mechanisms in place to redress grievances related to human rights issues.
	 The Company has various committees (Health and Safety Committee, POSH Committee, Trade Union Committees) 

with representation of employees, workers and management. Regular meetings are conducted at fixed intervals to 
address and seek the concerns of the employees. Various trainings are conducted on regular intervals.
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6.	 Number of Complaints on the following made by employees and workers:

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Filed 

During 
the year

Pending 
resolution at the 
end of the year

Remarks Filed 
During 

the year

Pending 
resolution at the 
end of the year

Remarks

Sexual Harassment

NIL

1 - -
Discrimination at 
workplace

- - -

Child Labour - - -
Forced - - -
Labour/ Involuntary 
Labour

- - -

Wages - - -
Other Human Rights 
Related issues

- - -

7.	 Complaints filed under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 
2013, in the following format:

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total Complaints reported under Sexual Harassment on 
of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and 
Redressal) Act, 2013 (POSH)  

NIL

1

Complaints on POSH as a % of female employees / 
workers  

100%

Complaints on POSH upheld NIL

8.	 Mechanisms to prevent adverse consequences to the complainant in discrimination and harassment cases.
	 AVT NPL treats all concerns related to discrimination and harassment with strict confidentiality. We are cvommitted to 

providing a safe environment where individuals can report concerns in good faith without fear of retaliation. Retaliation 
of any kind against an individual who raises concern or participates in an investigation is strictly prohibited. Any 
employee found to be engaging in retailatory behavior will be subject to disciplinary action, up to any including 
termination of employment.

9.	 Do human rights requirements form part of your business agreements and contracts? 
	 Yes. The contract / agreements with suppliers / service providers and employees addresses the human right 

requirements.
10.	 Assessments for the year:

% of your plants and offices that were assessed (by 
entity or statutory authorities or third parties)

Child labour

100% of our plants and offices were assessed by Statutory 
authorities and third-party auditors.

Forced/involuntary labour
Sexual harassment
Discrimination at workplace
Wages
Others – please specify

11.	 Provide details of any corrective actions taken or underway to address significant risks / concerns arising from the 
assessments at Question 10 above. NIL
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Leadership Indicators
1.	 Details of a business process being modified / introduced as a result of addressing human rights grievances/

complaints.
	 AVT NPL adopts a zero tolerance approach to issues related to human rights.
	 Human rights are protected and upheld in company’s core value and enshrined in the Company’s Code of Conduct 

Policy. AVT NPL continually gathers feedback and keeps track of developments in the regulatory area to further 
strengthen existing processes.

2.	 Details of the scope and coverage of any Human rights due-diligence conducted.
	 Yes,  due diligence was conducted and AVT NPL follows all government regulations and regulatory policies of the 

countries where it operates.
3.	 Is the premise/office of the entity accessible to differently abled visitors, as per the requirements of the Rights of 

Persons with Disabilities Act, 2016?  No.
4.	 Details on assessment of value chain partners:

% of value chain partners (by value of business done with 
such partners) that were assessed

Child labour 40%

All value chain partners are expected to adhere to by the 
Company’s Code of Conduct policy.

Forced /involuntary labour
Sexual harassment
Discrimination at workplace
Wages
Others – please specify NA

5.	 Provide details of any corrective actions taken or underway to address significant risks / concerns arising from the 
assessments at Question 4 above. NIL

PRINCIPLE 6: 	 Businesses should respect and make efforts to protect and restore the environment.

Essential Indicators
1.	 Details of total energy consumption (in Joules or multiples) and energy intensity, in the following format:

Parameter FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
From renewable sources
Total electricity consumption (A) 5,791 GJ 2,962 GJ
Total fuel consumption (B) - -
Energy consumption through other sources (C) - -
Total energy consumed from renewable sources (A+B+C) 5,791 GJ 2,962 GJ
From non-renewable sources
Total electricity consumption (D) 46,827 GJ 59,845 GJ
Total fuel consumption (E) 6,331 GJ 4,554 GJ
Energy consumption through other sources (F) - -
Total energy consumed from non-renewable sources (D+E+F) 53,158 GJ 64,398 GJ
Total energy consumed (A+B+C+D+E+F) 58,949 GJ 67,350 GJ
Energy intensity per rupee of turnover (Total energy consumed / 
Revenue from operations)

0.000011354 0.000013381

Energy intensity per rupee of turnover adjusted for Purchasing Power 
Parity (PPP) 

(Total  energy consumed / Revenue from operations adjusted for PPP)

- -

Energy intensity in terms of physical output - -
Energy intensity (optional) – the relevant metric may be selected by the 
entity

- -
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	 Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency?  
(Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency. No

2.	 Does the entity have any sites / facilities identified as designated consumers (DCs) under the Performance, Achieve 
and Trade (PAT) Scheme of the Government of India? (Y/N) If yes, disclose whether targets set under the PAT 
scheme have been achieved. In case targets have not been achieved, provide the remedial action taken, if any. No

3.	 Provide details of the following disclosures related to water, in the following format:

Parameter FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Water withdrawal by source (in kilolitres)
(i) Surface water 78,824 96,089
(ii) Ground water 1,42,597 1,24,895
(iii) Third party water 252 167
(iv) Sea water / desalinated water - -
(v) Others - -
Total volume of water withdrawal (in kilolitres) (i + ii + iii + iv + v) 2,21,673 2,21,151
Total volume of water consumption (in kilolitres)  2,21,673 2,21,151
Water intensity per rupee of turnover  (Total water consumption / 
Revenue from operations)

0.00004269 0.00004317

Water intensity per rupee of turnover adjusted for Purchasing Power 
Parity (PPP)  (Total  water consumption / Revenue from operations 
adjusted for PPP)

- -

Water intensity in terms of physical output - -
Water intensity (optional) – the relevant metric may be selected by 
the entity

- -

	 Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? 
(Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency. No

4.	 Provide the following details related to water discharged:

Parameter FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Water discharge by destination and level of treatment (in kilolitres)

i.To Surface water
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – please specify level of treatment - -
ii. To Groundwater
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – please specify level of treatment - -
iii.To Seawater
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – please specify level of treatment - -
iv.Sent to third-parties
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – please specify level of treatment - -
v.Others
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – Treated and filtered water used for gardening 
and irrigation.

31,693 35,108

Total water discharged (in kilolitres) - -
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Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? 
(Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency. No

5.	 Has the entity implemented a mechanism for Zero Liquid Discharge? If yes, provide details of its coverage and 
implementation.

	 Yes, AVT NPL is committed to sustainable water management. We optimize water consumption through process 
improvements, sewage treatment and rainwater harvesting. All water used on-site is fully reated, recycled and re-used 
to meet non-process water requirements, minimizing waste and reducing our environmental footprint.

6.	 Please provide details of air emissions (other than GHG emissions) by the entity, in the following format:
	 AVT NPL does not have significant air emissions other than those arising from the operation of boilers.  

AVT NPL has necessary consent under the Air (Prevention & Control of Pollution) Act 1981, for operation of boilers 
and ensures compliance with the conditions specified under environmental laws. Emission monitoring is conducted 
as per the frequency required.

Parameter Please specify unit FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
NOx Mg/Nm3 45 49
SOx Mg/Nm3 43 46
Particulate Matter (PM) Mg/Nm3 325 332
Persistent Organic pollutants (POP) Mg/Nm3 - -
Volatile Organic compounds (VOC) Mg/Nm3 - -
Hazardous Air pollutants (HAP) Mg/Nm3 - -
Others – Please Specify

	 Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? 
(Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency. NO

7.	 Provide details of greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions) & its intensity, in the following format:

Parameter Unit FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total Scope 1 emissions 

(Break-up of the GHG into CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, 
PFCs, SF6, NF3, if available)

Metric tonnes of 
CO2 equivalent 57,649 51,524

Total Scope 2 emissions 

(Break-up of the GHG into CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, 
PFCs, SF6, NF3, if available)

Metric tonnes of 
CO2 equivalent 14,371 16,172

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emission intensity per 
rupee of turnover 

(Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions / 
Revenue from operations)

0.000014 0.000013

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emission intensity per 
rupee of turnover adjusted for Purchasing Power 
Parity (PPP) 

(Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 GHG emissions / 
Revenue from operations adjusted for PPP)

- -

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emission intensity in 
terms of physical output

- -

Total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emission intensity 
(optional) – the relevant metric may be selected 
by the entity

- -

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? 
(Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency. NO
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8.	 Does the entity have any project related to reducing Green House Gas emission? If Yes, then provide details.
	 AVT NPL has undertaken several energy efficency and sustainability measures accross its facilities, contributing to 

cost saving and a reduction is greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions.
•	 Renewable Energy Procurement : Initated power purchase from renewble sources through trading at Tiptur 

plant, resulting in both energy cost savings and reduced GHG emissions.
•	 Gearbox Upgrade : Repolaved conventional gearboxes in process plants with energy efficient planetary 

gearboxes, significantly lowering energy consumption.
•	 Pump Optimization : Installed Variable Frequency Drives (VFDs) for cooling water pumps to optimize flow rates 

based on discharge temperature, along with Thyristor controls for electric heaters, leading to improved energy 
effciency.

•	 High Efficiency Pumps : Replaced outdated cooling water pumps with energy efficient models,maintaning the 
same flow rate and heat while reducing energy use.

•	 Lighting Improvements : Upgraded to high efficiency LED lamps in the Solvent Extraction and Instant Tea Plants, 
reducing electricity consumption.

•	 Heating Ventilation and Air Conditioning (HVAC) Enhancement : Replaced old air conditioning systems with air 
handling units in the AHN plant, utilizing chilled water for cooling, achieving further energy savings.

9.	 Provide details related to waste management by the entity, in the following format:

Parameter FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total Waste generated (in metric tonnes)
Plastic waste (A) 78 81
E-waste (B) 0.21 0.17
Bio-medical waste (C) - -
Construction & Demolition Waste (D) - -
Battery waste (E) 0.29 0.31
Radioactive waste (F) - -
Other Hazardous waste. Please specify, if any.  (G) 0.75 0.81
Other Non-hazardous waste generated (H). Please specify, if any.  (Break-up 
by composition i.e. by materials relevant to the sector)

9,765 8,316

Total (A+B + C + D + E + F + G + H) 9,845 8,398
Waste intensity per rupee of turnover  
(Total waste generated / Revenue from operations)

0.0000018 0.0000017

Waste intensity per rupee of turnover adjusted for Purchasing power parity 
(PPP) (Total waste generated / Revenue from operations adjusted for PPP)

- -

Waste intensity in terms of physical output - -
Waste intensity (optional) – the relevant metric may be selected by the entity - -
For each category of waste generated, total waste recovered through recycling, 
re-using or other recovery operations (in metric tonnes)
Category of waste
(i) Recycled - -
(ii) Re-used - -
(iii) Other recovery operations (As Boiler fuel) 5,271 4,431
Total 5,271 4,431
For each category of waste generated, total waste disposed by nature of disposal method (in metric tonnes)
Category of waste
(i) Incineration - -
(ii) Landfilling - -
(iii) Other disposal operations 3,510 3,885
Total 3,510 3,885
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Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? 
(Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency. No

10.	 Briefly describe the waste management practices adopted in your establishments. Describe the strategy adopted by 
your company to reduce usage of hazardous and toxic chemicals in your products and processes and the practices 
adopted to manage such wastes.

	 The Company has in all its facilities Effluent Treatment Plants and has consent to operate as per A Water (Prevention 
and Control of Pollution) Act, Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, Environment protection Act and Rules 
thereunder. Inspections are done by various authorities on regular intervals. 

11.	 If the entity has operations/offices in/around ecologically sensitive areas (such as national parks, wildlife sanctuaries, 
biosphere reserves, wetlands, biodiversity hotspots, forests, coastal regulation zones etc.) where environmental 
approvals / clearances are required, please specify details in the following format:

S No Location of 
operations/offices

Type of Operation Whether the conditions of environmental approval / 
clearance are being complied with? (Y/N) 

If no, the reasons thereof and corrective action 
taken, if any.

NIL

12.	 Details of environmental impact assessments of projects undertaken by the entity based on applicable laws, in the 
current financial year:

Name and 
brief details of 

project

EIA Notification 
No

Date Whether conducted 
by independent 

external agency (Yes 
/ No)

Results 
communicated in 

public domain  

(Yes / No)

Relevant 
Web Link

NIL

13.	 Is the entity compliant with the applicable environmental law / regulations / guidlines in India, such as Water (Prevention 
and control of Pollution) Act, Air ((Prevention and control of Pollution) Act, Environment protection Act and rules 
thereaunder (Y/N). If not provide details of all such non-compliances, in the following format : Yes

S.No. Specify the law/ 
regulation / 

guidelines which 
was not complied 

with 

provide 
details of non 
compliance

Any fines / penalities/ action 
taken by regulatory agencies 

wuch as pollution control 
boards or by courts

Corrective Action 
taken if any

NIL
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Leadership Indicators
1.	 Water withdrawal, consumption and discharge in areas of water stress (in kilolitres):
	 For each facility / plant located in areas of water stress, provide the following information: 

i.	 Name of the area : Vazhakulam, Tiptur, Sathyamangalam
ii.	 Nature of operations : Manufacturing
iii.	 Water withdrawal, consumption and discharge in the following format: 

Parameter FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Water withdrawal by source (in kilolitres) 
(i) Surface water 78,824 96,089
(ii) Groundwater 1,42,597 1,24,895
(iii) Third party water 252 167
(iv) Seawater / desalinated water - -
(v) Others - -
Total volume of water withdrawal (in kilolitres) 2,21,673 2,22,517
Total volume of water consumption (in kilolitres) 2,21,673 2,22,517
Water intensity per rupee of turnover (Water consumed / turnover) 0.00004269 0.00004317
Water intensity (optional) – the relevant metric may be selected by the 
entity 
Water discharge by destination and level of treatment (in kilolitres) 
(i) Into Surface water 
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – please specify level of treatment - -
(ii) Into Ground water 
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – please specify level of treatment - -
(iii) Into Sea water 
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – please specify level of treatment - -
(iv) Sent to third-parties 
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – please specify level of treatment - -
(v) Others 
- No treatment - -
- With treatment – Filtered water used for gardening and irrigation 31,693 35,108
Total water discharged (in kilolitres) - -

Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? 
(Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency. No

2.	 Please provide details of total Scope 3 emissions & its intensity, in the following format: 

Parameter Unit FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Total Scope 3 emissions  
(Break-up of the GHG into CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, 
PFCs, SF6, NF3, if available) 

7,716 8,086

Total Scope 3 emissions per rupee of turnover 0.00001 0.00001
Total Scope 3 emission intensity (optional) – the relevant 
metric may be selected by the entity 

- -
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	 Note: Indicate if any independent assessment/ evaluation/assurance has been carried out by an external agency? 
(Y/N) If yes, name of the external agency. NO

3.	 With respect to the ecologically sensitive areas reported at Question 11 of Essential Indicators above, provide details 
of significant direct & indirect impact of the entity on biodiversity in such areas along-with prevention and remediation 
activities. NA

4.	 If the entity has undertaken any specific initiatives or used innovative technology or solutions to improve resource 
efficiency, or reduce impact due to emissions / effluent discharge / waste generated, please provide details of the 
same as well as outcome of such initiatives, as per the following format: 

S. 
No. Initiative undertaken Details of the initiative (Web-link, if any, may be 

provided along-with summary) 
Outcome of the 

initiative 
1 Reverse Osmosis plant Commissioned new RO plant to recover pond water 

for Instant tea process 
Water recovery

2 Sludge Dryer Installed additional sludge dryer in ETP to reuse ETP 
sludge as Boiler fuel and reduction of waste disposal

Green House Gas 
reduction

3 VFD control for cooling 
water pump

Provided VFD for cooling water pump to operate pump 
optimum process condition, thus savings in energy

To Improve energy 
efficiency 

4 Thyristor control for  
Electric heater

Provided Thyristor control for Electric heater of spray 
dryer to operate at optimum process condition, thus 
savings in energy

To Improve energy 
efficiency

5 Air handling unit for 
process

Replaced Air conditioner with Air handling unit to use 
chilled water thereby reduction in energy.

To Improve energy 
efficiency

6 Replacement of Cooling 
water pump

Replaced old cooling water pump, with new energy 
efficient model to reduce energy consumption and 
maintain the uptime

To Improve energy 
efficiency

7 Replacement of Gearbox Replaced old conventional gearbox in process plants, 
with new energy efficient planetary gearbox to reduce 
energy consumption.

To Improve energy 
efficiency

5.	 Does the entity have a business continuity and disaster management plan? Give details in 100 words/ web link.
	 Yes, the company has Business Continuity and Disaster Management plan designed to address the threat of 

disruptions to business activities or processes.
6.	 Disclose any significant adverse impact to the environment, arising from the value chain of the entity. What mitigation 

or adaptation measures have been taken by the entity in this regard. No such instances during the reporting period.
7.	 Percentage of value chain partners (by value of business done with such partners) that were assessed for environmental 

impacts: Third party Audits.
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PRINCIPLE 7:	Businesses, when engaging in influencing public and regulatory policy, should do so in a manner 
that is responsible and transparent.

Essential Indicators
1.	 (a)	Number of affiliations with trade and industry chambers/ associations.
	 (b)	List the top 10 trade and industry chambers/ associations (determined based on the total members of such 

body) the entity is a member of/ affiliated to. 

S.  
No. Name of the trade and industry chambers/ associations

Reach of trade and 
industry chambers/ 
associations  (State/

National)
1 National Institute of Personnel Management (NIPL) National
2 The Confederation of Indian Industry (CII) National
3 The Federation of Indian Chambers of Commerce and Industry (FICCI) National
4 Federation of Indian Export Organizations (FIEO) National
5 Export promotion Council of EOU & SEZ National
6 Shellac Export Promotion Council National
7 Cochin Chamber of Commerce State
8 All India Spices Exporters Forum National
9 National Safety Council National

10 Kerala State Productivity Council State

2.	 Provide details of corrective action taken or underway on any issues related to anti-competitive conduct by the entity, 
based on adverse orders from regulatory authorities. NIL

Leadership Indicators

1.	 Details of public policy positions advocated by the entity:

S. 
No.

Public Policy 
Advocate

Method resorted 
for such 

advocacy

Whether 
information 
available in 

public domain? 
(Yes/No)  

Frequency of 
Review by Board  
(Annually/ Half 

yearly/  Quarterly 
/  Others please 

specify)

Web link, If 
Available

1 Policy Impacting 
Exporters

Meetings with 
Ministry of 

Commerce, DGFT, 
CII and relevant 

Government 
Authorities

No As and when 
required NA

PRINCIPLE 8 	Businesses should promote inclusive growth and equitable development.

Essential Indicators
1.	  Details of Social Impact Assessments (SIA) of projects undertaken by the entity based on applicable laws, in the 

current financial year. 

Name and 
brief details of 

project

SIA Notification 
No

Date of 
Notification

Whether 
conducted by 
independent 

external agency 
(Yes / No)

Results 
communicated 

in public 
domain 

(Yes / No)

Relevant Web 
link

Not Applicable
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2.	 Provide information on project(s) for which ongoing Rehabilitation and Resettlement (R&R) is being undertaken by 
your entity, in the following format:

S. 
No.

Name of 
Project for 

which R&R is 
ongoing  

State District No. of Project 
Affected 
Families 
(PAFs)

% of PAFs 
covered by 

R&R

Amounts paid 
to PAFs in the 

FY (In INR)

Not Applicable

3.	 Describe the mechanisms to receive and redress grievances of the community.
	 Any grievances of the community where the company operates, were received through community Head / Local 

Administration.
	 The Issue is then taken up and redressed by the plant site in charge with consultation from Head of Operations.
4.	 Percentage of input material (inputs to total inputs by value) sourced from suppliers: 

FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Directly sourced from MSMEs/ small producers  29.10 % 9.01%
Directly from within India 30.63 % 53.61%

5.	 Job creation in smaller towns - Disclose wages paid to persons employed (Including employees or workers employed 
on a permnent or non-permnent / on contract basis) in the following locations, as % of total wage cost: 

Location FY 2024-25 FY 2023-24
Rural 0.21 -
Semi-Urban 22.62 21.40
Urban 68.80 72.67
Metropolitian 8.37 5.93

Leadership Indicators
1.	 Provide details of actions taken to mitigate any negative social impacts identified in the Social Impact Assessments 

(Reference: Question 1 of Essential Indicators above):

Details of negative social impact identified Corrective action taken
NIL

2.	 Provide the following information on CSR projects undertaken by your entity in designated aspirational districts as 
identified by government bodies: 

S. No. State Aspirational District Amount spent (In INR)
NIL

3.	 (a) Do you have a preferential procurement policy where you give preference to purchase from suppliers comprising 
marginalized /vulnerable groups?  Yes
(b) From which marginalized /vulnerable groups do you procure?

	 The Company procures its raw materials directly from small farmers with small land areas.
	 (c) What percentage of total procurement (by value) does it constitute? 80%
4.	 Details of the benefits derived and shared from the intellectual properties owned or acquired by your entity (in the 

current financial year), based on traditional knowledge:
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S. No. Intellectual Property based 
on traditional knowledge

Owned / Acquired (Yes/
No)

Benefit Shared (Yes 
/ No)

Basis of 
Calculating 

benefit share
NIL

5.	 Details of corrective actions taken or underway, based on any adverse order in intellectual property related disputes 
wherein usage of traditional knowledge is involved.

Name of authority Brief of the Case Corrective action taken
NIL

6.	 Details of beneficiaries of CSR Projects:

S. 
No.

CSR Project No. of persons benefitted from CSR 
Projects  

% of beneficiaries from 
vulnerable and marginalized 

groups

1 Enhancement of Water 
Resources

General Public 100%

2 Holistic Child Development 4650 students 100%

3 Rural Community & 
Infrastructure Development

General Public and Students 100%

4 Rural Health Intervention General Public 100%

PRINCIPLE 9:	 Businesses should engage with and provide value to their consumers in a responsible manner.

Essential Indicators
1.	 Describe the mechanisms in place to receive and respond to consumer complaints and feedback.
	 AVT NPL is committed to addressing customer complaints promptly and effectively to ensure continuous improvement 

and customer satisfaction. The complaint handling process is as follows:
	 Customer complaints are received either verbally or in writing and are recorded in the Customer Complaint Registration 

Form. All relevant details and supporting information are documented in this form.
	 The completed complaint form is forwarded to the responsible personnel for further action. An investigation is initiated 

for every complaint to determine the root cause. This involves a thorough analysis of all available data and information.
	 Upon identifying and finalizing the root cause, appropriate Corrective and Preventive Actions (CAPA) are determined 

to address both the specific issue and to prevent recurrence.
	 A detailed Complaint Investigation Report is prepared, incorporating the findings, root cause, and proposed CAPA. 

This report is shared with the customer for their review, comments, and approval.
	 Approved corrective and preventive actions are implemented and integrated into the system with any necessary 

procedural or process modifications. The complaint is considered closed only after full implementation and 
effectiveness of the actions is verified.

2.	 Turnover of products and/ services as a percentage of turnover from all products/service that carry information about:

As a percentage to total turnover
Environmental and social parameters relevant to the product 100%
Safe and responsible usage 100%
Recycling and/or safe disposal 100%
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3.	 Number of consumer complaints in respect of the following: 

FY 2024-25

Remarks

FY 2023-24

RemarksReceived 
During the 

year

Pending 
resolution at 
the end of the 

year

Received 
During the 

year

Pending 
resolution at the 
end of the year

Data privacy

NIL

- -
Advertising - -
Cyber-security - -
Delivery of 
Essential services

- -

Restrictive Trade 
Practices

- -

Unfair trade 
Practices

- -

Others 4 -

4.	 Details of instances of product recalls on account of safety issues:

Number Reasons for recall
Voluntary recalls

NIL
Forced recalls

5.	 Does the entity have a framework/ policy on cyber security and risks related to data privacy? (Yes/No) If available, 
provide a web-link of the policy.

	 Yes, www.avtnatural.com/investor-relations
6.	 Provide details of any corrective actions taken or underway on issues relating to advertising, and delivery of essential 

services; cyber security and data privacy of customers; re-occurrence of instances of product recalls; penalty / action 
taken by regulatory authorities on safety of products / services. NIL

7.	 Provide the following information relating to data breaches:
a.	 Number of instances of data breaches : NIL
b.	 Percentage of data breaches involving personally identifiable information of customers
c.	 Impact, if any, of the data breaches

Leadership Indicators
1.	 Channels / platforms where information on products and services of the entity can be accessed (provide web link, if 

available). www.avtnatural.com
2.	 Steps taken to inform and educate consumers about safe and responsible usage of products and/or services.
	 Every product shipment to customers is accompanied by data sheets having clear directions in terms of safe usage 

of products.
3.	 Mechanisms in place to inform consumers of any risk of disruption/discontinuation of essential services.
	 YES. Customer communication protocol in place to intimate customer of the risks if any.
4.	 Does the entity display product information on the product over and above what is mandated as per local laws? (Yes/

No/Not Applicable) If yes, provide details in brief. 
	 Not Applicable
5.	 Did your entity carry out any survey with regard to consumer satisfaction relating to the major products / services of 

the entity, significant locations of operation of the entity or the entity as a whole?  Yes
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Overview

The following operating and financial review intends to 
convey the management’s perspective on the financial 
and operating performance of the Company at the end 
of the Financial Year 2024-25. This report should be read 
in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements, 
schedules and notes, and other information included in 
the integrated report. The Company’s financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’), complying with the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 2013, as amended, 
and regulations issued by the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (‘SEBI’) from time to time.

This report is an integral part of the Board’s Report. 
The report covers aspects of industry structure and 
developments, outlook, risks, internal control systems, 
adequacy, and material developments in human 
resources and industrial relations. 

Business Profile:

AVT Natural Products operates in the business segment 
of Food and Feed Ingredients (Natural Raw materials) 
business segment. There are five primary business 
categories:
•	 Marigold Extracts : Eye Care, Food Coloring and 

Poultry Pigmentation
•	 Spice oleoresins and Oils for Food Colouring and 

Flavouring
•	 Value added Teas: Decaffeinated Teas and Instant 

Teas
•	 Animal Health & Nutrition Products
•	 Agricultural Crop Inputs

The Company has three wholly owned subsidiaries, AVT 
Natural Europe Ltd, UK. AVT Natural S.A. De C.V., Mexico 
and AVT Natural FZCO, Dubai, AVT Natural Europe Ltd 
has one subsidiary, AVT Natural North America Inc. 

The wholly owned subsidiaries sell and maket value-
added teas, animal nutrition products and other natural 
extracts. 

Financial Performance & Operational review:

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company 
generated revenues of Rs.519.22 crores, compared to 
Rs.503.31 crores in 2023-24. The profit after tax was 
Rs.38.07 crores in 2024-25, compared to Rs.46.37 crores 
in the preceding year. 

Adverse weather patterns and two consecutive years 
of drought severely impacted marigold crop yields, 
resulting in flower shortages and lower sales volumes. 

Poor growing seasons have also prevented the Company 
from building up stock levels to service customers during 
low cropping years. The poor crop performance and 
subsidized global pricing from Chinese suppliers directly 
impacted the marigold division’s performance.

The demand for value-added teas faced headwinds and 
was dampened in the first two quarters due to economic 
conditions in key markets. However, the markets 
rebounded in the last two quarters, with demand finishing 
strong across all product offerings and markets. The 
Company continued working closely with key accounts, 
ensuring high-quality product offerings and a robust and 
reliable supply chain. A strong focus on raw material 
procurement and process efficiencies ensured a strong 
performance for the tea beverage division.  

Spice Oleoresins and Extracts continued to be an essential 
division of the Company.  The division witnessed lower 
performance due to weakened demand for key value-
added products across Asian markets. However, the 
Company’s control over the supply chain helped ensure 
stable and healthy margins despite slowing market 
conditions. 

The Company continued to make inroads in the Animal 
Nutrition division. The products are well received by 
existing customers, with many new customers completing 
trials and beginning to onboard products. Despite new 
regulatory hurdles and viral outbreaks in key markets, the 
division grew and expanded its market footprint. 

The Company also expanded the test marketing 
of its Agricultural Crop Inputs and plans to expand 
commercialization in the coming financial year.

Concerns & Risks

Climate change and evolving weather patterns continue 
to be a concern.  Competing high-value vegetables, fruits, 
and cash crops also pose a challenge for increasing 
marigold acreages. Constantly evolving regulatory 
requirements over pesticide usage and residue levels 
continue to pose significant challenges to growth and 
compliance. The education of farmers and the adoption 
of new farming practices have proven to be challenging, 
with many farmers unable to adapt as fast as regulatory 
norms. 

The Red Sea issues and regional tensions severely 
hamper shipping routes and times. To counter this, the 
Company has increased its stock of finished goods and 
is working closely with customers to improve forecasting 
and optimizing shipping volumes. 

The Company continues to invest in our farmers and is 
working towards more sustainable growing programs for 
marigolds and other crops. Inroads were also made with 

ANNEXURE – VII

Management Discussion and Analysis Report



61

our hybrid seed production, and the Company reduced 
its reliance on outsourced seed supply for its Marigold 
operations. We continue to work on new seeds to ensure 
higher yields and Xanthophyll, which will help combat the 
growing costs. 

The Company has embarked on various internal programs 
to address concerns about increasing employee costs 
and improve employee productivity and operational 
efficiencies. Costs are diligently monitored, and cost 
reduction measures are taken wherever possible with 
automation. Process improvements and new technologies 
help offset potential cost increases. Automation also 
continues to be an area for investment.  

Currency risk is mitigated through careful forex hedging. 
The Company follows an appropriate hedging policy 
commensurate with its business needs. 

Future Outlook

New businesses take time to mature, but the Company 
maintains a positive outlook for the future with its foray 
into new segments while strengthening the existing 
businesses. 

Marigold will remain a key business segment. Improved 
growth and supply, focusing on efficiency and costs, 
will be key to sustaining growth in the marigold division. 
The Company will continue strengthening its agricultural 
growing base by adding new areas while focusing on 
process and cost improvements. The Company continues 
to invest in R&D and new processes that can improve 
costs.

New hybrids will continue to be rolled out phased to 
ensure sustainable growth in flower volume. 

In Spice Oleoresins and Extracts, the Company continues 
to expand its customer base and geographical regions. A 
stronger focus will be placed on growing its value-added 
specialty product market while improving efficiencies in 
its core offerings. Greater emphasis will be placed on 
compliance to meet new global norms and differentiate 
our offerings in highly regulated markets. 

The value-added Tea segment continues to be a 
significant growth area for the Company. We continue 
to work closely with large key accounts and expand 
into new regions. The Company will be exploring added 
capacity to service our growing list of customers, aiming 
to double the business in the coming years. Our growth 
will consolidate our position as a key player in the value-
added tea market.  

The Animal Nutrition division continues to grow and 
will be a focus area for the Company. The products are 
making inroads in key markets, and we expect sustained 
growth over the next few years. The Company continues 
to expand its operations in LATAM and South East Asia 
directly and through strategic partnerships.  

The Crop Science division will be officially launched in the 
next financial year. It will focus on strategic regions and 
corporate customers in the Indian market. The portfolio 
will focus on reducing pesticide usage and ensuring 
sustainable agriculture practices.

As always, the Company will continue to invest in R&D. 
We will leverage our knowledge and technology in 
Botanicals to establish new divisions for the Company, 
with our first clinical studies for human Nutraceuticals. 

Internal Controls 

The Company has effective internal audit and control 
systems commensurate with the increasing business 
size to safeguard its assets and protect against loss from 
any unauthorized use or disposition. Regular internal 
and statutory audit visits are undertaken to ensure that 
the highest standards of internal controls are maintained 
at all levels of the organization. The Company’s internal 
controls are supplemented by an extensive program of 
internal audits periodically reviewed by the management. 
All policies, guidelines, and procedures are well 
documented.

The summary of the Internal Audit findings and status 
of implementation of action plans for risk mitigation are 
submitted to the Audit Committee for review, and concerns 
if any, are reported to the Board.  This process ensures 
robustness of internal control systems and compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations and ensures optimal 
resource utilization and system efficacy.

The Company has implemented new SAP system across 
the organization streamlining much faster access to data 
and reports available in full compliance to SEBI while 
also building robust internal controls and systems in the 
coming years.

All Investment decisions are subjected to formal 
systematic detailed evaluation and approved by the 
relevant authority as defined in the delegation-of-authority 
mechanism.  The Audit Committee reviews the plan for 
internal audit. It also reviews all significant internal audit 
observations and overall functioning of the Company on 
a periodic basis.

Revenue and capital expenditure are strictly governed by 
approved budgets and the expenditure approval levels 
are defined by a delegation-of-authority mechanism.  
Review of capital expenditure is undertaken based on the 
expected benefits for the Company. . 

Human Resources

The Company strongly believes that Human Resource is 
its most critical asset. We strive to offer our employees 
a dynamic and rewarding environment based on strong 
organizational values and the individual’s ability. While the 
overall emphasis is on driving the organization’s business 
goals, we encourage individual’s entrepreneurial spirit 
coupled with a strong sense of accountability to achieve 
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the objective contributing to every individual’s growth 
together with building a strong business.

The Company continues to leverage its human capital 
by attracting the right talent as well as nurturing and 
developing its internal talent. The company has a carefully 
designed appraisal and performance rewarding system 
which fosters a growth mindset in its employees. We 
emphasize nurturing and rewarding our internal talent. In 
this endeavor, our employees undergo carefully designed 
training program which prepares them for the challenges 
ahead and developing future leaders. The company 
follows a structured and well-defined system of internal 
promotions which ensures high levels of employee 
satisfaction with adequate talent in the pipeline to sustain 
the business growth.

The company has been successful in building an internal 
talent pool at every level to cater for growth. Employees 
are provided cross-functional exposures, on-job training 
as well as carefully chosen external training programs 
to prepare them for their growth into higher roles. HR 
team works closely with the Superiors to assess the 

training needs of their subordinates. The Superiors are 
accountable for the continuous development and growth 
of their subordinates.

As we aggressively pursue new business opportunities, 
we have tapped into external talent pool as and when 
necessary. We are happy to note that the Company is 
an attractive destination to talented individuals. The 
company follows a carefully designed recruitment and 
staffing process to ensure that all employee addition is 
immediately value accretive. The process followed has 
helped the company to reduce the learning curve sharply 
while pursuing new businesses.

We continuously improve and update our HR systems to 
meet the demands of the changing business environment 
to ensure that the Company will remain an attractive 
destination for both its internal and external talent.

The company has enjoyed a very cordial and peaceful 
work environment with a committed, strong, supportive 
and co-operative work force on the Shop floor. 
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The Company’s Corporate Governance report is pursuant to Regulation 34 read with Schedule V of the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. The Company submits the 
report on the matters mentioned in the said regulation and the practices followed by the Company..

1.	 COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CODE OF GOVERNANCE
	 The Company’s philosophy on Corporate Governance envisages maintaining a high level of disclosure and 

transparency in all its operations. It aims at enhancing the shareholder value through adoption of sound business 
practices, prudent financial management and a high standard of ethics throughout the organization.

	 The Company is in compliance with the requirements  stipulated under Regulations 17 to 27 read with Schedule V 
and clauses (b) to (i) and (t) of sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 46 of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (“SEBI Listing Regulations”), as applicable, with regard 
to corporate governance.

2.	 BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	 The Board of Directors are entrusted with the ultimate superintendence, control and responsibility of the affairs of the 

Company.
a.	 Composition and Board Diversity
	 The Company has a very balanced and diverse Board of Directors, including two Women Directors. The Composition 

of the Board primarily takes care of the business needs and stakeholder’s interest. The Non-Executive Directors 
including Independent Directors on the Board are well qualified, experienced, competent and highly renowned 
persons from the field of manufacturing, economics, business, legal, plantation, governance etc. They take active 
part at the Board and Committee Meetings by providing valuable guidance and expert advice to the Management on 
various aspects of business, policy direction, governance, compliances etc., and play critical role on strategic issues, 
which enhances the transparency and add value in the decision making process of the Board of Directors.

	 Independent Directors are non-executive directors as defined under Regulation 16(1)(b) of the SEBI Listing Regulations 
and Section 149(6) of the Companies Act 2013 along with rules framed thereunder. In terms of Regulation 25(8) 
of SEBI Listing Regulations, they have confirmed that they are not aware of any circumstance or situation which 
exists or may be reasonably anticipated that could impair or impact their ability to discharge their duties. Based on 
the declarations received from the Independent Directors, the Board of Directors has confirmed that they meet the 
criteria of independence as mentioned under Section 149(6) of the Companies Act 2013 and Regulation 16(1)(b) of 
the SEBI Listing Regulations and that they are independent of the management. Further, the Independent Directors 
have included their names in the data bank of Independent Directors maintained with the Indian Institute of Corporate 
Affairs in terms of Section 150 of the Act read with Rule 6 of the Companies (Appointment and Qualification of 
Directors) Rules, 2014.

	 The composition of the Board also complies with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015. 

	 During the year, Directors Mr.M.A Alagappan and Mr. P Shankar were retired from the Directorship due to completion 
of their second term of five years as Independent Directors.

	 Mr.Habib Hussain, Director who was liable to retire by rotation during the 38th AGM held on August 09, 2024, doesn’t 
offer himself for re-appointment.

	 Mr.M.M.Venkatachalam and Mr.Ranganath N Krishna were inducted into the Board as Independent Directors with 
effect from July 25, 2024.  Mr.Rahul Thomas was inducted into the Board as Non-Executive Non-Independent Director 
with effect from June 12, 2024.

	 As at the end of the financial year 2024-25, the total Board strength comprises of the following. 

Name of the Directors Category
Mr. Ajit Thomas Promoter / Non-Executive Director and Chairman
Mrs. Shanthi Thomas Promoter / Non-Executive Director

ANNEXURE – IX

Corporate Governance Report
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Mr. Rahul Thomas Non-Executive Director
Mr. M.M. Venkatachalam Non-Executive and Independent Director
Mr. Ranganth N. Krishna Non-Executive and Independent Director
Mr. A.D. Bopana Non-Executive and Independent Director
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay Non-Executive and Independent Woman Director

	 None of the Directors on the Board:
	 •	 holds directorships in more than ten public companies;
	 •	 serves as Director or as independent directors in more than seven listed entities; and
	 •	 who are the Executive Directors serve as independent directors in more than three listed entities.

Necessary disclosures regarding Committee positions in other public companies as on March 31, 2025 have been made 
by the Directors.

b.	 Shareholding of Non-executive / Independent Directors as on 31.03.2025

Name of the Non-Executive/ Independent Directors DIN No. of shares held
Mr. Ajit Thomas (Promoter/Chairman) 00018691 15,22,840
Mrs. Shanthi Thomas (Promoter/Director) 00567935 1,81,000
Mr. M M Venkatachalam (w.e.f 25.07.2024) 00152619 -
Mr. Ranganath N Krishna (w.e.f 25.07.2024) 00004044 -
Mr. A.D. Bopana 00576066 6,78,000
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay 01047261 -
Mr. Rahul Thomas (w.e.f 12.06.2024) 09762551 -

Note: Mrs. Shanthi Thomas, Director is the spouse of Mr. Ajit Thomas, Chairman 
          Mr. Rahul Thomas is the son of Mr. Ajit Thomas, Chairman

c.	 Board Meetings
	 During the year 2024-25, the Board met five times. The dates on which the meetings are held on 29.05.2024, 

12.06.2024, 09.08.2024, 12.11.2024 and 12.02.2025.
	 The attendance of each Director at the Board Meetings, last Annual General Meeting and the Number of other 

Directorship and Membership / Chairmanship of the Committee of each Director in various Companies are as under:

Name of the Directors

Attendance 
Particulars

No. of Directorships and Committee 
Membership/ Chairmanship (including AVT 
NPL but excluding Private Ltd. & Foreign 

Companies)
Board 

Meetings
Last AGM Directorship Committee 

Membership
Committee 

Chairmanship
Mr. Ajit Thomas 5 Yes 7 8 5
Mr. M M Venkatachalam 3 Yes 5 2 3
Mr. A.D. Bopana 4 Yes 3 3 -
Mrs. Shanthi Thomas 4 Yes 3 1 -
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay 5 Yes 4 4 -
Mr. Ranganath N Krishna 3 Yes 2 - -
Mr. Rahul Thomas 3 Yes 1 2 -

Note : For calculation of number of Committee positions in listed / public limited companies, considered only Audit 
Committee & Stakeholders Relationship Committee.
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d.	 Board Procedure
	 The Board meets at least once in a quarter and the interval between two meetings is not more than 120 days. 

Apart from the statutory requirements the role of the board includes setting annual business plan, periodic review of 
operations & considering proposals for diversification, investments and business re-organisation, evaluation of the 
performance of Board / Committees/ its Directors etc. The information periodically placed before the board includes 
status of statutory compliance, proceedings / minutes of all committees including the Audit Committee, Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee, Corporate Social Responsibility Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The 
Board also mandatorily review those stipulated in Schedule II Part A of the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

	 Video-conferencing facilities are also used to facilitate Directors travelling / residing abroad or at other locations to 
participate in the meetings.

	 The Board periodically reviews the compliance reports of all laws applicable to the Company.

e.	 Directors Profile in other listed entities
i)	 Names of the listed entities in which Mr. Ajit Thomas, is a Director and his category of Directorship are:

Name of the Company Category of Directorship
Saksoft Limited Non-Independent Director

Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited Chairman

ii)	 Names of the listed entities in which Mr. M M Venkatachalam, is a director and his category of Directorship:

Name of the Company Category of Directorship
E.I.D Parry (India) Limited Non-Executive – Non Independent Director

iii)	 Names of the listed entities in which Mr. A.D. Bopana, is a Director and his category of Directorship:

Name of the Company Category of Directorship
NIL NIL

iv)	 Names of the listed entities in which Mrs. Shanthi Thomas, is a Director and her category of Directorship:

Name of the Company Category of Directorship
Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited Executive Director

v)	 Names of the listed entities in which Mrs. Kavitha Vijay, is a director and her category of Directorship:

Name of the Company Category of Directorship
Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited Independent Director

Saksoft Limited Independent Director

vi)	 Names of the listed entities in which Mr. Ranganath N Krishna , is a Director and his category of Directorship:

Name of the Company Category of Directorship
NIL NIL

vii)	 Names of the listed entities in which Mr. Rahul Thomas, is a Director and his category of Directorship:

Name of the Company Category of Directorship
NIL NIL
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3.	 AUDIT COMMITTEE
	 The Company has a qualified independent Audit Committee in compliance with the section 177 of the Companies Act 

2013 and Regulation 18 of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015.

	 It consists of six members all being non-executive directors and out of that four are Independent Directors. All the 
members of the Committee have excellent financial and accounting knowledge. The terms of reference stipulated by 
Board to the audit committee cover the matters specified for Audit Committee under section 177 Companies Act 2013 
under Regulation 18 of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015.

	 The Committee was consisting of Mr. M.A. Alagappan,(till 24.07.2024) Mr. P. Shankar,(till 24.07.2024) Mr. Habib 
Hussain (till 09.08.2024). Mr. M.A. Alagappan, Independent Director was the Chairman of the Audit Committee (till 
24.07.2024). 

	 Presently the committee consists of Mr. A.D.Bopana, Mrs. Kavitha Vijay, Mr. M.M Venkatachalam (w.e.f 25.07.2024), 
Mr. Ranganath N Krishna (w.e.f 25.07.2024) the Independent Directors and Mr. Rahul Thomas, (w.e.f 09.08.2024)  
and Mr. Ajit Thomas, Non-Executive Directors. Mr. M.M. Venkatachalam, Independent Director is the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee (w.e.f 25.07.2024).

	 During the year 2024-25, the Audit Committee met four times and the dates on which the meetings held are 
29.05.2024,09.08.2024, 12.11.2024 and 12.02.2025.

	 The attendance of the each member of the Audit Committee at its meetings are as under:

Name of the Committee Member No. of meetings attended
Mr. M.A. Alagappan (Till 24.07.2024) 1
Mr. P. Shankar (Till 24.07.2024) 1
Mr. A.D. Bopana 4
Mr. Habib Hussain (Till 09.08.2024) 2
Mr. Ajit Thomas 4
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay 4
Mr. M.M Venkatachalam 3
Mr. Ranganath N Krishna 3
Mr. Rahul Thomas 2

During the year, the Board has accepted all the recommendations of the Audit Committee.

Terms of reference :
•	 The recommendation for appointment, remuneration and terms of appointment of auditors of the Company;
•	 Review and monitor the auditors independence and performance, and effectiveness of audit process;
•	 Examination of the financial statement and the auditor’s report thereon;
•	 Approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the Company with related parties;
•	 Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;
•	 Valuation of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it is necessary;
•	 Evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management systems;
•	 Monitoring the end use of funds raise through public offers and related matters.

The audit committee also mandatorily review the following areas, besides those stipulated in Schedule II Part C of the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015:
•	 Management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations;
•	 Statement of significant related party transactions (as defined by the audit committee) submitted by management
•	 Management letters / letters of internal control weakness issued by the statutory auditors;
•	 Internal audit reports relating to internal control weaknesses; and
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•	 The appointment, removal and terms of remunerations of the chief internal auditors shall be subject to review by the 
audit committee.

•	 statement of deviations:
(a)	 quarterly statement of deviations(s) including report of monitoring agency, if applicable, submitted to stock 

exchange(s) in terms of Regulation 32(1)
(b)	 annual statement of funds utilized for purposes other than those stated in the offer documents/prospectus/notice 

in terms of Regulations 32(7)

4.	 NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
	 The role of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is in accordance with the requirement of Section 178 of 

the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015. Under 
the terms of reference, the Committee’s role includes formulations of criteria for determining qualifications, positive 
attributes and independence of a Director and recommending to the Board a policy relating to the remuneration for 
the directors, key managerial personnel and Senior Managerial Personnel; formulation of criteria for evaluation of 
independent Directors and the Board; devising a policy on Board diversity and identification of persons who are 
qualified to become Directors and who may be appointed in Senior Management in accordance with the criteria 
laid down, and recommend to the Board their appointment and removal. The Committee’s scope further covers 
recommending to the Board the appointment / re-appointment of the executive and non-executive Directors.

	 The Board of Directors had constituted Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Company as required under 
Companies Act 2013 to consider and approve the remuneration payable to the Executive Directors / Non-executive 
Directors / Manager / Key Managerial Personnel / Senior Managerial Personnel of the Company based on the 
performance of the Company as well as the individual.

	 The Committee comprised of three Non-Executive Directors and out of which two are Independent Directors, viz.,  
Mr. M.A. Alagappan, Independent Director, (till 24.07.2024) Mr. P. Shankar, Independent Director (till 24.07.2024) and 
Mr. Habib Hussain, Non- Executive Director. (till 09.08.2024).

	 After 25.07.2024 the Committee comprise of Mr. M.M Venkatachalam, Independent Director as Chairman of the 
Committee, Mrs.Kavitha Vijay, Independent Director and Mr. Rahul Thomas Non-Executive Director as Members

	 The Committee met four times during the year on 29.05.2024, 12.06.2024, 12.11.2024   and 12.02.2025. 
	 The attendance of each member of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee at its meetings are as under

Name of the Committee Member No. of meetings attended
Mr. M.A. Alagappan (till 24.07.2024)      2
Mr. P. Shankar (till 24.07.2024) 2
Mr. Habib Hussain (till 09.08.2024) 2
Mr. M.M Venkatachalam 2
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay 2
Mr. Rahul Thomas 2

	 The details of remuneration paid to all the Directors and Manager for the year:
a)	 Manager

Name of the Manager Salary Rs. PF & other * Funds Rs. Total Rs.
Mr. B Krishna Kumar 1,23,10,333 5,80,800 1,28,91,133

*Gratuity is not included
i)	 Overall remuneration : The aggregate of salary and perquisites in any financial year shall not exceed the limits 

prescribed from time to time under section 197 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act 2013 read 
with Schedule V of the said Act, as may for the time being in force.

ii)	 Minimum remuneration : in case of loss or inadequacy of profits in any financial year during the currency of 
tenure of his service, the payment of salary and perquisites shall be governed by the limits prescribed under the 
Section II of Part II of Schedule V to the Companies Act 2013.
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b)	 Non-Executive Directors
	 The Company pays the sitting fees to all the Non-Executive Directors. The Board in its meeting held on 12.06.2024 

had revised the sitting fees from the said meeting date to Rs.30,000/- for attending each of the Board meeting 
and Audit Committee Meeting and Rs.15,000/-  for attending the  Nomination & Remuneration Committee Meeting, 
Stakeholders Relationship Committee Meeting, Corporate Social Responsibility Committee Meeting, Independent 
Directors meeting, Risk Management Committee and other sub-committee meeting etc.,

	 The sitting fees paid for the year ended 31st March 2025 to the Directors are as follows:

Name of the Director Amount (Rs.)
Mr.Ajit Thomas         3,05,000 
Mr.Habib Hussain         1,50,000 
Mr.M A Alagappan          95,000 
Mr.P Shankar         90,000 
Mr.A D Bopana         2,50,000 
Mrs.Shanthi Thomas            1,05,000 
Mrs.Kavitha Vijay         3,25,000 
Mr.M.M Venkatachalam 2,25,000
Mr.Ranganath N Krishna 1,95,000
Mr.Rahul Thomas 2,10,000
TOTAL       19,50,000 

5.	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE (CSR)
	 The Board of Directors had constituted the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of the Company which 

comprises of three directors viz., Mr. P. Shankar, (upto 24.07.2024) Mr. Habib Hussain (upto 09.08.2024)  Mr. Ajit 
Thomas,  Mrs. Kavitha Vijay (w.e.f. 25.07.2024) and Mr. Rahul Thomas (w.e.f. 09.08.2024). Mr. Ajit Thomas is the 
Chairman of the Committee.

	 Terms of reference
	 The CSR Committee has been entrusted with responsibility of formulating and recommending to the Board, a Corporate 

Social Responsibility Policy indicating the activities to be undertaken by the Company as specified in Schedule VII 
of the Companies Act, 2013; recommending to the Board the amount of expenditure to be incurred; monitoring the 
implementation of framework of CSR Policy and ensuring that implementation of the project and programs are in 
compliance with the CSR Policy of the Company.

	 The Committee met twice during the year on 29.05.2024 and 12.02.2025. The attendance of each member of the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee  meetings are as under:

Name of the Committee Member No. of meetings attended
Mr. P. Shankar (till 24.07.2024) 1
Mr. Ajit Thomas 2
Mr. Habib Hussain (till 09.08.2024) 1
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay 1
Mr. Rahul Thomas 1

	 The Board approved CSR Policy as formulated and recommended by the CSR Committee is displayed on the website 
of the Company.

	 A CSR Report giving details of the CSR activities undertaken by the Company during the year along with the amount 
spent on CSR activities forms part of the Board’s Report.



69

6.	 INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS MEETING
	 The Company has complied with the provisions of section 149(6) of the Companies Act 2013 and Regulation 25 of the 

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. During 
the year under review, the Independent Directors met on 12.02.2025 without the attendance of Non-independent 
Directors and members of the management. The Company has also obtained declaration from each of Independent 
Director pursuant to section 149 (7) of the Companies Act, 2013.

	 All the Independent Directors of the Company were present at the said Meeting. The attendance of the each as 
Independent Director at its meetings is as under:

Name of the Independent Director No. of meetings attended
Mr.M.M.Venkatachalam 1
Mr. Ranganath N Krishna 1
Mr. A.D. Bopana 1
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay 1

	 All the Independent Directors of the Company have registered their name in the Independent Directors data base 
registration maintained by Indian Institute of Corporate Affairs (IICA) and the details of their registration are as under:

Name of the Independent Director Registration Number
Mr. M M Venkatachalam IDDB -  DI -202002 – 008278
Mr. Ranganath N Krishna IDDBI-  DI- 202001 – 004982
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay IDDBI - DI-202001 – 001753
Mr. A D Bopana IDDB -  DI- 202002 - 009386

7.	 STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE
	 The Company has constituted the Stakeholders Relationship Committee and its members are Mr. Ajit Thomas, non-

executive Chairman, Mr. A.D. Bopana, Independent Director and Mr. Habib Hussain, Director (till 09.08.2024). 
	 Mr. Rahul Thomas was inducted as Member of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee (w.e.f 09.08.2024) 
	 Mr. Ajit Thomas, a non-executive Chairman of the Company is the Chairman of the Committee. Mr.P Mahadevan,  

Company Secretary is the Compliance Officer.
	 During the year Committee met once on 12.02.2025. There was no request for dematerialisation pending for approval 

as on 31.03.2025. The attendance of the each member of the Stakeholders Relationship Committee at its meetings 
are as under:

Name of the Committee Member No. of meetings attended
Mr. Ajit Thomas 1
Mr. A.D. Bopana 1
Mr. Rahul Thomas 1

	 The Committee shall consider and resolve the grievances of the security holders of the Company including complaints 
related to transfer of shares, non-receipt of annual report and non-receipt of declared dividends.

	 The secretarial department of the Company and the Registrar and share transfer agent, M/s. Cameo Corporate 
Services Ltd., attend to all grievance of the shareholders received directly or through SCORES, Stock Exchanges etc.

	 Efforts are made to ensure that grievance are more expeditiously redressed to the satisfaction of the investors. 
Shareholders are requested to furnish their telephone numbers and email addresses to facilitate prompt actions. 
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	 SUMMARY OF SHAREHOLDERS COMPLAINTS AS ON 31.03.2025

Sl No. Particulars No. of complaints
1. Number of Shareholders complaints pending as on 01.04.2024 Nil
2. Number of shareholders complaints received during the year 2024-25 Nil
3. Number of shareholders complaints resolved during the year 2024-25 Nil
4. Number of Shareholders complaints pending as on 31.03.2025 Nil

8.	 RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
	 The company during the year constituted a Risk Management Committee in compliance with section 177(4) of the 

Companies Act 2013 and Regulation 21 of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

	 It consists of three members of the board and out of that two are independent directors. Mr. M A Alagappan, Independent 
Director is the Chairman of the committee (till 24.07.2024). Mrs. Kavitha Vijay, Independent Director was appointed as 
the Chairman of the Committee. 

	 During the year Committee met twice on 01.07.2024 and 22.01.2025 The attendance of each member of the Risk 
Management Committee at its meetings are as under:

Name of the Committee Member No. of meetings attended
Mr. Ajit Thomas 1
Mr. M A Alagappan (till 24.07.2024) 1
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay 2
Mr. A D Bopana 1

	 Terms of reference :
•	 The committee has formulated a detailed risk management policy which is published on the website of the 

company.
•	 The committee ensures proper methodology, processes and systems are in place to monitor and evaluate risks 

associated with the Business.
•	 The Committee keeps informed about the risk and recommend to the board of directors of any actions to be 

taken.
•	 Mr. A Ramadas, Sr. Vice President and CFO is appointed as the Chief Risk Management officer.

9.	 PARTICULARS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

Name of Senior Management Personnel Category
Mr.B Krishna Kumar President & Chief Operations Officer(upto 31.03.2025)
Mr.A Ramadas Sr. Vice President & CFO
Mr.Raji P T Sr. Vice President (Speciality Tea Division)
Dr.Yoganand Barve Sr. Vice President (Agro Projects R&D)
Mr.D.Venkatesh Vice President (Agri Input Sales)
Mr.Arun R Vice President (Production)
Mr.Mohanaraj .D Sr. Vice President (Operations)
Mr.Sharon Josh Company Secretary (upto 21.07.2024)
Mr.P.Mahadevan Company Secretary (from 12.11.2024)

10.	 VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY
	 The Company has established a Vigil Mechanism / Whistle Blower Policy for Directors and Employees to report to the 

management about the unethical behaviour, fraud or violation of Company’s code of conduct, pursuant to section 177
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	 (9) of the Companies Act, 2013, and Regulation 22 of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations 2015. The mechanism provides for adequate safeguards against victimization of employees and Directors 
who use such mechanism and make provision for direct access to the Chairperson of the Audit Committee in and 
exceptional cases.

	 No personnel have been denied access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee to report genuine concerns. 
Establishment of vigil mechanism is hosted on the web site of the Company under the web link: http://www.avtnatural.
com/investorrelations.com

11.	 POLICY ON BOARD DIVERSITY
	 The Policy on Board Diversity adopted by the Company includes the following:

a.		 Diversity is ensured through consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to skills, regional and 
industry experience, background and other qualities.

b.	 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall lead the process for Board appointment and for identifying 
and nominating, for approval of the Board, candidates for appointment to the Board.

c.	 Board appointments are based on merit and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due 
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, including gender.

d.	 The Company shall also take into account factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time 
to time.

e.	 The benefits of experience/knowledge in the areas relevant to the Company and diversity continue to influence 
succession planning and continue to be the key criteria for the search and nomination of Directors to the Board.

12.	F AMILIARISATION PROGRAMME FOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS
	 As per regulation 25(7) of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015, the Company 

familiarize the Independent Directors through various programs about the Company as well as visit to the factory. The 
Company provides necessary documents, reports, internal policies etc., also make presentation to enable them to 
familiarise with the Company’s procedures and practices.

	 The familiarisation programme for its Independent Directors has been uploaded in the Company‘s website.

13.	 BOARD EVALUATION
	 During the year under review, the Board adopted the formal mechanism for evaluating its performance and effectiveness 

as well as that of its committees and individual Directors, including their Chairman of the Board. The details of the 
same are provided in the Directors Report.

14.	 CODE OF CONDUCT
	 The Company has laid down a Code of Conduct for all Board of Directors as well as for Senior Management Personnel 

of the Company. The Code of Conduct is available in the Company‘s website.
	 All the Board of Directors and Senior Management Personnel have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct. 

The declaration to that effect forms part of this report.

15.	 PREVENTION OF INSIDER TRADING CODE
	 The Company has adopted the revised Code of Conduct for Prevention of Insider Trading, in accordance with SEBI 

(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015, as amended from time to time, w.e.f. 01.04.2019 and the same has 
been uploaded in the website of the Company.

	 All the Promoters, Directors, designated employees, connected persons who could have access to the unpublished 
price sensitive information of the Company are governed by this code. The trading window shall be closed from the 
end of every quarter till 48 hours after the declaration of financial results and in case of any other events, if required.

	 Further, the Board in its meeting held on 08.11.2019, revised the policy on Code of Internal Procedures and Conduct 
for Regulating, Monitoring and Reporting of Trading by Insiders, by incorporating the changes in line with SEBI 
(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations.2019 dated 17.09.2019 and the same has been uploaded in the website 
of the company.

	 The company also maintains the details of UPSI in a structured digital database internally in accordance with 
Regulation 3(5) of SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015.
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16.	 CEO / CFO CERTIFICATE
	 Mr. A. Ramadas, Sr. Vice President and CFO have given CEO/CFO certificate to the Board for the quarter and year 

ended 31st March 2025. The Board has taken on record the CEO/CFO certificate as per the format given under 
regulation 17(8) read with Part B of Schedule II of the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations 2015 at its meeting held on 28th May 2025. 

17.	F OREIGN EXCHANGE RISK AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
	 The Company uses forward exchange contracts to hedge its exposure in foreign currency and the details of which are 

given in the Note No. 43 to the financial statements.

18.	 GENERAL BODY MEETINGS
a)	 Location and Time for last three Annual General Meetings:

Year Location Date Time

2023-24
Through two-way video conferencing, Video Conferencing / 
Other Audio-Visual Means deemed Venue was No.60, Rukmani 
Lakshmipathy Salai, Egmore, Chennai 600 008.

09.08.2024 11:30 AM

2022-23 Hotel Vestin Park, 'Palki Hall', No 39, Montieth Road, Egmore, 
Chennai 600 008, 25.08.2023 11:00 AM

2021-22
Through two-way video conferencing, Video Conferencing / 
Other Audio-Visual Means deemed Venue was No.60, Rukmani 
Lakshmipathy Salai, Egmore, Chennai 600 008.

24.08.2022 11:00 AM

b)	 In the last three years, the following Special Resolutions were passed through annual general meeting: 
		  During  the 36th Annual General Meeting held on 24th August 2022,  37th Annual General Meeting Held on 

	 25th August 2023 and 38th Annual General Meeting held on 9th August 2024 as follows :-
i)	 Appointment of Mr. B Krishna Kumar as the ‘Manager’ of the company.
ii)	 Amendment to Main Object Clause of the Memorandum of Association.
iii)	 Amendment to Articles of Association of the Company.
iv)	 Appointment of Mr. Rahul Thomas as Non-Executive Director  
c)	 Through postal ballot on 18th July 2024, the company had passed the following two Special Resolutions 
	 i.	 Appointment of Mr. M M Venkatachalam as Non – Executive & Independent Director
	 ii.	 Appointment of Mr. Ranganath N Krishna as Non-Executive & Independent Director
		 The special resolutions passed in the Annual General Meetings do not require postal ballot.

19.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
	 All transactions entered with related parties for the year under review were at arm’s length basis and in the ordinary 

course of business and that the provisions of Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 are not attracted. There were 
no transactions exceeding 10% of the annual consolidated turnover as per the last audited financial statements, 
during the year.

	 Further, there were no material related party transactions during the year under review with the Promoters, Directors 
or Key Managerial Personnel or other designated persons which may have a potential conflict with the interest of the 
Company at large. Accordingly, the disclosure of Related Party transactions to be provided under section 134 (3)(h) 
of the Companies Act 2013, in Form AOC -2 is given in the Annexure – IV, forming part of this report. 

	 As per the SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015, all the related party transactions 
were placed before the Audit Committee and also the Board of Directors. The Prior omnibus approval of the Audit 
Committee was obtained on yearly basis for the transactions entered with related parties, except with the wholly 
owned subsidiary Company, whose accounts are consolidated with the Company. The transactions entered into 
pursuant to the omnibus approval so granted has been placed before the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors 
for their approval on a quarterly basis.

	 The Company is having both the Related Party Transaction policy and the Policy for determining Material Subsidiary, 
which are hosted on the website of the Company.
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20.	 DISCLOSURES
	 There has been no instance of non-compliance by the Company, penalty or strictures imposed on the Company by 

the Stock Exchange or SEBI or any statutory authority on any matter related to capital markets during the year.
	 The Company has complied with all requirements of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.
	 Disclosure by listed entity and its subsidiaries of ‘Loans and advances in the nature of loans to firms/companies in which directors 

are interested.  NIL
	 The Company nor its subsidiaries have provided Loans and advances in the nature of loans to firms/companies in 

which directors are interested.
	 Disclosure by listed entity and its subsidiaries of ‘Loans and advances in the nature of loans to firms/companies in which directors 

are interested.  NIL

21.	 Disclosures in relation to the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and  
	 Redressal) Act, 2013:
		  a.	 number of complaints filed during the financial year : NIL
		  b.	 number of complaints disposed of during the financial year : NIL
		  c.	 number of complaints pending as on end of the financial year: NIL 

22.	 DISCLOSURE RELATING TO UNCLAIMED BONUS SHARES 2006 & 2013
	 The Company had issued bonus shares in the ratio of 1:1 to the shareholders in October 2006 and again September 

2013. The postal authorities had returned the share certificates of some of the shareholders, during the same period, 
for want of proper address / non- availability of the person in the given address.

	 As per the Regulation 39 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 all those unclaimed shares were transferred to Unclaimed Suspense Account. The 
Company had opened a demat account with M/s Stock Holding Corporation of India Limited, Chennai, (SHCIL) and 
the said shares are kept dematerialized, purely on behalf of the allottees who are entitled for the shares. These shares 
are released to the shareholders after the proper verification of their identity once the request is received from the 
shareholders.

	 The details of the Bonus shares 2006 & 2013 held in Demat (Suspense) Account with SHCIL are as under:

Particulars No. of 
Shareholders No. of Shares

Aggregate number if shareholders and the outstanding shares in suspense 
account as on 01.04.2024.

342 8,41,050

No. of shareholders approached for transfer of shares during the year to their 
account.

1  30,000

No, of shareholders to whom shares were transferred during the year. 1  30,000
Shareholders whose shares are transferred to the demat account  of the IEPF 
authority as per section 124 of the Companies Act 2013.

2 10,000

Aggregate no. of shareholders and the outstanding  shares in the suspense 
account as on 31.03.2025

339  8,01,050

	 Further, the voting rights on these shares shall remain frozen till the rightful owner of such shares claims the shares.
	 The members, who have not yet claimed the bonus share certificate are requested to approach immediately the 

Company’s Share Transfer Agent, M/s Cameo Corporate Services Limited, ‘Subramanian Building’, No.1, Club House 
Road, Chennai - 600 002 and claim the shares.

23.	 MEANS OF COMMUNICATION
	 The quarterly, half-yearly unaudited financial results and the annual audited financial results are submitted to both 

the BSE Ltd., and the National stock exchange of India Ltd., as envisaged under Regulation 33 of the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015. The financial results 
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are also published in ‘Business Line’ in English and ‘Makkal Kural’ in Tamil. Further, the results are also uploaded in 
the Company’s website: www. avtnatural.com.

	 The Management Discussion and Analysis (MD & A) report forms part of this annual report.
	 During the year, the Company has not made any presentation to institutional investors or to the analysts.

a.	 NSE Electronic Application Processing System (NEAPS) ; The NEAPS is web-based application designed by 
NSE for corporates. All periodical compliance filings like shareholding pattern, corporate governance report, 
media release, statement of investor complaints, among others are filed electronically on NEAPS.

b.	 BSE Corporate Compliance & Listing Centre (the ‘Listing Centre’): BSE’s listing Centre is a web-based application 
designed for corporate. All periodical compliance filings like shareholding pattern, corporate governance report, 
media releases, statement of invest complaints, among other are also filed electronically on the listing Centre.

24.	 TRANSFER OF SHARES TO INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND (IEPF) AUTHORITY
	 Pursuant to Section 124 and 125 of the Companies Act 2013 read with the Investor Education and Protection 

Fund Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016 (“IEPF Rules”), dividends, if not claimed for 
consecutive period of 7 years from the date of transfer to unpaid Dividend Account of the Company, are liable to be 
transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund (“IEPF”)

	 Further, Shares in respect of such dividends which have not been claimed for a period of 7 consecutive years are also 
liable to be transferred to the demat account of the IEPF Authority. The said requirement does not apply to shares 
in respect of which there is a specific order of Court, Tribunal or Statutory Authority, restraining any transfer of the 
shares. The provisions relating to transfer of shares were made effective by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, vide its 
Notification dated October 13, 2017 read with the circular dated October 16,2017.

	 In the interest of the shareholders, the Company sends periodical reminders to the shareholders to claim their 
dividends in order to avoid transfer of dividends / shares to IEPF Authority. Notices in this regards also published in 
the newspapers and the details of unclaimed dividends and shareholders shares are liable to be transferred to IEPF 
Authority are uploaded on the Company’s web site (www.avtnatural. com/investor_relations).

	 In the light of the aforesaid provisions, the Company had during the year, transferred to the IEPF Authority the 
unclaimed dividends outstanding for 7 consecutive years. Further the Company had transferred 73,636 shares as on 
31.03.2025, to the IEPF Authority, as detailed under:

Sl.No. Date of Transfer of Shares to IEPF No of Shares
1 6th December 2024 32,356
2 26th March 2025 41,280

Total 73,636

	 The members who have a claim on above dividends and shares may claim the same from IEPF Authority by submitting 
an online application in the prescribed Form No. IEPF-5 available on the website www.iepf.gov.in and sending a 
physical copy of the same, duly signed to the Company, along with requisite documents enumerated in the Form No. 
IEFP-5. No claim shall lie against the Company in respect of the dividend / shares so transferred to IEPF.

25.	 BOARD QUALIFICATIONS, EXPERTISE AND ATTRIBUTES
	 In accordance with Clause C (h)(i) and (ii) of Schedule V read with Regulations 34(3) of SEBI (Listing Obligations 

and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015, the Board of Directors have identified the following Core Skills/
Expertise/Competencies, required for Board Members in the context of Company’s business and sectors, to function 
effectively.

	 The Board of the Company comprises qualified members who bring in the required skills, expertise and competence 
that allows them to make effective contribution to the Board and its Committees. The members of the Board are 
committed to ensure that the Board is in compliance with the highest standards of corporate governance.

	 The below table summarizes the key qualifications, skills, expertise and attributes considered while nominating a 
candidate to serve on the Board:
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	 Board Qualification Indicators

Agriculture and Contract 
farming

Being a Director in an Agro based Company, proficiency in complex Agriculture, 
contract farming, backward integration etc., are key to develop a team.

Business Operations Vast experience in driving business success across the country with an understanding 
of diverse business environments, economic conditions, cultures and regulatory 
frameworks and have a broad perspective on market opportunities.

Leadership Leadership experience in a significant enterprise with a practical understanding of 
organizations, processes, strategic planning and risk management. Demonstrated 
strengths in developing talent, succession planning and driving change and long-
term growth.

Technology A significant background in technology resulting in knowledge of how to anticipate 
technological trends, generate disruptive innovation and extend or create new 
business models.

Board Governance Service on the Board of the public Company to develop insights about maintaining 
board and management accountability, protecting shareholder interests and observing 
appropriate governance practices.

Sales and Marketing Experience in developing strategies to grow sales and market share, build brand 
awareness and equity and enhance Company reputation.

Finance Being a Director in manufacturing Company, proficiency in complex financial 
management, capital allocation and financial reporting processes are must.

26.	 SKILL SET OF INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS

Agriculture 
and Con-

tract farming

Business 
Operations Leadership Technology Board  

Governance
Sales and 
Marketing Finance

Mr. Ajit Thomas Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr. M.M. Venkatachalam Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Mr. Ranganath Krishna Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes
Mr.A.D. Bopana Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes - Yes
Mrs. Shanthi Thomas Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes  
Mr. Rahul Thomas Yes Yes Yes - Yes Yes Yes
Mrs. Kavitha Vijay Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

27.	 OTHER REMUNERATION PAID TO STATUTORY AUDITORS.
	 Regulation 33 (1) (d) of the Listing Regulations stipulates that limited review / audit reports shall be given only by an 

Auditor who has subjected himself to the peer review process and holds a valid certificate issued by the Peer Review 
Board of the ICAI. The statutory auditors of the Company M/s. Suri & Co have undergone the peer review process 
and been issued requisite certificate valid till 30.04.2025 that was placed before the Audit Committee

	 Total fees for all services paid by the Company on a consolidated basis, to the statutory auditor and all entities in the 
network firm/network entity of which the statutory auditor is a part.

	 The details of total fees paid to M/s. Suri & Co, Chartered Accountants, Statutory Auditors during the financial year 
2024-25 for all services rendered by them is given below:
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Particulars Amount (Rs. in lakhs)
Audit fees 20.00
Tax Audit 5.65
Taxation Matters 5.25
Certification 5.73
Reimbursement of expenses 1.69
Total 38.32

28.	 CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS
	 The certificate from Mr. V. Suresh, Senior Partner of V Suresh Associates, Practising Company Secretaries, Chennai 

has been obtained by the Company stating that none of the Directors on the Board of the Company have been 
debarred or disqualified from being appointed or continuing as Directors of Companies by Securities and Exchange 
Board of India / Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such statutory authority..

29.	 CREDIT RATING 
	 The Company has obtained the credit rating from ICRA Limited and the rating for outstanding on the bank facilities is  

[ICRA]A+  The credit rating report is uploaded in the Company’s web site (www.avtnatural. com/investor relations)

30.	 GENERAL - SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

1 Annual General Meeting
- Date and Time 13th August 2025 at 11.30 AM
- Venue Video Conference / Other Audio Visual Means

2 Financial calendar
Results for the quarter ended 30.06.2025 Between 20th July & 14th August 2025
Results for the quarter ending 30.09.2025 Between 20th October & 14th November 2025
Results for the quarter ending 31.12.2025 Between 20th January & 14th February 2026
Results for the quarter ending 31.03.2026 Between 30th April & 30th May 2026

3 Book Closure date Register of Member and the Share Transfer books of 
the Company shall be closed from 7th August 2025 to 
13th August 2025 (both days are inclusive)

4 Dividend payment date 1st Week of September 2025
5 Listing of Equity shares BSE Limited & The National Stock Exchange of India 

Ltd., Mumbai.
The Annual Listing Fees as prescribed has been paid 
to the above stock exchanges.
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30.6	Share Transfer Agent	 :	 Cameo Corporate Services Limited 
				    ‘Subramaniam Building’,  
				    No.1, Club House Road, Chennai - 600 002. 
				    Tel: 044-28460390 – 94

	 Contact Person	 :	 Mr. Nagaraj
	 Email id		 :	 nagaraj@cameoindia.com, investor@ cameoindia.com
	 Compliance Officer	 :	 Mr. P. Mahadevan, Company Secretary
	 Email id		 :	 mahadevan.p@avtnatural.com
30.7	Share Transfer System: The Company’s shares are traded in the Stock Exchanges compulsorily in demat mode. 

Pursuant to the directive issued by the Securities and Exchange Board of India, the share transfers both physical and 
dematted, are now handled by Company’s ShareTransfer Agent viz., Cameo Corporate Services Limited, Chennai. 
Shares in physical mode, which are lodged for transfer either with the Company or with the Share Transfer Agent, are 
processed and the share certificates are returned to the transferees within 15 days of lodgement in case of transfer 
and within 21 days in case of transmission, as per the SEBI ( LODR) Regulations 2015. However, no physical share 
transfers are accepted after 31.03.2019 as per SEBI Circular.

30.8	Distribution of shareholding as on 31st March 2025

Shareholding (Rs.) No. of holders % of Total 
holders

Total Amount 
(Rs.)

% of Total 
Amount

1 5000 52,095 98.00 1,45,47,983 9.55
5001 10000 574 1.08 43,14,197 2.83

10001 20000 320 0.60 45,75,529 3.00
20001 30000 61 0.11 14,83,510 0.97
30001 40000 38 0.07 14,08,475 0.92
40001 50000 13 0.02 5,86,478 0.39
50001 100000 24 0.05 15,66,309 1.03

100000 And above 31 0.06 12,38,01,519 81.30
Total  53,156 100.00 15,22,84,000 100.00

30.9   Pattern of shareholding as on 31st March 2025

CATEGORY TOTAL SHARES % TO EQUITY
Resident 3,08,05,628 20.23
NRI 11,08,738 0.73
Corporate Body 34,03,259 2.23
Clearing Member 608 0.00
Bank 24,000 0.01
FPI 1,36,909 0.09
IEPF 17,74,863 1.17
ALTERNATIVE INV.FUND          1,38,000 0.09
Directors/Relatives 6,78,000 0.45
Key Managerial Personnel 1,020 0.00
Promoters 11,42,12,975 75.00

TOTAL 15,22,84,000 100.00
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30.10 Dematerialisation shares & Liquidity :   97.64% of the equity shares have been dematerialised upto  31.03.2025.
	    The Company’s shares are listed in two stock Exchanges viz., BSE Limited (BSE) and National Stock Exchange of    

   India Limited (NSE).
30.11  The Company has not issued any GDR / Warrants and Convertible Bonds.

30.12  Plant Locations	 1.	 Plot No. 225/1A, 5-7, Kaipoorikkara, South Vazhakulam,  
				    Marampilly Post, Aluva - 683 105, Ernakulam District,  
				    Kerala. Tel : 0484-2848240 Fax: 0484- 2677512

				    2.	 SF No. 234/1, Mysore Trunk Road, Puduvadavalli,  
				    Sathyamangalam - 638 401, Erode District, Tamil Nadu.

				    3.	 HL No. 1182, Harikura Village, Honavally Hobli, Tiptur  
				    Taluk - 572 201, Tumkur District, Karnataka.

30.13 Subsidiary Companies	 1.	 AVT Natural Europe Ltd., 
				    2, Calico House, Clove Hitch Quay, 
				    Plantation Wharf, London SW 113TN

			        2.	 Avt Natural S.a. De C.v. 
				    Iza Business Center 
				    Blv. Bernanrdo Quintana Arrioja 
				    300, Torre 57, Piso 14, Centro Sur, Queretaro,  
				    Santiago De Queretaro, Mexico, C.p 76090

			        3.	 AVT Natural - FZCO 
				    Dubai Silicon Oasis, DDP, Building Al, 
				    Dubai, UAE, Post Box No.342001.

			        4.	 AVT Natural North America Inc,  
				    (Wholly owned subsidiary of AVT Natural Europe Ltd.,) 
				    1013 Centre Road, Suite 403S, Delaware,  
				    Wilmington, New Castle, Zip code - 19805

30.14 Address for Correspondence		  No. 60, Rukmani Lakshmipathy Salai, 
				    Egmore, Chennai - 600 008. 
				    Tel.: 044-2858 4147, Fax: 2858 4147, 
				    E-mail: AVT NPL@avtnatural.com 
				    Website: www.avtnatural.com, 
				    CIN: L15142TN1986PLC012780

30.15 E-mail ID for Investors		  shareholder@avtnatural.com

31.	 DISCRETIONARY REQUIREMENTS

The Non-mandatory requirements have been adopted to the extent and in the manner as stated under the appropriate 
headings detailed below:

		 Audit Qualifications: The financial statements of the Company are unqualified.
	 Reporting of internal auditor: The internal audit report are placed before the Audit Committee.
	 Separate posts of Chairman and CEO: The Chairman of the Board is Non-executive Director and his position is 

separate from that of the CEO.
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ANNEXURE – X

DECLARATION UNDER REGULATION 34 (3) READ WITH SCHEDULE V (D) OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
BOARD OF INDIA (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015 REGARDING 
ADHERENCE TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT

In accordance with Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V (D) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, as amended, I hereby confirm that, all the Directors and 
Senior Management Personnel of the Company have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct, as applicable to them 
for the financial year ended 31st March 2025.

For AVT Natural Products Limited

Place : Chennai	 B. Krishna Kumar
Date  : 31st March 2025	 President & Manager
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ANNEXURE – XI
AUDITORS CERTIFICATE ON COMPLIANCE WITH THE CONDITIONS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE UNDER THE 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) 
REGULATIONS, 2015   

To
The Board of Directors 
AVT Natural Products Limited
1.	 This Certificate is issued in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 5th April 2024.
2.	 We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by AVT Natural Products Limited (‘the 

Company’) for the year ended 31st March 2025, as per Regulations 17-27, clauses (b) to (i) of Regulation 46(2) 
and paragraphs C, D and E of Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (‘Listing Regulations’).

Management’s Responsibility
3.	 The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Management. Our examination 

was limited to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the company for ensuring the compliance of the 
conditions of Corporate Governance. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
4.	 Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Regulations, our responsibility is limited to examining the procedures 

and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance with conditions of Corporate 
Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

5.	 We have examined the books of accounts and other relevant records and documents maintained by the Company 
for the purpose of providing reasonable assurance on the compliance with conditions of Corporate Governance 
requirements by the Company.

6.	 We have carried out our examination of the relevant records of the Company in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing specified under Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, in so far as applicable for the purpose of 
this certificate, the Guidance Note on Certification of Corporate Governance issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (‘ICAI’) and the Guidance Note on Reports or Certificates for Special Purposes issued by the 
ICAI which requires that we comply with the ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics issued by the ICAI.

7.	 We have complied with the relevant applicable requirements of the Standard on Quality Control (SQC) 1, Quality 
Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Historical Financial information, and Other Assurance and 
Related Services Engagements.

Opinion
8.	 Based on examination of the relevant records and according to the information and explanations provided to us and 

the representation made by the management, in our opinion, the Company has complied, in all material respects, 
with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the Regulations 17 to 27, clauses (b) to (i) of Regulation 
46(2), and paragraphs C, D and E of Schedule V of the Listing Regulations during the year ended 31st March 2025.

9.	 We state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor as to the efficiency 
or effectiveness with which the Management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Restrictions on use
10.	 This certificate is provided to Board of Directors of the Company solely for the purpose of complying with the aforesaid 

Regulations and may not be suitable for any other purpose. We have no responsibility to update this certificate for 
events and circumstances occurring after the date of this certificate. Accordingly, we do not accept or assume any 
liability or any duty of care for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose 
hands it may come without our prior consent in writing.  

For Suri & Co,
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No. 004283S

G. Rengarajan
Partner

Place: Chennai 	 Membership No. 219922
Date: 28th May 2025 	 UDIN: 25219922BMISUI3963
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of AVT Natural Products Limited

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial 
Statements

Opinion
We have audited the standalone financial statements of 
AVT Natural Products Limited (“the Company”), which 
comprise the standalone balance sheet as at 31 March 
2025, and the standalone statement of Profit and Loss 
(including other comprehensive income), standalone 
statement of changes in equity, standalone statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
standalone financial statements, including a summary 
of material accounting policies and other explanatory 
information (hereinafter referred to as “standalone 
financial statements”).
In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid  
standalone financial statements give the information 
required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in 
the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards 
prescribed under Section 133 of the Act read with the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2023, 
as amended, (“Ind AS”) and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the 
Company as at 31 March 2025, the profit and other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and its cash 
flows for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing (SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the 
Companies Act, 2013. Our responsibilities under those 
SAs are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the standalone financial statements under 
the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements and the Code 
of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

Key Audit Matter
Key audit matters are those matter that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
standalone financial statements of the current period. 
This matter was addressed in the context of our audit 
of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on this matter.
We have determined the matter described below to be the 
key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Sl. 
No. Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

1. Revenue recognition:
Revenue from sale of 
goods is recognized 
when the control of the 
goods has transferred to 
the customer and when 
there are no longer any 
unfulfilled obligations to 
the customer.
 
Disclosure Note 23 and 
the accounting policies 
provide additional 
information on how the 
Company accounts for its 
revenue in compliance 
with Ind AS 115.

Our audit procedures included the following:
•	 Considering the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies regarding 

revenue recognition, by comparing with applicable accounting standards.
•	 Testing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the Company’s 

general IT controls and key IT/manual application controls over the Company’s 
systems which govern recording of revenue in the general ledger accounting 
system.

•	 Performing substantive testing (including year- end cut-off testing) by selecting 
samples of revenue transactions recorded during the year (also before and after 
the financial year end) by verifying the underlying documents, which include 
sales invoices/contracts and shipping documents.

•	 Selecting a sample on test check basis of revenue transactions and contracts 
with customers to re- check that sales accounting was calculated in accordance 
with the contract conditions.

•	 Selecting a sample of credit note issued to the customers during the year and 
verifying the same is in accordance with terms of agreement with the customers.

•	 Performed data analytical procedures to identify and evaluate a sample of 
manual journal entries.

•	 Traced disclosure information from accounting records and other supporting 
documentation.
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Information other than the Standalone Financial 
Statements and Auditors’ Report thereon
The Company’s management and Board of Directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the other information. 
The other information comprises the information included 
in the Management Discussion and Analysis, Board’s 
Report including Annexures to Board’s Report, Business 
Responsibility Report and Shareholder’s Information, but 
does not include the standalone financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the standalone financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the standalone 
financial statements, or our knowledge obtained during 
course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management and Those 
Charged with Governance for Standalone Financial 
Statements
The Company’s management and Board of Directors are 
responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the 
Act with respect to the preparation of these standalone 
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the 
financial position, financial performance , including other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian 
Accounting Standards specified under section 133 of the 
Act, read with Rule 7 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014.  This responsibility also includes maintenance of 
adequate accounting records in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and 
other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, relevant 
to the preparation and presentation of the standalone 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.
In preparing the standalone financial statements, 
management and Board of Directors are responsible 
for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process. 
Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the 
Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone 
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the standalone financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone 
financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also::
•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the standalone financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under 
section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for 
expressing our opinion on whether the company has 
adequate internal financial controls with reference to 
the standalone financial statements in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report 
to the related disclosures in the standalone financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
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modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern; 
and

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the standalone financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the standalone financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
standalone financial statements that, individually or in 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of 
a reasonably knowledgeable user of the financial statements 
may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and 
qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate 
the effect of any identified misstatements in the financial 
statements.
We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the standalone financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1.	 As required by the Companies (Auditors’ Report) Order, 

2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government 
of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of 
the Act, we give in the “Annexure A” a statement on the 
matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, 
to the extent applicable.

2.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report 
that: 
(a)	 (a)	We have sought and obtained all the 

information and explanations which to the best of 
our knowledge and belief were necessary for the 
purposes of our audit.

(b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as 

required by law have been kept by the Company 
so far as it appears from our examination of 
those books except for the matters stated in 
the paragraph 2(h)(vi) below on reporting under 
Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014

(c)	 The standalone Balance Sheet, the standalone 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive income), the standalone 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
standalone Statement of Cash Flows dealt with 
by this Report are in agreement with the books of 
account of the company.

(d)	 In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial 
statements comply with the Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under Section 133 
of the Act.

(e)	 On the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors as on 31 March 2025 
taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of 
the directors is disqualified as on 31 March 2025 
from being appointed as a director in terms of 
Section 164 (2) of the Act.

(f)	 The modifications relating to the maintenance of 
accounts and other matters connected therewith 
are as stated in the paragraph 2(b) above on 
reporting under Section 143(3)(b) of the Act and 
paragraph 2(i)(6) below on reporting under Rule 
11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014.

(g)	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls with reference to the standalone 
financial statements of the Company and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to 
our separate Report in “Annexure B”.

(h)	 With respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with the 
requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as 
amended: 

	 In our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us, the 
company has not made any payments which are 
covered under section 197 read with Schedule V 
of the Act.

(i)	 With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditors’ Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, 
in our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us::
i.i.	 The Company has disclosed the impact 

of pending litigations as at 31 March 2025 
on its financial position in its standalone 
financial statements – Refer Note 37 (a) to 
(e) to the standalone financial statements;
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ii.	 The Company has made provision, 
as required under the applicable law 
or accounting standards, for material 
foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term 
contracts including derivative contracts – 
Refer Note 43 to the standalone financial 
statements;

iii.	 There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to the 
Investor Education and Protection Fund..

iv.	 (a) The management has represented that, 
to the best of its knowledge and belief, 
as disclosed in the Note 51(b) to the 
standalone financial statements,  no 
funds have been advanced or loaned 
or invested (either from borrowed funds 
or share premium or any other sources 
or kind of funds) by the company to or in 
any other persons or entities, including 
foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with 
the understanding, whether recorded 
in writing or otherwise, that the 
Intermediary shall, whether, directly 
or indirectly lend or invest in other 
persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries 

		 (b)	 The management has represented, 
that, to the best of its knowledge and 
belief, as disclosed in the Note 51(b) 
to the standalone financial statements,  
no funds have been received by the 
company from any persons or entities, 
including foreign entities (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, 
whether recorded in writing or 
otherwise, that the company shall, 
whether, directly or indirectly, lend 
or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever 
by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide 
any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries, 
and;

		 (c)	 Based on such audit procedures that 
we have considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances, 

nothing has come to our notice that 
has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub-clause 
(i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), as provided 
under (a) and (b) above, contain any 
material misstatement.

v.	 As stated in Note 48 to the standalone 
financial statements,  

a.		 The final dividend proposed in the previous year, 
declared and paid by the Company during the 
year is in accordance with section 123 of the 
Companies Act 2013 as applicable.

b.	 The interim dividend declared and paid by the 
Company during the year and until the date of this 
audit report is in accordance with section 123 of 
the Companies Act 2013 as applicable.

c.	 The Board of Directors of the Company has 
proposed final dividend for the year which is 
subject to the approval of the members at the 
ensuing Annual General Meeting. The dividend 
declared is in accordance with section 123 of the 
Companies Act 2013 as applicable.
vi.	 vi.	 The reporting under Rule 11(g) of the 

Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 
2014 is applicable from 1 April 2023:

Based on our examination which included test checks, 
except for the instances mentioned below, the company has 
used an accounting software for maintaining its books of 
account which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) 
facility and the same has operated throughout the year for 
all relevant transactions recorded in the software. Further, 
during the course of our audit we did not come across 
any instance of the audit trail feature being tampered with. 
Furthermore, the audit trail feature has been preserved by 
the Company as per the statutory requirements for record 
retention from the date the audit trail was enabled for the 
accounting software: 
•	 The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was 

not enabled at the database level to log any direct data 
changes for the accounting software used for maintaining 
the books of account.

As proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies  (Accounts) Rules, 
2014 is applicable from April 1,2023, reporting under Rule 
11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 on 
preservation of audit trail as per the statutory requirements 
for record retention is not applicable for the financial year 
ended March 31,2024.

For Suri & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

FRN : 004283S

G. Rengarajan 
Partner 

Place: Chennai 	 Membership No. 219922
Date : 28th May 2025        	 UDIN: 25219922BMJS4J4187
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(i)
(a)	 (A)	 The Company has maintained proper records 

showing full particulars including quantitative details 
and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment..
(B)	 The Company has maintained proper records 

showing full particulars of intangible assets.
(b)	 The Company has a regular programme of physical 

verification of its Property, Plant and Equipment by 
which all Property, Plant and Equipment are verified 
in a phased manner over a period of three years. 
In our opinion, this periodicity of physical verification 
is reasonable having regard to the size of the 
Company and the nature of its assets. In our opinion, 
and according to the information and explanations 
given to us, no material discrepancies were noticed 
on such verification.

(c)	 According to the information and explanation given 
to us and on the basis of our examination of the 
records of the company, the title deeds of immovable 
properties (other than immovable properties where 
the Company is the lessee, and the lease agreements 
are duly executed in favor of the lessee) disclosed in 
the standalone financial statements are held in the 
name of the Company other than the property as 
disclosed in the Note 4.1 to the standalone financial 
statement.

(d)	 According to the information and explanation given to 
us and on the basis of our examination of the records 
of the Company, the company has not revalued its 
Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of 
Use assets) and intangible assets during the year.

(e)	 Based on the information and explanations given to 
us, no proceedings have been initiated during the 
year or are pending against the Company as at 31st 
March 2025 for holding any benami property under 
the Benami Transactions (Prohibitions) Act, 1988, as 
amended in 2016 and rules made thereunder.

(ii) 	
a)	 The inventory, except goods in transit, has been 

physically verified by the management at reasonable 
intervals during the year. In our opinion, the frequency 
of such verification is reasonable. We were informed 
that, no material discrepancies in excess of 10% or 
more in aggregate for each class of inventory were 
noticed.  The discrepancies noticed on verification 
between the physical stocks and the book records 
have been properly dealt in the books of accounts.

b)	 According to the information and explanation given 
to us, the Company has been sanctioned working 
capital limits in excess of five crore rupees, in 

aggregate, from banks or financial institutions on the 
basis of security of current assets. In our opinion, the 
quarterly returns or statements filed by the company 
with such banks are in agreement with the books of 
account of the company.

(iii)	 The Company has made investments in Companies 
and the same are not prejudicial to the Company’s 
interest. According to the information and explanation 
given to us and on the basis of our examination of 
the records of the Company, the Company has not 
provided security or granted any advances in the 
nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, 
firms, limited liability partnership or any other parties 
during the year. 
(a)	 The details of guarantees given / renewed 

during the year for subsidiaries are as under:

To Subsidiaries Rs. Lakhs
Guarantees given / renewed 
during the year

3664.35

Outstanding at the end of the 
year

3664.35

(b)	 Based on our audit procedures & according to 
the information and explanation given to us, the 
investments made and guarantees given are 
not prejudicial to the Company’s interests.

(c)	 In the absence of any loans and advances in 
the nature of loans given by the company sub-
clause (c) to (f) of clause (iii) of the Order is not 
applicable.

(iv)	 (iv)	 In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanation given to us, the Company has 
complied with provisions of Section 185 and 186 
of the Act with respect of making investments and 
providing guarantees. The company has not granted 
any loans or provided any securities, as applicable.

(v)	 The Company has not accepted any deposits or 
amounts which are deemed to be deposits within the 
meaning of the Act and the directives issued by the 
Reserve Bank of India and the provisions of sections 
73 to 76 or any other relevant provisions of the 
Act and the rules framed thereunder. Accordingly, 
paragraph 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.    

(vi)	 The maintenance of cost records has been specified 
by the Central Government under section 148(1) of 
the Companies Act, 2013. We have broadly reviewed 
the books of accounts relating to materials, labour 
and other items of cost maintained by the Company 

Annexure A TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Referred to in paragraph 1 on ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ of our report of even date to 
the members of AVT Natural Products Limited (“the Company”)
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pursuant to the Companies (Cost Records and Audit) 
Rules, 2014, prescribed by the Central Government 
for the maintenance of the cost records under sub-
section (1) of Section 148 of the Companies Act, 
2013, and are of the opinion that, prima facie, the 
prescribed accounts and cost records have been 
made and maintained. However, we have not carried 
out any detailed examination of the cost records with 
a view to determine whether they are accurate or 
complete.

(vii)
(a)	 According to the information and explanations given 

to us and the records of the Company examined by 
us, the Company is regular in depositing undisputed 
statutory dues including provident fund, employees’ 
state insurance, income-tax, Goods and Service tax, 
custom duty, cess and any other statutory dues as 
applicable with the appropriate authorities. 

(b)	 The details of the statutory dues which have not 
been deposited as on 31st March 2025 on account of 
dispute are as under:

Name of the Statute Nature of the 
Dues

Amount 
demanded  

(Rs. in Lakhs)

Amount 
paid under 

protest 
(Rs in Lakhs)

Period to 
which the 
amount 
relates

Forum where dispute 
is pending

Andhra Pradesh 
General Sales Tax 
Act 1957

Sales tax 
demands 71.15 62.43 FY 1999-00 to 

2004-05
Sales Tax Appellate 

Tribunal

Karnataka Sales Tax 
Act 1957

Sales Tax 
demands 0.28 - FY  2006-07 Joint Commissioner 

(Appeals)
Kerala Value Added 
Tax Act 2003

Value added 
tax demands 73.73 8.81 FY 2014-15 Sales tax officer

The Income tax Act, 
1961 TDS demand 7.98 - AY 2015-16 Commissioner IT/

Income tax officer

The Income tax Act, 
1961

Penalty on 
demand w.r.t 
disallowance 
of R&D u/s 

35(2AB)

                              
19.68  - AY 2016-17 Commissioner IT/

Income tax officer

The Income tax Act, 
1961

Demand on 
disallowance 

w.r.t 14A 

                              
11.69 - AY 2017-18 Commissioner IT/

Income tax officer

The Income tax Act, 
1961

Transfer pricing 
demand 1,69.88 1,00.89 AY 2017-18 & 

AY 2018-19
Commissioner IT/
Income tax officer

The Income tax Act, 
1961

Penalty on 
Transfer Pricing 

demand

                                
6.76 - AY 2017-18 Commissioner IT/

Income tax officer

The Income tax Act, 
1961 TDS demand                               

12.31 - 2013-14 till AY 
2017-18 Income tax officer

The Customs Act 
1962

Customs Duty 
Demand 77.79 30 FY 2019-20

Commissioner of 
Customs (Appeals), 

Kochi

The Customs Act 
1962

Customs Duty 
and GST 
Demand

51.04 - FY 2024-25 Deputy commissioner 
of Customs - Docks

The Goods and 
Service Tax Act, 
2017 (Kerala and 
Karnataka)

GST demand 16,92.66 57.68 FY 2017-18 to 
FY 2021-22

Deputy Commissioner, 
Special Circle
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:(viii)	
	 Based on our audit procedures and as per 

the information and explanations given by the 
management, no amount has been surrendered 
or disclosed as income during the year in the tax 
assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961. 
Accordingly, paragraph 3(viii) of the order is not 
applicable to the Company.

(ix)	
(a)	 Based on our audit procedures and as per 

the information and explanations given by the 
management, the Company has not defaulted 
in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in 
payment of interest thereon to any lender.

(b)	 Based on the explanation and information given 
to us, the Company has not declared willful 
defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 
government or any government authority.

(c)	 Based on the information and explanations 
given to us and the records of the Company 
examined by us, term loans were applied for 
the purpose for which the loans were obtained.

(d)	 Based on the information and explanation given 
to us and based on an overall examination of 
the financial statements of the Company, funds 
raised on short term basis have, prima facie, 
not been used during the year for long-term 
purposes by the Company.

(e)	 The company has not taken any funds from any 
entity or person on account of or to meet the 
obligation of its subsidiaries as defined under 
the Companies Act, 2013. Accordingly, clause 
3(ix)(e) of the Order is not applicable.

(f)	 The company has not raised any loans during 
the year on the pledge of securities held in its 
any entity or person on account of or to meet 
the obligation of its subsidiaries as defined 
under the Companies Act, 2013. Accordingly, 
clause 3(ix)(f) of the Order is not applicable. 

(x)
(a)	 The Company did not raise money by way 

of initial public offer or further public offer 
(including debt instruments) during the year 
and accordingly, clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is 
not applicable to the Company.

(b)	 The Company has not made any preferential 
allotment or private placement of shares 
or convertible debentures (fully, partially or 
optionally convertible) during the year and 
hence reporting under clause 3(x)(b) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

(xi)
(a)	 (a)	Based on the examination of the books and 

records of the Company and according to the 

information and explanations given to us, there 
was no fraud by the Company and no fraud 
on the Company has been noticed or reported 
during the year.

(b)	 Based on the information and explanation 
given to us and based on the examination of 
the company’s records, no report under sub-
section (12) of section 143 of the Companies 
Act has been filed in Form ADT-4 as prescribed 
under rule 13 of Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014 with the Central Government, 
during the year and upto the date of this report.

(c)	 We have taken into consideration the whistle 
blower complaints received by the Company 
during the year (and upto the date of this 
report), while determining the nature, timing 
and extent of our audit procedures.

(xii)	 The Company is not a Nidhi company in accordance 
with Nidhi Rules 2014. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xii)
(a) to (c) of the Order is not applicable.

(xiii)	Based on our audit procedures and according to 
the information and explanations given to us, all the 
transactions entered into with the related parties 
during the year are in compliance with Section 177 
and Section 188 of the Act where applicable and 
the details have been disclosed in the standalone 
financial statements as required by the Indian 
accounting standard.

(xiv)	
(a)	 In our opinion, based on the information and 

explanation given to us, the Company has an 
adequate internal audit system commensurate 
with the size and the nature of its business.

(b)	 We have considered the internal audit reports 
of the Company issued till date for the period 
under audit.

(xv)	 Based on the information and explanations given to 
us and based on the audit the books of accounts, 
during the year the Company has not entered into 
any non-cash transactions with its directors or 
persons connected with its directors and hence 
provisions of section 192 of the Companies Act, 
2013 are not applicable to the Company

(xvi)	
(a)	 In our opinion, the Company is not required 

to be registered under section 45-IA of the 
Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. Accordingly, 
clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not applicable.

(b)	 In our opinion, the Company is not required 
to be registered under section 45-IA of the 
Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. Accordingly, 
clause 3(xvi)(b) of the order is not applicable.

(c)	 The company is a not Core Investment 
Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations 
made by the Reserve Bank of India and hence 
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clause 3(xvi)(c) and 3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not 
applicable.

(xvii)	The Company has not incurred cash losses during 
the financial year covered by our audit and the 
immediately preceding financial year.

(xviii) There has been no resignation of the statutory 
auditors during the year. Accordingly, clause 3(xviii) 
of the order is not applicable.

(xix)	On the basis of financial ratios, ageing and expected 
dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of 
financial liabilities, other information accompanying 
the financial statements, our knowledge of the 
management plans, we are of the opinion that no 
material uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit 
report of the Company’s capability of meeting its 
liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and 
when they fall due within a period of one year from 
the balance sheet date.  We, however, state that this 
is not an assurance as to the future viability of the 
company. We further state that our reporting is based 

on the facts up to the date of the audit report and we 
neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that 
all liabilities falling due within a period of one year 
from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by 
the company as and when they fall due.

(xx)	 In our opinion and according to the information 
and explanations given to us, there is no unspent 
amount under sub-section (5) of Section 135 of 
the Companies Act 2013 pursuant to any project. 
Accordingly, clauses 3(xx)(a) and 3(xx)(b) of the 
Order are not applicable.

For Suri & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

FR No. 004283S
G. Rengarajan 

Partner 
Place: Chennai 	 Membership No. 219922
Date: 28th May 2025        	  UDIN:25219922BMISUJ4187
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We have audited the internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements of AVT 
Natural Products Limited (“the Company”) as of 31 March 
2025 in conjunction with our audit of the standalone 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
on that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls
The Company’s management and the Board of Directors 
are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
financial controls based on the internal control with 
reference to standalone financial statements criteria 
established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India (the “Guidance Note”). These responsibilities 
include the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct 
of its business, including adherence to company’s 
policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information, as required 
under the Act

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal financial controls with reference to 
standalone financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance 
Note and the Standards on Auditing, prescribed under 
section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to 
an audit of internal financial controls with reference to 
standalone financial statements. Those Standards and 
the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to standalone financial 
statements were established and maintained and if such 
controls operated effectively in all material respects.
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls with reference to standalone financial statements 
and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls with reference to standalone financial 
statements included obtaining an understanding of 
internal financial controls, assessing the risk that a material 

weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on 
the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference 
to standalone financial statements
A Company’s internal financial control with reference to 
standalone financial statements is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of standalone 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
Company’s internal financial control with reference to 
standalone financial statements includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of standalone financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the Company 
are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the Company; and (3) 
provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the standalone financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls 
with reference to standalone financial statements
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls with reference to standalone financial statements, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper 
management override of controls, material misstatements 
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial 
controls with reference to standalone financial statements 
to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 
financial control with reference to standalone financial 
statements may become inadequate because of changes 
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

ANNEXURE B

Referred to in paragraph 2(g) on ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ of our report of even date
Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to the aforesaid standalone financial statements under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
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Opinion
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, 
an adequate internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements and such internal financial controls 
were operating effectively as at 31 March 2025, based on 
the internal control with reference to financial statements 
criteria established by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.

For Suri & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No.004283S                           

G.Rengarajan 
Partner 

Place: Chennai 	 Membership No. 219922
Date: 28th May 2025          UDIN: 25219922BMISUJ4187
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				    Note	A s at	 As at	
				N    o.	 31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

STANDALONE BALANCE SHEET
(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

Assets
Non-current assets	 		
	 (a)	 Property, plant and equipment	 4	   66,25.08  	   73,25.40 
	 (b)	 Capital work-in-progress	 4	   4,06.75   	  -   
	 (c)	 Right-of-use assets	 6	   3,91.88  	   5,83.83 
	 (d)	 Other intangible assets	 5	   97.40  	   1,31.74 
	 (e)	 Financial assets			 
		  i) Investments	 7	   21,50.67  	   21,50.67 
		  ii) Other financial assets	 8	   2,10.38  	   2,90.98 
	 (f)	 Other non-current assets	 9	   5,46.26  	   2,80.38 
	T otal non-current assets		    1,04,28.42  	   1,07,63.00  
	 Current assets
	 (a)	 Inventories	 10	   2,81,97.56 	   2,02,40.96 
	 (b)	 Financial assets			 
		  i) Investments	 7	  1,35,76.83  	   1,26,65.95 
		  ii) Trade receivables	 11	   1,46,46.86  	   1,10,56.66 
		  iii) Cash and cash equivalents	 12	   5,30.07  	   9,55.42 
		  iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above	 12A	   3,40.92  	   3,04.22  
		  v) Loans	 13	   18.56 	   17.16 
		  vi) Other financial assets 	 8	   5,01.86  	   2,09.87 
	 (c)	 Current tax assets (Net)		   50.27  	   60.00 
	 (d)	 Other current assets	 9	   32,75.55  	   19,89.37  
	 Total current assets		    6,11,38.48  	   4,74,99.61 
	 Total Assets		    7,15,66.90  	   5,82,62.61  
	 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES			 
	E quity			
	 (a)	 Equity Share Capital	 14	   15,22.84  	   15,22.84 
	 (b)	 Other Equity	 15	   4,83,78.92  	   4,57,91.77 
	 Total equity		    4,99,01.76  	   4,73,14.61 
	L iabilities			 
	 Non-current liabilities			 
	 (a)	 Financial Liabilities			 
		  i) Borrowings	 16	   3,35.00  	   4,95.00 
		  ii) Lease liabilities	 17	   2,73.27 	   5,16.71 
	 (b)	 Provisions	 18	   4,42.10  	   4,68.87 
	 (c)	 Deferred tax liabilities (Net)	 19	   1,74.85  	   92.67 
	 Total non-current liabilities		   12,25.22	   15,73.25 
	 Current liabilities			 
	 (a)	 Financial Liabilities			 
		  i)	 Borrowings	 16	   80,96.21  	   310.00 
	  	 ii)	 Lease liabilities	 17	   1,01.39  	   50.71 
		  iii)	 Trade payables	 20		
			   (A) Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises		    5,41.36 	   408.26 
			   (B) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro 
			         and small enterprises		    95,83.65  	   66,09.68 
		  iv)	 Other financial liabilities	 21	   2,51.11  	   1,67.20 
	 (b)	 Other current liabilities	 22	   7,49.91  	   6,92.76 
	 (c)	 Provisions	 18	   11,16.29 	   11,36.15 
	 (d)	 Current tax liabilities  (Net)		   -   	  -
	 Total current liabilities		    2,04,39.92  	    93,74.75 
	T otal liabilities		    2,16,65.14  	   1,09,48.00 
	T otal Equity and Liabilities		    7,15,66.90  	    5,82,62.61 
	 Corporate Information and Basis of preparation	 1&2		
	 Material accounting policies	 3		
	 See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements			 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S
G Rengarajan		A jit Thomas	 M M Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN: 00152619

Place	:	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date: 28 May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary
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				    Note	 Year ended  	 Year ended
				N    o.	 31st March 2025 	 31st March 2024

STANDALONE Statement of Profit and Loss
(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

I	 Revenue From Operations	 23	   5,19,22.23  	   5,03,31.32 
II	 Other Income	 24	   17,27.67  	   12,18.42 
III	T otal Income (I+II)		    5,36,49.90  	   5,15,49.74 
IV	 Expenses			 
	 Cost of materials consumed		    2,76,19.19  	   2,29,88.36 
	 Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress	 25	   (33,58.72) 	   3,17.02 
	 Employee benefits expense	 26	   65,59.50  	   60,13.30 
	 Finance costs	 27	   6,02.96 	   4,20.45 
	 Depreciation and amortization expense	 28	   13,71.90 	   13,84.34 
	 Other expenses	 29	   1,56,79.16 	   1,41,55.39 
	T otal expenses (IV)		    4,84,73.99 	   4,52,78.86 
V	 Profit/(loss) before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)		    51,75.91 	   62,70.88 
VI	 Exceptional Items		   -   	  -   
VII	 Profit/(loss) before tax (V-VI)		    51,75.91 	   62,70.88 
VIII	Tax expense:			 
	 (1) Current tax		    12,86.62 	   16,50.00  
	 (2) Deferred tax	 32	   82.61 	   (16.48)
IX	 Profit / (Loss) for the year (VII-VIII) 		    38,06.68 	   46,37.36  
X	 Other Comprehensive Income			 
	 A Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss			 
	 (i) Remeasurement of the post-employment benefit obligations		    64.88 	   (17.60)
	 (ii) Deferred tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss		   (16.33)	   4.43 
	 B Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss			 
	 (i) Deferred gains / (losses) on cash flow hedges		   (66.56) 	   77.25  
	 (ii) Deferred tax relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss	 32	   16.75 	   (19.44)
	O ther comprehensive Income for the year, net of tax 		   (1.26) 	   44.64 
XI	T otal Comprehensive Income for the year (IX+X)		    38,05.42  	   46,82.00 
XII	E arnings per equity share:			 
	 Equity share of par value of Re. 1 each			 
	 (1) Basic		  33	   2.50  	   3.05 
	 (2) Diluted		  33	   2.50  	   3.05 
	 Corporate Information and Basis of preparation	 1&2
	 Material accounting policies	 3		
	 See accompanying notes to the standalone financial statements

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S

G Rengarajan		A jit Thomas	 M M Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN: 00152619

Place	:	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date: 28 May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary
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				    	A s at	 As at	
				    .	 31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

STANDALONE Cash flow Statement
(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

A.	 Cash flow from operating activities
Profit before tax		    51,75.91  	   62,70.88 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense		   13,71.90 	  13,84.34 
(Profit) / Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (net)		   2.45 	  -   
Gain on cancellation of lease		   (89.11)	  -   
Write off / Discard of Property, Plant and Equipment 		   -   	  24.93 
Fair value gains recognised on investments		   (9,10.83)	  (7,36.42)
Export Incentive Income		   (2,82.03)	  -   
Interest Income		   (21.35)	  (12.64)
Finance costs		   6,02.96 	  4,20.45 
Sundry Creditors written back		   (1,55.10)	  (55.75)
Write off/Discard of Investment		   -   	  1.00 
Unrealised foreign exchange differences		   2,09.94 	  (55.16) 
Operating profit before working capital changes		    59,04.74 	  72,41.63 

Adjustments for working capital changes:		  	
	 (Increase) / Decrease in inventories		  (79,56.60)	  (7,25.03)
	 (Increase) / Decrease in loans		  (1.40)	 8.36 
	 (Increase) / Decrease in other current assets		  (12,86.18)	 1,04.03 
	 (Increase) / Decrease in other current financial assets		  (9.96)	 (12.23)
	 (Increase) / Decrease in other non-current assets		  (2,65.88)	 (46.07)
	 (Increase) / Decrease in other non-current financial assets		  80.60 	 (58.32)
	 (Increase) / Decrease in trade receivables		  (37,15.14)	  19,35.88 
	 Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities		  17.35 	 (1,74.24)
	 Increase / (Decrease) in other liabilities		  57.16 	 (44.60)
	 Increase / (Decrease) in trade payables		  31,74.68 	 40,13.00 
	 Increase / (Decrease) in provisions		  18.25 	 1,44.42 	
			     (39,82.38) 	   1,23,86.83 

Net income tax paid		   (12,76.89)	  (18,90.74)

Net cash (used) / generated in operating activities (A)		    (52,59.27)	  1,04,96.09 

B.	 Cash flow from investing activities		  	
Payments for purchase of property, plant & equipment including CWIP	 (9,23.59)	  (11,12.41)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment		   2.55 	  -   
Purchase of Investment in subsidiaries		   -   	 (5,04.13)
Purchase of current investments 		  (14,87.00)	 (65,99.67)
Proceeds from sale of current investments 		  14,86.97 	 5,10.00 
Interest received during the year		  21.35 	 12.64 
Changes in bank balance other than cash and cash equivalent		  (36.70)	 18.23 
Net cash generated / (used in) from investing activities (B)		    (9,36.42)	  (76,75.34)
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				    	A s at	 As at	
				    .	 31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

STANDALONE Cash flow Statement (contd.)

C. 	Cash flow from Financing activities*		  	
Proceeds from term loan from banks (net)		   (1,60.00)	  (3,10.00)
Payment of lease liabilities 		   (67.72)	  (2,48.67)
(Repayment) / Proceeds from short term borrowings (net)		   77,86.21 	  (70.00)
Interest Paid		   (5,69.88)	  (4,01.03)
Dividend Paid 		   (12,18.27)	  (13,70.56)
Net cash generated / (used in) from financing activities (C)		    57,70.34 	  (24,00.26)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)	   (4,25.35)	  4,20.49 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		    9,55.42 	  5,34.93 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Refer note 12)	  5,30.07 	  9,55.42 

Notes:
	 “The cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Indian Accounting Standard (IND 

AS 7) Statement of Cash Flows.”			 
	 The figures in brackets represent cash outflow.			 
	 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these standalone financial statements.			 
		
 * Refer foot note no.3 under Borrowings (Note 16) for Net Debt Reconciliation.

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S

G Rengarajan		A jit Thomas	 M M Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN: 00152619

Place	 :	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date: 28 May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary
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STANDALONE STATEMENTS of changes in equity
For the year ended 31st March 2025

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)
A.	E quity Share Capital

A. Equity Share Capital Note No Amount
Balance as at 1st April 2023

14

 15,22.84 
Changes in equity share capital due to prior period errors  -   
Restated balance as at April 1, 2023  15,22.84 
Changes in equity share capital during the year  -   
Balance as at 1st April 2024  15,22.84 
Changes in equity share capital due to prior period errors  -   
Restated balance as at April 1, 2024  15,22.84 
Changes in equity share capital during the year  -   
Balance as at 31st March 2025  15,22.84 

B.	O ther Equity

Particulars

Reserves and Surplus
Items of Other 
Comprehen-
sive Income

Total other 
equity

Capital 
Reserve

General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Remeasurements 
of post employment 
benefit obligations 

through Other Com-
prehensive Income

Effective por-
tion of Cash 
flow Hedges

Balance as at 1st April 2023  0.35  2,77,01.88  1,50,62.72  (1,98.19)  (86.43)  4,24,80.33 
Changes in accounting policy or prior period errors  -    -    -   -  -    -   
Restated balance as at 1st April 2023  0.35  2,77,01.88  1,50,62.72  (1,98.19)  (86.43)  4,24,80.33 
Profit for the year  -    -    46,37.36  -    46,37.36 
Remeasurement of the post-employment benefit 
obligations and tax thereon  -    -   -  (13.17)  -    (13.17)

Other comprehensive income net of tax for the year  -    -    -   -  57.81  57.81 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    46,37.36  (13.17)  57.81  46,82.00 
Transfer to General Reserve  -    25,00.00  (25,00.00) -  -    -   
Dividends paid  -    -    (13,70.56) -  -    (13,70.56)
Balance as at 1st April 2024  0.35  3,02,01.88  1,58,29.52  (2,11.36)  (28.62)  4,57,91.77 
Changes in accounting policy or prior period errors  -    -    -   -  -    -   
Restated balance as at 1st April 2024  0.35  3,02,01.88  1,58,29.52  (2,11.36)  (28.62)  4,57,91.77 
Profit for the year  -    -    38,06.68 -  -    38,06.68 
Remeasurement of the post-employment 
benefit obligations and tax thereon  -    -    -    48.55  -    48.55 

Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -    -   -  (49.81)  (49.81)
Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    38,06.68  48.55  (49.81)  38,05.42 
Transfer to General Reserve  -    20,00.00  (20,00.00) -  -    -   
Dividends paid  -    -    (12,18.27)  -    -    (12,18.27)
Balance as at 31st March 2025  0.35  3,22,01.88  1,64,17.93  (1,62.81)  (78.43)  4,83,78.92 

The above standalone statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S

G Rengarajan		A jit Thomas	 M M Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN: 00152619

Place : Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date: 28 May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary
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1.	 General information
	 AVT Natural Products Limited is engaged in the production, trading and distribution of Oleoresins value added Teas 

and Animal Nutrition. The Company has its production facilities in India and exports most of its products.
	 The Company is a Public Limited Company incorporated and domiciled in India and has its registered office at 

60, Rukmani Lakshmipathy Salai, Egmore, Chennai - 600008. The Company has its listings on the Bombay Stock 
Exchange (BSE) and National Stock Exchange (NSE) in India. 

	 The standalone financial statements for the year ended March 31,2025 were approved by the Board of Directors and 
authorised for issue on May 28th,2025.

2.	 Basis of Preparation
	 The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind 

AS”) issued under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 and notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs under the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) and guidelines issued by the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (SEBI), under the historical cost convention on the accrual basis except for certain items 
which are measured at fair values.

	 The accounting policies as set out below have been applied consistently except where a newly issued accounting 
standard is initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting policy 
hitherto in use. All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the company’s normal 
operating cycle and other criteria set out in Division II of the Schedule III to the Companies Act 2013. Based on the 
nature of products and services and the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in 
cash and cash equivalent, the Company has ascertained its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of current 
and non-current classification of assets and liabilities. As per the requirement of schedule III to the companies act 
2013, the operating cycle has been determined at company level, as applicable..
2.1	 Critical judgements & Estimates in applying accounting policies.
	 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, the disclosures of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of financial statements, 
income and expenses during the period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period 
in which the estimates are revised and in future periods which are affected. 

	 Application of accounting policies that require critical accounting estimates and assumptions having the material 
effect on the amounts recognized in financial statements are as follows:
•	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets:
		 The Company has estimated useful life of each class of assets based on the nature of assets, the estimated 

usage of the asset, the operating condition of the asset, past history of replacement, anticipated technological 
changes, etc. The Company reviews the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and Intangible 
assets at the Balance Sheet date. This reassessment may result in change in depreciation expense in 
future periods.

•	 Taxation:
		 Significant judgement is involved in determining the tax liability for the company which includes interpretation 

of tax legislation, developments in case law and the potential outcomes of tax audits and appeals which may 
be subject to significant uncertainty. Also, there are many transactions and calculation during the ordinary 
course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Therefore, the actual results may 
vary from expectations resulting in adjustments to provisions, the valuation of deferred tax assets, cash tax 
settlements and therefore the tax charge in the statement of profit or loss. Further judgement is involved in 
determining the deferred tax position on the balance sheet date.

•	 Defined benefit plans: 
		 The cost of the defined benefit plans and the present value of the defined benefit obligation are based on 

actuarial valuation using the projected unit credit method. An actuarial valuation involves making various 
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assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the 
discount rate; future salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation 
and its long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All 
assumptions are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date.

•	 Provisions & Contingencies: 
		 Provisions and contingencies are based on the Company Management’s best estimate of the liabilities 

based on the facts known at the balance sheet date.
		 From time to time, the Company is subject to legal proceedings the ultimate outcome of each being always 

subject to many uncertainties inherent in litigation. A provision for litigation is made when it is considered 
probable that a payment will be made, and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Significant 
judgment is made when evaluating, among other factors, the probability of unfavourable outcome and the 
ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of potential loss. Litigation provisions are reviewed at 
each accounting period and revisions made for the changes in facts and circumstances.

•	 Provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventories 
		 The Company reviews the condition of its inventories and makes provision against obsolete and slow-

moving inventory items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use. Company estimates the 
net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market 
conditions. The Company carries out an inventory review at each balance sheet date and makes provision 
against obsolete and slow-moving items. The Company reassesses the estimation on each balance sheet 
date.

2.2	 Recent Pronouncements
	 Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under 

Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended March 31, 
2025, MCA has not notified any new standards or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the 
Company.                             

2.3 	 Functional and Presentation Currency 
	 Items included in financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the Company operates (“the functional currency”). Indian rupee is the functional currency 
of the Company. 

	 The Financial Statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is company’s presentation currency. All financial 
information presented in Indian Rupees has been rounded to the nearest Lakhs with two decimals except where 
otherwise indicated.

3.	S ummary of material accounting policies
3.1.1   Property, plant and equipment:
a.	 Recognition and Measurement
	 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

loss based on cost model. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended use. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment 
and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. Cost also includes 
taxes and duties which are not refundable, freight and other direct or allocated expenses during construction 
period, net of any income earned.  The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset 
after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.
Subsequent costs

	 Subsequent expenditure related to an item of property, plant and equipment is added to its book value only if it 
increases the future benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance. 
When significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Company depreciates 
them separately based on their specific useful lives. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in 
statement of profit or loss as incurred. 
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	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 

	 Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each Balance Sheet date 
is classified as capital advances under other non-current assets and the cost of assets not ready to use before 
such date are disclosed under ‘Capital work-in-progress’. The cost and related accumulated depreciation are 
eliminated from the financial statements upon sale or retirement of the asset and the resultant gains or losses 
are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.	

	 Upon first-time adoption of Ind AS, the Company had elected to measure all its property, plant and equipment at 
the Previous GAAP carrying amount as its deemed cost on the date of transition to Ind AS i.e., 1st April,2016.

b.	D epreciation:
	 Tangible property, plant & equipment are depreciated on Written Down Value Method by adopting the useful 

life & residual value specified in Schedule II of the Companies Act 2013, except in case of electrical equipment 
and plant and machinery relating to Continuous Processing Plants for which useful life is based on technical 
evaluation. Assets costing individually less than Rs.5,000/ are depreciated at 100%. Useful life considered are 
as follows:

Description of assets Useful life of assets
Leasehold Land Lease Period
Buildings 30 years / 5 years (for fences and wells)
Plant & Machinery 15 years
Continuous Process Plant 25 years
Office Equipment 5 years
Furniture & Fittings 10 years
Vehicles 10 years

Freehold land is not depreciated.
	 In respect of additions to /deletions from the property, plant and equipment, depreciation is provided on pro-rata 

basis with reference to the month of addition /deletion of the Assets. 
	 No depreciation is provided for leasehold land since as per the lease agreements, these are renewable at the 

option of the company with marginal payment of further premium. 
	 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed periodically, including at each financial year 

end.
3.1.2	 Intangible assets
	 An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance such as technical knowhow, 

software. It is capitalised if the future economic benefits attributable to the asset will probably flow to the Group 
and the cost of acquisition or generation of the asset can be reliably measured. It is amortised from the point at 
which the asset is available for use.
Initial recognition and amortisation

	 Intangible assets are stated at the cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses 
based on cost model. Cost comprises the purchase price and any directly attributable cost. 

	 Intangible assets with determinable useful life are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of up to 
ten years in case of software. Determination of the expected useful lives of such assets and the amortisation 
patterns is based on estimates of the period for which they will generate cash flows. 
Subsequent costs

	 Subsequent expenditure related to intangible asset is added to its book value only if it increases the future 
benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance.

for the year ended 31st March 2025
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Impairment
	 Any impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. If the reasons for a previously 

recognised impairment loss no longer apply, the impairment loss is reversed provided that the reversal does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years.
Derecognition

	 Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
when the asset is derecognised.

3.2   Impairment of non-financial assets
	 At the end of each reporting period, the company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial asset to 

determine whether there is any Indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any).

	 For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest possible levels for which there are 
independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). Prior impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill) 
are reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date. 

	 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flow are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

	 An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

3.3	 Inventories
Inventories are valued as under:
a.	 Raw materials, Packing materials, Stores & Spares: 
		 Valued at lower of cost or and net realizable value and for this purpose cost is determined on weighted 

average basis except for tea which is valued based on first in first out (FIFO). The aforesaid items are 
valued below cost if the finished products in which they are to be incorporated are expected to be sold at a 
loss.

b.	W ork in Progress: 
		 At cost or net realizable value,, whichever is lower. Cost is determined on weighted average basis. 
c.	S tock - in - trade and Finished Goods
		 Valued at lower of cost or and net realizable value and for this purpose cost is determined on weighted 

average basis. 
		 Cost includes direct material cost, direct labour cost, taxes and duties other than duties and taxes for 

which credit is available, freight, other direct expenses and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure.

		 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

		 Cost of the purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Provision is made 
for obsolete, non-moving & defective stocks, wherever necessary.
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3.4	 Employee benefits - Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits
3.4.1	 Defined Contribution Plans
	 Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit plans i.e. Provident Fund & Superannuation Schemes are 

recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss when an employee have rendered service entitling 
them to the contributions. Superannuation scheme are funded with an insurance Company in the form of a 
qualifying insurance policy.

3.4.2  Defined Benefit Plans
	 The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more 

of service gets a gratuity on post-employment at 15 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year 
of service as per the rules of the Company. The aforesaid liability is provided for on the basis of an actuarial 
valuation on projected unit credit method made at the end of the financial year. The scheme is funded with an 
insurance Company in the form of a qualifying insurance policy. 

	 Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), 
is reflected immediately in the balance sheet with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income 
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected 
immediately in retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or 
loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning 
of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit cost are categorised as follows:
•	 Service cost (including current service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlement)
•	 Net interest expense or income
•	 Remeasurement

	 The company presents the first two components of defined benefit cost in profit or loss in the line item ‘employee 
benefit expense’. Curtailment gains or losses are accounted for as past service cost.

	 The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the actual deficit or surplus in the 
company’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of 
any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the 
plans.

3.4.3	Compensated Absences
	 The Company has a scheme for compensated absences for employees which is a long term employee benefits, 

the liability for which is determined on the basis of an independent actuarial valuation using the projected unit 
credit method, carried out at the Balance Sheet date. 

3.4.4 Short term benefits 
	 The costs of all short-term employee benefits (that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 

end of the period in which the employees render the related service) are recognised during the period in which 
the employee renders the related services. The accruals for employee entitlements of benefits such as salaries, 
bonuses and annual leave represent the amount which the Company has a present obligation to pay as a result 
of the employees’ services and the obligation can be measured reliably. The accruals have been calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on current salary levels at the Balance Sheet date. 

3.5	 Financial Instruments
3.5.1	Financial Assets
a)	 Initial Recognition and Measurement

		 All financial assets are initially recognized at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets, which are at fair value are adjusted through profit or loss. Purchase 
and sale of financial assets are recognised using trade date accounting.

b)	S ubsequent Measurement
i) 	 Financial assets carried at amortised cost (AC)
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	 A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
the asset in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise 
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.
ii)	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
		 For equity investments which are not held for trading purposes and where the company has exercised the 

option to classify the investment as FVTOCI, all fair value changes on the investment are recognized in OCI. 
The accumulated gains or losses on such investments are not recycled to the Statement of Profit and Loss 
even on sale of such investment.

iii)	 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
		 A financial asset which is not classified in any of the above categories are measured at FVTPL.
iv)	 Investments in subsidiaries 
		 Investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost in the separate financial statements. 

c)	  Other Equity Investments
		 All other equity investments are measured at fair value, with value changes recognised in Statement of Profit and 

Loss, except for those equity investments for which the Company has made an irrevocable election at the time 
of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income.

d)	 Impairment of financial assets
	 The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 

a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on 
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

	 In accordance with Ind-AS 109, the Company follows ‘simplified approach’ for recognition of impairment loss 
allowance on trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component.

	 The application of simplified approach does not require the Company to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it 
recognises impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each Balance Sheet date, right from its initial 
recognition.”

e)	D erecognition of Financial Assets
	 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 

primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Company’s balance sheet) when:
•	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
•	 The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 
and either:

a.	 the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
b.	 the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 

has transferred control of the asset.
3.5.2 Financial Liabilities 
a)	 Initial Recognition and Measurement
	 Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. For trade and other payable 

maturing within one year from the Balance Sheet date, the carrying value approximates fair value due to short maturity.
b)	S ubsequent Measurement
	 Financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. For trade and other payables 

maturing within one year from the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the 
short maturity of these instruments.
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c)	L oans and borrowings 
	 After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities 
are de-recognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

	 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR.

	 The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss. This category generally 
applies to borrowings.  

d)	 Derivative financial instruments and Hedge Accounting
	 The Company holds derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange forward contract to mitigate the 

risk of changes in exchange rates on foreign currency exposures.  The counterparty for these contracts is 
generally a bank. 
(i)	 Financial assets or financial liabilities, at fair value through profit and loss  
		 This category includes derivative financial assets or liabilities which are not designated as hedges.
		 Although the Company believes that these derivatives constitute hedges from an economic perspective, 

they may not qualify for hedge accounting under Ind AS 109, Financial Instruments. Any derivative that is 
either not designated as a hedge, or is so designated but is ineffective as per Ind AS 109, is categorised as 
a financial asset or financial liability, at fair value through profit or loss. 

		 Derivatives not designated as hedges are recognised initially at fair value and attributable transaction costs 
are recognised in the net profit in the Statement of Profit and Loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these derivatives re-measured at fair value through profit or loss and the resulting exchange 
gains or losses are included in other income / other expenses. Assets / liabilities in this category are 
presented as current assets / current liabilities if they are either held for trading or are expected to be 
realised within 12 months after the Balance Sheet Date.  

(ii)	 Cash flow hedges
		 The Company designates certain foreign exchange forward contracts as cash flow hedges to mitigate the 

risks of foreign exchanges exposure on highly probable forecast cash transactions. 
		 When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge instrument, the effective portion of changes in the 

fair value of the derivative is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow 
hedge reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized immediately 
in the net profit in the Statement of Profit and Loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated or exercised, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognized in 
cash flow hedge reserve till the period the hedge was effective remains in cash flow hedge reserve until the 
forecasted transaction occurs. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the cash flow hedge 
reserve is transferred to the net profit in the Statement of Profit and Loss upon the occurrence of the 
related forecasted transaction. If the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the amount 
accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified to net profit in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

e)	D erecognition of Financial Liabilities
	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

f)	 Offsetting of financial instruments
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet only if there 
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is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

g) Equity instruments
	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 

of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

	 Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain or 
loss is recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s 
own equity instruments.

3.6 	 Foreign currency
Initial Recognition

	 On initial recognition, all foreign currency transactions are recorded by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.
Subsequent Recognition

	 As at the reporting date, non-monetary items which are carried at historical cost and denominated in a foreign currency 
are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. All non-monetary items which are carried at fair 
value or other similar valuation denominated in a foreign currency are reported using the exchange rates that existed 
when the values were fair value measured.

	 Monetary items denominated in foreign currency and outstanding at the Balance Sheet date are converted at the 
year-end exchange rates and the resultant loss or gain, is recognised as income or expense in the statement of the 
profit and loss. 

	 The Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge its exposure to movements in foreign exchange 
rates and the resultant gain or loss is dealt with accordingly.

3.7	 Fair value measurement 
	 The Company measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date on a 

portfolio basis. 
	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
•	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
•	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

	 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. 
	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 

pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 

	 The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs. 

	 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the standalone financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole: 

	 - Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
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	 - Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable 

	 - Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable 

	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the standalone financial statements on a recurring basis, the Company 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of 
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

	 This note summaries accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given in the relevant 
notes. 
•	 Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy 
•	 Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost)  

3.8 	 Revenue recognition:
	 Revenue is recognised on their accrual and when no significant uncertainty on measurability or collectability exists. 

Expenditure is accounted for on their accrual.
Sale of Goods and services:

	 Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised when the performance obligations towards customers 
have been met at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company believes it is entitled to in exchange 
for the transfer of goods and services to customers, net of any sales returns, excise duty and GST. Performance 
obligations are deemed to have been met when the control of goods has been transferred to the customer / benefit 
from the service is delivered to the customer, depending on the individual terms of the contract of sale. Considering 
the general terms of sales of goods and services, there is no significant financing element included in the sales 
consideration.
Subsidies and export incentives:

	 Government incentives in the form of RoDTEP, Transportation and marketing allowance (‘TMA’) and refund of goods 
and service tax input credit is recognised when there is a reasonable assurance that the conditions attaching to the 
incentive would be complied and the incentives will be received.

3.9	L eases:
	 A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 

of time in exchange for consideration.
The Company as a lessee

	 The Company’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for Machineries and premises. The Company assesses 
whether a contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset, the Company assesses whether: (i) the contract involves the use of an identified 
asset (ii) the Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of the 
lease and (iii) the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.

	 At the date of commencement of the lease, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a corresponding 
lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of twelve months or less 
(short-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Company recognizes the 
lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

	 Certain lease arrangements include the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. 
ROU assets and lease liabilities include these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised.

	 The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 
for any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any 
lease incentives. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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	 Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. Right of use assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is 
determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets. In such cases, the recoverable amount is determined for the Cash Generating Unit (CGU) 
to which the asset belongs.

	 The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of the future lease payments. The 
lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using 
the incremental borrowing rates in the country of domicile of these leases. Lease liabilities are remeasured with a 
corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset   if the Company changes its assessment if whether it will 
exercise an extension or a termination option.

	 Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been 
classified as financing cash flows.

	T ransition
	 Effective April 1, 2019, the Company adopted Ind AS 116 “Leases” and applied the standard to all lease contracts 

existing on April 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective method.  

3.10 Taxation
	 Income tax expense comprises current tax expense and the net change in the deferred tax asset or liability during the 

year. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
(i) Current tax:

	 Current Tax expenses are accounted in the same period to which the revenue and expenses relate. Provision for 
current income tax is made for the tax liability payable on taxable income after considering tax allowances, deductions 
and exemptions determined in accordance with the applicable tax rates and the prevailing tax laws.

	 Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle the asset and the liability on a net basis..
(ii) Deferred tax:

	 Deferred income tax is recognised using the balance sheet approach. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
recognised for deductible and taxable temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amount in financial statements, except when the deferred Income tax arises from the initial recognition 
of goodwill, an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profits or loss at the time of the transaction.

	 Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences.
	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 

is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset 
to be utilised.

	 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the Balance Sheet date.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
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against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.11 Provisions & contingent liability:
	 Provisions are recognized, when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the 
amount of the obligation can be made.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, the non – current provisions 
are discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation and the unwinding of the discount is recognised as interest expense.

	 Contingent liabilities are recognized only when there is a possible obligation arising from past events, due to occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events, not wholly within the control of the Company, or where any 
present obligation cannot be measured in terms of future outflow of resources, or where a reliable estimate of the 
obligation cannot be made. Obligations are assessed on an ongoing basis and only those having a largely probable 
outflow of resources are provided for. The Company does not recognise contingent liability but discloses its existence 
in financial statements.

3.12 Dividends:
	 Final Dividends on shares are recorded as a liability on the date of approval by the shareholders and interim dividends 

are recorded as liability on the date of declaration by the Company’s Board of Directors.

3.13 Segment Reporting:
	 The Company identifies operating segments based on the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-

maker.
	 The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 

operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions.
	 The accounting policies adopted for segment reporting are in line with the accounting policies of the Company. 

Segment revenue, segment expenses, segment assets and segment liabilities have been identified to segments on 
the basis of their relationship to the operating activities of the segment. The Company operates in a single segment 
namely solvent extracted products and geographically operates primarily in a single segment.

3.14 Research and Development:
	 Expenditure on research phase is recognised as an expense as and when it is incurred. Expenditure on development 

phase is recognized as intangible assets if it is identifiable, capable of being controlled and from which future economic 
benefits are expected to flow to the enterprise. Intangible assets are stated at cost net of tax / duty credits availed, if 
any, less accumulated amortisation and cumulative impairment.
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Note 4.8 - Capital work-in-progress ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 is as 
follows:

Particulars Amount in CWIP for a period of
As at <1  year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 

years
Total

Projects in progress
 31st March 25  4,06.75  -    -    -    4,06.75 
 31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -   

There are no capital-work-in progress whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its original plan.

Note 5 :  Other intangible assets including intangible assets under development

Other Intangible 
Assets - Software

Intangible assets 
under development

Gross carrying amount
At 1 April 2023  1,80.36  -   
Additions/Transfers  -    -   
Disposals/ Transfers  -    -   
At 31 March 2024  1,80.36  -   
Additions/Transfers  -    -   
Disposals/ Transfers  -    -   
At 31 March 2025  1,80.36  -   
Accumulated Amortization
At 1 April 2023  14.28 
Amortisation  34.34  -   
Disposals/Transfers  -   
At 31 March 2024  48.62  -   
Amortisation  34.34  -   
Disposals/Transfers  -    -   
At 31 March 2025  82.96  -   
Net carrying amount
At 31 March 2025  97.40  -   
At 31 March 2024  1,31.74  -   
At 31 March 2023  1,66.08  -   

Note 5.1 -  Amortisation 									       
Amortisation is calculated over the estimated useful life of the asset. Refer Accounting policy no. 3.1.2 of the company 
for the method of amortisation. The company is amortizing the other intangible assets - software over a period of 5 years

Note 5.2 - Impairment of assets
Refer Note No. 49 for disclosure relating to impairment of assets

Note 5.3 - Restriction on title - Nil									      

Note 5.4 - Contractual Commitments									       
Refer Note No. 37 for outstanding contractual commitments.

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)
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Note 5.5: Intangible assets under development ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 
2024 is as follows:

Particulars
Amount in Intangible assets under development for a period of

As at <1  year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
years Total

Projects in progress
 31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -   
 31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -   

The Company does not have any intangible assets under development. Accordingly, disclosures relating to projects where 
completion is overdue or costs have exceeded the original plan are not applicable.

Note 6 : Right-of-use assets

Leasehold Land Plant and 
Machinery Total

Gross carrying amount
At 1 April 2023  9.35  4,43.00  4,52.35 
Additions/Transfers  5,11.01  -    5,11.01 
Disposals/ Transfers  -    -    -   
At 31 March 2024  5,20.36  4,43.00  9,63.36 
Additions/Transfers  65.96  -    65.96 
Disposals/ Transfers  -    4,43.00  4,43.00 
At 31 March 2025  5,86.32  -    5,86.32 
Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 April 2023  1.10  2,70.82  2,71.92 
Depreciation charge for the year  76.45  31.16  1,07.61 
Disposals/Transfers  -    -    -   
At 31 March 2024  77.55  3,01.98  3,79.53 
Depreciation charge for the year  1,16.89  8.52  1,25.41 
Disposals/Transfers  -    3,10.50  3,10.50 
At 31 March 2025  1,94.44  -    1,94.44 
Net carrying amount
At 31 March 2025  3,91.88  -    3,91.88 
At 31 March 2024  4,42.81  1,41.02  5,83.83 
At 31 March 2023  8.25  1,72.18  1,80.43 

Note 6.1 Depreciation has been charged to ROU assets over the useful life of the assets and is included under depreciation 
and amortisation expenses in statement of profit and loss.  Refer Accounting policy no. 3.09 of the company
Note 6.2:- Disclosures relating to lease and ROU assets - Refer Note No. 38		

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

Category of 
ROU asset

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Depreci-
ation for 
the year

Accu-
mulated 

deprecia-
tion

Depreci-
ation for 
the year

Accu-
mulated 

deprecia-
tion

Additions 
for the 
year

Net 
carrying 
amount

Additions 
for the 
year

Net 
carrying 
amount

Land  1,16.89 1,94.44  76.45 77.55  65.96  3,91.88  5,11.01  4,42.81 
Plant and  
Machinery

 8.52  -    31.16 3,01.98  -    -    -    1,41.02 

Total  1,25.41  1,94.44  1,07.61  3,79.53  65.96  3,91.88  5,11.01  5,83.83 
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(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Currency Face 
value Number of units Amount (Rs. Lakhs)

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Non Current
(i) Investment carried at Cost
Investments in Equity Instruments  
A) In Wholly owned subsidiary companies (Unquoted)

AVT Natural Europe Limited, UK, fully paid up GBP 1 15,35,000 15,350,00  14,60.63  14,60.63 

AVT Natural SA DE CV, Mexico, fully paid up MXN 1 52,16,855 52,168,55  1,85.91  1,85.91 

AVT Natural FZCO, Dubai, fully paid up AED 1 2,230 2,230 5,04.13 5,04.13

Total  21,50.67  21,50.67 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  21,50.67  21,50.67 

Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments  -    -   

Current
(i) Investment at fair value through profit and loss (at NAV)
A) Investment in Mutual Funds (unquoted)
Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth (Bandhan Mutual Fund) Rs.  11,38,840.58  11,38,840.58  4,30.67  4,00.64 
Money Market Fund  - Growth  (HDFC Mutual Fund) Rs.  23,858.64  23,858.64  13,38.04  12,42.59 
Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth (HDFC Mutual Fund) Rs.  67,75,976.11  1,17,71,497.05  20,43.70  33,06.26 
Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth (ICICI Mutual Fund) Rs.  1,06,59,720.87  1,06,59,720.87  35,98.47  33,51.63 
Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth (Kotak Mutual Fund) Rs.  97,94,813.82  97,94,813.82  36,12.66  33,60.23 
Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth (SBI Mutual Fund) Rs.  32,42,085.68  32,42,085.68  10,78.19  10,04.60 
Equity Index Fund - Growth (SBI Mutual Fund) Rs.  72,092.40  -    1,49.04  -   
Equity Index Fund - Growth (DSP Mutual Fund) Rs.  15,63,015.91  -    1,50.00  -   

Equity Index Fund - Growth (Motilal Oswal Mutual Fund) Rs.  6,17,474.30  -    1,46.44  -   

Equity Index Fund - Growth (UTI Mutual Fund) Rs.  6,21,818.34  -    1,18.83  -   

Equity Flexi cap Fund- Growth (Parag Parikh Mutual Fund) Rs.  1,45,720.92  -    1,14.95  -   

Equity Focused Fund- Growth (HDFC Mutual Fund) Rs.  54,937.78  -    1,17.53  -   

Equity Contra Fund - Growth (Invesco Mutual Fund) Rs.  91,168.61  -    1,12.98  -   

Equity Flexi cap Fund- Growth (360 ONE Mutual Fund) Rs.  8,06,835.20  -    1,12.29  -   

Equity Open ended Fund- Growth (ICICI Mutual Fund) Rs.  3,51,585.32  -    1,16.34  -   

Equity Balanced Advantage Fund- Growth (HDFC Mutual Fund) Rs.  30,285.73  -    1,48.50  -   

Equity Aggressive Hybrid- Growth (ICICI Mutual FUnd ) Rs.  41,009.68  -    1,51.20  -   

(ii) Others* Rs.  -    -    37.00  -   

Total  1,35,76.83  1,26,65.95 

Note 7
 Investments

Note 7.1: For Related Party disclosure, refer Note No. 36						    
Note 7.2: Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments						    
Note 7.3:Aggregate carrying amount of unquoted investments				               1,35,76.83 	   1,26,65.95 
Note 7.4: Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments				              -   	              -   
*The amount transferred to the mutual fund house pending allocation of units due to intervening holidays is classified under 
‘Others’ as at the reporting date.
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Note  8 
Other Financial assets
(Unsecured, considered good unless stated otherwise)	
A)	N on Current	
	 Deposits with Govt. Authorities 	   1,94.64 	  1,96.64 
	 Deposits with Others	   15.74 	  94.34 
	 Total		    2,10.38 	  2,90.98 
B)	 Current
	 Deposits for short term leases	  2,19.13 	  2,09.83 
	 Interest accrued on deposits	  0.70 	  0.04 
	 Export incentive receivable	  2,82.03	 -
	 Total		   5,01.86 	  2,09.87 
Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments

Note  9
Other assets
(Unsecured, Considered good)
A)	N on Current
	 Capital Advances	  2,67.72 	  1.84 
	 Deposits with Govt Authorities - Refer Note 37	  2,59.80 	  2,59.80 
	 Receivable from Govt. Authorities	  18.74 	  18.74   
Total non-current assets	   5,46.26 	  2,80.38 

B)  Current
	 Advance to suppliers	  10,80.38 	  4,69.02  
	 Other Advances	  2,28.55 	  18.19  
	 Prepaid expenses	  2,04.78 	  1,92.68  
	 GST Input Receivable	  17,61.84 	  13,09.48  
Total current assets	   32,75.55 	  19,89.37 

Note 10 
Inventories
Inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value
Raw Materials*	  96,52.79 	  49,10.06 
Finished goods	 58,90.91 	  57,30.01 
Stock in process	  1,10,10.99 	  78,13.17 
Stores, Spares and packing material	  16,42.87 	  17,87.72  
Total inventories	  2,81,97.56 	  2,02,40.96 
* Includes goods in transit of raw materials amounting to Rs. 402.62 lakhs (31 March 2024:Rs 311.76 Lakhs) ;  
Goods in transit includes an amount of ₹41.63 lakhs, pending clearance due to an ongoing case  
with the customs authority (31 March 2024: Nil).		

Note 10.1: Carrying amount of inventories pledged as security for liabilities	  2,81,97.56 	   2,02,40.96 
Note 10.2: Write down/back to inventory recognised in cost during the year	   13.50  	   12.89 
Note 10.3: There are no raw materials and components with third parties as on 31st March 2025 (31st March 2024: Nil)
Note 10.4:Valuation of Inventories has been made as per Company’s Accounting Policy No. 3.3				  
				  

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024
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NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Note 11
Trade receivables	
Current	
(Unsecured)	
(a) Considered Good*	  1,46,46.86 	  1,10,56.66  
Less: Allowance for doubtful trade receivables	  -   	  -      
					    		   1,46,46.86 	  1,10,56.66 
(b)	Credit impaired	  - 	  - 
	 Less: Allowance for doubtful trade receivables	  - 	  - 
Total			   		   1,46,46.86 	  1,10,56.66 

* includes receivable from subsidiary companies (Refer note 36)	 27,83.56 	  24,22.02  
Note 11.1:Dues from related parties includes dues from companies 	  9.09 	  13.30  
where directors are interested 	    
Note 11.2:Information about the Company’s exposure to credit and market risks, 	  
and impairment losses for trade receivables is included in Note No 43
Note 11.3:Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments		
				  
The movement in allowance for bad and doubtful debts is as follows:	
Opening provision for doubtful debts	  - 	  -
Add- Provision made during the year (Net)	  - 	  - 
Less- Reversals made during the year	  - 	 -
Closing provision for doubtful debts	  - 	  - 
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NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Trade Receivables ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 is as follows:

Particulars As at  Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment 
Not due Less than  

6 months
6 

months 
- 1 year

1-2 
years

2-3 
years 

More than  
3 years

Total

(i) Undisputed 
Trade receivables – 
considered good

31st March 25  -   1,45,94.75  52.11 -  -    -   1,46,46.86 
31st March 24  -   1,10,21.00  -    35.66  -    -   1,10,56.66 

(ii) Undisputed 
Trade receivables 
– which have 
significant increase 
in credit risk

31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iii) Undisputed 
Trade Receivables 
— credit impaired

31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(iv) Disputed 
Trade Receivables 
considered good 

31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(v) Disputed Trade 
Receivables 
considered good 
- which have 
significant increase 
in credit risk

31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(vi) Disputed Trade 
Receivables - 
Credit impaired

31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Total 31st March 25  -   1,45,94.75  52.11  -    -    -   1,46,46.86 
31st March 24  -   1,10,21.00  -    35.66  -    -   1,10,56.66 

Less : Allowance 
for Trade 
Receivable

31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Net Trade 
Receivable 

31st March 25  -   1,45,94.75  52.11  -    -    -   1,46,46.86 
31st March 24  -   1,10,21.00  -    35.66  -    -   1,10,56.66 

Note 12
Cash and Cash equivalents	
Cash on hand	  9.44 	  6.76  
Balances with bank in current account 	  5,20.63 	  9,48.66  
Total Cash and cash equivalents as per balance sheet	  5,30.07 	  9,55.42 

Note 12.1: There are no repatriation restrictions with respect to cash and cash equivalents
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Note 12A 
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents
Balances with banks:
	 Margin money deposit*	  1,50.07 	  32.19  
	 Ear Marked balances - Unpaid dividend	  1,28.03 	  1,60.39  
	 Ear Marked balances - Security against the borrowings	  0.96 	  0.93  
	 Deposits with original maturity for more than 3 months but less than 12 months	  61.86 	  1,10.71  
	 Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents	   3,40.92 	  3,04.22 
* Given as margin money for Bank Guarantees
Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments		
				  

Note 13 
Loans
Current at amortized cost	
(Unsecured, considered good)		
	 Loans to employees	  18.56 	  17.16  
	 Less: Allowances for credit Impaired loans to employees	  -   	  -     
Total			     18.56 	  17.16 
Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments

Note 14 
Share Capital
A.	A uthorised Share Capital
	 159,900,000 (31 March 2024: 159,900,000) equity shares of Rs. 1 each	  15,99.00 	  15,99.00 
	 1,000 (31 March 2024: 1,000) - 12% Redeemable Cumulative Preference  
	 Shares of Rs.100 each	  1.00 	  1.00 
	 3,000,000 (31 March 2024: 3,000,000)- 7% Redeemable  
	 Cumulative Preference Shares of Rs.10 each	  3,00.00 	  3,00.00 
B.	 Issued, Subscribed & Paid Up
	 152,284,000 (31 March 2024: 152,284,000) equity shares of Rs. 1 each	   15,22.84 	  15,22.84 
C.	 Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to equity shares
	� The company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 1 per share. Each shareholder is eligible for 

one vote share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders 
in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of Interim Dividend. In the event of the liquidation, the equity 
shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company  after distribution of all preferential amounts, 
in proportion to the shareholding.		

D. Shares reserved under option and contract/commitments for sale of shares/disinvestment - Nil (31st March 2024 - Nil) 
E. The aggregate value of calls unpaid (including Directors and Officers of the Company) - Nil (31st March 2024 - Nil)
F.  There were no bonus share issue/ buy back of shares in the immediately preceding 5 years.
G. The Company has not allotted any shares as fully paid up pursuant to contract without payment being received in cash in the  
	 immediately preceding 5 years..

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024
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H.	 Reconciliation of the number of shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the 
	 reporting period:

	 Particulars	N umber of shares	A mount

	A s at 1 April 2023	  15,22,84,000 	  15,22.84   
	 Changes in equity share capital due to prior period errors	  -   	  -   
	 Restated balance as at April 1, 2023	  15,22,84,000 	  15,22.84  
	 Increase /(decrease) during the year	  -   	  -   

	A s at 31 March 2024	  15,22,84,000 	  15,22.84  
	 Changes in equity share capital due to prior period errors	  -   	  -    
	 Restated balance as at April 1, 2024	  15,22,84,000 	  15,22.84  
	 Increase /(decrease) during the year	  -   	  
-   	  As at 31 March 2025	  15,22,84,000 	  15,22.84 

I. Disclosure of shareholding of promoters and percentage of change during the year.

Promoters Name 

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

 No. of 
Shares held 

 % of 
Holding  

 % Change 
During the 

year 

 No. of Shares 
held 

 % of 
Holding  

 % Change 
During the 

year 
Neelamalai Agro Industries 
Limited  6,09,13,600 40.00%  -    6,09,13,600 40.00%  -   

The Midland Rubber & 
Produce Company Limited  4,54,52,175 29.85%  -    4,54,52,175 29.85%  -   

The Nelliampathy Tea & 
Produce Company Limited  60,91,360 4.00%  -    60,91,360 4.00%  -   

Ajit Thomas  15,22,840 1.00%  -    15,22,840 1.00%  -   
Shanthi Thomas  1,81,000 0.12%  -    1,81,000 0.12%  -   
Ashwin Thomas  52,000 0.03%  -    52,000 0.03%  -   
Total  11,42,12,975 75.00%  -    11,42,12,975 75.00%  -   

J. Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

Name of the shareholder

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

 Number of 
shares held 

 % holding in 
that class of 

shares  

 Number of 
shares held 

% holding in  
that class of  

shares
Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited  6,09,13,600 40.00%  6,09,13,600 40.00%
The Midland Rubber & Produce Company 
Limited  4,54,52,175 29.85%  4,54,52,175 29.85%

As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declarations received from 
shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of 
shares.	
K. Dividends - Refer Note No. 48 for the details relating to the dividends distributed during the year

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024
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 Name of the reserve 

Reserves & Surplus  Items of Other Comprehen-
sive Income 

 Capital  
Reserve 

 General 
Reserve 

 Retained  
Earnings 

Remesurment of post 
employment benifit 
obligations through 

other comprehensive 
income

 Cash flow 
Hedging 
Reserve 

 Total 

 At 1 April 2023  0.35  2,77,01.88  1,50,62.72  (1,98.19)  (86.43)  4,24,80.33 
 Changes in accounting policy or prior period 
items   -    -    -    -    -   
 Restated balance as at 1st April 2023  0.35  2,77,01.88  1,50,62.72  (1,98.19)  (86.43)  4,24,80.33 
 Profit for the year  -    -    46,37.36  -    -    46,37.36 
 Remeasurement of the post-employment 
benefit obligations and tax thereon  -    -    -    (13.17)  -    (13.17)
 Other Comprehensive income for the year, 
net of Income tax  -    -    -    -    57.81  57.81 
 Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    46,37.36  (13.17)  57.81  46,82.00 
 Transfer to General Reserve  -    25,00.00  (25,00.00)  -    -    -   
 Dividends paid including dividend 
distribution tax  -    -    (13,70.56)  -    -    (13,70.56)
 As at 1st April 2024  0.35  3,02,01.88  1,58,29.52  (2,11.36)  (28.62)  4,57,91.77 
 Changes in accounting policy or prior period 
items   -    -    -    -    -   
 Restated balance as at 1st April 2024  0.35  3,02,01.88  1,58,29.52  (2,11.36)  (28.62)  4,57,91.77 
 Profit for the year  -    -    38,06.68  -    38,06.68 
 Remeasurement of the post-employment 
benefit obligations and tax thereon  -    48.55  48.55 
 Other Comprehensive income for the year, 
net of Income tax  -    -    -    (49.81)  (49.81)
 Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    38,06.68  48.55  (49.81)  38,05.42 
 Transfer to General Reserve  -    20,00.00  (20,00.00)  -    -   
 Dividend paid  -    -    (12,18.27)  -    (12,18.27)
 At 31 March 2025  0.35  3,22,01.88  1,64,17.93  (1,62.81)  (78.43)  4,83,78.92 

Note 15 
OTHER EQUITY

Nature and purpose of other reserves 
1	 Capital Reserve - Reserve of capital nature taken to this head under the erstwhile GAAP.		
2	 General Reserve - General Reserve is created out of the profits earned by the Company by way of transfer from 

surplus in the statement of profit and loss. Mandatory transfer to general reserve is not required under the Companies 
Act 2013.

3	 Retained Earnings: Retained earnings are the profits that the Company has earned till date, less any transfers to 
general reserve, dividends or other distributions paid to shareholders.

4	 Cash flow Hedging Reserve:  The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or 
losses arising on changes in fair value of designated portion of hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges. 
Such gains or losses will be reclassified to statement of profit and loss in the period in which the underlying hedged 
transaction occurs

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)
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Note 16 
Borrowings
Non Current
	 Term Loans from banks 	  4,95.00 	  8,05.00 
Total		   	  4,95.00 	  8,05.00 

Less: Current Maturities of Long Term Debt clubbed under  “Short term borrowings”	  1,60.00 	  3,10.00 
Net Non Current Borrowings	   3,35.00 	  4,95.00 
Current	
Loan repayable on demand		
Current Maturities of Long Term Debt	  1,60.00 	  3,10.00 
Loan repayable on demand	
Packing Credit from Banks (*) - floating rate - ~ 7.25 to ~ 8.75% p.a	  79,36.21 	  -   
Total			     80,96.21 	  3,10.00 

Aggregate secured loans	   84,31.21 	  8,05.00 
Aggregate unsecured loans	  -   	  -   

Foot Note:
1.	T erm loan from banks 

(i)	 Term Loan 1: The company had availed a term loan for a period of five years with half yearly instalments. Secured 
by first charge on 27.01 acres of leasehold land and movable fixed assets and buildings (value of buildings and 
movable fixed assets being Rs. 3,498 Lakhs). Rate of Interest - 9.70% p.a (31st March 2024 - 9.70% p.a.). The 
loan was fully repaid and in July 2024.

(ii)	 Term Loan 2: The company has taken an additional term loan for a period of six years including a moratorium 
of 1 year. The loan is repayable in 10 equal half yearly instalments with repayment commencing from February 
2023 and the last instalment due being August 2028. Secured by first charge on assets created out of the term 
loan.Rate of Interest - 8.50% p.a. (31st March 2024 - 8.75% p.a).					   

	 �Packing Credit from Banks (*) 
	� Packing credit from banks secured by

-	 hypothecation of present and future current assets including stocks, semi-finished goods, finished goods, 
consumables, stores, spares, book debts. 

	 -	 15% margin on sight import letter of credit and performance guarantee 
- 	 In some cases second pari passu charge by way of hypothecation and mortgage of movable and immovable 

assets of the Company, second charge on entire fixed assets of the Company including EM, In some cases 
demand promissory note, hypothecation of book debts, letter of containing security, deposit of letter of credit 

	 “Period and amount of default as on 31st March 2025 - Nil (31st March 2024 - Nil) 
	 No loans have been guaranteed by Directors or Others”

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

2. The Company had access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period:
	 Fund Based facilities	   13,28.79 	  75,15.00 
	 Non Fund facilities	   6,86.83 	  8,68.29  

3.	N et debt reconciliation 
	N et debt	
Cash and cash equivalents	  5,30.07 	  9,55.42  
Current Investment	  1,35,76.83 	  1,26,65.95  
Non Current & Current Borrowings	  (84,31.21)	  (8,05.00) 
Non-current and current lease liabilities	  (3,74.66)	  (5,67.42)
Net (debt)/ Cash & Cash Equivalents	  53,01.03 	  1,22,48.95  

Finance Cost  Accrued during the Year  Paid during the Year 
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Interest on borrowings  4,03.52  1,94.85  4,03.52  1,94.85 
Bank Charges on borrowings  1,62.12  1,90.77  1,62.12  1,90.77 
Unwinding interest on finance lease  34.83  34.57  34.83  34.57 
Total  6,00.47  4,20.19  6,00.47  4,20.19 

Other Assets Borrowings and leases Total Net 
borrowings

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents

Current  
Investments

 Short / 
Long Term 
Borrowings

Lease 
liabilities

Net (debt)/ Cash & Cash 
Equivalents as at 1st April 2023  5,34.93  58,39.86  (11,85.00)  (2,85.92)  49,03.87 

Cash inflow  4,20.49  (5,10.00)  -    -    (89.51)
Cash outflow  -    65,99.67  3,80.00  2,48.67  72,28.34 
Unrealised fair value gains on 
current investments  -    7,36.42  -    -    7,36.42 

Other non cash movement  -    -    -    (4,95.60)  (4,95.60)
Interest expense  -    (3,85.62)  (34.57)  (4,20.19)
Interest paid  -    -    3,85.62  -    3,85.62 
(Net debt)/ Cash & Cash 
Equivalents as at 31 March 2024  9,55.42  1,26,65.95  (8,05.00)  (5,67.42)  1,22,48.95 

Net (debt)/ Cash & Cash 
Equivalents as at 1st April 2024  9,55.42  1,26,65.95  (8,05.00)  (5,67.42)  1,22,48.95 

Cash inflow  -    (14,86.95)  (77,86.21)  -    (92,73.16)
Cash outflow  (4,25.36)  14,87.00  1,60.00  67.72  12,89.36 
Unrealised fair value gains on 
current investments  -    9,10.83  -    -    9,10.83 

Other non cash movement  -    -    -    1,59.87  1,59.87 
Interest expense  -    -    (5,65.64)  (34.83)  (6,00.47)
Interest paid  -    -    5,65.64  5,65.64 
(Net debt)/ Cash & Cash 
Equivalents as at 31 March 2025  5,30.07  1,35,76.83  (84,31.21)  (3,74.66)  53,01.03 
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Note 17 
Lease liability
Non Current
Lease liability - fixed rate of 9.p.a.	  3,74.66 	  5,67.42  
Less: Current maturities of leases 	  1,01.39 	  50.71  
				     2,73.27 	  5,16.71 
Current		
Lease liability - fixed rate of 9.p.a.	  1,01.39 	  50.71 
				      3,74.66 	  5,67.42 

Note 17. 1 Lease Liability
(i) an arrangement for the lease of Plant and Machinery, originally entered into for a term of 10 years. The liability is 
repayable in monthly instalments, with the final payment due in July 2029 which has been acquired and capitalized by the 
Company during the year.
“(ii) an arrangement for the lease of various land for a period of 5 years/3 years. The lease rents are payable as per the 
terms of the lease and the last repayment is for the year ended 31st March 2029.“			
Note 17.2: Refer Note No. 6 for disclosure of ROU assets. 
Note 17.3: Refer Note No. 38 for disclosure of leases			    
Note 17.4: Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments			 

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Note 18 
Provisions
Non Current
Provision for Gratuity (funded)	  -   	  -   
Provision for Compensated absences (unfunded)	   4,42.10 	  4,68.87 
Total non-current provisions	   4,42.10 	  4,68.87 

Current
Provision for Gratuity (funded)	   6,72.12 	  6,04.54  
Provision for Compensated absences (unfunded)	  1,09.85 	  1,34.06  
Provision for other taxes	   3,34.32 	  3,97.55 
Total current provisions	   11,16.29 	  11,36.15 
Note 18.1 : Refer Note 35 for disclosures on employee benefits
Note 19 
Deferred Tax Liability
Components of Deferred tax 
Deferred Tax Liability
On Account of depreciation	  1,00.41 	  1,76.07  
On account of fair valuation of investments	  4,14.66 	  2,32.61 
			   (A)	    5,15.07  	   4,08.68 
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NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Deferred Tax Asset
Provisions for gratuity and compensated absences		   3,08.08 	 3,03.89  
On account of hedge reserve		   26.38 	 9.62  
On Account of Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets		   5.76 	  2.49 
			   (B)	   3,40.22 	 3,16.01 

Deferred Tax Liability (net) (A-B)	   1,74.85	  92.67 
Note 20 
Trade payables
Current
Due to micro and small enterprises (Refer Foot notes (i))	  5,41.36 	  4,08.26  
Due to other than micro and small enterprises		   
 - Related parties (Refer note 36)	  6,47.12 	  8,37.11  
 - Other payables	  89,36.53 	  57,72.57  
Total of due to other than micro and small enterprises	 95,83.65	 66,09.68
Total trade payables	   1,01,25.01 	  70,17.94 

Footnotes:
(i) 	� (i) The amount due to  Micro and Small Enterprises as defined in the “The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development 

Act, 2006” has been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information collected by the 
Management. This has been relied upon by the auditors. Also, refer Note 39 for details on the required disclosures.

Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments

Trade payable ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 is as 
follows:

Particulars* As at Outstanding for following periods from date of transaction

Unbilled Less than 
1 year 1 -2 years 2-3 years More than 

3 years Total

(i) Undisputed dues 
– Micro and small 
enterprises

31st March 25  -    5,36.28  2.47  2.61  -    5,41.36 

31st March 24  -    4,05.65  2.61  -    -    4,08.26 

(i) Undisputed dues – 
Medium enterprises

31st March 25 -  2,81.14 - - -  2,81.14 
31st March 24  -    15,36.22  -   - -  15,36.22 

(iii) Undisputed dues 
– Other than MSME

31st March 25  5,07.18  74,19.93  4,07.47  8,21.42 -  91,55.99 
31st March 24  4,93.78  35,17.91  9,06.67  70.00  85.11  50,73.46 

(iv) Disputed dues - 
MSME

31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -    -   
31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(v) Disputed dues - 
Others

31st March 25  -    -    -    1,46.51  -    1,46.51 
31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total
31st March 25  5,07.18  82,37.35  4,09.94  9,70.54  -    1,01,25.01 
31st March 24  4,93.78  54,59.77  9,09.28  70.00  85.11  70,17.94 
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Note 23
Revenue from operations	
Sale of Products 	  4,95,01.24 	  4,94,39.00 
Job work income	   24,20.99 	  8,92.32 
Total Revenue from Operations	   5,19,22.23 	  5,03,31.32 

Revenue disaggregated by products and services

Sale of products
Marigold extracts	  1,92,65.74 	  1,78,98.69 
Spices extracts	  1,41,05.78 	  1,40,22.02 
Instant Tea & de-Caffeinated Tea	  1,30,71.13 	  1,58,43.32 
Animal Nutrition	  30,58.59 	  16,74.97 
Sale of services
Job work income	  24,20.99 	  8,92.32 
				     5,19,22.23 	  5,03,31.32 
Revenue disaggregation by geography:
America 	  	  2,47,74.14 	  2,13,76.10 
Europe	  	  1,30,18.38 	  1,16,90.04 
India	  		   37,46.78 	  30,09.94 
Others	 		   1,03,82.93 	  1,42,55.24 
			   	  5,19,22.23 	  5,03,31.32 
Geographical revenue is allocated based on the location of the customers.

Reconciliation of amount of revenue recognised in the statement 
of profit and loss with the contracted price	
Revenue as per contracted price	   5,27,79.26 	  5,06,94.76  
Less: Sales returns	 (8,57.03)	 (3,63.44)
Revenue from contracts with customers	   5,19,22.23 	  5,03,31.32  
Information on satisfaction of performance obligation is disclosed in Note No. 45

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Note 21 
Other Financial liabilities
Current			  		
Foreign exchange forward contracts	  1,23.08 	  6.81 
Unpaid dividend	  1,28.03 	  1,60.39 
Total					     2,51.11 	  1,67.20  
	 Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments
Note 22 
Other liabilities
Current
Statutory dues	  1,42.41 	  1,16.61 
Employee related liabilities	  2,51.14 	  3,75.25 
Advance from customers	  3,51.26 	  1,95.80 
Deposits from contractors	  5.10 	  5.10 
Total			     7,49.91 	  6,92.76 
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Note 24
Other Income
Net gain on disposal / fair valuation of investments carried at fair value through profit or loss	  9,10.83 	  7,36.42 
Foreign exchange differences (net)	  2,14.34 	  3,72.90 
Sundry creditors written back	  1,55.10 	  55.75 
Interest income on financial assets measured at amortised cost	  21.35 	  12.64 
Export Incentive Income	  2,82.03 	  -   
Insurance Claim	  4.88 	  4.67 
Miscellaneous income	  1,39.14 	  36.04 
Total other income	   17,27.67 	  12,18.42 
Note 25 
Changes in inventories of work-in-progress, stock-in-trade / and finished goods
Inventory at the beginning of the year
Finished Goods		
    - Processed	  57,30.01 	  93,08.25 
Stock in process	  78,13.17 	  45,51.95 
	  			    1,35,43.18 	  1,38,60.20 
Less: inventory at the end of the year
Finished Goods		
    - Processed	  58,90.91 	  57,30.01  
Stock in process	   1,10,10.99 	  78,13.17 
Stock in transit of Finished Goods	  -   	  -   
			   	   1,69,01.90 	  1,35,43.18 
Net (Increase)/Decrease	   (33,58.72)	  3,17.02 

Note 26 
Employee benefits expense
Salaries, wages and bonus**	  54,26.90 	  49,38.33 
Contribution to provident and other funds*	   6,27.77 	  5,65.62 
Staff welfare expenses	   5,04.83 	  5,09.35 
Total			     65,59.50 	  60,13.30 

*Refer to Note 35 for details on employee benefits

	 The above includes
   -  Salaries, wages and bonus includes net incremental leave  
	 encashment provision/(reversal of lease encashment provision) 	   (12.74)	  79.92  
    -  Contribution to provident and other funds includes net incremental gratuity provision 	   1,66.16 	  1,54.08 
**The above includes Directors sitting fee	  19.50 	  10.75 

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note 27
Finance costs
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:	
	 On Term loans	  55.94 	  93.61  
	 On Packing credit	  3,47.58 	  1,01.24  
Other finance costs including bank charges	  1,62.12 	  1,90.77  
Interest on lease liabilities	  34.83 	  34.57  
Interest due to Micro and Small enterprises*	  2.49 	  0.26  
Total			   6,02.96	 4,20.45
* The information regarding dues to Micro and small enterprises are  
   disclosed in Note No. 39

Note 28
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
Depreciation on property, plant and equipments	  12,12.15 	  12,42.39 
Amortisation on other Intangible assets	  34.34 	  34.34 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets	  1,25.41 	  1,07.61
				     13,71.90 	  13,84.34 
Note 29
Other Expenses
Consumption of stores, spares and packing materials	  43,90.80 	  34,07.57 
Freight and Forwarding charges	  24,74.45 	  16,83.27 
Power and fuel	  33,79.58 	  35,25.53 
Commission	  6,78.07 	  5,59.23 
Product testing charges	  4,45.76 	  3,60.52 
Travelling and conveyance	  3,77.13 	  3,36.37 
Legal and professional fees	  2,50.49 	  2,79.94 
Processing Charges	  4,34.34 	  1,56.34 
Security Service Charges	  1,30.06 	  1,12.72 
Short term leases	  6,34.48 	  6,40.46 
Rates and taxes	  79.33 	  1,95.81 
Insurance		  1,62.93 	  1,53.09  
Repairs and maintenance		
	 Plant and machinery	  5,61.57 	  6,92.38 
	 Buildings	  27.04 	  76.01 
	 Vehicles	  69.13 	  1,29.80 
	 Others		  4,17.15 	  4,17.24  
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CSR expenditure (Refer Note No. 30)	  1,66.14 	  1,67.63 
Donations and charity	  50.28 	  51.05 
Advertisement	  5.10 	  7.15 
Postage and telephones	  65.97 	  46.75 
Printing and stationery	  32.60 	  55.18 
Payment to auditor (Refer Note No. 31)	  38.32 	  34.29 
Loss on sale of asset	  2.45 	  -   
Miscellaneous expenses	  8,05.99 	  10,67.06  
Total			     1,56,79.16 	  1,41,55.39 

Note 30
Corporate Social Responsibility Expenditure:	

(a)	Amount required to be spent as per Section 135 of the Act by the Company	   1,65.85 	  1,67.07  
(b)	Amount spent during the year on: 
	 (i) Construction / acquisition of an asset	  -   	  -    
	 (ii) On purposes other than (i) above	   1,66.14 	  1,67.63  
(c)	 shortfall at the end of the year	  -   	  -    
(d)	total of previous years shortfall	  -   	  -    
(e)	reason for shortfall	  Not applicable 	  Not applicable  
(f)	 nature of CSR activities 
				    Support for Drinking	 Support for Drinking 
				    water, scholarship 	 water, scholarship 
				    programme, 	 programme, 
				    infrastructure	 infrastructure 
				    support, support for	 support, support for  
				    children and old age	 children and old age
(g) details of related party transactions	  -   	  -    
(h)	Where a provision is made with respect to a liability incurred by  
	 entering into a contractual obligation, the movements in the  
	 provision during the year shall be shown separately	  N.A 	  N.A 
 
Note 31
Payment made to Statutory Auditors:
As Auditor:
Statutory Audit	 20.00	 17.00
Tax Audit		  5.65	 5.65

In Other Capacity		
Taxation Matters	 5.25	  5.00 
Certification	 5.73	  5.29 
Reimbursement of expenses	 1.69	 1.35
Total			   38.32	 34.29
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Note 32
Income Tax
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 are:
Statement of profit and loss:
Income tax	  12,86.62 	  16,50.00 
Deferred tax	  82.61 	  (16.48)
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss	  13,69.23 	  16,33.52 

Other Comprehensive Income
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of cash flow hedges	   16.75 	  (19.44)
Net loss/(gain) on remeasurements of defined benefit plans	   (16.33)	  4.43 
Income tax charged to OCI	   0.42 	  (15.01)
Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by  
domestic tax rate for 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024:		
Accounting profit before tax (a)	   51,75.91 	  62,70.88 
Income Tax Rate (b)	 25.17%	 25.17%
Calculated taxes based on above, without any adjustments for deductions [(a) x (b)]	  13,02.67 	  15,78.26 
Adjustments
	 “On account of Income Tax relating to Remeasurement 
	 of the defined benefit plans”	  (16.33)	  26.21 
	 On account of Corporate Social Responsibility Costs	 41.82	  42.19 
	 On account of donations	 12.66	  12.85 
	 On account of non-deductible expenses	 1.36	  1.26 
	 On account of other items	 27.05	  (27.24) 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss	  13,69.23 	  16,33.52 
The company has utilised the option given u/s 115BAA and accordingly  
the tax rate applicable is 25.17%.

Reconciliation of deferred tax liabilities (net):
Opening balance as of 1st April 2024	  (92.67)	  (94.14)
Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in profit or loss	   (82.61)	  16.48  
Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in OCI	   0.42 	  (15.02)
Closing balance as at 31st March 2025	   (1,74.85)	  (92.67)

Given that the Company does not have any intention to dispose investments in subsidiaries in the foreseeable future, 
deferred tax asset on indexation benefit in relation to such investments has not been recognised. Similarly, the Company 
does not have any intention to dispose of its free hold and lease hold land in the foreseeable future, therefore, deferred tax 
asset on indexation benefit in relation to these assets has not been recognised.
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Note 33
Earnings per share	
Profit after Taxation in Rs. In Lakhs	   38,06.68 	  46,37.36 
Weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding at the end of the year *	    1,52,28,40,00  	  1,52,28,40,00 
Nominal value per Equity share	  1.00 	  1.00 
Earnings per share (Basic and Diluted) in Rs.	   2.50 	  3.05 

* There have been no transactions involving equity shares or potential equity shares between the reporting date and the date of authorisation of these financial 
statements.

Note 34
Segment reporting
The Company operates in a single segment, namely solvent extracted products. Even geographically, there is no material 
separate segment.		  .
Additional Information:
India			     37,46.78 	  30,09.94  
Rest of the World	   4,81,75.45 	  4,73,21.38 
Total Revenue from Sale of Products and services	   51,922.23 	  50,331.32 

Note 35
Employee Benefits
(a)	  The Company has recognised the following expenses as defined contribution plan under the head “Company’s 

Contribution to Provident Fund and Other Funds” (net of recoveries) :		
	 Provident fund	  3,05.01 	  2,70.48  
	 Superannuation fund	   89.70 	  88.22 

(b)	 The Company operates post retirement defined benefit plans as follows :-
	 Gratuity Scheme:
	� This is a funded defined benefit plan for qualifying employees for which, the Company is making contributions to the 

Gratuity Fund managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India. The scheme provides for a lump sum payment to 
vested employees at retirement, death while in employment or on termination of employment. Vesting occurs upon 
completion of five years of service.

	 Defined Benefit Plans (Gratuity)– As per Actuarial Valuation on March 31, 2025:-

	 (i)	 Expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss
		  Current Service Cost	   1,24.50 	  1,17.15  
		  Net Interest	  41.67 	  36.93 
		  Expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss	   1,66.17 	  1,54.08   

(ii)	O ther Comprehensive Income (OCI)
	 Actuarial (Gain)/Loss recognized for the period	  (64.71)	  25.83 
	 Return on Plan Assets excluding net interest	   (0.17)	  (8.22)
	 Total Actuarial (Gain)/Loss recognized in (OCI)	   (64.88)	  17.61 

(iii)	 Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligation
	 Opening Defined Benefit Obligation 	  17,61.18 	 16,33.49
	 Interest Cost	  1,22.30 	 1,14.36
	 Current Service Cost 	  1,24.50 	 1,17.15
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	 Benefits paid	  (72.44)	  (1,29.65)
	 Actuarial Losses / (Gain) on obligation	  (64.71)	  25.83 
	 Closing Defined Benefit Obligation 	   18,70.84 	  17,61.18 

(iv)	 Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets
	 Opening Fair Value of Plan Assets 	  11,56.64 	  10,53.19 
	 Return on plan assets	   0.17 	 8.22 
	 Interest income	   80.63 	  77.43 
	 Contributions made	   33.71 	  1,47.44 
	 Benefits Paid 	   (72.44)	 (1,29.65)
	 Closing Fair Value of Plan Assets 	   11,98.72 	  11,56.63  

(v)	 Reconciliation of Net Liability/ Asset
	 Opening Net Benefit Liability	  6,04.55 	  5,80.30 
	 Expense charged to profit and loss	   1,66.17 	  1,54.08 
	 Amount recognized outside profit and loss (in OCI)	   (64.88)	  17.61 
	 Employer Contribution	   (33.71)	  (1,47.44)
	 Closing Net Defined Benefit Liability/ (Asset) - Current	   6,72.13 	  6,04.55  

(vi)	A mount to be recognized in Balance Sheet and movement in net liability 
	 Present Value of Funded Obligations	   18,70.84 	  17,61.18 
	 Fair Value of Plan Assets	   11,98.72 	  11,56.63 
	 Net (asset) / Liability - Current	   6,72.13 	  6,04.55 

(vii)	D escription of Plan Assets 
	 Funds managed by Insurer	 100%	 100%
	 Grand Total 	 100%	 100%

(viii)	A ctuarial Assumptions 
	 Discount rate (p.a.) 	 6.66%	 7.09%
	 Salary Escalation Rate (p.a.)	 12.75%	 12.75%
	 Attrition Rate (p.a)	 5.00%	 5.00%
	 Expected rate of return on Plan Assets (p.a.)	 6.66%	 7.09%
	 Mortality Rate	 Indian Assured 	 Indian Assured
		L  ives Mortality 	 Lives Mortality
		  (2012-14) Ult 	  (2012-14) Ult 

The discount rates are based on the benchmark yields available on government bonds at the valuation date with 
terms matching that of the liabilities and salary increases rates take into account inflation, Seniority, Promotion and 
other relevant factors.

	 (ix)	A ssets liability comparison	 31-03-2025	 31-03-2024	 31-03-2023	 31-03-2022	 31-03-2021
		  Present value obligation at the  
		  end of the period	   18,70.84 	  17,61.18 	  16,33.49 	  14,52.21 	  13,31.70  
		  Plan assets	  11,98.72 	  11,56.63 	  10,53.19 	  9,27.48 	  8,29.53  
		  Surplus/(Deficit)	  (6,72.12)	  (6,04.55)	  (5,80.30)	  (5,24.73)	  (5,02.17) 
		  Experience adjustments on plan assets	  0.17 	  8.22 	  10.91 	  8.11 	  4.04  

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024



129

	 (x)	E xpected Pay-out		
		  Year 1	 2,88.13	 3,00.20
		  Year 2	 95.11	 88.68
		  Year 3	 1,52.24	 92.68
		  Year 4	 2,12.79	 1,47.49
		  Year 5	 1,72.20	 2,19.63
		  Next 5 years	 9,35.05	 9,10.29

		  Average Duration of Defined Benefit Obligations - Rs. 6.04 years (31 March 2024: 6.10 years) 
		  Projected service costs for next financial year is Rs. 142.93 (31 March 2024: Rs. 124.50 Lakhs)

	 (xi)	 Effect of Change in Key Assumptions
		  Discount Rate
		  Impact of increase in 100 bps on DBO 	  2,19.96 	  1,10.30 
		  Impact of decrease in 100 bps on DBO 	   (16.16)	  (1,25.82)
		S  alary Escalation Rate 
		  Impact of increase in 100 bps on DBO 	   (5.94)	  (1,15.60)
		  Impact of decrease in 100 bps on DBO 	   2,13.50 	  103.85  
	 The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined 	

benefit obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.	
			 

(c) 	 Other Long Term Employee Benefits :-
	 i)	L eave Encashment:
		  The company also operates a non funded leave encashment scheme for its employees.
		  Other Long Term Employee Benefits (Leave encashment)– As per Actuarial Valuation on March 31, 2025:-
		  (i) 	� Amount to be recognized in Balance Sheet  

and movement in net liability 
			   Present Value of Funded Obligations	 5,51.95	  6,02.92 
			   Fair Value of Plan Assets 	 -   	  -   
			   Net (asset) / Liability 	  5,51.95 	  6,02.92 

		  (ii) 	A ctuarial Assumptions 
			   Discount rate (p.a.) 	 6.66%	 7.09%
			   Salary Escalation Rate (p.a.) 	 12.75%	 12.75%
			   Attrition Rate (p.a)	 5.00%	 5.00%

		  (iii) 	 Effect of Change in Key Assumptions
			D   iscount Rate
			   Impact of increase in 100 bps on DBO 	   (10.37)	  (42.51)
			   Impact of decrease in 100 bps on DBO 	   (97.94)	  (1,30.08)
			   Salary Escalation Rate		
			   Impact of increase in 100 bps on DBO 	   (94.14)	  (1,26.27)
			   Impact of decrease in 100 bps on DBO 	   (12.71)	  (44.85)
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The estimate of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, takes into account inflation, seniority, promotions 
and other relevant factors. The above information has been certified by the actuary and has been relied upon by the 
Auditors.	

Exposure to Risks:
These plans typically expose the Company to actuarial risks such as: interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.
Interest risk: A decrease in the Government Securities (G-Sec Bonds) interest rate will increase the plan liability.
Longevity risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of 
the mortality of plan participants during their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will 
increase the plan’s liability.
Salary risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan 
participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

Note 36
Related Party Transactions
A:	D etails of related parties:
	 (a)	 Directors who held the office during the year:
		  Mr. Ajit Thomas
		  Mr. M A Alagappan ( Upto 24-07-2024)
		  Mr. P Shankar (Upto 24-07-2024)
		  Mr. Habib Hussain (Upto 09-08-2024)
		  Mr. A D Bopana
		  Mrs. Shanthi Thomas
		  Mrs. Kavitha Vijay
		  Mr. M M Venkatachalam (From 25-07-2024)
		  Mr. Rahul Thomas (From 12-06-2024)
		  Mr. Ranganath N Krishna (From 25-07-2024)

	 (b)	 Key Management Personnel (KMP):
		  Mr. Balasundaram Krishnakumar Sr. Vice President and Manager (Upto 31-03-2025)
		  Mr. A. Ramadas, Sr. Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
		  Mr. Sharon Josh, Company Secretary (Upto 21-07-2024)
		  Mr. P. Mahadevan, Company Secretary (From 12-11-2024)

	 (c)	 Subsidiaries
		  AVT Natural Europe Limited, UK (formerly known as ‘AVT Tea Services Limited’)
		  AVT Natural S.A. DE C.V
		  AVT Natural North America Inc., USA (step down subsidiary)
		  AVT Natural FZCO, Dubai 

		  Entities/Persons with whom transactions carried out / were carried in current / previous year
	 (d)	 Entities having significant influence over the reporting entity
		  The Midland Rubber and Produce Company Limited
		  Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024



131

	 (e) 	 Entities with common control through board composition / shareholding 
		  AVT Gavia Foods Private Limited
		  The Nelliampathy Tea and Produce Company Limited
		  A V Thomas & Company Limited
		  Midland Corporate Advisory Services Private Limited
		  AVT McCormick Ingredients Private Limited
		  Midland Charitable Trust
		  Parry Agro Industries Ltd.
	 (f)	 Relatives of the directors
		  Mr. Rahul Thomas - Son of Mr. Ajit Thomas
		  Mr. Ashwin Thomas - Son of Mr. Ajit Thomas
		  Mrs. Shabri Roberson - Daughter of Mrs Shanthi Thomas
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NOTE 37
Commitments and Contingencies	

a)     On account of Sales Tax / Value Added tax matters in dispute:	   1,45.16 	  1,45.16 

	 “Amount paid to statutory authorities - Rs.71.23 lakhs 
	 (31 March 2024: - Rs.71.23 lakhs)”		

b)     On account of income tax matters in dispute:	   2,27.25 	  2,04.29 

	 “Amount paid to statutory authorities - Rs.100.89 lakhs 
	 (31 March 2024: - Rs.100.89 lakhs)”

c)     On account of Customs Duty matters in dispute:	   1,28.83 	  77.79 

	 “Amount paid to statutory authorities - Rs.30.00 lakhs 
	 (31 March 2024: - Rs. 30.00 lakhs)”		

d)     On account of Goods and Service tax matters in dispute	   16,92.66 	  16,92.66 

	 “Amount paid to statutory authorities - Rs.57.68 lakhs 
	 (31 March 2024: - 57.68 lakhs)”	    

e)     Corporate Guarantee given for Subsidiaries	  36,64.35 	  35,30.90 

	 “Company has given a Corporate Guarantee to a Bank for a loan to the Subsidiaries* 
	 (31 March 2025: US $ 4.25 Million; 31 March 2024: US $ 4.25 Million)”
In all these cases, the company does not foresee any financial implications.		

 * Exchange rates used as on reporting date 31 March 2025 (PY: exchange rate as on 31 March 2024)

Contractual Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (Property, plant and equipments net of capital 
advances) and not provided for is Rs. 222.36 lakhs (31 March 2024: Nil).

Note 38
Leases
Company as a lessee
Note 38.1 : The Company has taken on lease equipment and warehouses. Most of the leases include renewal and 
escalation clauses. 		
Note 38.2: The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities as of March 31, 2025 on 
an undiscounted basis:		

Operating Lease
Due within one year	   1,21.53 	  62.46 
Due in a period between one year and five years	   2,83.49 	  5,52.98 
Due after five years	  -   	  -   
Total minimum lease commitments	   4,05.02 	  6,15.44 

Lease commitment for short term leases
Lease commitment for short term leases for non-cancellable period*	  2,72.03 	  2,18.81 
Due in a period between one year and five years	  -   	  -   
Due after five years	  -   	  -   
Total minimum lease commitments	  2,72.03 	  2,18.81 
* The leases of Godowns expire on various dates.

NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note 38.3 :- The following amounts has been recognised in statement of profit and loss
Depreciation - Refer Note No. 28	  1,25.41 	  1,07.61 
Interest expenses - Refer Note No. 27	  34.83 	  34.57 
Expenses relating to short term lease - Refer Note No. 29	  6,34.48 	  6,40.46   
Note 38.4 : Net debt reconciliation on leases - Refer Note No. 16(3)		
Note 38.5: Leases not yet commenced to which lease is committed. As at 31st March 2025 is Nil (31st March 2024: Nil)	

Note 39
Disclosures required under Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006:

Particulars As at  
31st March 2025

As at  
31st March 2024

(i) Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the 
accounting year  8,20.01  19,44.47 

(ii) Interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the end of the 
accounting year  2.49  0.27 

(iii) The amount of interest paid along with the amounts of the payment made 
to the supplier beyond the appointed day  -    -   

(iv) The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the 
accounting year  2.49  0.27 

(v) The amount of further interest due and payable even in the succeeding 
year, until such date when the interest dues as above are actually paid  2.49  0.27 

* The amount due to Micro and Small Enterprises as defined in the “The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development 
Act, 2006” has been determined to the extent such parties have submitted information to the Company in this regard. 	

Note 40
Guarantee given by the company
Bank Guarantees (other than guarantee given for subsidiaries as detailed in Note 37) of Rs. 246.17 Lakhs (31 March 2024: 
Rs. 64.71 Lakhs) have been given by the company to various government authorities & other parties. These guarantees 
were issued against the margin money kept with bank of Rs.150.08 Lakhs (31 March 2024: Rs. 32.19 Lakhs).
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Note 41
Fair value measurement

Financial Instruments by category						    
The significant accounting policies, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument 
are disclosed.						    

Financial assets and liabilities

Particulars As at  
31st March 2025

As at  
31st March 2024

FVTPL FVTOCI Amortised 
Cost

FVTPL FVTOCI Amortised 
Cost

Financial assets (other than investment in subsidiary):
Non Current

Investments*  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Other financial assets  -    -    2,10.38  -    -    2,90.98 

Current
Investments  1,35,76.83 - -  1,26,65.95 - -
Trade Receivables  -    -    1,46,46.86  -    -    1,10,56.66 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  -    -    5,30.07  -    -    9,55.42 
Bank Balances other than Cash & 
Cash Equivalents

 -    -    3,40.92  -    -    3,04.22 

Loans  -    -    18.56  -    -    17.16 
Other financial assets  -    -    5,01.86  -    -    2,09.87 

Total  1,35,76.83  -    1,62,48.65  1,26,65.95  -    1,28,34.31 
Financial liabilities:
Borrowings - Non Current  -    -    3,35.00  -    -    4,95.00 
Lease liabilities - Non-current - -  2,73.27 - -  5,16.71 
Borrowings - Current  -    -    80,96.21  -    -    3,10.00 
Lease liabilities - Current - -  1,01.39 - -  50.71 
Trade Payables  -    -    1,01,25.01  -    -    70,17.94 
Other financial liabilities - Current  -    1,23.08  1,28.03  -    6.81  1,60.39 
Total  -    1,23.08  1,90,58.91  -    6.81  85,50.75 

* Does not include investments in subsidiary companies at cost.
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NOTES TO THE STANDALONE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	A s at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Note42
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
A.1 Fair value of Financial Instruments measured through FVTPL:

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value-recurring fair value measurements as at March 31, 2025:

Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment in Mutual Funds A.2  1,35,76.83  -    -    1,35,76.83 

Investment in Equity Shares A.2  -    -    -    -   

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 
value-recurring fair value measurements as at 
March 31, 2024:
Investment in Mutual Funds A.2  1,26,65.95  -    -    1,26,65.95 
Investment in Equity Shares A.2  -    -    -    -   

A.2 Valuation inputs and relationship to fair value
The fair value of investment in mutual funds is determined using the Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit at the balance 
sheet date. In respect of the investment in equity share, considering the nature of the investment, fair value is 
considered close to the carrying value by the management.	

B.1 Fair value of Financial Instruments measured 
through FVTOCI:
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 
value-recurring fair value measurements as at 
March 31, 2025:
Derivatives designated as hedges - Liability
  - Foreign exchange forward contracts B.2  -    1,23.08  -    1,23.08 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair 
value-recurring fair value measurements as at 
March 31, 2024:
Derivatives designated as hedges - Asset
  - Foreign exchange forward contracts B.2  -    6.81  -    6.81 

B.2	 Valuation inputs and relationship to fair value
	 The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet 

date.					  
C.	 Fair value of Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost :

Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents and the short-term maturities of trade receivables, loans, 
borrowings-current, financial liabilities and assets the management considers that the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities recognised at amortised cost in financial statements is approximate to their fair value.
The fair value of financial instruments as referred to in note (A) above has been classified into three categories 
depending on the inputs used in the valuation technique. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities [Level 1 measurements] and lowest priority to unobservable inputs 
[Level 3 measurements].

D. 	 Valuation inputs and relationship to fair value
There are no material level 3 fair value measurements in respect of the financial assets and liabilities of the company.
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Note 43
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Company’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other 
payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Company’s operations and to provide guarantees 
to support its operations. The Company’s principal financial assets include loans, trade and other receivables, and cash 
and short-term deposits that derive directly from its operations. The Company also enters into derivative transactions.	
The Company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s senior management oversees the 
management of these risks. The  financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that 
financial risks are identified, measured and managed by the senior management in accordance with the Company’s policies 
and risk objectives. All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by  professionals who have the 
appropriate skills, experience and supervision. It is the Company’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative 
purposes may be undertaken.
(A)	 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price 
risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and 
borrowings and derivative financial instruments.				  
The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the position as at 31st March 2025 and 31st March 2024.
The sensitivity analyses have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating 
interest rates of the debt and derivatives and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all 
constant and on the basis of hedge designations in place at 31st March 2025.				  
The analyses exclude the impact of movements in market variables on: the carrying values of gratuity and other post-
retirement obligations; provisions; and the non-financial assets.				  
The following assumptions have been made in calculating the sensitivity analyses:				  
The sensitivity of the relevant profit or loss item is the effect of the assumed changes in respective market risks. This 
is based on the financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31st March 2025 and 31st March 2024 including the 
effect of hedge accounting.

(a)	 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates 
relates primarily to the Company’s short-term debt obligations with fixed & floating interest rates. 	

		S  ensitivity Analysis of the Interest Rate
		 Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest expense from borrowings at the floating rate as a result of 

change in interest rates.				  
	 Effect on profit before tax in Rs. lakhs
				    31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
			   100bp increase	   (84.31)	  (8.05)
			   100bp decrease	   84.31 	  8.05 

		 The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently 
observable market environment, showing a significantly higher volatility than in prior years.

	 (b)	 Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates 
primarily to the Company’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a foreign currency).	
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The Company manages its foreign currency risk by using foreign currency forward contracts.	
When a derivative is entered into for the purpose of being a hedge, the Company negotiates the terms of those 
derivatives to match the terms of the hedged exposure. For hedges of forecast transactions, the derivatives cover 
the period of exposure from the point the cash flows of the transactions are forecasted up to the point of settlement 
of the resulting receivable or payable that is denominated in the foreign currency.	

(1)	 Foreign Currency Risk Exposure
	 The Company exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the year expressed in Rs. as follows:

 				    Amount in foreign currency	 Amount in Rs.

				    31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
				    In ‘000	 Rs. In Lakhs
	 Financial Assets				  
	 Trade Receivables - USD	  1,65,06.09 	  1,23,94.21 	 1,40,23.42	  1,02,63.65 
				  
	 Derivative assets	 			 
	 Forward Cover Contracts - USD	   1,20,33.64 	  73,86.00 	 1,02,23.78	  61,16.35 
				  
	 Financial Liabilities				  
	 Trade Payables - USD	   64,36.69 	  35,23.54 	 55,49.06	  29,55.90 
	 Trade Payables - GBP	   22.81 	  41.25 	 25.48	  43.75  
	 Trade Payables-SGD	   28.26 	  28.26 	 17.89	  17.77 
	 Trade Payables-EURO	   -   	  8.05 	 -	  7.28    
				  
	 Net Exposure - USD	  (19,64.23)	  14,84.67 	  (17,49.42)	  11,91.40 
	 Net Exposure - GBP	   (22.81)	  (41.25)	  (25.48)	  (43.75)
	 Trade Payables-SGD	   (28.26)	  (28.26)	  (17.89)	  (17.77)
	 Trade Payables-EURO	   -   	  (8.05)	  -   	  (7.28)

(2)    Foreign currency sensitivity 
	 The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in USD & GBP exchange rates, with 

all other variables held constant. The impact on the Company’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair value of 
monetary assets and liabilities including non-designated foreign currency derivatives. The impact on the Company’s 
pre-tax equity is due to changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts designated as cash flow hedges. The 
Company’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material.

	 Effect on profit before tax in Rs. lakhs 
				A    s at	A s at 
 	 Sensitivity Analysis	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
	 USD Exposure in Rs.	

1% -Strengthening	   (17.49)	  11.91 
1% -Weakening	   17.49 	  (11.91)
GBP Exposure in Rs.		
1% -Strengthening	   (0.25)	  (0.44)
1% -Weakening	   0.25 	  0.44  
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SGD Exposure in Rs.	
1% -Strengthening	  (0.18)	  (0.18)
1% -Weakening	   0.18 	  0.18    
EURO Exposure in Rs.		
1% -Strengthening	   -   	  (0.07)
1% -Weakening	   -   	  0.07 

Impact of hedging activities
(a)	 Disclosure of effects of hedge accounting on financial position :
	 The following are outstanding foreign currency forward contracts, which have been designated as cash flow hedges:
 				N    umber of 	N otional amount	 Fair value
				    contracts	 of contracts	 (Amount in 
					     (Rs. In Lakhs)	L akhs)

	 31-Mar-25
	 US Dollar	 102	  1,02,23.78 	  1,23.08 
	 31-Mar-24
	 US Dollar	 85	  61,16.35 	  6.81 
	 For notional amount of contracts, amounts in foreign currency are converted at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 

rate respectively.

(b)	 Movements in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve

	D erivative Instruments	 Foreign Exchange 
				    Forward Contracts

	 (i) Cash Flow Hedge Reserve	

	A s at 1 April 2023	   (86.43)

	 Add: Changes in discounted spot element of  
	 foreign exchange forward contracts (net of deferred tax)	   57.81 

	A s at 31st March 2024	   (28.62)

	 Add: Changes in discounted spot element of foreign  
	 exchange forward contracts (net of deferred tax)	   (49.81) 

	A s at 31st March 2025	   (78.43)

(c)	 Commodity price risk
	� The prices of agricultural commodities are subject to fluctuations due to various factors. In the ordinary course of 

business, the company is exposed to commodity price risk to the extent its open sales are not balanced by the 
purchase contracts and inventory.  The company has in place in a risk management policy to manage such risk by 
hedging the sales by direct purchases of the commodity and strategic stocking policies.  

(B)	 Credit risk
	 Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 

leading to a financial loss. Credit risk encompasses of both, the direct risk of default and the risk of deterioration of 
creditworthiness as well as concentration of risks. Credit risk is controlled by analysing credit limits and  creditworthiness’ 
of customers on a continuous basis to whom the credit has been granted after obtaining necessary approvals for 
credit. The Company is exposed to credit risk to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables) 
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and from its financing activity, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions 
and other financial instruments.		  .

(a)	T rade receivables
	 Customer credit risk is managed as per the Company’s established policy, procedures and control relating to customer 

credit risk management.  Credit limits are set with approvals on the basis of the defined policies. Outstanding customer 
receivables are regularly monitored and exposures are kept within the credit limits fixed for each customer.	

	E xcessive risk concentration
	 Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the 

same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations 
to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative 
sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry.	

	 In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Company’s policies and procedures include specific guidelines 
to focus on the maintenance of a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and 
managed accordingly. 				  

	

	 Particulars	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
	 No of Customers to whom Sales made is more than 10%  
	 of the Turnover (includes subsidiary company)	 2	 2
	 Contribution of Customers in Sales more than 10% of Turnover	 48.30%	 53.34%

	 Particulars	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
	 No of Customers who owed more than 10% of the Total receivables	 2	 3
	 Contribution of Customers in owing more than 10% of Total receivables 	 39.16%	 56.15%

	 An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. In addition, a large 
number of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous company’s and assessed for impairment collectively. 
The calculation is based on exchange losses historical data. The Company does not hold collateral as security. The 
Company evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers are located in 
several jurisdictions and industries and operate in largely independent markets.

(b)	 Financial instruments and cash deposits
	� Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Company’s treasury department in 

accordance with the Company’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties 
and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty.

	 The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet at 31 March 2025 and  
	 31 March 2024 is the carrying amounts as mentioned in Notes.
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(c)	L iquidity risk
	 The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 

overdrafts, bank loans and lease liabilities. Approximately, 93% of the Company’s debt will mature in less than one 
year at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: 26% Company’s debt will mature in less than one year) based on the carrying 
value of borrowings reflected in the financial statements. The Company assessed the concentration of risk with 
respect to refinancing its debt and concluded it to be low. The Company has access to a sufficient variety of sources 
of funding and debt maturing within 12 months can be rolled over with existing lenders.				  
		

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments.

  On demand Less than  
3 months

3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended 31 March 2025
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings*  79,36.21  -    1,60.00  3,35.00  -    84,31.21 
Lease liabilities**  -    30.38  91.14  2,83.49  -    4,05.02 
Other financial liabilities  1,28.03  -    -    -    -    1,28.03 
Trade and other payables  -    1,01,25.01  -    -    -    1,01,25.01 
Year ended 31 March 2024
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings*  -    1,50.00  1,60.00  4,95.00  -    8,05.00 
Lease liabilities**  -    15.62  46.85  5,52.98  -    6,15.44 
Other financial liabilities  1,60.39 -  -    -    -    1,60.39 
Trade and other payables  -    70,17.94  -    -    -    70,17.94 

* Amount outstanding for less than 12 months represent current maturities of long term debt
** Leases not yet commenced to which lease is committed is not considered for this calculation

Note 44
Capital management

For the purpose of the Company’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to maximise 
the shareholder value. 

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Company monitors capital using a 
gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by fund attributable to Equity Shares Holders. The company includes within net 
debt, interest bearing loans and borrowings less cash and short-term deposits and current investments.

				    31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
				    Rs. lakhs	 Rs. lakhs
Interest-bearing borrowings (Refer Note No. 16)	   84,31.21 	  8,05.00  
Interest bearing lease liabilities (Refer Note No. 17)	   3,74.66 	  5,67.42   
Less: cash and short-term deposits (Refer Note No. 12)	   (5,30.07)	  (9,55.42) 
Less: current investments (Refer Note No. 7)	   (1,35,76.83)	  (1,26,65.95)

Net debt	   (53,01.03)	  (1,22,48.95)

Equity (Refer Note No. 14)	   15,22.84 	  15,22.84   
Reserves (Refer Note No. 15)	   4,83,78.92 	  4,57,91.77  
Total capital	   4,99,01.76 	  4,73,14.61 

Gearing ratio	 -11%	 -26%
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In order to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it 
meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. 
Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have 
been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current period.   
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March 
2025 and 31 March 2024

Note 45
Performance Obligation on revenue 
In majority of the contracts performance obligation is satisfied “at a point in time” which is primarily determined on customer 
obtaining the control of the asset.
Contract with the customer normally do not contain significant financing component and any advance payment received and 
/or amount retained by customer is with intention of protecting either parties to the contract.
Variable consideration primarily consists of discounts, rebates, price concessions which are reduced from the transaction 
price, if specified in the contract with customer/ based on customary business practices.
 For revenue recognition in respect of performance obligation satisfied at a “point in time” the following criteria is used for 
determining whether the customer has obtained “Control on asset”
	 i. Transfer of significant risk and rewards								     
	 ii. Customer has legal right/title to the asset								      
	 iii. The entity has transferred the physical possession of the asset	
	 iv. Customer has accepted the asset								      
	 v. Entity has the present right to payment for the asset					      

Note 46
Code on Social Security, 2020
The implementation of the Code on Social Security, 2020 is getting postponed. The Company will assess the impact 
thereof and give effect in the Financial Statements when the date of implementation of the codes and the Rules / Schemes 
thereunder are notified.

Note 47 : Ratios
The following are analytical ratios for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024

Sr. 
No.

Ratio Numerator Denominator Current 
Period

Previous 
Period

% Vari-
ance

Reason for vari-
ance

1 Current Ratio (in 
times)

Current Assets Current Liabil-
ities

 2.99  5.07 41% Increase in short 
term borrowings 
has resulted in 
a higher currrent  
liability and lower 
current ratio

2 Debt Equity Ratio 
(in %)

Total Debt (including 
lease liability)

Total share-
holder equity

18% 3% 508% Increase in short 
term borrowings 
has resulted in a 
higher debt equity 
ratio
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3 Debt Service 
Coverage Ratio 
(in times)

Earning available 
for debt service (Net 
Profit after taxes + 
Non-cash operating 
expenses like 
depreciation and 
other amortizations + 
Interest + other 
adjustments like 
loss on sale of Fixed 
assets etc.)

Debt Service 
= Interest 
& Lease 
Payments 
+ Principal 
Repayments

 6.96  6.58 6% -

4 Return on Equity 
Ratio (in %)

Profit after Tax Average 
Shareholders 
Equity

8% 10% 23% -

5 Inventory Turn 
over Ratio (in 
times)

Cost of goods sold Average 
inventory

 1.00  1.17 15% -

6 Trade Receivable 
Turn over Ratio 
(in times)

Net Credit Sales Average 
Accounts 
Receivable

 4.04  4.19 4% -

7 Trade Payable 
Turn over Ratio 
(in times)

Net Credit  
Purchases

Average 
Accounts 
Payable

 3.22  4.55 29% Increase in trade 
payables at the 
end of the year 
led to a reduction 
in the trade pay-
able turnover ratio

8 Net Capital Turn 
over Ratio (in 
times)

Net Sales (Sales 
minus sales return)

Average 
Working 
Capital

 1.32  1.37 4%

9 Net Profit Ratio 
(in %)

Net Profit (Net profit 
after tax)

Net Sales 
(Sales minus 
sales return)

7% 9% 20%

10 Return on Capital 
Employed Ratio 
(in %)

EBIT Capital 
Employed 
(Tangible net 
worth+Total 
debt+De-
ferred Tax 
Liability)

10% 14% 29% Reduction in mar-
gin has led to a 
decrease in EBIT 
and return on cap-
ital employed ratio

11 Return on Investment (in %)
 - Current 
(amounts in-
vested in mutual 
funds)

Time weighted fair 
value gains

Average 
investment

6.94% 7.96% 13%

 - Non-current * Net return on  
investment

Average 
investment Not applicable 

* Does not include investments in subsidiary companies as their performance are consolidated in consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 48

Dividends 

Dividends paid during the year 2024-25 represent 50% final dividend for the financial year 2023-24 amounting to  
Rs. 761.42 Lakhs and interim dividend of 30% declared in the financial year 2024-25 Rs.456.85 Lakhs.	

The dividends declared by the Company are in Indian Rupees and are based on the profits available for distribution as 
reported in the statutory financial statements of the Company. Subsequent to March 31, 2025, the Board of Directors of 
Company have proposed a final dividend of Re. 0.40 per share (40%) in respect of financial year 2024-25. The proposal is 
subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, and if approved, would result in a cash outflow of 
approximately Rs. 609.14 Lakhs. 							       . 	

Note 49 : Impairment of Assets

Company has analysed indications of impairment of assets/financial instruments. On the basis of assessment of internal 
and external factors, none of the assets/financial instruments has found indications of impairment of its assets/financial 
instruments.

Note 50  : Contingent Assets

Contingent assets are neither recognised nor disclosed in the financial statements..

Note 51  : Other Statutory Information
(a)	 The company has identified transactions with Struck-off companies by comparing company’s counter parties with 

publicly available database of struck of companies through a manual name search. Based on such a manual search, 
no party identified to be reported in the financial statements.						    

(b)	 No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources 
or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”) 
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall lend or invest in party 
identified by or on behalf of the Company (Ultimate Beneficiaries). The Company has not received any fund from any 
party(s) (Funding Party) with the understanding that the Company shall whether, directly or indirectly lend or invest in 
other persons or entities identified by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.						   

(c)	 The company has done registration of charges or satisfaction with ROC within the statutory period during the 
year.	

(d)	 Company has used the borrowings from banks and financial institutions for the specific purpose for which it was taken 
at the balance sheet date.						    

(e)	 The differences between the quarterly return of inventories and receivables submitted to the banks and the books 
of account, did not affect the drawing power for the actual borrowing and the required security cover computed in 
accordance with the sanctioned terms. 						    

(f)	 Details of benami property held - No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the company for holding 
benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and Rules made thereunder.

(g)	 Wilful defaulter - The company has not been declared as wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 
government or any government authority.						    

(h)	 Compliance with number of layers of companies - The Company has complied with the number of layers prescribed 
under the Companies Act, 2013.						    

(i)	 Compliance with approved scheme(s) of arrangements - The Company has not entered into any scheme of 
arrangement which has an accounting impact on current or previous year.				  
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(j)	 Undisclosed income -There is no income surrendered or disclosed as income during the current or previous year in 
the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961, that has not been recorded in the books of account.	

(k)	 Details of crypto currency or virtual currency - The Company has not traded or invested in crypto currency or virtual 
currency during the current or previous year.						    

(l)	 Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment - The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment 
(including right-of-use assets) during the current or previous year						      .

Note 52
Deposits and Advances in the nature of loans to subsidiaries & others:

International Subsidiaries

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

Maximum amount 
outstanding 

during the year

Balance  
Outstanding 

Maximum amount 
outstanding 
during the 

previous year

Balance  
Outstanding 

AVT Natural Europe Limited, UK (for-
merly known as ‘AVT Tea Services 
Limited’)

 -    -    -    -   

AVT Natural S.A. DE C.V  -    -    -    -   

AVT Natural North America Inc  -   -  -    -   

AVT Natural FZCO, Dubai (Formed 
on 28th March 2023) - - - -

Others*  -    -    -    -   

	 * There were no deposits and advances in the nature of loans made by company to the firms/companies in which 
directors are interested.
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S

G Rengarajan		A jit Thomas	 M M Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN: 00152619

Place	:	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date: 28 May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary

Note 53

The parent’s subsidiaries at March 31, 2025 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting 
solely of equity shares that are held by the group and the effective ownership of the group in enumerated in the table below. 
The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.	

International Subsidiaries Country of  
Incorporation

Held directly by Parent or through its 
subsidiaries & Effective Holding

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
AVT Natural Europe Limited United Kingdom 100% 100%
AVT Natural S.A. DE C.V, Mexico 100% 100%
AVT Natural North America Inc.,  
(step down subsidiary)

USA 100% 100%

AVT Natural FZCO Dubai 100% -

Note 54
Figures for the previous periods have been regrouped / reclassified to conform to the classification of the current period.
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*	� Final dividend of 40% subject to approval of the shareholders at the ensuing Annual General Meeting.
**	 Proposed dividend on Equity Shares has not been recognised as a distribution of profit in the current year accounts.

Particulars 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025

Sales and Services (Rs.Lakhs) 4,70,42.89 5,41,89.17 5,82,25.27 5,03,31.32 5,19,22.23 

Net Profit after OCI relating 
to Remeasurement of Post 
employment beneft obligations only 
(Rs.Lakhs) 42,08.81 70,20.39 75,13.24 46,24.18 38,55.23 

Net Worth (Rs.Lakhs) 3,22,44.78 3,80,07.45 4,40,03.17 4,73,14.61 4,99,01.76 

Fixed Assets (Rs.Lakhs) 88,96.07 83,57.53 78,26.82 80,40.97 75,21.11 

Interim Dividend % 30.00 40.00 40.00 30.00 30.00 

Final Dividend % 40.00 60.00 60.00 50.00 40.00* 

Interim Dividend Amount 4,56.85 6,09.14 6,09.14 4,56.85 4,56.85 

Final Dividend Amount (Rs.Lakhs) 6,09.14 9,13.70 9,13.70 7,61.42 **

Earnings per share (Rs.) 2.76 4.61 4.93 3.04 2.53 

Interim Dividend per share (Rs.) 0.30 0.40 0.40 0.30 0.30 

Dividend per share (Rs.) 0.40 0.60 0.60 0.50 0.40 

Book value per share (Rs.) 21.17 24.96 28.90 31.07 32.77

Return on Networth (%) 13.05 18.47 17.07 9.77 7.73 

PAT/Sales (%) 8.95 12.96 12.90 9.19 7.43 

Fixed Assets Turnover  (times) 5.29 6.48 7.44 6.26 6.90 

Financial Highlights for the Last Five Years
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Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of AVT Natural Products Limited 
(hereinafter referred to as the ‘Holding Company”) and 
its subsidiaries (Holding Company and its subsidiaries 
together referred to as “the Group”), which comprise the 
consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2025, and 
the consolidated statement of Profit and Loss (including 
Other Comprehensive Income), the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash 
flows Statement for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary 
of material accounting policies and other explanatory 
information (hereinafter referred to as “the consolidated 
financial statements”).
 
In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us and based on 
the consideration of reports of other auditors on financial 
statements and on the other financial information of 
the subsidiaries, the aforesaid consolidated financial 
statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) in the manner so required 
and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian 
Accounting Standards prescribed under Section 133 
of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended (“Ind AS”) and other 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the 
consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 
2025, and their consolidated profit,  consolidated total 

comprehensive income, their consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated cash flows for the 
year ended on that date.  

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with the Standards on Auditing 
(SAs) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our 
responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act and Rules made thereunder, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements and ICAI’s Code 
of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained, and evidence obtained by other auditors in 
terms of their reports referred to in the ‘Other Matters’ 
paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Key Audit Matter
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the 
current period. This matter was addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on this matter.
We have determined the matter described below to be the 
key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of AVT Natural Products Limited

Sl. 
No. Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter

1. Revenue recognition:
Revenue from sale of goods is 
recognized when the control of 
the goods has transferred to the 
customer and when there are no 
longer any unfulfilled obligations 
to the customer.
Disclosure note 23 and the 
accounting policies provide 
additional information on how 
the Company accounts for its 
revenue in compliance with Ind 
AS 115.

Our audit procedures included the following:
•	 Considering the appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies regarding revenue 

recognition, by comparing with applicable accounting standards.
•	 Testing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of the Company’s general IT 

controls and key IT/manual application controls over the Company’s systems which govern 
recording of revenue in the general ledger accounting system.

•	 Performing substantive testing (including year- end cut-off testing) by selecting samples of revenue 
transactions recorded during the year (also before and after the financial year end) by verifying the 
underlying documents, which include sales invoices/contracts and shipping documents.

•	 Selecting a sample on test check basis of revenue transactions and contracts with customers to 
re- check that sales accounting was calculated in accordance with the contract conditions.

•	 Selecting a sample of credit note issued to the customers during the year and verifying the same 
is in accordance with terms of agreement with the customers.

•	 Performed data analytical procedures to identify and evaluate a sample of manual journal entries.
•	 Traced disclosure information from accounting records and other supporting documentation.
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Information Other than the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the preparation of the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis, Board’s Report 
including Annexures to Board’s Report, Business 
Responsibility Report, Corporate Governance and 
Shareholder’s Information, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, or our knowledge obtained during the 
course of our audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We 
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Management and Those 
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible 
for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with 
respect to the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position, consolidated financial performance, 
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash 
flows of the Group in accordance with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, including the 
Accounting Standards specified under section 133 of the 
Act, read with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015. The respective Board of Directors of 
the companies included in the Group are responsible 
for maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding 
the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting 
frauds and other irregularities; selection and application 
of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments 
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
and the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls, that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements that give a true 
and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for 
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements by the Board of Directors of the Holding 
Company, as aforesaid.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 

respective Board of Directors of the companies included 
in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of 
the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.
The respective Board of Directors of the companies 
included in the Group are responsible for overseeing the 
financial reporting process of the Group.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•	 •	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under 
section 143(3)(i) of the Act, we are also responsible 
for expressing our opinion on whether the Holding 
Company have adequate internal financial controls 
system in place and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls. All subsidiaries are incorporated outside India 
hence our opinion is restricted to Holding company.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group 
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to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
audit of the financial statements of such entities included 
in the consolidated financial statements of which we are 
the independent auditors. For the other entities included 
in the consolidated financial statements, which have 
been audited by other auditors, such other auditors 
remain responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audits carried out by them. 

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us along 
with the consideration of audit reports of the other auditors 
referred to in sub-paragraph (a) of the Other Matters 
paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements.
Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
consolidated financial statements that, individually or in 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions 
of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the financial 
statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative 
materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the 
scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of 
our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified 
misstatements in the consolidated financial statements.
We communicate with those charged with governance of 
the Holding company and such other entities included in 
the consolidated financial statements regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied   with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 

most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 
we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

Other Matters
((a) We did not audit the financial statements / financial 
information of three subsidiaries and one step down 
subsidiary company whose financial statements / 
financial information reflect total assets of Rs. 9425.86 
lakhs and net assets of Rs. 3386.45 Lakhs as at 31 March 
2025, total revenues of Rs. 18,387.74 lakhs and net 
cash flows amounting to Rs. 1,239.51 lakhs for the year 
ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated 
financial statements. This financial statements / financial 
information have been audited by other auditors whose 
reports have been furnished to us by the Management 
and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, 
in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures 
included in respect of these subsidiaries, is based solely 
on the reports of the other auditors.
All of these subsidiaries are located outside India whose 
financial statements and other financial information have 
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in their respective countries and which 
have been audited by other auditors under generally 
accepted auditing standards applicable in their respective 
countries. The Holding Company’s management has 
converted the financial statements of such subsidiaries 
located outside India from accounting principles generally 
accepted in their respective countries to accounting 
principles generally accepted in India. We have audited 
these conversion adjustments made by the Holding 
Company’s management. Our opinion in so far as it 
relates to the balances and affairs of such subsidiaries 
located outside India is based on the report of other 
auditors and the conversion adjustments prepared by the 
management of the Holding Company and audited by us.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and 
our report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
below, is not modified in respect of the above matters 
with respect to our reliance on the work done and the 
reports of the other auditors and the financial statements / 
financial information certified by the Management.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
1.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report 

that:
a)	 We have sought and obtained all the 

information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements.
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b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as 
required by law relating to preparation of the 
aforesaid consolidated financial statements 
have been kept so far as it appears from our 
examination of those books and the reports of 
the other auditors.

c)	 The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
(including Other Comprehensive Income), the 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
and the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
dealt with by this Report are in agreement with 
the relevant books of account.

d)	 In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under 
Section 133 of the Act.

e)	 On the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors of the Holding 
Company as on 31 March 2025 taken on 
record by the Board of Directors of the Holding 
Company none of the directors of the Holding 
company is disqualified as on 31 March 2025 
from being appointed as a director in terms of 
Section 164(2) of the Act. All subsidiaries are 
incorporated outside India hence our opinion is 
restricted to Holding company.

f)	 The modifications relating to the maintenance 
of accounts and other matters connected 
therewith are as stated in the paragraph 1(b) 
above on reporting under Section 143(3)
(b) of the Act and paragraph 1(i)(vi) below on 
reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

g)	 With respect to adequacy of the internal financial 
controls over financial statements of the Holding 
Company and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls, refer to our separate Report in 
“Annexure A”. All subsidiaries are incorporated 
outside India hence our opinion is restricted 
to Holding company. Our report expresses 
an unmodified opinion on the adequacy and 
operating effectiveness of the internal financial 
control over financial reporting of those 
companies, for reasons stated therein.

h)	 With respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with the 
requirements of section 197(16) of the Act, as 
amended: 

	 In our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to 
us, the Holding company has not made any 
payments which are covered under section 197 
read with Schedule V of the Act.

i)	 With respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with Rule 

11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 
2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations 
given to us and based on the consideration of 
the report of the other auditors on consolidated 
financial statements as also the other financial 
information of the subsidiaries, as noted in the 
‘Other Matters’ paragraph: 

j)	 With respect to the other matters to be included 
in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 
2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations 
given to us and based on the consideration of 
the report of the other auditors on consolidated 
financial statements as also the other financial 
information of the subsidiaries, as noted in the 
‘Other Matters’ paragraph: 
i.		 The consolidated financial statements 

disclose the impact of pending litigations 
on the consolidated financial position of the 
Group – Refer Note 37 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

ii.	 Provision has been made in the 
consolidated financial statements, as 
required under the applicable law or 
accounting standards, for material 
foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term 
contracts including derivative contracts – 
Refer Note 42 to the consolidated financial 
statements in respect of such items as it 
relates to the Group.

iii.	 There has been no delay in transferring 
amounts, required to be transferred, to the 
Investor Education and Protection Fund 
by the Holding Company. 

iv.	 (a) The management of Holding Company 
has represented that, to the best of their 
knowledge and belief, as disclosed in 
the Note 47 to the consolidated financial 
statements, no funds have been advanced 
or loaned or invested either from borrowed 
funds or share premium or any other 
sources or kind of funds by the Holding 
Company to or in any other person(s) 
or entity(ies), including foreign entities 
(“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, 
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, 
that the Intermediary shall, whether, 
directly or indirectly lend or invest in other 
persons or entities identified in any manner 
whatsoever by or on behalf of the Holding 
Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like 
on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries. All 
subsidiaries are incorporated outside India 
hence our opinion is restricted to Holding 
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company.
(b) 	 The management of the Holding Company 

has represented, that, to the best of it’s 
knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the 
Note 47(b) to the consolidated financial 
statements, no funds have been received 
by the Holding Company from any 
person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign 
entities (“Funding Parties”), with the 
understanding, whether recorded in writing 
or otherwise, that the Holding Company 
shall, whether, directly or indirectly, lend 
or invest in other persons or entities 
identified in any manner whatsoever by or 
on behalf of the Funding Party (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries. All subsidiaries 
are incorporated outside India hence our 
opinion is restricted to Holding company.

(c)	 Based on such audit procedures that 
we have considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances; nothing 
has come to our notice that has caused 
us to believe that the representations 
under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any 
material misstatement

v.	 All subsidiaries are incorporated outside India 
hence our opinion is restricted to Holding company. 
As stated in Note 46 to the Consolidated financial 
statements 
a.	 The final dividend proposed in the previous year, 

declared and paid by the Holding Company 
during the year is in accordance with section 
123 of the Companies Act 2013 as applicable.

b.	 The interim dividend declared and paid by the 
Holding Company during the year and until the 
date of this audit report is in accordance with 
section 123 of the Companies Act 2013 as 
applicable.

c.	 The Board of Directors of the Holding Company 
has proposed final dividend for the year which 
is subject to the approval of the members at the 
ensuing Annual General Meeting. The dividend 
declared is in accordance with section 123 of 
the Companies Act 2013 as applicable.

vi.	 The reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 is applicable from 1 
April 2023:

Based on our examination which included test checks, 
except for the instances mentioned below, the company 
has used an accounting software for maintaining its books 
of account which has a feature of recording audit trail 
(edit log) facility and the same has operated throughout 
the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the 
software. Further, during the course of our audit we did 
not come across any instance of the audit trail feature 
being tampered with. Furthermore, the audit trail feature 
has been preserved by the Company as per the statutory 
requirements for record retention from the date the audit 
trail was enabled for the accounting software: 
•	 The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility 

was not enabled at the database level to log any direct 
data changes for the accounting software used for 
maintaining the books of account.

The subsidiaries are incorporated outside India. Hence, 
this clause is not applicable.  
2.	 With respect to the matters specified in paragraphs 

3(xxi) and 4 of the Companies (Auditor’s Report) 
Order, 2020 (the “Order”/ “CARO”) issued by the 
Central Government in terms of Section 143(11) 
of the Act, to be included in the Auditor’s report, 
according to the information and explanations 
given to us, and based on the CARO reports issued 
by us for the Holding Company included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company, 
to which reporting under CARO is applicable, we 
report that there are no qualifications or adverse 
remarks in these CARO reports.

For Suri & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No.004283S

G Rengarajan 
Partner 

Membership No. 219922 
UDIN :  25219922BMISUK3416

Place of Signature: Chennai
Date: 28th May 2025
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In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of AVT Natural Products Limited (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Holding Company”) as of and for the 
year ended 31 March 2025, we have audited the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting of the Holding 
Company. All subsidiaries are incorporated outside India 
hence our opinion is restricted to Holding company.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls
The Board of Directors of the Holding company are 
responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
financial controls based on the internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the respective companies 
considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India (“the ICAI”). These 
responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that 
were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to 
the respective company’s policies, the safeguarding of 
its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and 
errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial 
information, as required under the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting based on our 
audit of the Holding Company (which is the only company 
in the group incorporated in India). We conducted our 
audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing, 
issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under 
section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent 
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls. Those 
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 
internal financial controls over financial reporting were 
established and maintained and if such controls operated 
effectively in all material respects.
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls system over financial reporting and their 

operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting included obtaining an 
understanding of internal financial controls over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained, is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the  internal financial controls system over 
financial reporting of the Holding Company.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting
A company’s internal financial control over financial 
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal financial 
control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit 
preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorisations of management 
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 
of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting, including the possibility 
of collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur 
and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of the internal financial controls over financial reporting 
to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 

Annexure A

Referred to in paragraph 1(g) on ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ of our report of even date 
on the consolidated financial statements of AVT Natural Products Limited
Report on the Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 
of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
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financial control over financial reporting may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.

Opinion
In our opinion and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us the Holding 
Company has in all material respects, adequate internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting and 
such internal financial controls over financial reporting 
were operating effectively as at 31 March 2025, based 
on the internal control over financial reporting criteria 
established by the respective companies considering 
the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 

Over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.

For Suri & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm’s Registration No.004283S

G.Rengarajan 
Partner 

Membership No. 219922 
UDIN:   25219922BMISUK3416

Place of Signature: Chennai 
Date: 28th May 2025
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ASSETS	
Non-current assets
	 (a)	 Property, plant and equipment	 4	  67,43.79 	   74,57.04 
	 (b)	 Capital work-in-progress	 4	  4,06.75    	  -   
	 (c)	 Right-of-use assets	 6	   3,91.88  	   5,83.83 
	 (d)	 Other intangible assets	 5	   97.40 	   1,31.74  
	 (e)	 Financial assets		
		  i) Investments	 7	  -   	  -
		  ii) Other financial assets	 8	    2,15.48   	   3,58.16 
	 (f)	 Other non-current assets	 9	  5,46.26  	   2,17.22 
Total non-current assets		   84,01.56   	   87,47.99 
Current assets			  	
	 (a)	 Inventories	 10	  2,93,74.58  	  2,21,14.51 
	 (b)	 Financial assets			 
		  i) Investments	 7	  1,35,76.83 	   1,26,65.95 
		  ii) Trade receivables	 11	   1,56,36.81  	   1,09,97.01 
		  iii) Cash and cash equivalents	 12	   33,57.90  	   25,43.73 
		  iv) Bank balances other than (iii) above	 12A	   3,40.92 	   3,04.22 
		  v) Loans	 13	  25.53  	   24.17 
		  vi) Other financial assets 	 8	   5,04.79 	   2,11.36 
	 (c)	 Current tax assets (Net)		    64.83  	  64.23 
	 (d)	 Other current assets	 9	   34,19.94  	  21,35.78  
Total current assets		    6,63,02.13  	   5,10,60.96  
Total Assets			     7,47,03.69  	  5,98,08.95 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
	 Equity			 
	 (a)	 Equity Share Capital	 14	   15,22.84  	   15,22.84  
	 (b)	 Other Equity	 15	   4,91,15.96  	   4,54,28.71  
Total equity			    5,06,38.80  	   4,69,51.55
Liabilities		
Non-current liabilities			 
	 (a)	 Financial Liabilities			 
		  i) Borrowings	 16	   3,35.00  	   4,95.00  
		  ii) Lease liabilities	 17	   2,73.27  	   5,16.71  
	 (b)	 Provisions	 18	   4,42.10  	   4,68.87  
	 (c)	 Deferred tax liabilities (Net)	 19	   1,74.85  	   92.68  
Total non-current liabilities		    12,25.22  	   15,73.26 
Current liabilities			 
	 (a)	 Financial Liabilities			 
		  i) Borrowings	 16	  1,05,61.51  	   31,97.30  
		  ii) Lease liabilities	 17	   1,01.39  	   50.71  
		  iii) Trade payables	 20	 -	 -
		  (A) Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises		    5,41.36  	   4,08.26  
		  (B)  Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and  
			   small enterprises		   93,92.35  	   55,14.80  
		  iv) Other financial liabilities	 21	   2,51.11  	   1,67.20  
	 (b)	 Other current liabilities	 22	   8,15.10  	   8,41.87  
	 (c)	 Provisions	 18	   11,76.85  	   11,04.00  
	 (d)	 Current tax liabilities  (Net)		   -   	   -    
Total current liabilities		    2,28,39.67  	   1,12,84.14  
Total liabilities		  	  2,40,64.89  	   1,28,57.40 
Total Equity and Liabilities		   7,47,03.69  	   5,98,08.95  
	 Corporate Information and Basis of preparation	 1&2		
	 Material accounting policies	 3	

				    Note	 As at	 As at	
				    No.	 31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Consolidated BALANCE SHEET
(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S
G Rengarajan		 Ajit Thomas	 M.M. Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN:00152619   

Place	:	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date	:	28th May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary
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				    Note	 Year ended  	 Year ended
				    No.	 31st March 2025 	 31st March 2024

Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss
(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

I	 Revenue From Operations	 23	   5,56,04.43 	   5,17,25.92 
II	 Other Income	 24	   16,16.66  	   12,55.42 
III	 Total Income (I+II)		   5,72,21.09 	  5,29,81.34 
IV	 Expenses			
	 Cost of materials consumed		    2,55,75.30	   2,05,69.31 
	 Purchase of Stock in Trade		    19,38.21  	   14,03.54 
	 Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress	 25	   (26,62.20) 	   1,28.40 
	 Employee benefits expense	 26	   74,61.83  	   67,29.85 
	 Finance costs	 27	   9,49.00 	   6,96.22 
	 Depreciation and amortization expense	 28	   13,86.30  	   13,87.73 
	 Other expenses	 29	   1,62,59.36  	   1,49,59.18 
	 Total expenses (IV)		    5,09,07.80  	   4,58,74.23 
V	 Profit/(loss) before exceptional items and tax (III-IV)		    63,13.29  	   71,07.11 
VI	 Exceptional Items	  	 -   	 -
VII	 Profit/(loss) before tax (V-VI)		    63,13.29  	   71,07.11 
VIII	Tax expense:
	 (1) Current tax		    14,07.98  	   17,40.45 
	 (2) Deferred tax	 32	   82.61  	   37.84 
IX	 Profit / (Loss) for the year (VII-VIII) 		    48,22.70  	   53,28.82  
X	 Other Comprehensive Income			 
	 A Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss			 
	 (i) Remeasurement of the post-employment benefit obligations		    64.88	   (17.60)
	 (ii) Deferred tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss	   (16.33) 	   4.43 
	 B Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss			 
	 (i) Deferred gains / (losses) on cash flow hedges		    (66.56) 	   77.25  
	 Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations		    84.08 	   (84.26)
	 (ii) Deferred tax relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss	 32	   16.75 	   (19.44)
	 Other comprehensive Income for the year, net of tax 		    82.82 	   (39.62)
XI	 Total Comprehensive Income for the year (IX+X)		    49,05.52 	   52,89.20 
XII	 Earnings per equity share:			 
	 Equity share of par value of Re.1 each				  
	 (1) Basic		  33	   3.17  	   3.50 
	 (2) Diluted		  33	   3.17  	   3.50 
	 Corporate Information and Basis of preparation	 1&2	
	 Material accounting policies	 3	

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S
G Rengarajan		 Ajit Thomas	 M.M. Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN:00152619   

Place	:	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date	:	28th May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary
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				    	 Year ended  	 Year ended
					     31st March 2025 	 31st March 2024

Consolidated Cash flow Statement
(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

A. Cash flow from operating activities

Profit before tax	   63,13.29  	   71,07.11  

Adjustments for:		

Depreciation and amortisation expense	  13,86.30  	   13,87.73 

(Profit) / Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (net)	   2.45    	  -

Gain on cancellation of lease	 (89.09)	 -
Write off/Discard of Property, Plant and Equipment 	    -    	   24.93    

Exchange differences on Translating the Financial Statement of Foreign Operations 	   84.08    	   (84.26)

Fair value gains recognised on investments	   (9,10.83)	   (7,36.42)

Export Incentive Income	 (2,82.03)	 -
Interest Income	   (21.35)	   (12.64)

Finance costs	   9,49.00  	   6,96.22  

Sundry Creditors written back	   (1,55.10)	  (55.75)

Write off/Discard of Investment	 -	 1.00 

Unrealised foreign exchange differences	   2,09.94 	   (55.16)

Operating profit before working capital changes	   74,86.66 	   82,72.76 

Adjustments for working capital changes:
(Increase) / Decrease in inventories	 (72,60.07)	   (9,13.65)

(Increase) / Decrease in loans	 (1.36) 	 1.35 

(Increase) / Decrease in other current assets	 (12,84.19) 	 1,79.15  

(Increase) / Decrease in other current financial assets	 (11.40)	 (12.25) 

(Increase) / Decrease in other non-current assets	 (3,29.04)	 (46.07)

(Increase) / Decrease in other non-current financial assets	 1,42.68 	 (59.42)

(Increase) / Decrease in trade receivables	 (46,39.80)	   11,42.54 

Increase / (Decrease) in other financial liabilities	 17.35 	 (1,74.24)

Increase / (Decrease) in other liabilities	 (26.77)	 80.02 

Increase / (Decrease) in trade payables	 39,54.03  	 32,20.91 

Increase / (Decrease) in provisions	 1,10.96 	 1,45.95 

		    (18,40.95)	   1,18,37.06 

Net income tax paid 	   (14,08.58)	   (19,85.42)

Net cash (used) / generated in operating activities (A)	   (32,49.53) 	   98,51.64  

B. Cash flow from investing activities		
Payments for purchase of property, plant & equipment including CWIP	 (9,24.98)	 (12,46.00)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment	 2.47 	 -

Payments for purchase of intangible assets including intangible assets under developments	 -   	 -

Purchase of current investments 	 (14,87.00)	 (65,99.67)

Proceeds from sale of current investment	 14,86.97 	 5,10.00 

Interest received during the year	 21.35 	 12.64 



161

				    	 Year ended  	 Year ended
					     31st March 2025 	 31st March 2024

Consolidated Cash flow Statement (contd.)

Changes in bank  balances other than cash & cash equivalents	 (36.70)	 18.23 

Net cash generated / (used in) from investing activities (B)	   (9,37.89)	   (73,04.80)

C. Cash flow from Financing activities*		
Proceeds from term loan from banks (net)	   (1,60.00)	   (3,10.00)

Payment of lease liabilities	   (67.72) 	   (2,48.67)

(Repayment) / Proceeds from short term borrowings (net)	   73,64.21  	   5,88.16  

Interest Paid	   (9,16.63)	   (6,76.80)

Dividend Paid 	   (12,18.27)	   (13,70.56)

Net cash generated / (used in) from financing activities (C)	   50,01.59 	   (20,17.87)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)	   8,14.17 	   5,28.98 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year	   25,43.73 	   20,14.76 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (Refer note 12)	  33,57.90 	   25,43.73 
Components of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and bank balances (Refer note no. 10) 		
	 Notes:					   
1	 The cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Indian Accounting Standard 

(IND AS 7) Statement of Cash Flows.
2	 The figures in brackets represent cash outflow.
	 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.		

* Refer foot note no.3 under Borrowings (Note 16) for Net Debt Reconciliation.

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S

G Rengarajan		 Ajit Thomas	 M.M. Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN:00152619   

Place	:	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date	:	28th May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary
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Consolidated STATEMENTS of changes in equity
For the year ended 31st March 2025

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)A.	 Equity Share Capital

A. Equity Share Capital Note No Amount
Balance as at 1st April 2023

14

 15,22.84 
Changes in equity share capital due to prior period errors  -   
Restated balance as at April 1, 2023  15,22.84 
Changes in equity share capital during the year  -   
Balance as at 1st April 2024  15,22.84 
Changes in equity share capital due to prior period errors  -   
Restated balance as at April 1, 2024  15,22.84 
Changes in equity share capital during the year  -   
Balance as at 31st March 2025  15,22.84 

B.	 Other Equity

 Particulars

Reserves and Surplus Other items of Other 
Comprehensive Income

Total 
other 
equityCapital 

Reserve
General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Remeasurements 
of post employ-

ment benefit 
obligations 

through Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Effective 
portion of 
cash flow 
Hedges

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Reserve

Balance as at 1st April 2023  0.35 2,77,01.88  ,41,04.74  (1,98.18)  (86.43)  (12.28)  4,15,10.08 
Changes in accounting policy or prior period errors  -    -    -   -  -    -    -   
Restated balance as at 1st April 2023  0.35 2,77,01.88 1,41,04.74  (1,98.18)  (86.43)  (12.28)  4,15,10.08 
Profit for the year  -    -    53,28.82 -  -   -  53,28.82 
Remeasurement of the post-employment benefit 
obligations and tax thereon  -    -   -  (13.17)  -   -  (13.17)

Other comprehensive income net of tax for the year  -    -    -   -  57.81  (84.26)  (26.45)
Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    53,28.82  (13.17)  57.81  (84.26)  52,89.19 
Transfer to General Reserve  -    25,00.00  (25,00.00) -  -   -  -   
Dividends paid  -    -    (13,70.56) -  -   -  (13,70.56)
Balance as at 31st March 2024  0.35 3,02,01.88 1,55,63.00  (2,11.35)  (28.62)  (96.55)  4,54,28.71 
Changes in accounting policy or prior period errors  -    -    -    -    -   
Restated balance as at 1st April 2024  0.35 3,02,01.88 1,55,63.00  (2,11.35)  (28.62)  (96.55)  4,54,28.71 
Profit for the year  -    -    48,22.70 -  -   -  48,22.70 
Remeasurement of the post-employment benefit 
obligations and tax thereon  -    -   -  48.55  -   -  48.55 

Other comprehensive income for the year  -    -    -   -  (49.81)  84.08  34.27 
Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    48,22.70  48.55  (49.81)  84.08  49,05.52 
Transfer to General Reserve  -    20,00.00  (20,00.00) -  -    -    -   
Dividends paid  -    -    (12,18.27) -  -    -    (12,18.27)
Balance as at 31st March 2025  0.35 3,22,01.88 1,71,67.43  (1,62.80)  (78.43)  (12.47)  4,91,15.96 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
See accompanying notes to the financial statements
As per our report of even date attached	 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
For Suri & Co.,
Chartered Accountants			 
FRN : 004283S
G Rengarajan		 Ajit Thomas	 M.M. Venkatachalam
Partner			   Chairman	 Director
Membership No. 219922	 DIN: 00018691	 DIN:00152619   

Place	:	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date	:	28th May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary
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1.	  General information
	 AVT Natural Products Limited (referred as the “the Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries (referred collectively as the 

“Group”) is primarily engaged in the business in the production, trading and distribution of Oleoresins, value-added 
Teas and Animal Nutrition.

	 The Group has its business operations mainly in India, USA, UK, Mexico and UAE. The parent was incorporated on 12th 
March 1986 under the Indian Companies Act 1956.  The address of its registered office is 60, Rukmani Lakshmipathy 
Salai Egmore, Chennai – 600 008.The Holding Company has its listings on the Bombay stock Exchange (BSE) and 
National Stock Exchange (NSE) in India. 

	 The consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2025, were approved by the Board of Directors 
and authorised for issue on May 28, 2025.

2.	 Basis of Preparation
	 The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind 

AS”) issued under Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 and notified by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs under the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) and guidelines issued by the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (SEBI), under the historical cost convention on the accrual basis except for certain items 
which are measured at fair values.

	 The accounting policies as set out below have been applied consistently except where a newly issued accounting 
standard is initially adopted or a revision to an existing accounting standard requires a change in the accounting policy 
hitherto in use.

	 All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Group’s normal operating cycle and 
other criteria set out in Division II of the Schedule III to the Companies Act 2013. Based on the nature of products 
and services and the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realization in cash and cash 
equivalent, the Group has ascertained its operating cycle as 12 months for the purpose of current and non-current 
classification of assets and liabilities. As per the requirement of schedule III to the companies act 2013, the operating 
cycle has been determined at company level, as applicable.

2.1	 Critical judgements & Estimates in applying accounting policies
	 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make judgments, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, the 
disclosures of contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the date of financial statements, income and expenses 
during the period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are 
revised and in future periods which are affected. 

	 Application of accounting policies that require critical accounting estimates and assumptions having the most material 
effect on the amounts recognized in financial statements are as follows::

• Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets:
	 The Group has estimated useful life of each class of assets based on the nature of assets, the estimated usage 

of the asset, the operating condition of the asset, past history of replacement, anticipated technological changes, 
etc. The Group reviews the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment and Intangible assets at the 
Balance Sheet date. This reassessment may result in change in depreciation expense in future periods.
• Taxation:

	 Significant judgement is involved in determining the tax liability for the Group which includes interpretation of 
tax legislation, developments in case law and the potential outcomes of tax audits and appeals which may be 
subject to significant uncertainty. Also, there are many transactions and calculation during the ordinary course 
of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Therefore, the actual results may vary from 
expectations resulting in adjustments to provisions, the valuation of deferred tax assets, cash tax settlements 
and therefore the tax charge in the statement of profit or loss. Further judgement is involved in determining the 
deferred tax position on the balance sheet date.

Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31st March 2025
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• Defined benefit plans: 
	 The cost of the defined benefit plans and the present value of the defined benefit obligation are based on actuarial 

valuation using the projected unit credit method. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions that 
may differ from actual developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future 
salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, 
a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at 
each Balance Sheet date.
• Provisions & Contingencies: 

	 Provisions and contingencies are based on the Group Management’s best estimate of the liabilities based on the 
facts known at the balance sheet date.

	 From time to time, the Group is subject to legal proceedings the ultimate outcome of each being always subject 
to many uncertainties inherent in litigation. A provision for litigation is made when it is considered probable 
that a payment will be made, and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is 
made when evaluating, among other factors, the probability of unfavourable outcome and the ability to make a 
reasonable estimate of the amount of potential loss. Litigation provisions are reviewed at each accounting period 
and revisions made for the changes in facts and circumstances.
• Provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventories 

	 The Group reviews the condition of its inventories and makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving 
inventory items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use. The Group estimates the net realisable 
value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market conditions. The Group 
carries out an inventory review at each balance sheet date and makes provision against obsolete and slow-
moving items. The Group reassesses the estimation on each balance sheet date.

2.2	 Recent Pronouncements
	 Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 

(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. For the year ended March 31, 2025, MCA has not 
notified any new standards or amendments to the existing standards applicable to the Company.

2.3	 Functional and Presentation Currency 
	 Items included in financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the Group operates (“the functional currency”). Indian rupee is the functional currency of the 
Group. 

	 The Financial Statements are presented in Indian Rupees which is Group’s presentation currency. All financial 
information presented in Indian Rupees has been rounded to the nearest Lakhs with two decimals except where 
otherwise indicated..

2.4	 Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an 
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of that entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The Group combines the financial statements 
of the parent and its subsidiaries line by line adding together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and 
expenses. Intra-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities within the Group 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of 
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

3	 Summary of material accounting policies

3.1	 Property, plant and equipment:
a.	 Recognition and Measurement
	 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31st March 2025
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loss based on cost model. Cost comprises the purchase price and any attributable cost of bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended use. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equipment 
and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects if the recognition criteria are met. Cost also includes 
taxes and duties which are not refundable, freight and other direct or allocated expenses during construction 
period, net of any income earned.  The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset 
after its use is included in the cost of the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met.

Subsequent costs
	 Subsequent expenditure related to an item of property, plant and equipment is added to its book value only if it 

increases the future benefits from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance. When 
significant parts of plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group depreciates them separately 
based on their specific useful lives. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in statement of profit or loss 
as incurred. 

	 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 

	 Advances paid towards the acquisition of property, plant and equipment outstanding at each Balance Sheet date is 
classified as capital advances under other non-current assets and the cost of assets not ready to use before such date 
are disclosed under ‘Capital work-in-progress’. The cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from 
the financial statements upon sale or retirement of the asset and the resultant gains or losses are recognized in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss.	

	 Upon first-time adoption of Ind AS, the Holding Company had elected to measure all its property, plant and equipment 
at the Previous GAAP carrying amount as its deemed cost on the date of transition to Ind AS i.e., 1st April, 2016.
b.	 Depreciation:

With respect to Holding Company:
	 Tangible property, plant & equipment are depreciated on Written Down Value Method by adopting the useful life & 

residual value specified in Schedule II of the Companies Act 2013, except for in the case of electrical equipment 
and plant and machinery relating to Continuous Processing Plant at Vazhakulam for which useful life is based 
on technical evaluation. Assets costing individually less than Rs.5000/ are depreciated at 100%. Useful life 
considered are as follows: 

Description of assets Useful life of assets
Leasehold Land Lease Period
Buildings 30 years / 5 years (for fences and wells)
Plant & Machinery 15 years
Continuous Process Plant 25 years
Office Equipment  5 years
Furniture & Fittings 10 years
Vehicles 10 years

	 Freehold land is not depreciated.
	 In respect of additions to /deletions from the property, plant and equipment, depreciation is provided on pro-rata basis 

with reference to the month of addition/deletion of the Assets. 
	 No depreciation is provided for leasehold land since as per the lease agreements, these leases are renewable at the 

option of the Holding company with marginal payment of further premium. 
	 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed periodically, including at each financial year end.
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	W ith respect to subsidiary companies  
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line method as per table below 

Description of assets Useful life of assets 
Office equipment 5 years 
Fixtures and fittings 3 years 
Leasehold improvements Lease period
Vehicles 10 years

3.2	 Intangible assets
	 An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance such as technical knowhow, 

software. It is capitalised if the future economic benefits attributable to the asset will probably flow to the Group and 
the cost of acquisition or generation of the asset can be reliably measured. It is amortised from the point at which the 
asset is available for use.

	 Initial recognition and amortisation
	 Intangible assets are stated at the cost of acquisition less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses based on 

cost model. Cost comprises the purchase price and any directly attributable cost. 
	 Intangible assets with determinable useful life are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of up to ten years 

in case of software. Determination of the expected useful lives of such assets and the amortisation patterns is based 
on estimates of the period for which they will generate cash flows. 

	 Subsequent costs
	 Subsequent expenditure related to intangible asset is added to its book value only if it increases the future benefits 

from the existing asset beyond its previously assessed standard of performance.

	 Impairment
	 Any impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. If the reasons for a previously recognised 

impairment loss no longer apply, the impairment loss is reversed provided that the reversal does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset in prior years.

	 Derecognition
	 Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 

disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss when 
the asset is derecognised.

3.3	 Impairment of non-financial assets
	 At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial asset to determine 

whether there is any Indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

	 For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest possible levels for which there are 
independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). Prior impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill) are 
reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date. 

	 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flow are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted. 

	 An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its estimated 
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recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit and loss. Impairment losses 
recognized in respect of cash generating unit are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated 
to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit or group of units on a pro rata basis.

3.4	 Inventories
Inventories are valued as under:

a. Raw materials, Packing materials, Stores & Spares: 
	 Valued at lower of cost or net realizable value and for this purpose cost is determined on weighted average basis 

except for tea which is valued based on first in first out (FIFO). The aforesaid items are valued below cost if the 
finished products in which they are to be incorporated are expected to be sold at a loss.
b. Work in Progress: 
At cost or net realizable value, whichever is lower. Cost is determined on weighted average basis. 

	 c. Stock - in - trade and Finished Goods
	 Valued at lower of cost or net realizable value and for this purpose cost is determined on weighted average basis. 
	 Cost includes direct material cost, direct labour cost, taxes and duties other than duties and taxes for which 

credit is available, freight, other direct expenses and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead 
expenditure.

	 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

	 Cost of the purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Provision is made for 
obsolete, non-moving & defective stocks, wherever necessary.

3.5	 Employee benefits - Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits
3.5.1 Defined Contribution Plans
	 Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit plans i.e. Provident Fund, pension costs & Superannuation 

Schemes are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss when an employee have rendered 
service entitling them to the contributions. The provident fund and superannuation scheme are funded with an 
insurance Group in the form of a qualifying insurance policy.

3.5.2 Defined Benefit Plans
	 The Group has a defined benefit gratuity plan. Every employee who has completed five years or more of service 

gets a gratuity on post-employment at 21 days salary (last drawn salary) for each completed year of service as 
per the rules of the Group. The aforesaid liability is provided for on the basis of an actuarial valuation on projected 
unit credit method made at the end of the financial year. The scheme is funded with an insurance Group in the 
form of a qualifying insurance policy. 

	 Remeasurement, comprising actuarial gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), 
is reflected immediately in the balance sheet with a charge or credit recognised in other comprehensive income 
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income is reflected 
immediately in retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss. Past service cost is recognised in profit or 
loss in the period of a plan amendment. Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning 
of the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit cost are categorised as follows:

	 •	 Service cost (including current service cost, as well as gains and losses on curtailments and settlement)
	 •	 Net interest expense or income
	 •	 Remeasurement
	 The Group presents the first two components of defined benefit cost in profit or loss in the line item ‘employee 

benefit expense’. Curtailment gains or losses are accounted for as past service cost.
	 The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet represents the actual deficit or surplus in the 

Group’s defined benefit plans. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any 
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economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the 
plans.

3.5.3 Compensated Absences
	 The Holding Company has a scheme for compensated absences for employees which is a long-term employee 

benefits, the liability for which is determined on the basis of an independent actuarial valuation using the 
projected unit credit method, carried out at the Balance Sheet date.  The subsidiary companies have measured 
compensated absences at undiscounted salary costs of future holiday entitlement so accrued at the balance 
sheet date. 

3.5.4 Short term benefits 
	 The costs of all short-term employee benefits (that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 

end of the period in which the employees render the related service) are recognised during the period in which 
the employee renders the related services. The accruals for employee entitlements of benefits such as salaries, 
bonuses and annual leave represent the amount which the Group has a present obligation to pay as a result 
of the employees’ services and the obligation can be measured reliably. The accruals have been calculated at 
undiscounted amounts based on current salary levels at the Balance Sheet date. 

3.6	  Financial Instruments
3.6.1 Financial Assets

a)     Initial Recognition and Measurement
		 All financial assets are initially recognized at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition or issue of financial assets, which are at fair value are adjusted through profit or loss. Purchase 
and sale of financial assets are recognised using trade date accounting.

b)     Subsequent Measurement
		 i)   Financial assets carried at amortised cost (AC)
		 A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to 

hold the asset in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

		 ii)  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
		 For equity investments which are not held for trading purposes and where the Group has exercised the 

option to classify the investment as FVTOCI, all fair value changes on the investment are recognized in OCI. 
The accumulated gains or losses on such investments are not recycled to the Statement of Profit and Loss 
even on sale of such investment.

		 iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
		 A financial asset which is not classified in any of the above categories are measured at FVTPL.
c)     Other Equity Investments
		 All other equity investments are measured at fair value, with value changes recognised in Statement of Profit 

and Loss, except for those equity investments for which the Group has made an irrevocable election at the 
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through Other Comprehensive 
Income.

d)     Impairment of Financial Assets
		 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 

or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can 
be reliably estimated.
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		 In accordance with Ind-AS 109, the Group follows ‘simplified approach’ for recognition of impairment loss 
allowance on trade receivables which do not contain a significant financing component.

		 The application of simplified approach does not require the Group to track changes in credit risk. Rather, it 
recognises impairment loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each Balance Sheet date, right from its 
initial recognition.

e) Derecognition of Financial Assets
		 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 

is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group’s balance sheet) when:
		 - The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
		 - The Group  has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to 

pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 
and either:

		 (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
		 (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 

has transferred control of the asset.

3.6.2 Financial Liabilities 
a)     Initial Recognition and Measurement
	 Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using effective interest method. For trade and other payable 

maturing within one year from the Balance Sheet date, the carrying value approximates fair value due to short 
maturity.

b)     Subsequent Measurement
	 Financial liabilities are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. For trade and other payables 

maturing within one year from the balance sheet date, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the 
short maturity of these instruments.

c) Loans and borrowings 
	 After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities 
are de-recognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

	 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the EIR.

	 The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss. This category generally 
applies to borrowings. 

d)     Derivative financial instruments and Hedge Accounting
	 The Holding Company holds derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange forward contract to 

mitigate the risk of changes in exchange rates on foreign currency exposures.  The counterparty for these 
contracts is generally a bank.
(i) Financial assets or financial liabilities, at fair value through profit and loss  

	 This category includes derivative financial assets or liabilities which are not designated as hedges.
	 Although the Holding Company believes that these derivatives constitute hedges from an economic perspective, 

they may not qualify for hedge accounting under Ind AS 109, Financial Instruments. Any derivative that is either 
not designated as a hedge, or is so designated but is ineffective as per Ind AS 109, is categorised as a financial 
asset or financial liability, at fair value through profit or loss. 

	 Derivatives not designated as hedges are recognised initially at fair value and attributable transaction costs are 
recognised in the net profit in the Statement of Profit and Loss when incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
these derivatives re measured at fair value through profit or loss and the resulting exchange gains or losses are 
included in other income / other expenses. Assets / liabilities in this category are presented as current assets 
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/ current liabilities if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months after the 
Balance Sheet Date. 

	 (ii) Cash flow hedges
	 The Group designates certain foreign exchange forward contracts as cash flow hedges to mitigate the risks of 

foreign exchanges exposure on highly probable forecast cash transactions. 
	 When a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge instrument, the effective portion of changes in the fair 

value of the derivative is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the cash flow hedge 
reserve. Any ineffective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized immediately in the 
net profit in the Statement of Profit and Loss. If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, then hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognized in cash flow hedge 
reserve till the period the hedge was effective remains in cash flow hedge reserve until the forecasted transaction 
occurs. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the cash flow hedge reserve is transferred to the 
net profit in the Statement of Profit and Loss upon the occurrence of the related forecasted transaction. If the 
forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the amount accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve 
is reclassified to net profit in the Statement of Profit and Loss.
e) Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

	 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the 
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.
f) Offsetting of financial instruments

	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet only if there 
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
g) Equity instruments

	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

	 Repurchase of the Group ‘s own equity instruments is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss 
is recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group ‘s own 
equity instruments

3.7	 Foreign currency
Initial Recognition

	 On initial recognition, all foreign currency transactions are recorded by applying to the foreign currency amount the 
exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.
Subsequent Recognition

	 As at the reporting date, non-monetary items which are carried at historical cost and denominated in a foreign currency 
are reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. All non-monetary items which are carried at fair 
value or other similar valuation denominated in a foreign currency are reported using the exchange rates that existed 
when the values were fair value measured.

	 Monetary items denominated in foreign currency and outstanding at the Balance Sheet date are converted at the 
year-end exchange rates and the resultant loss or gain, is recognised as income or expense in the statement of the 
profit and loss. 

	 The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge its exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates 
and the resultant gain or loss is dealt with accordingly..



171

Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31st March 2025

Translation of financial statements of foreign operations
	 Assets and liabilities of foreign entities are translated into Indian Rupees on the basis of the closing exchange rates as 

at the end of the period. Income and expenditure and cash flow are generally translated using average exchange rates 
for the period unless those rates do not approximate the actual exchange rates at the dates of specific transactions, 
in which the exchange rates as at the dates of transaction are used. All resulting exchange differences are recognised 
in Other Comprehensive Income.

	 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities are 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income. When a foreign operation is sold, the associated exchange differences 
are reclassified to the Statement of Profit and Loss, as a part of gain or loss on sale.

3.8	 Fair value measurement 
	 The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date on a portfolio 

basis. 
	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 

	 - In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
	 - In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability 
	 The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 
	 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 

pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
	 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. 

	 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of 
unobservable inputs. 

	 ‘All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole: 

	 - Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
	 - Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable 
	 - Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable 
	 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

	 For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

	 This note summaries accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given in the relevant 
notes. 

	 - Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy 
	 - Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost)
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3.9	  Revenue recognition:
	 Revenue is recognised on their accrual and when no significant uncertainty on measurability or collectability exists. 

Expenditure is accounted for on their accrual.
Sale of Goods and services:

	 Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised when the performance obligations towards customers 
have been met at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group believes it is entitled to in exchange 
for the transfer of goods and services to customers, net of any sales returns, excise duty and GST. Performance 
obligations are deemed to have been met when the control of goods has been transferred to the customer / benefit 
from the service is delivered to the customer, depending on the individual terms of the contract of sale. Considering 
the general terms of sales of goods and services, there is no significant financing element included in the sales 
consideration.
Subsidies and export incentives:

	 Government incentive in the form of RoDTEP, Transportation and marketing allowance (‘TMA’)  and refund of goods 
and service tax input credit is recognised when there is a reasonable assurance that the conditions attaching to the 
incentive would be complied and the incentives will be received.

3.10	Leases :
	 A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 

of time in exchange for consideration.

	 The Group as a lessee
	 The Group’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for Machineries and premises. The Group assesses 

whether a contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether: (i) the contract involves the use of an identified 
asset (ii) the Group has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of the lease 
and (iii) the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

	 At the date of commencement of the lease, the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset (“ROU”) and a corresponding 
lease liability for all lease arrangements in which it is a lessee, except for leases with a term of twelve months or less 
(short-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Group recognizes the lease 
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

	 Certain lease arrangements include the options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. 
ROU assets and lease liabilities include these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised.

	 The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted 
for any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any 
lease incentives. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

	 Right-of-use assets are depreciated from the commencement date on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. Right of use assets are evaluated for recoverability whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is 
determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets. In such cases, the recoverable amount is determined for the Cash Generating Unit (CGU) 
to which the asset belongs.

	 The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of the future lease payments. The 
lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily determinable, using 
the incremental borrowing rates in the country of domicile of these leases. Lease liabilities are remeasured with 
a corresponding adjustment to the related right of use asset if the Group changes its assessment if whether it will 
exercise an extension or a termination option.

	 Lease liability and ROU asset have been separately presented in the Balance Sheet and lease payments have been 
classified as financing cash flows:
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3.11	Taxation
	 Income tax expense comprises current tax expense and the net change in the deferred tax asset or liability during the 

year. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
(i)	 Current tax:
	 Current Tax expenses are accounted in the same period to which the revenue and expenses relate. Provision 

for current income tax is made for the tax liability payable on taxable income after considering tax allowances, 
deductions and exemptions determined in accordance with the applicable tax rates and the prevailing tax laws.

	 Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle the asset and the liability on a net basis.

(ii)	 Deferred tax:
	 Deferred income tax is recognised using the balance sheet approach. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred income tax is recognised using the balance sheet approach. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are recognised for deductible and taxable temporary differences arising between the tax base of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amount in financial statements, except when the deferred Income tax arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill, an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profits or loss at the time of the transaction.

	 Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses can be utilised.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences.
	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilised.

	 Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the Balance Sheet date.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Group  intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.12	Provisions & contingent liability:
	 Provisions are recognized, when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the 
amount of the obligation can be made.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, the non – current provisions 
are discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the obligation and the unwinding of the discount is recognised as interest expense.

	 Contingent liabilities are recognized only when there is a possible obligation arising from past events, due to occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events, not wholly within the control of the Group, or where any 
present obligation cannot be measured in terms of future outflow of resources, or where a reliable estimate of the 
obligation cannot be made. Obligations are assessed on an ongoing basis and only those having a largely probable 
outflow of resources are provided for. The Group does not recognise contingent liability but discloses its existence in 
financial statements.

3.13	Dividends:
	 Final Dividends on shares are recorded as a liability on the date of approval by the shareholders and interim dividends 

are recorded as liability on the date of declaration by the Group ’s Board of Directors.
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3.14	Segment Reporting:
	 The Group identifies operating segments based on the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-

maker.
	 The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 

operating segments, has been identified as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decisions.
	 The accounting policies adopted for segment reporting are in line with the accounting policies of the Group. Segment 

revenue, segment expenses, segment assets and segment liabilities have been identified to segments on the basis of 
their relationship to the operating activities of the segment. The Group operates in a single segment namely solvent 
extracted products and geographically operates primarily in a single segment.

3.15	Research and Development:
	 Expenditure on research phase is recognised as an expense as and when it is incurred. Expenditure on development 

phase is recognized as intangible assets if it is identifiable, capable of being controlled and from which future economic 
benefits are expected to flow to the enterprise. Intangible assets are stated at cost net of tax / duty credits availed, if 
any, less accumulated amortisation and cumulative impairment.
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Particulars
Amount in CWIP for a period of

As at <1  year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
years Total

Projects in progress  31st March 25  4,06.75  -    -    -    4,06.75 
 31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -   

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)
Note 4.8 - Capital work-in-progress ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 is as 
follows:

Note 5.1 -  Amortisation  
Amortisation is calculated over the estimated useful life of the asset. Refer Accounting policy no. 3.1.2 of the company for 
the method of amortisation. The group is amortizing the other intangible assets - software over a period of 5 years 	
Note 5.2 - Impairment of assets 
Refer Note No. 49 for disclosure relating to impairment of assets.		
Note 5.3 - Restriction on title - Nil	
Note 5.4 - Contractual Commitments
Refer Note No. 37 for outstanding contractual commitments.

There are no capital-work-in progress whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its original 
plan.

NOTE 5. Other intangible assets including intangible assets under development

Other Intangible Assets - Software Intangible assets under development
Gross carrying amount
At 1 April 2023  1,80.36  -   
Additions/Transfers  -    -   
Disposals/ Transfers  -    -   
At 31 March 2024  1,80.36  -   
Additions/Transfers  -    -   
Disposals/ Transfers  -    -   
At 31 March 2025  1,80.36  -   
Accumulated Amortization
At 1 April 2023  14.28 
Amortisation  34.34  -   
Disposals/Transfers  -   
At 31 March 2024  48.62  -   
Amortisation  34.34  -   
Disposals/Transfers  -    -   
At 31 March 2025  82.96  -   
Net carrying amount
At 31 March 2025  97.40  -   
At 31 March 2024  1,31.74  -   
At 31 March 2023  1,66.08  -   

Note 5.5: Intangible assets under development ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2025 and  
                March 31, 2024 is as follows:

Particulars
Amount in intangible assets under development for a period of

As at <1  year 1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
years Total

Projects in progress  31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -   
 31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -   

The Company does not have any intangible assets under development. Accordingly, disclosures relating to projects 
where completion is overdue or costs have exceeded the original plan are not applicable.
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

Note 6.1 
Depreciation has been charged to ROU assets over the useful life of the assets and is included under depreciation and 
amortisation expenses in statement of profit and loss.  Refer Accounting policy no. 3.10 of the company		

Note 6.2:- 
Disclosures relating to lease and ROU assets - Refer Note No. 38					   

Category of 
ROU asset

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Depreciation 
for the year

Accumulated 
depreciation

Depreciation 
for the year

Accumulated 
depreciation

Additions 
for the year

Net carrying 
value

Additions 
for the year

Net carrying 
value

Land  1,16.89 1,94.44  76.45 77.55  65.96  3,91.88  5,11.01  4,42.81 
Plant and 
Machinery  8.52 -  31.16 3,01.98  -   -  -    1,41.02 

Total  1,25.41  1,94.44  1,07.61  3,79.53  65.96  3,91.88  5,11.01  5,83.83 

NOTE 6 : Right-of-use assets

Leasehold Land Plant and Machinery Total
Gross carrying amount
At 1 April 2023  9.35  4,43.00  4,52.35 
Additions/Transfers  5,11.01  -    5,11.01 
Disposals/ Transfers  -    -    -   
At 31 March 2024  5,20.36  4,43.00  9,63.36 
Additions/Transfers  65.96  -    65.96 
Disposals/ Transfers  -    4,43.00  4,43.00 
At 31 March 2025  5,86.32  -    5,86.32 
Accumulated Depreciation
At 1 April 2023  1.10  2,70.82  2,71.92 
Depreciation charge for the year  76.45  31.16  1,07.61 
Disposals/Transfers  -    -    -   
At 31 March 2024  77.55  3,01.98  3,79.53 
Depreciation charge for the year  1,16.89  8.52  1,25.41 
Disposals/Transfers  -    3,10.50  3,10.50 
At 31 March 2025  1,94.44  -  1,94.44 
Net carrying amount
At 31 March 2025  3,91.88 -  3,91.88 
At 31 March 2024  4,42.81  1,41.02  5,83.83 
At 31 March 2023  8.25  1,72.18  1,80.43 



178

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)NOTE 7
Investments

Currency Face 
value

Number of units Amount

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24
Current
(i) Investment at fair value through 

profit and loss (at NAV)
A) Investment in Mutual Funds 
(unquoted)
Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth 
(Bandhan Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  11,38,840.58  11,38,840.58  4,30.67  400.64 

Money Market Fund  - Growth  
(HDFC Mutual Fund)

Rs.  23,858.64  23,858.64  13,38.04  1,242.59 

Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth 
(HDFC Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  67,75,976.11  1,17,71,497.05  20,43.70  3,306.26 

Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth 
(ICICI Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  1,06,59,720.87  1,06,59,720.87  35,98.47  3,351.63 

Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth 
(Kotak Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  97,94,813.82  97,94,813.82  36,12.66  3,360.23 

Equity Arbitrage Fund - Growth 
(SBI Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  32,42,085.68  32,42,085.68  10,78.19  1,004.60 

Equity Index Fund - Growth (SBI 
Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  72,092.40  -    1,49.04  -   

Equity Index Fund - Growth (DSP 
Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  15,63,015.91  -    1,50.00  -   

Equity Index Fund - Growth 
(Motilal Oswal Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  6,17,474.30  -    1,46.44  -   

Equity Index Fund - Growth (UTI 
Mutual Fund) 

Rs.  6,21,818.34  -    1,18.83  -   

Equity Flexi cap Fund- Growth 
(Parag Parikh Mutual Fund)

Rs.  1,45,720.92  -    1,14.95  -   

Equity Focused Fund- Growth 
(HDFC Mutual Fund)

Rs.  54,937.78  -    1,17.53  -   

Equity Contra Fund - Growth 
(Invesco Mutual Fund)

Rs.  91,168.61  -    1,12.98  -   

Equity Flexi cap Fund- Growth 
(360 ONE Mutual Fund)

Rs.  8,06,835.20  -    1,12.29  -   

Equity Open ended Fund- Growth 
(ICICI Mutual Fund)

Rs.  3,51,585.32  -    1,16.34  -   

Equity Balanced Advantage 
Fund- Growth (HDFC Mutual 
Fund)

Rs.  30,285.73  -    1,48.50  -   

Equity Aggressive Hybrid- Growth 
(ICICI Mutual FUnd )

Rs.  41,009.68  -    1,51.20  -   

(ii) Others*  37.00  -   
Total 1,35,76.83  1,26,65.95 
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Note 7.1: For Related Party disclosure, refer Note No. 36
Note 7.2: Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments
Note 7.3:Aggregate carrying amount of unquoted investments				       1,35,76.83           1,26,65.95
Note 7.4: Aggregate amount of impairment in value of investments				        -	 -

*The amount transferred to the mutual fund house pending allocation of units due to  
  intervening holidays is classified under ‘Others’ as at the reporting date.

NOTE 8
Other Financial assets
(Unsecured, considered good unless stated otherwise) 
A)	 Non Current		
	 Deposits with Govt. Authorities	   1,99.74  	   2,59.80 
	 Deposits with Others	   15.74  	  98.36 
	 Total		    2,15.48 	 3,58.16
B)	 Current		
	 Deposits for short term leases	   2,19.13  	   2,11.32  
	 Interest accrued on deposits	   3.63  	   0.04 
	 Export incentive receivable	 2,82.03 	 -
	 Total		    5,04.79  	  2,11.36 
Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments

NOTE 9
Other assets 
(Unsecured, considered good)

A)  Non Current
	 Capital Advances	   2,67.72  	   1.84 
	 Deposits with Govt Authorities	   2,59.80  	   1,96.64 
	 Receivable from Govt. Authorities	   18.74  	   18.74 
	 Total non-current assets	   5,46.26  	   2,17.22 
			 
B) Current		
Advance to suppliers	   10,80.38 	   4,69.02 
Other Advances	   2,28.55  	   18.18 
Prepaid expenses	   3,49.17 	   3,24.08 
GST Input Receivable	  17,61.84 	   13,09.48 
VAT Input		    -   	   15.02 
Total current assets	  34,19.94 	   21,35.78 

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2025
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NOTE 10
Inventories
Inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value		
Raw Materials*	   96,52.79 	   49,10.06 
Finished goods 	   70,67.93 	   76,03.56 
Stock in process	   1,10,10.99 	   78,13.17 
Stores, Spares and packing material	   16,42.87 	   17,87.72 
Total inventories	   2,93,74.58 	   2,21,14.51 

* Includes goods in transit of raw materials amounting to Rs. 402.62 lakhs (31 March 2024:Rs 311.76 Lakhs) ; Goods in transit includes an amount of 
₹41.63 lakhs, pending clearance due to an ongoing case with the customs authority (31 March 2024 : Nil)			 
Note 10.1: 
Carrying amount of inventories pledged as security for liabilities	   2,93,74.58  	   2,21,14.51 

Note 10.2: 
Write down/back to inventory recognised in cost during the year	   13.50  	   12.89  

Note 10.3: 
Note 10.3:There are no raw materials and components with third  
parties as on 31st March 2025 (31st March 2024: Nil)

Note 10.4: 
Valuation of Inventories has been made as per Group’s Accounting Policy No. 3.3			 
				  
NOTE 11 
Trade receivables

Current (Unsecured)							     

	 (a) Considered Good	   1,56,36.81  	   1,09,97.01  

	 Less: Allowance for doubtful trade receivables	  -   	  -   

				      1,56,36.81  	   1,09,97.01 

	 (b) Credit impaired	  -   	  -   

	 Less: Allowance for doubtful trade receivables	  -   	  -   

	 Total		    1,56,36.81  	   1,09,97.01 

Note 11.1: Dues from related parties includes dues from  
companies where directors are interested	   9.09  	   13.30    

Note 11.2: Information about the Company’s exposure to credit and  
market risks, and impairment losses for trade receivables is included in Note No 42

Note 11.3: Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024



181

The movement in allowance for bad and doubtful debts is as follows:	
Opening provision for doubtful debts	 -	 -
Add- Provision made during the year (Net)	 -	 -
Less- Reversals made during the year	 -	 -
Closing provision for doubtful debts	 -	 -

Trade Receivables ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 is as follows:

“Particulars“ As at Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment 

Not due “Less than  
6 months”

6 months 
- 1 year

1-2 
years

“More 
than  

3 years”
Total

(i) Undisputed Trade 
receivables – considered 
good

31st March 25
31st March 24

 -   
 36,74.45 

 1,54,35.71 
 72,44.33 

 1,09.57 
 11.33 

 91.53 
 66.90 

 -    
 -   

1,56,36.81 
1,09,97.01 

(ii) Undisputed Trade 
receivables – which have 
significant increase in 
credit risk

31st March 25
31st March 24

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

(iii) Undisputed Trade 
Receivables — credit 
impaired

31st March 25
31st March 24

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

(iv) Disputed Trade 
Receivables considered 
good 

31st March 25
31st March 24

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

(v) Disputed Trade 
Receivables considered 
good - which have 
significant increase in 
credit risk

31st March 25
31st March 24

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

(vi) Disputed Trade 
Receivables - Credit 
impaired

31st March 25
31st March 24

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

Total 31st March 25
31st March 24

 -   
 36,74.45 

 1,54,35.71 
 72,44.33 

 1,09.57 
 11.33 

 91.53 
 66.90 

 -   
 -   

1,56,36.81 
1,09,97.01 

Less : Allowance for Trade 
Receivable

31st March 25
31st March 24

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 -   
-  

 Net Trade Receivable 31st March 25  -    1,54,35.71  1,09.57  91.53  -   1,56,36.81 
31st March 24  36,74.45  72,44.33  11.33  66.90  -   1,09,97.01 

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2025
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

NOTE 12
Cash and Cash equivalents
Cash on hand	   9.44  	   6.76  
Balances with bank in current account	   33,48.46  	   25,36.97 
Cash and cash equivalents as per balance sheet	   33,57.90  	   25,43.73 
Note 12.1: There are no repatriation restrictions with respect to cash and cash equivalents

NOTE 12A
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents:
Balances with banks:	 1,50.07 	 32.19 
Ear Marked balances - Unpaid dividend	   1,28.03 	   1,60.39 
Ear marked balances - Security against the borrowings	   0.96  	   0.93 
Deposit with orginal maturity for more than 3 months but less than 12 months	  61.86 	  1,10.71 
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents	   3,40.92  	   3,04.22 
* Given as margin money for bank Guarantees 
Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments						    

NOTE 13
Loans
Current at amortized cost
(Unsecured, considered good)
Loans to employees	    18.56   	   24.17 
Loan- Others	  6.97 	 -
Total			     25.53  	   24.17  
Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments

NOTE 14
Share Capital
A. 	Authorised Share Capital
	 159,900,000 (31 March 2024: 159,900,000) equity shares of Rs. 1 each	   15,99.00  	   15,99.00 
	 1,000 (31 March 2024: 1,000) - 12% Redeemable  
	 Cumulative Preference Shares of Rs.100 each	  1.00 	  1.00 
	 3,000,000 (31 March 2024: 3,000,000)- 7% Redeemable  
	 Cumulative Preference Shares of Rs.10 each	  3,00.00 	  3,00.00 
B. 	Issued, Subscribed & Paid Up
	 152,284,000 (31 March 2024: 152,284,000) equity shares of Rs. 1 each	 15,22.84	 15,22.84
C.	 Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to equity shares
	� The company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 1 per share. Each shareholder is eligible for 

one vote share held. The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders 
in the ensuing Annual General Meeting, except in case of Interim Dividend. In the event of the liquidation, the equity 
shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company  after distribution of all preferential amounts, 
in proportion to the shareholding.

D.	 Shares reserved under option and contract/commitments for sale of shares/disinvestment - Nil (31st March 2024 - Nil) 
E.	 The aggregate value of calls unpaid (including Directors and Officers of the Company) - Nil (31st March 2024 - Nil)
F.	 There were no bonus share issue/ buy back of shares in the immediately preceding 5 years.
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(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

G.	 The Company has not allotted any shares as fully paid up pursuant to contract without payment being received in cash 
	 in the immediately preceding 5 years.

H. Reconciliation of the number of shares and amount outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting period:

	 Particulars	 Number of shares	 Amount

	 As at 1 April 2023	   1,52,28,40,00  	   15,22.84 
	 Changes in equity share capital due to prior period errors	  -   	  -   
	 Restated balance as at April 1, 2023	   1,52,28,40,00  	   15,22.84 
	 Increase /(decrease) during the year	 -   	  -   
	 As at 31 March 2024	   1,52,28,40,00  	   15,22.84 
	 Changes in equity share capital due to prior period errors	 -   	  -   
	 Restated balance as at April 1, 2024	   1,52,28,40,00  	   15,22.84  
	 Increase /(decrease) during the year	 -   	  -   
	 As at 31 March 2025	  1,52,28,40,00  	  15,22.84  

I. Disclosure of shareholding of promoters and percentage of change during the year.		

 Promoters name 

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

 No. of Shares 
held 

 % of 
Holding  

 % Change 
During the 

year 

 No. of 
Shares held 

 % of 
Holding  

 % Change 
During the 

year 
Neelamalai Agro Industries 
Limited

 6,09,13,600 40.00%  -    6,09,13,600 40.00%  -   

The Midland Rubber & Produce 
Company Limited

 4,54,52,175 29.85%  -    4,54,52,175 29.85%  -   

The Nelliampathy Tea & Produce 
Company Limited

 60,91,360 4.00%  -    60,91,360 4.00%  -   

Ajit Thomas  15,22,840 1.00%  -    15,22,840 1.00%  -   
Shanthi Thomas  1,81,000 0.12%  -    1,81,000 0.12%  -   
Ashwin Thomas  52,000 0.03%  -    52,000 0.03%  -   
Total  11,42,12,975 75.00%  -    11,42,12,975 75.00%  -   

J. Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

Name of the shareholder

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

 Number of 
shares held 

 % holding in 
that class of 

shares  

 Number of 
shares held 

% holding in  
that class of  

shares
Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited  6,09,13,600 40.00%  6,09,13,600 40.00%
The Midland Rubber & Produce Company 
Limited

 4,54,52,175 29.85%  4,54,52,175 29.85%

As per records of the Company, including its register of shareholders/ members and other declarations received from 
shareholders regarding beneficial interest, the above shareholding represents both legal and beneficial ownerships of 
shares.

K. Dividends - Refer Note No. 46 for the details relating to the dividends distributed during the year
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 Name of the reserve 

Reserves & Surplus
 Items of Other  
Comprehensive 

Income 

 Total  Capi-
tal  
Re-

serve 

 General  
Reserve 

 Retained  
Earnings 

Remea-
surments 

of post 
employment 

benefits 
obligations 

through 
other com-
prehensive 

income

 Effective 
portion 
of Cash 

flow 
Hedges 

 Foreign 
Currency 

Trans-
lation 

Reserve 

 As at 1st April 2023  0.35 2,77,01.88  1,41,04.74  (1,98.18)  (86.43)  (12.28)  4,15,10.08 
Changes in accounting policy or prior 
period items   -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Restated balance as at 1st April 2023  0.35 2,77,01.88  1,41,04.74  (1,98.18)  (86.43)  (12.28)  4,15,10.08 
Profit for the year  -    -    53,28.82  -    -    -    53,28.82 
Remeasurement of the post-employment 
benefit obligations and tax thereon  -    -    -    (13.17)  -    -    (13.17)

Other Comprehensive income for the year, 
net of Income tax  -    -    -    -    57.81  (84.26)  (26.45)

Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    53,28.82  (13.17)  57.81  (84.26)  52,89.19 
Transfer to General Reserve  -    25,00.00  (25,00.00)  -    -    -    -   
Dividends paid including dividend 
distribution tax  -    -    (13,70.56)  -    -    -    (13,70.56)

As at 1st April 2024  0.35 3,02,01.88  1,55,63.00  (2,11.35)  (28.62)  (96.55)  4,54,28.71 
 Changes in accounting policy or prior 
period items   -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

 Restated balance as at 1st April 2023  0.35 3,02,01.88  1,55,63.00  (2,11.35)  (28.62)  (96.55)  4,54,28.71 
 Profit for the year  -    -    48,22.70  -    -    -    48,22.70 
 Remeasurement of the post-
employment benefit obligations and tax 
thereon 

 -    -    -    48.55  -    -    48.55 

 Other Comprehensive income for the year, 
net of Income tax  -    -    -    -    (49.81)  84.08  34.27 

 Total comprehensive income for the year  -    -    48,22.70  48.55  (49.81)  84.08  49,05.52 
 Transfer to General Reserve  -    20,00.00  (20,00.00)  -    -    -    -   
 Dividend paid  -    -    (12,18.27)  -    -    -    (12,18.27)
 At 31 March 2025  0.35 3,22,01.88  1,71,67.44  (1,62.80)  (78.43)  (12.47)  4,91,15.96 

Note 15
OTHER EQUITY

Nature and purpose of other reserves
1	 Capital Reserve - Reserve of capital nature taken to this head under the erstwhile GAAP.			 
2	 General Reserve - General Reserve is created out of the profits earned by the group by way of transfer from surplus in the 

statement of profit and loss. Mandatory transfer to general reserve is not required under the Companies Act 2013.
3	 Retained Earnings: Retained earnings are the profits that the Company has earned till date, less any transfers to general 

reserve, dividends or other distributions paid to shareholders.					  
4	 Cash flow Hedging Reserve:  The cash flow hedging reserve represents the cumulative effective portion of gains or losses 

arising on changes in fair value of designated portion of hedging instruments entered into for cash flow hedges. Such gains 
or losses will be reclassified to statement of profit and loss in the period in which the underlying hedged transaction occurs.

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 16
Borrowings
Non Current
Term Loans from banks 	  4,95.00  	   8,05.00 
Total			    4,95.00  	   8,05.00 

Less: Current Maturities of Long Term Debt clubbed under   
“Short term borrowings”	   1,60.00  	  3,10.00 
Net Non Current Borrowings	   3,35.00  	   4,95.00  

Current
Current Maturities of Long Term Debt	   1,60.00  	   3,10.00  
Loan repayable on demand		
Packing Credit from Banks (*) - floating rate - ~ 5.80 to ~7.00% p.a	   79,36.21    	  -   
Working Capital Loan in foreign currency 	   24,65.30 	  28,87.30
Total			     1,05,61.51  	 31,97.30  

Aggregate secured loans	   1,08,96.51  	   36,92.30 
Aggregate unsecured loans	 -	 -

Foot Note:
1.	 Term loan from banks 

(i)	 Term Loan 1: The company had availed a term loan for a period of five years with half yearly instalments. Secured 
by first charge on 27.01 acres of leasehold land and movable fixed assets and buildings (value of buildings and 
movable fixed assets being Rs. 3,498 Lakhs). Rate of Interest - 9.70% p.a (31st March 2024 - 9.70% p.a.). The 
loan was fully repaid and in July 2024.

(ii)	 Term Loan 2: The company has taken an additional term loan for a period of six years including a moratorium 
of 1 year. The loan is repayable in 10 equal half yearly instalments with repayment commencing from February 
2023 and the last instalment due being August 2028. Secured by first charge on assets created out of the term 
loan.Rate of Interest - 8.50% p.a. (31st March 2024 - 8.75% p.a)”			 

	 Packing Credit from Banks (*) 
	 “Packing Credit from Banks (*) 

Packing credit from banks secured by 
 -   hypothecation of present and future current assets including stocks, semi-finished goods, finished goods, 

consumables, stores, spares, book debts. 
 -	 15% margin on sight import letter of credit and performance guarantee. 
 - 	 In some cases second pari passu charge by way of hypothecation and mortgage of movable and immovable 

assets of the Company, second charge on entire fixed assets of the Company including EM, In some cases 
demand promissory note, hypothecation of book debts, letter of containing security, deposit of letter of credit.

	W orking capital loan (*) 
	 Working capital loan availed by AVT Natural Europe Limited and AVT Natural S.A DE C.V. (Subsidiary Companies) 

are secured by a fixed and floating charges against the present & future assets of the subsidiary Companies. 
Further, the parent has given a corporate guarantee for the same.  
Working Capital Loan 1 - Interest Rate 6.50% (USD) (31st March 2024 -7.50%) 
Working Capital Loan 2 - Interest Rate 9.83% (USD) (31st March 2024 - 9.83%) 
Working Capital Loan 3 - Interest Rate 14.70% (Peso) (31st March 2024 - 14.70%)	
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For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024



186

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)
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				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

	 “Period and amount of default as on 31st March 2025 - Nil (31st March 2024 - Nil) 
	 No loans have been guaranteed by Directors or Others”	

2.  The Company had access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities at the end of the reporting period:
	 Fund Based facilities	   24,81.01  	   82,62.14  
	 Non Fund facilities	   6,86.83  	   8,68.29 

3.	 Net debt reconciliation 
	 Net debt	
	 Cash and cash equivalents	  33,57.90  	  25,43.73 
	 Current Investment	   1,35,76.83  	 1,26,65.95 
	 Non Current & Current Borrowings	   (1,08,96.51)	  (36,92.30)
	 Non-current and current lease liabilities	  (3,74.66)	  (5,67.42)
	 Net (debt)/ Cash & Cash Equivalents	  56,63.56  	   1,09,49.96 

 
			          	            Accrued during the year                              Paid during the year
	 Finance Cost	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
	 Interest on borrowings	  7,28.28 	  4,70.62 	  7,28.28 	  4,70.62 
	 Bank Charges on borrowings	  1,83.40 	  1,90.77 	  1,83.40 	  1,90.77 
	 Unwinding interest on finance lease	  34.83 	  34.57 	  34.83 	  34.57 
	 	 Total 	   9,46.51 	  6,95.96 	  9,46.51 	  6,95.96 

					     Other Assets            	Borrowings and leases	
				    Cash and cash 	 Current	 Short / Long Term 	 Lease	  
				    equivalents	 Investments	  Borrowings	 liabilities
Net (debt)/ Cash & Cash Equivalents as at 
1st April 2023	 20,14.75 	 58,39.86 	  (34,14.14)	  (2,85.92)
Cash inflow	  5,28.98 	  (5,10.00)	  (5,88.16)	  -   
Cash Outflow		   65,99.67 	  3,10.00 	  2,48.67 
Unrealised fair value gains on current investments	  -   	  7,36.42 	  -   	  -   
Other non cash movement	 -	 -	 -	  (4,95.60)
Interest expense	  -   	  -   	  6,61.39 	  (34.57)
Interest paid	  -   	  -   	  (6,61.39)	  -   
((Net debt)/ Cash & Cash Equivalents as at  
31 March 2024	  25,43.73 	  1,26,65.95 	  (36,92.30)	  (5,67.42)
Net (debt)/ Cash & Cash Equivalents as at  
1st April 2024	  25,43.73 	  1,26,65.95 	  (36,92.30)	  (5,67.42)
Cash inflow	  8,14.17 	  (14,86.95)	  (73,64.21)	  -   
Cash outflow	 -	  14,87.00 	  1,60.00 	  67.72 
Unrealised fair value gains on current investments	  -   	  9,10.83 	  -   	  -   
Other non cash movement	 -	 -	 -	  1,59.87 
Interest expense	  -   	  -   	  9,11.68 	  (34.83)
Interest paid	  -   	  -   	  (9,11.68)	  -   
(Net debt)/ Cash & Cash Equivalents as at  
31 March 2025	  33,57.90 	  1,35,76.83 	  (1,08,96.51)	  (3,74.66)
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NOTE 17
Lease liability
Non Current			 
Lease liability - fixed rate of 9%.p.a.	  3,74.66 	  5,67.42 
Less: Current maturities of leases 	  1,01.39 	  50.71 
				      2,73.27 	  5,16.71 	
Current			 
Lease liability - fixed rate of 9%.p.a.	  1,01.39 	  50.71  
			   	   3,74.66 	  5,67.42  

Note 17. 1 Lease Liability
Lease liability includes :
(i) an arrangement for the lease of Plant and Machinery, originally entered into for a term of 10 years. The liability is 
repayable in monthly instalments, with the final payment due in July 2029 which has been acquired and capitalized by the 
Company during the year.	
(ii) an arrangement for the lease of various land for a period of 5 years/3 years. The lease rents are payable as per the 
terms of the lease and the last repayment is for the year ended 31st March 2029.

Note 17.2: 
Refer Note No. 6 for disclosure of ROU assets.

Note 17.3:
Refer Note No. 38 for disclosure of leases			 

Note 17.4: 
Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments			 
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NOTE 18
PROVISIONS 
Non Current
Provision for Gratuity (funded)*	  -   	  -   
Provision for Compensated absences (unfunded)*	  4,42.10 	  4,68.87   
Total non-current provisions	  4,42.10 	  4,68.87 

Current 
Provision for Gratuity (funded)*	  6,72.12  	   6,04.54  
Provision for Compensated absences (unfunded)*	   1,09.85  	   1,34.06  
Provision for other taxes	   3,78.62  	   3,58.62  
Provision for Savings Fund	  16.26  	   6.78 
Total current provisions	   11,76.85  	   11,04.00 
Note 18.1 : Refer Note 35 for disclosures on employee benefits

NOTE 19
Deferred Tax Liability 
Components of Deferred Tax
Deferred Tax Liability
On Account of depreciation	   1,00.41  	   1,76.07   
On account of fair valuation of investments	   4,14.66  	   2,32.61 
			                                 (A)	   5,15.07  	  4,08.68 
Deferred Tax Asset		
Provisions for gratuity and compensated absences	   3,08.08  	 3,03.89  
On account of hedge reserve	   26.38  	 9.62   
On Account of c/f losses 	 -	 - 
On Account of Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets	  5.76 	 2.49  
	      		                                (B)	   3,40.22  	   3,16.00 
Deferred Tax Liability (net) 		
			                                (A-B)	   1,74.85 	   92.68 

NOTE 20 
Trade payables
Current
Due to micro and small enterprises (Refer Foot notes (i))	   5,41.36  	  4,08.26  
Due to other than micro and small enterprises	     	  
	  - Related parties (Refer note 36)	   79.08  	   1,70.62  
	  - Other payables	   93,13.27  	   53,44.18   
Total of due to other than micro and small enterprises	 93,92.35	 55,14.80
Total trade payables	   99,33.71  	   59,23.06 

Footnotes:							     
(i) The amount due to  Micro and Small Enterprises as defined in the “The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development 
Act, 2006” has been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on the basis of information collected by 
the Management. This has been relied upon by the auditors. Also, refer Note 39 for details on the required disclosures.
Refer Note No. 41 for classification of Financial Instruments		
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Trade payable ageing schedule for the year ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 is as follows:

Particulars* Outstanding for following periods from date of transaction
Unbilled Less 

than 1 
year

1 -2 
years

2-3 
years

More 
than 3 
years

Total

(i) Undisputed dues – Micro and 
Small Enterprises

31st March 25 -  5,36.28  2.47  2.61  -    5,41.36 
31st March 24 -  4,05.65  2.61 - -  4,08.26 

(i) Undisputed dues – Medium 
enterprises

31st March 25 -  2,81.14  -    -    -    2,81.14 
31st March 24 -  15,36.22 - - -  15,36.22 

(ii) Undisputed dues – Other than 
MSME

31st March 25  7,08.69  70,27.12  4,07.47  8,21.42  -    89,64.70 
31st March 24  5,93.86  23,22.94  9,06.67  70.00  85.11  39,78.58 

(ii) Disputed dues - MSME
31st March 25  -    -    -    -    -    -   
31st March 24  -    -    -    -    -    -   

(ii) Disputed dues - Others
31st March 25 -  -    -    1,46.51 -  1,46.51 
31st March 24 -  -    -    -    -    -   

Total
31st March 25  7,08.69  78,44.54  4,09.94  9,70.54  -    99,33.71 
31st March 24  5,93.86  42,64.81  9,09.28  70.00  85.11  59,23.06 

* There are no disputed dues to MSME or other than MSME vendors

NOTE 21
Other Financial liabilities
Current		
Foreign exchange forward contracts	   1,23.08  	   6.81  
Unpaid dividend	   1,28.03 	   1,60.39  
Total			     2,51.11  	   1,67.20 

NOTE 22
Other liabilities
Current				  
Statutory dues	   1,42.41 	   1,16.61  
Advance from customers	   3,51.26 	   1,95.80  
Employee related liabilities	   3,16.33 	   5,24.36   
Deposits from contractors	   5.10 	   5.10 
Total			     8,15.10 	   8,41.87  
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				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

NOTE 23
Revenue from operations
Sale of Products 	  5,31,83.44 	  5,08,33.60 
Job work income	  24,20.99 	  8,92.32 
Total Revenue from Operations	   5,56,04.43  	   5,17,25.92 
Revenue disaggregated by products and services 
Sale of products
Marigold extracts	  1,92,14.64 	  1,78,29.36 
Spices extracts	  1,39,42.38 	  1,37,68.37 
Instant Tea & de-Caffeinated Tea	  1,53,03.82 	  1,62,03.97 
Animal Nutrition	  47,22.60 	  30,31.90 
Sale of services
Job work income	  24,20.99 	  8,92.32 
				      5,56,04.43 	  5,17,25.92 
Revenue disaggregation by geography:
America 	  	 3,15,02.02 	  2,64,97.98 
Europe		   85,22.13 	  35,77.37  
India		   	 37,46.77 	  30,02.90  
Others	 		  1,18,33.51 	  1,86,47.67  
	  			    5,56,04.43 	  5,17,25.92 
Geographical revenue is allocated based on the location of the customers.

Reconciliation of amount of revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with the contracted price
Revenue as per contracted price	   5,60,64.49  	   5,20,52.10   
Less: Sales returns	 (4,60.06)	 (3,26.18)
Revenue from contracts with customers	   5,56,04.43  	   5,17,25.92 
Information on satisfaction of performance obligation is disclosed in Note No. 44

NOTE 24 
Other Income
Net gain on disposal / fair valuation of investments carried at fair value  
through profit or loss	  9,10.83 	  7,36.42 
Foreign exchange differences (net)	  1,39.44 	  4,45.09 
Sundry creditors written back	  1,55.10 	  55.75 
Interest income on financial assets measured at amortised cost	  21.35 	  12.64 
RoDTEP Income	  2,82.03 	 -
Insurance Claim	  4.88 	  4.67 
Miscellaneous income	  1,03.03 	  0.85 
Total other income	   16,16.66 	  12,55.42 
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NOTE 25 
Changes in inventories of work-in-progress, stock-in-trade and finished goods

Inventory at the beginning of the year		
Finished Goods		   
    - Processed	    57,30.01   	    93,08.25  
    - Trade	  	   18,73.55  	    16,84.93   
Stock in process	    78,13.17  	    45,51.95 
				       1,54,16.73  	    1,55,45.13   
Less: inventory at the end of the year
Finished Goods		
    - Processed	  58,90.91  	   57,30.01  
    - Trade		    11,77.03 	   18,73.55  
Stock in process	   1,10,10.99 	   78,13.17 
				      1,80,78.93  	   1,54,16.73 
Net (Increase)/Decrease	   (26,62.20) 	   1,28.40 

NOTE 26
Employee benefits expense
Salaries, wages and bonus**	  63,29.23 	  56,54.88 
Contribution to provident and other funds*	  6,27.77 	  5,65.62 
Staff welfare expenses	  5,04.83 	  5,09.35  
Total					      74,61.83 	  67,29.85 
*Refer to Note 35 for details on employee benefits
The above includes
   -  Salaries, wages and bonus includes net incremental leave  
	 encashment provision/(reversal of lease encashment provision) 	  (12.74) 	  79.92 
  -    -  Contribution to provident and other funds includes net incremental gratuity provision 	  166.16 	  1,54.08 
**The above includes Directors sitting fee	  19.50 	  10.75 

NOTE 27 
Finance costs
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:		
	 On Term loans	  55.94 	  93.61  
	 On Packing credit	  3,47.58 	  1,01.24  
	 On Working Capital Loan	  3,24.76 	  2,75.77  
	 Other finance costs including bank charges	   1,83.40 	  1,90.77  
Interest on lease liabilities	  34.83 	  34.57  
Interest due to Micro and Small enterprises	  2.49 	  0.26 
Total			   949.00	 6,96.22
* The information regarding dues to Micro and small enterprises are disclosed in Note No. 39

NOTE 28 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses
	 Depreciation on property, plant and equipments	  12,26.55 	  12,45.78  
	 Amortisation on other Intangible assets	  34.34 	  34.34  
	 Depreciation on right-of-use assets	  1,25.41 	  1,07.61 
				      13,86.30  	   13,87.73 

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

NOTE 29 
Other Expenses
Consumption of stores, spares and packing materials	  43,90.80 	  37,73.43  
Freight and Forwarding charges	  25,14.72 	  17,35.34  
Power and fuel	  33,83.13 	  35,25.53  
Commission	  4,33.76 	  2,25.86  
Product testing charges	  4,46.04 	  3,60.68  
Travelling and conveyance	  5,98.10 	  5,16.69  
Legal and professional fees	  4,71.78 	  5,09.61  
Processing Charges	  4,34.34 	  1,56.34  
Security Service Charges	  1,30.06 	  1,12.72  
Short term leases	  7,96.12 	  7,73.85  
Rates and taxes	  79.33 	  1,95.87  
Insurance	 	 1,73.54 	  1,61.72  
Repairs and maintenance	     	
	 Plant and machinery	  5,61.57 	  6,92.38  
	 Buildings	  29.31 	  78.21  
	 Vehicles	  69.58 	  1,32.23  
	 Others	 	 4,17.15 	  4,17.24 
CSR expenditure (Refer Note No. 30)	  1,66.14 	  1,67.63  
Donations and charity	  50.28 	  51.05  
Advertisement	  6.02 	  8.01  
Postage and telephones	  82.33 	  58.78  
Printing and stationery	  33.67 	  55.96  
Payment to auditor (Refer Note No. 31)	  86.42 	  77.29  
Loss on sale of asset	  2.45 	  -    
Miscellaneous Expenses	  9,02.72 	  11,72.77  
Total			     1,62,59.36  	   1,49,59.18 

NOTE 30 
Corporate Social Responsibility Expenditure:
(a)	Amount required to be spent as per Section 135 of the Act by the Holding Company	   1,65.85  	   1,67.07  
(b)	Amount spent during the year on:		   
	 (i) Construction / acquisition of an asset	  -   	  -    
	 (ii) On purposes other than (i) above	   1,66.14  	   1,67.63  
(c)	 shortfall at the end of the year	  -   	  -    
(d)	total of previous years shortfall	  -   	  -    
(e)	reason for shortfall	   Not applicable  	  Not applicable  
(f)	 nature of CSR activities	 Support for Drinking water, 	Support for Drinking 
				    scholarship programme, 	 water, scholarship 
				    infrastructure support, 	 programme, 
				    support for children	 infrastructure  
				    and old age	 support, support 
					     for children and  
					     old age 
(g)	details of related party transactions	  -   	  - 
(h)	Where a provision is made with respect to a liability incurred 
	 by entering into a contractual obligation, the movements in the  
	 provision during the year shall be shown separately	  N.A 	  N.A 



193

NOTE 31 
Payment made to Statutory Auditors*:
As Auditor:		
	 Statutory Audit	 68.70	 60.00
	 Tax Audit	 5.65	 5.65
In Other Capacity
	 Taxation Matters	 5.25	 5.00
	 Certification	 5.13	 5.29
	 Reimbursement of expenses	 1.69	 1.35
Total			   86.42	 77.29
* Includes payments to auditors of the subsidiaries

NOTE 32 
Income Tax
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 are:
Statement of profit and loss:
Income tax	  14,07.98 	  17,40.45 
Deferred tax	  82.61 	  37.84 
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss	   14,90.59  	   17,78.29 

Other Comprehensive Income
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of cash flow hedges	  16.75 	  (19.44) 
Net loss/(gain) on remeasurements of defined benefit plans	 (16.33) 	  4.43 
Income tax charged to OCI	   0.42 	  (15.01)
Reconciliation of tax expense and the accounting profit multiplied by domestic  
tax rate for 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024:		
Accounting profit before tax (a)	   63,13.29  	   71,07.11 
Indian statutory income tax rate( b)	 25.17%	 25.17%
Calculated taxes based on above, without any adjustments for deductions [(a) x (b)]	  15,88.93 	  17,88.72  

      Adjustments		
	 “On account of Income Tax relating to Remeasurement 
	 of the defined benefit plans”	  (16.33)	  26.22  
	 On account of Corporate Social Responsibility Costs	 41.82	  42.19  
	 On account of donations	 12.66	  12.85  
	 On account of non-deductible expenses	 1.36	  1.26  
	 Differential tax due to Capital Gain	 (20.69)	 - 
	 On account of other items	  (1,17.34)	  (92.93)
Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit and loss	   14,90.41  	   17,78.30 
AVT Natural Europe Limited- a Subsidiary company, has tax losses of Rs.Nil  (31 March 2024: NIL ) to carry forward and 
offset against future profits.
The company has utilised the option given u/s 115BAA and accordingly that tax rate applicable is 25.17%.
“The Group has not recognized deferred tax liability with respect to unremitted retained earnings and associated foreign 
currency translation reserve with respect to certain of its subsidiaries where the Group is in a position to control the timing 
of the distribution of profits and it is probable that the subsidiaries will not distribute the profits in the foreseeable future. 
The temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which a deferred tax liability has not been 
recognised.”

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Reconciliation of deferred tax liabilities (net):
Opening balance as of 1 April	  (92.67)	  (39.82) 
Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in profit or loss	  (82.61)	  (37.84) 
Tax income/(expense) during the year recognised in OCI	  0.42 	  (15.01)
Closing balance as at 31 March	   (1,74.85)	   (92.67)

The Holding Company does not have any intention to dispose of its free hold and lease hold land in the foreseeable future, 
therefore, deferred tax asset on indexation benefit in relation to these assets has not been recognised.		

NOTE 33 
Earnings per share
Profit after Taxation in Rs. In Lakhs	  48,22.70 	  5,328.82  
Weighted average number of Equity Shares outstanding at the end of the year *	  1,52,28,40,00 	  1,52,28,40,00  
Nominal value per Equity share	  1.00 	  1.00  
Earnings per share (Basic and Diluted) in Rs.	  3.17 	  3.50  
* There have been no transactions involving equity shares or potential equity shares between the reporting date and the 
date of authorisation of these financial statements.		

NOTE 34 
Segment reporting
The Group operates in a single segment, namely solvent extracted products. Even geographically, there is no material 
separate segment.

Additional Information:

Segment Revenue
	 India	  	 37,46.77 	  30,02.90  
	 Rest of the World	  5,18,57.66 	  4,87,23.02  
	 Total Revenue from Sale of Products and services	   5,56,04.43  	   5,17,25.92 

NOTE 35 
Employee Benefits
(a)	 The Company has recognised the following expenses as defined contribution plan under the head “Company’s 

Contribution to Provident Fund and Other Funds” (net of recoveries) :
Provident fund	  3,05.01 	  2,70.48  
Superannuation fund	  89.70 	  88.22  
(b)    The Company operates post retirement defined benefit plans as follows :-

Gratuity Scheme:					   
This is a funded defined benefit plan for qualifying employees for which, the Company is making contributions to the 
Gratuity Fund managed by Life Insurance Corporation of India. The scheme provides for a lump sum payment to vested 
employees at retirement, death while in employment or on termination of employment. Vesting occurs upon completion of 
five years of service.					   
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Defined Benefit Plans (Gratuity)– As per Actuarial Valuation on March 31, 2025:-

i)  Expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss
	 Current Service Cost	  1,24.50 	  1,17.15  
Net Interest	  41.67 	  36.93  
	 Expense recognized in the statement of profit and loss	   1,66.17  	   1,54.08  

ii)  Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)
	 Actuarial (Gain)/Loss recognized for the period	  (64.71)	  25.83 
Return on Plan Assets excluding net interest	  (0.17)	  (8.22)
	 Total Actuarial (Gain)/Loss recognized in (OCI)	   (64.88) 	   17.61 

iii)  Reconciliation of Defined Benefit Obligation 
	 Opening Defined Benefit Obligation 	  17,61.18 	 16,33.49 
	 Interest Cost	  1,22.30 	 1,14.36 
	 Current Service Cost 	  1,24.50 	 1,17.15 
	 Benefits paid	  (72.44)	  (1,29.65) 
	 Actuarial Losses / (Gain) on obligation	 (64.71) 	  25.83 
	 Closing Defined Benefit Obligation 	   18,70.83  	   17,61.18  
iv)  Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets 
	 Opening Fair Value of Plan Assets 	  11,56.63 	  10,53.19 
	 Return on plan assets	 0.17 	 8.22 
	 Interest income	  80.63 	  77.43 
	 Contributions made	  33.71 	  1,47.44 
	 Benefits Paid 	  (72.44)	 (1,29.65)
	 Closing Fair Value of Plan Assets 	   11,98.70  	   11,56.63 

v)  Reconciliation of Net Liability/ Asset
	 Opening Net Benefit Liability	  6,04.55 	  5,80.30  
	 Expense charged to profit and loss	  1,66.17 	  1,54.08  
	 Amount recognized outside profit and loss (in OCI)	  (64.88)	  17.61  
	 Employer Contribution	  (33.71)	  (1,47.44)
	 Closing Net Defined Benefit Liability/ (Asset) - Current	   6,72.13  	   6,04.55 

vi)  Amount to be recognized in Balance Sheet and movement in net liability 
	 Present Value of Funded Obligations	  18,70.84 	  17,61.18  
	 Fair Value of Plan Assets	  11,98.72 	  11,56.63  
	 Net (asset) / Liability - Current	    6,72.12  	    6,04.55 

vii) Description of Plan Assets 
	  Funds managed by Insurer	 100%	 100%
	  Grand Total 	 100%	 100%
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

viii) Actuarial Assumptions 
	 Discount rate (p.a.) 	 6.66%	 7.09% 
	 Salary Escalation Rate (p.a.) 	 12.75%	 12.75% 
	 Attrition Rate (p.a)	 5.00%	 5.00% 
	 Expected rate of return on Plan Assets (p.a.)	 6.66%	 7.09% 
 	 Mortality Rate	 Indian Assured Lives 	 Indian Assured  
				    Mortality (2012-14) Ult 	 Lives Mortality 
					     (2012-14) Ult
The discount rates are based on the benchmark yields available on government bonds at the valuation date with terms 
matching that of the liabilities and salary increases rates take into account inflation, Seniority, Promotion and other relevant 
factors.		
ix)	Assets liability comparison	 31-03-2025	 31-03-2024	 31-03-2023	 31-03-2022	 31-03-2021
	 Present value obligation at the end of the period	  18,70.84 	  17,61.18 	  16,33.49 	  14,52.21 	  13,31.70  
	 Plan assets	  11,98.72 	  11,56.63 	  10,53.19 	  9,27.48 	  8,29.53  
	 Surplus/(Deficit)	  (6,72.12)	  (6,04.54)	  (5,80.30)	  (5,24.73)	  (5,02.17) 
	 Experience adjustments on plan assets	  0.17 	  8.22 	  10.91 	  8.11 	  4.04 

x)   Expected Pay-out
	 Year 1		 2,88.13	 3,00.20 
	 Year 2		 95.11	 88.68 
	 Year 3		 1,52.24	 92.68 
	 Year 4		 2,12.79	 1,47.49 
	 Year 5		 1,72.20	 2,19.63 
	 Next 5 year	 9,35.05	 9,10.29
Average Duration of Defined Benefit Obligations - Rs. 6.04 years (31 March 2024: 6.10 years)
Projected service costs for next financial year is Rs. 142.93 (31 March 2024: Rs. 124.50 Lakhs)

xi)	 Effect of Change in Key Assumptions

Discount Rate					   
Impact of increase in 100 bps on DBO 	   2,19.96 	   1,10.30  
Impact of decrease in 100 bps on DBO	   (16.16)	   (1,25.82)

Salary Escalation Rate 					   
Impact of increase in 100 bps on DBO 	   (5.94)	  (1,15.60) 
Impact of decrease in 100 bps on DBO	  2,13.50. 	   1,03.85 
The sensitivity analyses above have been determined based on a method that extrapolates the impact on defined benefit 
obligation as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period.	
				  
(c)    Other Long Term Employee Benefits :-

i)	 Leave Encashment:
The company also operates a non funded leave encashment scheme for its employees.
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NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

Other Long Term Employee Benefits (Leave encashment)– As per Actuarial Valuation on March 31, 2025:-

ii)	 Amount to be recognized in Balance Sheet and movement in net liability 
Present Value of Funded Obligations	 5,51.95	 5,19.82 
Fair Value of Plan Assets	  -   	  -       
Net (asset) / Liability 	   5,51.95  	   5,19.82 

iii)	 Actuarial Assumptions 
Discount rate (p.a.) 	 6.66%	 7.09% 
Salary Escalation Rate (p.a.) 	 12.75%	 12.75% 
Attrition Rate (p.a)	 5.00%	 5.00%

iv)	 Effect of Change in Key Assumptions

Discount Rate					   
Impact of increase in 100 bps on DBO 	   (10.37)	  (42.51) 
Impact of decrease in 100 bps on DBO	   (97.94)	  (1,30.08)

Salary Escalation Rate					   
Impact of increase in 100 bps on DBO 	   (94.14)	   (1,26.27) 
Impact of decrease in 100 bps on DBO	   (12.71)	   (44.85)
The estimate of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, takes into account inflation, seniority, promotions 
and other relevant factors. The above information has been certified by the actuary and has been relied upon by the 
Auditors.			 

Exposure to Risks:			 
These plans typically expose the Company to actuarial risks such as: interest rate risk, longevity risk and salary risk.
Interest risk: A decrease in the Government Securities (G-Sec Bonds) interest rate will increase the plan liability.
Longevity risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best estimate of 
the mortality of plan participants during their employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will 
increase the plan’s liability.
Salary risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the future salaries of plan 
participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.	
				  

36	 Related Party Transactions	

A:	 Details of related parties:	

	 (a)	 Directors who held the office during the year:	
		  Mr. Ajit Thomas
		  Mr. M A Alagappan ( Upto 24-07-2024)
		  Mr. P Shankar (Upto 24-07-2024)
		  Mr. Habib Hussain (Upto 09-08-2024)
		  Mr. A D Bopana
		  Mrs. Shanthi Thomas
		  Mrs. Kavitha Vijay
		  Mr. M M Venkatachalam (From 25-07-2024)
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		  Mr. Rahul Thomas (From 12-06-2024)
		  Mr. Ranganath N Krishna (From 25-07-2024)
		

	 (b)	 Key Management Personnel (KMP):
		  Mr. Balasundaram Krishnakumar Sr. Vice President and Manager ( Upto 31-03-2025)
		  Mr. A. Ramadas, Sr. Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
		  Mr. Sharon Josh, Company Secretary ( Upto 21-07-2024)
		  Mr. P. Mahadevan, Company Secretary ( From 12-11-2024)
		

Entities/Persons with whom transactions carried out were carried out in current / previous year	
		

	 (c)	 Entities having significant influence over the reporting entity
			   The Midland Rubber and Produce Company Limited
			   Neelamalai Agro Industries Limited
		

	 (d) 	 Entities with common control through board composition / shareholding 
			   AVT Gavia Foods Private Limited
			   The Nelliampathy Tea and Produce Company Limited
			   A V Thomas & Company Limited
			   Midland Corporate Advisory Services Private Limited
			   AVT McCormick Ingredients Private Limited
			   Midland Charitable Trust
			   Parry Agro industries Ltd.
		

	 (e)	 Relatives of the directors
			   Mr. Rahul Thomas - Son of Mr. Ajit Thomas
			   Mr. Ashwin Thomas - Son of Mr. Ajit Thomas
			   Mrs. Shabri Roberson - Daughter of Mrs Shanthi Thomas
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NOTE 37 
Commitments and Contingencies
a)    On account of Sales Tax / Value Added tax matters in dispute:	   1,45.16  	  1,45.16 
	 “Amount paid to statutory authorities - Rs.71.23 lakhs 
	 (31 March 2024: - Rs.71.23 lakhs)”
b)	 On account of income tax matters in dispute:	  2,27.25 	   2,04.29 
	 “Amount paid to statutory authorities - Rs.100.89 lakhs 
	 (31 March 2024: - Rs.100.89 lakhs)”
c)	 On account of Customs Duty matters in dispute:	  1,28.83  	   77.79 
	 “Amount paid to statutory authorities - Rs.30.00 lakhs 
	 (31 March 2024: - Rs. 30.00 lakhs)”
d)	 On account of Goods and Service tax matters in dispute	 16,92.66 	   16,92.66 
	 “Amount paid to statutory authorities - Rs.57.68 lakhs 
	 (31 March 2024: - 57.68 lakhs)”
In all these cases, the company does not foresee any financial implications.

Contractual Commitments
Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account (Property, plant and equipments net of capital 
advances) and not provided for is Rs. 222.36 lakhs (31 March 2024: Nil).	

NOTE 38
Leases
Company as a lessee
Note 38.1 : The Company has taken on lease equipment and warehouses. Most of the leases include renewal and 
escalation clauses. 
Note 38.2: The table below provides details regarding the contractual maturities of lease liabilities as of March 31st, 2025 
on an undiscounted basis:
Operating Lease
Due within one year	 1,21.53	   62.46   
Due in a period between one year and five years	 2,83.49	   5,52.98  
Total minimum lease commitments	   4,05.02  	   6,15.44 

Lease commitment for short term leases
Lease commitment for short term leases for non-cancellable period*	   2,72.03  	   2,18.81 
Due in a period between one year and five years	  -   	  -    
Due after five years	  -   	  -    
Total minimum lease commitments	   2,72.03  	   2,18.81  
* The leases of Godowns expire on various dates.
Note 38.3 :- The following amounts has been recognised in statement of profit and loss

Particulars
Depreciation - Refer Note No. 28	  1,25.41 	  1,07.61  
Interest expenses - Refer Note No. 27	  34.83 	  34.57  
Expenses relating to short term lease - Refer Note No. 29	  7,96.12 	  7,73.85  

Note 38.4 : Net debt reconciliation on leases - Refer Note No. 16(3)		
Note 38.5: Leases not yet commenced to which lease is committed. As at 31st March 2025  
is Nil (31st March 2024: Nil)
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(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)

				    	 As at	 As at	
					     31st March 2025	 31st March 2024

NOTE 39 
Disclosures required under Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act, 2006:
(i) 	 Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at  
	 the end of the accounting year	  8,20.01 	  19,44.47 
(ii)	 Interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any supplier as  
	 at the end of the accounting year	  2.49 	  0.27 
(iii)	 The amount of interest paid along with the amounts of the payment  
	 made to the supplier beyond the appointed day 	  -   	  -   
(iv)	 The amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting year	  2.49 	  0.27 
(v)	 The amount of further interest due and payable even in the succeeding year,  
	 until such date when the interest dues as above are actually paid	  2.49 	  0.27 
* The amount due to Micro and Small Enterprises as defined in the “The Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development 
Act, 2006” has been determined to the extent such parties have submitted information to the Company in this regard.

NOTE 40

Guarantee given by the Holding Company
Bank Guarantees (other than guarantee given for subsidiaries) of Rs. 246.17 Lakhs (31 March 2024: Rs. 64.71 Lakhs) 
have been given by the company to various government authorities & other parties. These guarantees were issued against 
the margin money kept with bank of Rs. 150.08 Lakhs (31 March 2024: Rs. 6.56 Lakhs).

NOTE 41

Fair value measurement
Financial Instruments by category
The significant accounting policies, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which 
income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument 
are disclosed.	
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Financial assets and liabilities

Particulars
As at 31st March 2025 As at 31st March 2024

FVTPL FVTOCI Amortised 
Cost FVTPL FVTOCI Amortised 

Cost
Financial assets (other than  
investment in subsidiary):

Non Current
Investments - -  -    -  - -
Other financial assets - -  2,15.48 - -  3,58.16 

Current
Investments  13,576.83 -  -  12,665.95 - -
Trade Receivables  -   -  1,56,36.81  -    -  1,09,97.01 
Cash and Cash Equivalents  -   -  33,57.90  -    -  25,43.73 
Bank Balances other than Cash & 
Cash Equivalents  -   -  3,40.92  -    -  3,04.22 

Loans  -   -  25.53  -    -  24.17 
Other financial assets  -   -  5,04.79  -    -  2,11.36 

Total 1,35,76.83 - 2,00,81.43  1,26,65.95  -    1,44,38.65 
Financial liabilities:  -   - -  -    -   -
Non-current - - - - - -

Borrowings  -    -    3,35.00  -    -    4,95.00 
Lease liabilities  -    -    2,73.27  -    -    5,16.71 

Current  -    -   -  -   - - 
Borrowings  -    -    1,05,61.51  -    -    31,97.30 
Lease liabilities  -    -    1,01.39  -   -  50.71 
Trade Payables  -    -   99,33.71  -    -   59,23.06
Other financial liabilities - Current  -    1,23.08  1,28.03  -    6.81  1,60.39 

Total  -    1,23.08 2,13,32.91  -    6.81  1,03,43.18 
					   

NOTE 42

Fair value hierarchy

A.1 Fair value of Financial Instruments measured through FVTPL:					   

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value-recurring fair value measurements as at March 31, 2025:

		  Notes	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
InveInvestment in Mutual Funds	 A.2	  1,35,76.83 	  -   	 -	  1,35,76.83 
Investment in Equity Shares	 A.2	  - 	  -   	  -   	  -     
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Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value-recurring fair value measurements as at March 31, 2024:

		  Notes	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
Investment in Mutual Funds	 A.2	  1,26,65.95 	  -   	 -	  1,26,65.95 
Investment in Equity Shares	 A.2	  -   	  -   	 -	  -  

A.2 Valuation inputs and relationship to fair value	
The fair value of investment in mutual funds is determined using the Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit at the balance sheet 
date. In respect of the investment in equity share, considering the nature of the investment, fair value is considered close 
to the carrying value by the management.

B.1 Fair value of Financial Instruments measured through FVTOCI:	 
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value-recurring fair value measurements as at March 31, 2025	
Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value-recurring fair value measurements as at March 31st, 2024:		
		  Notes	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
Derivatives designated as hedges - Liability					   
- Foreign exchange forward contracts	 B.2	  -   	   1,23.08  	  -   	   1,23.08 

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value-recurring fair value measurements as at March 31st, 2024:	
					   
		  Notes	 Level 1	 Level 2	 Level 3	 Total
Derivatives designated as hedges - Asset					   
 - Foreign exchange forward contracts	 B.2	  -   	   6.81  	  -   	   6.81 

					   
B.2 Valuation inputs and relationship to fair value		
			 
The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at the balance sheet 
date.					   

C. Fair value of Financial Instruments measured at amortised cost :					  
Due to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents and the short-term maturities of trade receivables, loans, 
borrowings-current, financial liabilities and assets the management considers that the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities recognised at amortised cost in financial statements is approximate to their fair value.			 
The fair value of financial instruments as referred to in note (A) above has been classified into three categories depending 
on the inputs used in the valuation technique. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities [Level 1 measurements] and lowest priority to unobservable inputs [Level 3 measurements].

D. Valuation inputs and relationship to fair value					   
There are no material level 3 fair value measurements in respect of the financial assets and liabilities of the group.
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NOTE 43 
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other payables. 
The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance the Group’s operations and to provide guarantees to support 
its operations. The Group’s principal financial assets include loans, trade and other receivables, and cash and short-term 
deposits that derive directly from its operations. The Holding Company also enters into derivative transactions.	
			 
The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s senior management oversees the 
management of these risks. The  financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that 
financial risks are identified, measured and managed by the senior management in accordance with the Group’s policies 
and risk objectives. All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried out by   professionals who have 
the appropriate skills, experience and supervision. It is the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives for speculative 
purposes may be undertaken.				  

(A)	 Market risk
	 Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and other price 
risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and 
borrowings and derivative financial instruments.				  

	 The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the position as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024. 
	 The sensitivity analyses have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating 

interest rates of the debt and derivatives and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all 
constant and on the basis of hedge designations in place at 31 March 2025.				 

	 The analyses exclude the impact of movements in market variables on: the carrying values of gratuity and other post-
retirement obligations; provisions; and the non-financial assets.				  

	 The following assumptions have been made in calculating the sensitivity analyses:				  
	 The sensitivity of the relevant profit or loss item is the effect of the assumed changes in respective market risks. This 

is based on the financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 including the effect 
of hedge accounting.

(a)	 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates 
primarily to the Group’s short-term debt obligations with fixed & floating interest rates. 

	 Sensitivity Analysis of the Interest Rate
Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest expense from borrowings at the floating rate as a result of 
change in interest rates.

	 Effect on profit before tax in Rs. lakhs
				    31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
			   100bp increase	   1,08.97 	   36.92 
			   100bp decrease	   (1,08.97)	   (36.92)
	 The assumed movement in basis points for the interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the currently observable 

market environment, showing a significantly higher volatility than in prior years.				  

	 (b)	 Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates 
primarily to the Group’s operating activities (when revenue or expense is denominated in a foreign currency).	
			 

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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	 The Holding Company manages its foreign currency risk by using foreign currency forward contracts.
	 When a derivative is entered into for the purpose of being a hedge, the Holding Company negotiates the terms of those 

derivatives to match the terms of the hedged exposure. For hedges of forecast transactions, the derivatives cover the 
period of exposure from the point the cash flows of the transactions are forecasted up to the point of settlement of the 
resulting receivable or payable that is denominated in the foreign currency.				  

(1)	 Foreign Currency Risk Exposure
	 The Holding company exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the year expressed in Rs. as follows:

 				    Amount in foreign currency	 Amount in Rs.

				    31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
				    In ‘000	 Rs. In Lakhs
	 Financial Assets
	 Trade Receivables - USD	  1,77,11.62 	  1,29,37.40 	 1,56,36.81	 1,07,13.46
	 Derivative assets
	 Forward Cover Contracts - USD	  1,20,33.64 	  73,86.00 	 1,02,23.78	 61,16.35
	 Forward Cover Contracts - SGD	 -	 -	 -	 -
	 Financial Liabilities
	 Trade Payables - USD	  64,67.51 	  28,65.11 	 51,69.14	 24,03.54
	 Trade Payables - GBP	  22.81 	  35.63 	 25.48	 37.78
	 Trade Payables - SGD	  28.26 	  28.26 	  17.89 	  17.89 
	 Trade Payables - EURO	  -   	  8.05 	 -	  7.35 

	 Net Exposure - USD	  (7,89.53)	  26,86.29 	  2,43.89 	  21,93.58 
	 Net Exposure - GBP	  (22.81)	  (35.63)	  (25.48)	  (37.78)
	 Net Exposure - SGD	  (28.26)	  (28.26)	  (17.89)	  (17.89)
	 Net Exposure - EURO	  -   	  (8.05)	  -   	  (7.35)

(2)	 Foreign currency sensitivity 
	 The following tables demonstrate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in USD & GBP exchange rates, with 

all other variables held constant. The impact on the Holding Company’s profit before tax is due to changes in the fair 
value of monetary assets and liabilities including non-designated foreign currency derivatives. The impact on the Holding 
Company’s pre-tax equity is due to changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts designated as cash flow 
hedges. The Holding Company’s exposure to foreign currency changes for all other currencies is not material.

	 Effect on profit before tax in Rs. lakhs

 	 Sensitivity Analysis	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
	 USD Exposure in Rs.
	 1% -Strengthening	  2.44 	  21.94 
	 1% -Weakening	  (2.44)	  (21.94)
	 GBP Exposure in Rs.
	 1% -Strengthening	  (0.25)	  (0.38)
	 1% -Weakening	  0.25 	  0.38  
	 SGD Exposure in Rs.
	 1% -Strengthening	  (0.18)	  (0.28)
	 1% -Weakening	  0.18 	  0.28    
	 EURO Exposure in Rs.
	 1% -Strengthening	  -   	  (0.08)
	 1% -Weakening	  -   	  0.08 
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Impact of hedging activities
(a)	 Disclosure of effects of hedge accounting on financial position :
	 The following are outstanding foreign currency forward contracts, which have been designated as cash flow hedges:

 				    Number of 	 Notional amount	 Fair value
				    contracts	 of contracts	 (Amount in 
					     (Rs. In Lakhs)	 Lakhs)

	 31-Mar-25
	 US Dollar	 102	    1,02,23.78 	    1,23.08 
	 31-Mar-24
	 US Dollar	 85	    61,16.35  	   6.81 
	 For notional amount of contracts, amounts in foreign currency are converted at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 

rate respectively.
(b) 	 Movements in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve

Derivative Instruments Foreign Exchange Forward 
Contracts (Rs In Lakhs )

(i) Cash Flow Hedge Reserve
As at 1 April 2023  (86.43)
Add: Changes in discounted spot element of foreign exchange forward 
contracts (net of deferred tax)  57.81 

As at 31st March 2024  (28.62)
Add: Changes in discounted spot element of foreign exchange forward 
contracts (net of deferred tax)  (49.81)

As at 31st March 2025  (78.43)

(c) 	 Commodity price risk
	 The prices of agricultural commodities are subject to fluctuations due to various factors. In the ordinary course of 

business, the group is exposed to commodity price risk to the extent its open sales are not balanced by the purchase 
contracts and inventory.  The group has in place in a risk management policy to manage such risk by hedging the 
sales by direct purchases of the commodity and strategic stocking policies. 			   .

(B)	 Credit risk
	 Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 

contract, leading to a financial loss. Credit risk encompasses of both, the direct risk of default and the risk of 
deterioration of creditworthiness as well as concentration of risks. Credit risk is controlled by analysing credit limits 
and  creditworthiness’ of customers on a continuous basis to whom the credit has been granted after obtaining 
necessary approvals for credit. The Group is exposed to credit risk to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily 
trade receivables) and from its financing activity, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign 
exchange transactions and other financial instruments.

(a)	� Trade receivables
	 Customer credit risk is managed as per the Group’s established policy, procedures and control relating to customer 

credit risk management.  Credit limits are set with approvals on the basis of the defined policies. Outstanding customer 
receivables are regularly monitored and exposures are kept within the credit limits fixed for each customer.

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)
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	 Excessive risk concentration
	 Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the 

same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations 
to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative 
sensitivity of the Holding Company’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry.

	 In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Holding Company’s policies and procedures include specific 
guidelines to focus on the maintenance of a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled 
and managed accordingly. 				  

	 Particulars	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
	 No of Customers to whom Sales made is more than 10% of the Turnover	 1	 1
	 Contribution of Customers in Sales more than 10% of Turnover	 33.98%	 34.00%

	 Particulars	 31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
	 No of Customers who owed more than 10% of the Total receivables	 1	 2
	 Contribution of Customers in owing more than 10% of Total receivables 	 25.19%	 41.00%
	 An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for major clients. In addition, a large 

number of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous company’s and assessed for impairment collectively. The 
calculation is based on exchange losses historical data. The Holding Company does not hold collateral as security. 
The Holding Company evaluates the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers 
are located in several jurisdictions and industries and operate in largely independent markets..

(b)	 Financial instruments and cash deposits
	� Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group’s treasury department in 

accordance with the Group’s policy. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and 
within credit limits assigned to each counterparty.				 

	 The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the balance sheet at 31 March 2025 and  
31 March 2024 is the carrying amounts as mentioned in Notes.

(C)	 Liquidity risk
	 The group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank 

overdrafts, bank loans and lease liabilities. Approximately, 94% of the group’s debt will mature in less than one year 
at 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: 82% group’s debt will mature in less than one year) based on the carrying value 
of borrowings reflected in the financial statements. The Group assessed the concentration of risk with respect to 
refinancing its debt and concluded it to be low. The Group has access to a sufficient variety of sources of funding and 
debt maturing within 12 months can be rolled over with existing lenders.

	 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted 
payments.

  On demand Less than  
3 months

3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended 31 March 2025
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings*  1,04,01.51 -  1,60.00  3,35.00  -    1,08,96.51 
Lease liabilities  -    30.38  91.15  2,83.49 -  4,05.02 
Other financial liabilities  1,28.03  -    -    -    -    1,28.03 
Trade and other payables  -    99,33.71  -    -    -    99,33.71 
Year ended 31 March 2024
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings*  28,87.30  1,50.00  1,60.00  4,95.00  -    36,92.30 
Lease liabilities  -    15.62  46.85  5,52.98 -  6,15.44 
Other financial liabilities  1,60.39  1.87  3,69.60  -    -    5,31.86 
Trade and other payables  -    58,68.74  -    -    -    58,68.74 

* Amount outstanding for less than 12 months represent current maturities of long term debt

NOTES TO THE Consolidated FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31st March 2025 (Contd.)

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)



208

NOTE 44 
Capital management
For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued equity capital and all other equity reserves 
attributable to the equity holders of the parent. The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to maximise 
the shareholder value. 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions and the 
requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The group monitors capital using a gearing 
ratio, which is net debt divided by fund attributable to Equity Shares Holders. The group includes within net debt, interest 
bearing loans and borrowings less cash and short-term deposits and current investments.	

				    31-Mar-25	 31-Mar-24
				    Rs. lakhs	 Rs. lakhs
Interest-bearing borrowings (Refer Note No. 16)	  1,08,96.51 	  36,92.30  
Interest bearing lease liabilities (Refer Note No. 17)	  3,74.66 	  5,67.42  
Less: cash and short-term deposits (Refer Note No. 12)	  33,57.90 	  25,43.73  
Less: current investments (Refer Note No. 7)	  1,35,76.83 	  1,26,65.95 
Net debt		  	   (56,63.56)	   (1,09,49.96)
Equity (Refer Note No. 14)	  15,22.84 	  15,22.84  
Reserves (Refer Note No.15)	  4,91,15.96 	  4,54,28.71 
Total capital	  	 5,06,38.80 	  4,69,51.55 
Gearing ratio		 -11%	 -23%
In order to achieve this overall objective, the Group’s capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it 
meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. 
Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. There have 
been no breaches in the financial covenants of any interest-bearing loans and borrowing in the current period. 
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March 
2025 and 31 March 2024.

NOTE 45

Performance Obligation on revenue 
In majority of the contracts performance obligation is satisfied “at a point in time” which is primarily determined on customer 
obtaining the control of the asset. 		
Contract with the customer normally do not contain significant financing component and any advance payment received 
and /or amount retained by customer is with intention of protecting either parties to the contract.
Variable consideration primarily consists of discounts, rebates, price concessions which are reduced from the transaction 
price, if specified in the contract with customer/ based on customary business practices.
For revenue recognition in respect of performance obligation satisfied at a “point in time” the following criteria is used for 
determining whether the customer has obtained “Control on asset”
	 i. Transfer of significant risk and rewards
	 ii. Customer has legal right/title to the asset
	 iii. The entity has transferred the physical possession of the asset					   
	 iv. Customer has accepted the asset
	 v. Entity has the present right to payment for the asset

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)
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NOTE 46
Code on Social Security, 2020
The implementation of the Code on Social Security, 2020 is getting postponed. The holding company will assess the impact 
thereof and give effect in the Financial Statements when the date of implementation of the codes and the Rules / Schemes 
thereunder are notified.									       

NOTE 47 
Dividends
Dividends paid during the year 2024-25 represent 50% final dividend for the financial year 2023-24 amounting to  
Rs. 761.42 Lakhs and interim dividend of 30% declared in the financial year 2024-25 Rs.456.85 Lakhs.	
The dividends declared by the Holding Company are in Indian Rupees and are based on the profits available for distribution 
as reported in the statutory financial statements of the Company. Subsequent to March 31, 2025, the Board of Directors of 
Company have proposed a final dividend of Re. 0.40 per share ( 40%) in respect of financial year 2024-25. The proposal 
is subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, and if approved, would result in a cash outflow 
of approximately Rs. 609.14 Lakhs. 

NOTE 48 
Other Statutory Information
(a)	 The company has identified transactions with Struck-off companies by comparing company’s counter parties with 
publicly available database of struck of companies through a manual name search. Based on such a manual search, no 
party identified to be reported in the financial statements.							     
	
(b)	 No funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other 

sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities 
(“Intermediaries”) with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall lend or 
invest in party identified by or on behalf of the Company (Ultimate Beneficiaries). The Company has not received any 
fund from any party(s) (Funding Party) with the understanding that the Company shall whether, directly or indirectly 
lend or invest in other persons or entities identified by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(c)	 The company has done registration of charges or satisfaction with ROC within the statutory period during the year.
(d)	 Company has used the borrowings from banks and financial institutions for the specific purpose for which it was taken 

at the balance sheet date.								      
( e)	 The differences between the quarterly return of inventories and receivables submitted to the banks and the books 

of account, did not affect the drawing power for the actual borrowing and the required security cover computed in 
accordance with the sanctioned terms. 								     

(f)	 Details of benami property held - No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the company for holding 
benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 1988) and Rules made thereunder.	
							     

(g)	 Wilful defaulter - The company has not been declared as wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 
government or any government authority.								      

(h)	 Compliance with number of layers of companies - The Company has complied with the number of layers prescribed 
under the Companies Act, 2013.								      

(i)	 Compliance with approved scheme(s) of arrangements - The Company has not entered into any scheme of 
arrangement which has an accounting impact on current or previous financial year.			 

(j)	 Undisclosed income -There is no income surrendered or disclosed as income during the current or previous year in 
the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961, that has not been recorded in the books of account.	

(k)	Details of crypto currency or virtual currency - The Company has not traded or invested in crypto currency or virtual 
currency during the current or previous year.								      
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(l)	Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment - The Company has not revalued its property, plant and equipment 
(including right-of-use assets) during the current or previous year

NOTE 49 
Impairment of Assets
Company has analysed indications of impairment of assets. On the basis of assessment of internal and external factors, 
none of the assets has found indications of impairment of its assets.

NOTE 50 
Contingent Assets
Contingent assets are neither recognised nor disclosed in the financial statements.

NOTE 51
The list of investments in subsidiaries are as given below:

The parent’s subsidiaries at March 31, 2025 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting 
solely of equity shares that are held by the group and the effective ownership of the group in enumerated in the table below. 
The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business.				  

International Subsidiaries Country of  
Incorporation

Held directly by Parent or through its 
subsidiaries & Effective Holding
31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24

AVT Natural Europe Limited, UK United Kingdom 100% 100%
AVT Natural S.A. DE C.V Mexico 100% 100%
AVT Natural North America Inc.,  
(step down subsidiary) USA 100% 100%

AVT Natural FZCO Dubai 100% 100%

(All amounts are in Rs. lakhs unless otherwise stated)
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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Place	:	Chennai	 A. Ramadas 	 P. Mahadevan
Date	:	28th May 2025	 Sr. Vice President & CFO 	 Company Secretary

NOTE 52 
Additional Informations as required under Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013 of the Enterprises 
consolidated as subsidiaries on net basis :

Name of the entity in the 
group

Net Assets  
i.e. total assets - total 

liabilities
Share in Profit or loss Share in other 

Comprehensive income
 Share in total 

Comprehensive income

As % of  
consolidated 

net

Amount  
(In lakhs)

As % of 
Consolidated 
profit or loss

Amount  
(In lakhs)

As % of 
Consolidated 

other 
Comprehensive 

income

Amount  
(In lakhs)

As % of total 
comprehensive 

income

Amount  
(In lakhs)

Consolidated 100.00%  5,06,38.80 100%  48,22.70 100.00%  82.82 100.00%  49,05.52 
Parent
AVT Natural Products 
Limited 98.54%  4,99,01.76 78.93%  38,06.68  (0.02)  (1.26) 77.57%  38,05.42 

Subsidiary Foreign
AVT Natural Europe Limited 0.80%  4,03.81 12.52%  6,03.93  (0.34)  (28.35) 11.73%  5,75.58 
AVT Natural SA DE CV (1.13%)  (5,71.47)  (0.02)  (97.56) 106.81%  88.46 -  (9.10)
AVT Natural FZCO, Dubai. 1.27%  6,41.54 8.90%  4,28.99 22.43%  18.58 9.12%  4,47.57 
Step down Subsidiary
AVT Natural North America 
Inc 0.52%  2,64.16 1.67%  80.66 6.51%  5.39 1.75%  86.05 

Total 100.00% 5,06,39.80 100% 48,22.70 100% 82.82 100% 49,05.52
Figures for the previous periods have been regrouped / reclassified to conform to the classification of the current period.
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